
Gloucester Road    Tewkesbury   Glos   GL20 5TT   Member Services Tel: (01684) 272021  
Email: democraticservices@tewkesbury.gov.uk    Website: www.tewkesbury.gov.uk

23 December 2021

Committee Executive

Date Wednesday, 5 January 2022

Time of Meeting 2:00 pm

Venue Tewkesbury Borough Council Offices, 
Severn Room

ALL MEMBERS OF THE COMMITTEE ARE REQUESTED 
TO ATTEND

Agenda

1. ANNOUNCEMENTS

When the continuous alarm sounds you must evacuate the building by 
the nearest available fire exit. Members and visitors should proceed to 
the visitors’ car park at the front of the building and await further 
instructions (during office hours staff should proceed to their usual 
assembly point; outside of office hours proceed to the visitors’ car park). 
Please do not re-enter the building unless instructed to do so. 

In the event of a fire any person with a disability should be assisted in 
leaving the building.  

2. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE AND SUBSTITUTIONS

To receive apologies for absence and advise of any substitutions. 

3. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

Pursuant to the adoption by the Council on 26 June 2012 of the 
Tewkesbury Borough Council Code of Conduct, effective from 1 July 
2012, as set out in Minute No. CL.34, Members are invited to declare 
any interest they may have in the business set out on the Agenda to 
which the approved Code applies.

mailto:democraticservices@tewkesbury.gov.uk


Item Page(s)

2

4. MINUTES 1 - 12

To approve the Minutes of the meeting held on 17 November 2021. 

5. ITEMS FROM MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC

To receive any questions, deputations or petitions submitted under Rule 
of Procedure 12. 

(The deadline for public participation submissions for this meeting is             
30 December 2021) 

6. EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE FORWARD PLAN 13 - 18

To consider the Committee’s Forward Plan.  

7. INTERIM HOUSING STRATEGY 2021/22 MONITORING REPORT 19 - 79

To consider the Housing Strategy Action Plan progress for 2021/22. 

8. TREASURY AND CAPITAL MANAGEMENT 80 - 112

To recommend to Council adoption of a range of statutorily required 
polices and strategies relating to treasury and capital management. 

9. SOCIAL MEDIA POLICY - REVIEW 113 - 123

To approve the updated Social Media Policy and Guidelines. 

10. REVIEW OF PROCUREMENT STRATEGY 124 - 138

To approve the updated Procurement Strategy. 

11. REVIEW OF THE COUNCIL'S SANDBAG POLICY 139 - 145

To approve the Sandbag Policy. 

12. SUPPORTING ATTENDANCE POLICY 146 - 194

To approve the Supporting Attendance Policy and agree that it should 
be reviewed every three years. 

13. SHOPFRONTS, SHUTTERS AND SIGNAGE: DESIGN GUIDANCE 
FOR TEWKESBURY BOROUGH SUPPLEMENTARY PLANNING 
DOCUMENT

195 - 214

To consider the document and agree it for the purposes of consultation. 

14. COMMUNITY GOVERNANCE REVIEW DRAFT PROPOSALS 215 - 256

To agree the draft proposals for public consultation.  



Item Page(s)

3

DATE OF NEXT MEETING
WEDNESDAY, 2 FEBRUARY 2022

COUNCILLORS CONSTITUTING COMMITTEE
Councillors: R A Bird (Chair), G F Blackwell, M Dean, M A Gore, D J Harwood, E J MacTiernan,                  
J R Mason (Vice-Chair), C Softley, R J Stanley, M G Sztymiak and R J E Vines

Substitution Arrangements 

The Council has a substitution procedure and any substitutions will be announced at the 
beginning of the meeting.

Recording of Meetings 

In accordance with the Openness of Local Government Bodies Regulations 2014, please be 
aware that the proceedings of this meeting may be recorded and this may include recording of 
persons seated in the public gallery or speaking at the meeting. Please notify the Democratic 
Services Officer if you have any objections to this practice and the Chairman will take reasonable 
steps to ensure that any request not to be recorded is complied with. 

Any recording must take place in such a way as to ensure that the view of Councillors, Officers, 
the public and press is not obstructed. The use of flash photography and/or additional lighting will 
not be allowed unless this has been discussed and agreed in advance of the meeting. 



TEWKESBURY BOROUGH COUNCIL

Minutes of a Meeting of the Executive Committee held at the Council Offices, 
Gloucester Road, Tewkesbury on Wednesday, 17 November 2021 commencing 

at 2:00 pm

Present:

Chair Councillor R A Bird
Vice Chair Councillor J R Mason

and Councillors:

G F Blackwell, M Dean, D J Harwood, M L Jordan, E J MacTiernan, R J Stanley, M G Sztymiak 
and R J E Vines

EX.50 ANNOUNCEMENTS 

50.1 The evacuation procedure, as noted on the Agenda, was advised to those present.

EX.51 APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE AND SUBSTITUTIONS 

51.1 Apologies for absence were received from Councillor M A Gore. There were no 
substitutes for the meeting.  

EX.52 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

52.1 The Committee’s attention was drawn to the Tewkesbury Borough Council Code of 
Conduct which was adopted by the Council on 26 June 2012 and took effect from                 
1 July 2012. 

52.2 There were no declarations of interest made on this occasion. 

EX.53 MINUTES 

53.1 The Minutes of the meeting held on 6 October 2021, copies of which had been 
circulated, were approved as a correct record and signed by the Chair.  

EX.54 ITEMS FROM MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC 

54.1 There were no items from members of the public.  

EX.55 EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE FORWARD PLAN 

55.1 Attention was drawn to the Committee’s Forward Plan, circulated at Pages No. 8-
12. Members were asked to consider the Plan. 

55.2 Accordingly, it was  

RESOLVED: That the Committee’s Forward Plan be NOTED. 

EX.56 DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT REVIEW 

56.1 The report of the Head of Development Services, circulated at Pages No. 13-34, 

1

Agenda Item 4



EX.17.11.21

outlined how the Council planned to respond to the findings of the review 
undertaken into the Development Management service which was focussed on the 
delivery of a high-level action plan that encompassed the recommendations from 
the final review report. 

56.2 The Head of Development Services explained that, as Members would be aware, 
POS Enterprises had recently undertaken a review of the Council’s Development 
Management Service. The review had looked at areas such as performance, 
structure, software, procedures and customer satisfaction and found a number of 
strengths in the service in respect of motivated staff, good systems, good public 
speaking procedures at Committee, well informed Committee debate and effective 
procedures introduced through lockdown; however, there were also areas 
identified for improvement which were listed within the report. In response to the 
issues highlighted, it was proposed that a corporate project would be set up with 
support from the Corporate Services Manager which would enable the 
workstreams to be driven forward as part of a corporate programme. The principles 
for the review were to ensure the outcomes were implemented looking at customer 
focus and ensuring development management was shaped around the needs of 
the customer meaning customer service was improved. Tewkesbury Borough 
Council was an ambitious authority so it needed to ensure it was able to respond to 
the growth agenda, that its staff were empowered and that high performance was 
both expected and achieved. Using the skills and expertise of the Business 
Transformation team and Corporate Services Manager meant change could be 
achieved more easily, particularly in terms of digital services. 

56.3 A high-level action plan was being put together in response to the POS Enterprises 
report which set out a number of recommendations for the Council to take forward 
and the action plan would address those in the short, medium and long term. 
Paragraph 4.2 of the report set out how the programme of work had been split into 
workstreams: corporate ambition – setting out the foundations of the preferred 
direction for the Development Management service; performance management – 
ensuring performance management was meaningful with effective monitoring and 
management in place; processes and transformation  - reviewing the way the 
service worked to ensure a customer focus and adoption of a ‘digital by default’ 
approach to processes; Planning Committee – reviewing all aspects of the 
Planning Committee including the Scheme of Delegation and training; and people 
and culture – reviewing the organisation of the service, the empowerment of staff 
and the culture of the teams. There was a lot more work to do on each workstream 
and each would have its own team, action and timescales; at this point the 
Executive Committee was asked to endorse the Council’s response to the review 
and agree the high-level action plan with the Transform Working Group monitoring 
the delivery of that action plan. 

56.4 A Member noted that the consultants had found several things that needed to be 
ironed out, most of which was not unexpected; however, the suggestion that the 
Planning Committee may need to be reduced in size was not something with which 
he agreed. He was of the view that a larger Committee, the size of Tewkesbury 
Borough Council’s, was not a weakness but rather was a strength. In terms of the 
Scheme of Delegation, he agreed that there were a number of applications which 
came before the Planning Committee due to Parish Council objections and there 
was often no debate on those so there could be merit in reviewing that to see how 
improvements could be made. 

56.5 Referring to the priorities list at Paragraph 3.4 of the report, a Member referred to 
point 3 – change the emphasis of the role of the DM Manager/team leaders away 
from detailed intervention in individual applications to managing the application 
process – allowing planners to be empowered to make recommendations without 
constantly referring them to managers – he felt this would be a complex process 
and there may be staff who needed guidance through that so he questioned how 

2



EX.17.11.21

that would be handled. In addition, he agreed that Members did not wish to see a 
change in the number on Planning Committee as the current arrangement worked 
well as it was. Finally, in respect of the Planning Scheme of Delegation, he feared 
a loss of democracy if Parishes and local Ward Members did not get a sufficient 
input to the decision-making process on planning applications and he questioned 
whether there was a need for training on the grounds under which applications 
could be called in rather than excluding them. In response, the Head of 
Development Services explained that there would be support and mentoring for 
junior and less experienced Officers but the aim was to empower Officers to make 
more decisions themselves; the Development Manager should not be involved in 
every detail of every application. In terms of the size of the Committee, the 
consultants had looked at best practice but they had also observed the Council’s 
Committee and felt the debate was well informed. In respect of the Scheme of 
Delegation, she confirmed there was no intention for people not to have a voice; 
however, it had been found that it cost ten times more to take an application to 
Committee than to have an application decided under Officer delegation and 
currently there were a number of minor applications that went to Committee only 
because they had been called in by Parishes so the Council had to consider how 
best to use its limited resources. 

56.6 A Member referred to Page No. 33 of the report – AP48 – consider introducing a 
procedure where Members are considering granting an application against Officer 
advice (overturns), to ensure appropriate conditions are fully explored prior to 
determination -  and questioned what was meant by this. In response, the Borough 
Solicitor advised that this was designed to streamline the process so the 
Committee knew what it would impose when it made the decision. It was not meant 
to pre-determine applications but to have some thoughts in mind about what 
conditions would be needed to make an application work. A Member noted that, 
until relatively recently, when the Committee decided an application against the 
Officer recommendation Members expected Officers to come up with the 
reasons/conditions and now Members were asked to come up with those 
conditions/reasons which took a lot of time at the meeting. The report from the 
consultants suggested the development of a core set of conditions to make the 
process more expedient. She was of the view that there had been quite a few 
minor applications that need not have been taken to the Planning Committee which 
was a waste of Officer resources, Member time and public money so there was a 
need to make changes. She agreed that Member involvement through the 
Transform Working Group was important and she was pleased the project was 
being taken forward at a corporate level rather than just through the Development 
Management service as had been the case following other reviews. 

56.7 Referring to the difference between the Uniform and Enterprise systems, the Head 
of Development Services explained that Uniform was the system the team used to 
input the application details, process the applications and put together the 
Committee reports etc. Enterprise was the project management system but was 
not used as effectively as it could be for processes like tracking applications and 
monitoring performance. It was a problem that there were no procedure manuals 
for the systems to ensure consistency/using the whole system as effectively as 
possible and the Business Transformation team was supporting the review to show 
how the systems could be used better to minimise procedures. 

56.8 Referring to Page No. 23 of the report – AP11 – report on enforcement activity 
annually to the Planning Committee and AP12 – institute enforcement 
management reports for the enforcement team on at least a quarterly basis - a 
Member asked why one was reported annually and one quarterly. In response, the 
Head of Development Services advised that these were yet to be introduced but 
she was not sure of the reasons for the different monitoring times so she would 
check and advise Members accordingly. In addition, the Head of Corporate 
Services explained that Overview and Scrutiny Committee Members had felt they 

3



EX.17.11.21

were not getting a full picture of what enforcement did and wanted more proactive 
communications, possibly on a monthly basis, on the work of the team. The email 
that went out would include more detail and would be more frequent than annually. 
In terms of recruitment, the Head of Development Services advised that the Senior 
Enforcement Officer had been appointed from within the team so there was now a 
vacancy for an Enforcement Officer – an unsuccessful recruitment process had 
taken place and it would be advertised again soon. In terms of the Section 106 
Monitoring Officer, she confirmed an appointment had been made on a two-year 
fixed term contract to support the Section 106 system including addressing the 
process, monitoring the gaps and getting plans in place for affordable housing so 
there was a big piece of work for the role. There were some systems already in 
place but the new postholder would be looking to build on that more robustly. 

56.9 A Member expressed the view that all applicants should be treated fairly whether 
they were individuals or large developers and the Head of Development Services 
confirmed there was no intention to disregard anyone but the Council needed to 
use its resources as effectively as possible ensuring that applications were dealt 
with in the most efficient and way within the resources available. A Member noted 
that there used to be a system for daily updates on validated applications and in 
recent weeks enforcement had been added to that – she assumed this would 
continue and urged all Members to ensure they had access to that system.  The 
Head of Development Services confirmed that all Members could be sent the 
relevant link should they request it. Another Member expressed the view that the 
POS Enterprises report showed the Council had certain systematic problems and 
went some way to address those. He was of the view that Members needed to 
ensure Parish Council objections had sound planning reasons which they should 
be prepared to substantiate at Committee which would cut down the number of 
minor applications being considered. 

56.10 A Member asked for an explanation of the process of a delegated application and 
the Head of Development Services advised that, if a planning application was 
acceptable and fell within delegated powers, Officers could make the decision. If 
an application went to Committee a report was produced along with presentation 
material which involved a substantial amount of work from other Officers in One 
Legal and Democratic Services as well as the Development Management team. 

56.11 The action plan included the recommendations from the consultants and Members 
were asked to consider the plan and approach being taken to the project. It was 
reiterated that this was not about changing policies but approving workstreams and 
any changes would go through the formal process. The Transform Working Group 
would provide Member engagement and the Committee was also asked to 
endorse that approach. A Member referred to Page No. 27 of the report – AP26 – 
find an effective way to involve elected Members in pre-application work for large-
scale major applications with clear protocols in place and extensive training 
provided for all those likely to be involved – and questioned whether this would be 
introducing a new tier to the process or whether it was instead of the Committee. In 
response, the Head of Development Services explained that the intention was to 
set up a protocol so before planning applications went to Committee there was an 
opportunity to be briefed and ask questions without pre-determination – this would 
provide a way for Councillors to be involved early in the process. There would 
always be safeguards in any Scheme of Delegation and if any of those were 
triggered the application would automatically be submitted to the Committee. 

56.12 Accordingly, it was 

RESOLVED: 1. That the Council’s response to the review be 
ENDORSED and the high-level action plan attached 
to the report be APPROVED. 

4



EX.17.11.21

2. That the Transform Working Group monitor the 
delivery of the action plan. 

EX.57 FINANCIAL UPDATE - QUARTER TWO 2021/22 

57.1 The report of the Head of Finance and Asset Management, circulated at Pages No. 
35-59, set out the second quarterly monitoring report of the Council’s financial 
performance for the year and highlighted a projected outturn surplus based on the 
quarter two position of £3,611,060 on the revenue budget and detailed the 
expenditure to date against both the capital programme and the approved 
reserves. Members were asked to consider the financial performance information 
provided. 

57.2 The Head of Finance and Asset Management explained that the budget for 
2021/22 had been approved by Council in February 2021 with the reserves 
approved by Executive Committee in July 2021. The report before Members was 
the second quarterly monitoring report of the Council’s financial performance for 
the year. It was noted that the reported £3.6 million surplus was comprised of £3.6 
million of S31 business rates grants which were required to be set aside to meet a 
business rates collection fund deficit in 2022/23. Therefore, the balance of the 
budget forecast at the end of the second quarter was cost neutral and on target to 
deliver an outturn in line with the original estimates for 2021/22. The Head of 
Finance and Asset Management drew attention to Paragraph 2.0 of the report and 
explained that the quarter two full year projection highlighted a full year cost of 
service provision totalling £12.334 million resulting in a surplus against the 
approved budget of £83,244. The main reasons for the projected surplus were set 
out in the report and in Appendix A. The full year projection for employees 
highlighted a potential gross surplus of £432,612; it should, however, be noted that 
within the Council’s corporate expenditure was a target to save £155,000 from 
employment costs across the Council. The net position was therefore a surplus 
against target of £277,612. The figures did not include the pay award which was 
still being negotiated but a reserve had been put aside which would equate to a 2% 
pay award. In terms of corporate expenditure, this highlighted an estimated surplus 
of £3,527,816 for the financial year. Treasury activities were expected to deliver 
small savings in borrowing costs and an increase in interest received from 
investing. The Council’s commercial portfolio was currently predicting a deficit on 
the year as a result of the unexpected temporary void at one office unit, a tenant 
exercising a mid-year break clause at an industrial unit and the inducements 
offered to secure leases at the Clevedon units. Should the commercial property 
account remain in deficit for the full-year, the Council would utilise the commercial 
property reserve to cover the void and lease costs resulting in no impact on the 
base budget position. The anticipated business rates showed a net surplus of 
approximately £2.9 million from the original budget compiled in December 2020. 
The major component of the surplus was the £3.62 million S31 grant paid by the 
government to provide further relief from business rates for businesses in certain 
sectors. Those businesses would receive the relief in the current year and 
therefore pay reduced business rates. The underlying position of business rates in 
the current year showed a small amount of growth and an improving position 
against the prudent estimates made in the budget. The level of empty business 
premises across the Borough continued to be much lower than forecast and bad 
debts were not materialising to the levels originally envisaged. In addition, the 
government had announced that Material Change in Circumstance business rate 
appeals would not be dealt with as appeals but would be subject to a separate 
grants system. With that announcement, the Council was able to remove the 
provision for those type of appeals from within its retention calculation. As a result 
of those factors, the level of retention for 2021/22 was likely to be much higher for 
Tewkesbury Borough with a net gain of over £1.4 million currently being forecast; 

5



EX.17.11.21

however, the gain would only be released at the end of 2022/23 and therefore was 
not available to the Council until April 2023. In contrast to the £1.4 million gain, the 
additional levy now payable by Tewkesbury Borough was due in the current year 
and, as a result, the net position for the in-year business rates retention was a 
deficit of £732,566. 

57.3 Appendix B to the report showed the capital budget position as at quarter two 
which currently showed an underspend of £325,309 against the profiled budget of 
£695,000. The capital programme estimated total expenditure for the year to be 
approximately £3.9 million which was much reduced on previous years as a result 
of the end of the acquisition phase of the commercial investment property strategy. 
The main elements of this year’s forecast included Ashchurch Bridge; vehicle 
replacement; Council Offices heating system replacement; and Disabled Facilities 
Grants (DFGs). The expected replacement of the Council’s heating system would 
now not take place in the second half of the year due to significant increases in 
prices; however, grant funding would be used to support the delivery of a solar 
canopy above a number of car parking spaces in the rear car park of the Offices. 
Appendix C showed a summary of the current usage of available reserves. 
Reserves had been set aside from previous years to fund future known costs and 
the strategic planning of the authority’s operation – this year’s reserves had been 
boosted by both grant funding related to COVID-19 and the release of provisions 
from the retained business rates scheme. The information in the Appendix did not 
take account of reserves which had been committed but not yet paid. In terms of 
the semi annual treasury report, Members were advised that at the half year point 
of the financial year, treasury investment activities had resulted in an average 
return of 1.60% on its investments which, at the end of September, totalled 
£30,200,000. That performance and level of return had generated interest of 
£225,000 in the first half of the year against the budget estimate of £172,500. This 
was considered to be an excellent return given the continued low interest rates and 
represented a return of 1.52% in excess of the benchmark rate – it was also more 
than double the average return of 129 other local authorities who were members of 
the benchmarking club. The Council’s investment performance had been boosted 
by its investment in a number of pooled funds which held investments in equity, 
multi-asset and property classes and continued to return an income of 4.71%. In 
addition, there had been a gain of 9.14% on the capital value of those investments 
in the first six months which moved the Council close to pre-pandemic capital 
values. Borrowing costs were down in the first half year as a result of lower 
borrowing costs and the repayment of £5 million of previous borrowing. 

57.4 During the discussion which ensued, a Member noted that £115,000 had been 
spent on the Garden Communities project and she questioned whether this was 
the Council’s money or government funding. In response, the Head of Finance and 
Asset Management confirmed this was all government funding to support the 
delivery of the Garden Town. In terms of Ubico, he confirmed that discussions 
were ongoing in respect of the money released from the budget following the new 
bulky waste collection arrangements and it had been agreed that £30,000 would 
be released in next year’s budget. In respect of the voids in the commercial 
properties, he advised there were no concerns at this point as all other areas were 
occupied - with the exception of 25% of the office block in Hertford - the remainder 
of the portfolio was in good shape. The top floor at the Council Offices was not 
performing as well as the rest of the portfolio and in the New Year he would be 
considering changing Letting Agents as well as pursuing other options internally. In 
response to a query regarding high inflation and wage pressures, the Head of 
Finance and Asset Management explained that 4.2% on CPR had been in the 
headlines that morning and he felt it would likely go higher; however, the impact on 
the Council remained to be seen. In terms of the pay award, Unions were about to 
ballot on strike action. 

6



EX.17.11.21

57.5 Accordingly, it was 

RESOLVED: That the financial performance for the first half of 2021/22 be 
NOTED.  

EX.58 REVIEW OF TREE SAFETY MANAGEMENT POLICY 

58.1 The report of the Asset Manager, circulated at Pages No. 60-69, attached an 
updated Tree Safety Management Policy for Members to approve. 

58.2 The Asset Manager reiterated to the Committee that this was a safety 
management policy not a tree planting strategy. The current Tree Safety 
Management Policy had been in place since 2012 in its current form and had 
worked well. It had been scrutinised by the Council’s insurers as one of its higher 
risk liabilities and had been updated in line with best practice and common sense 
management of trees approach laid out in the National Tree Safety Group 
publication for the safe management of trees. The Policy was a risk-based 
approach around the location and size of the tree meaning a large tree by a school 
would be inspected more often than one in Lassington Wood. It was an integral 
part of the safe management of trees in protecting people and property from harm 
and the Council’s policy detailed the risk management of trees by maturity, location 
and likelihood of risk to people or property. The Council had over 5,000 trees on 
land in its ownership and was required to have a tree safety management plan and 
inspection regime to ensure the risk of falling trees and branches was managed to 
reduce the risk of injury or damage to property. The authority used a software 
system for the management and recording of tree inspections and this was 
currently contracted to Ubico and overseen by the Environmental Health Officers 
and the Property Team along with an Officer Working Group – the Tree Risk Action 
Group (TRAG) – which included Property, Environmental Health, the Tree Officer 
and the Insurance Officer. 

58.3 A Member felt the Council generally had a good track record with its tree 
management except where trees in residential areas had grown extremely large 
which caused frustrations for homeowners who bought homes being told they 
would be kept under control. The Asset Manager confirmed that the number of 
complaints had reduced since the recording system had been implemented that 
showed which trees belonged to the Council. Occasionally, there were trees that 
should not have been there, or the wrong tree was planted in the wrong location – 
those were removed and planted in a more suitable location – all issues were 
considered by the TRAG and Officers tried to work with the public as it was 
understood there was no ‘one size fits all’ solution. Sometimes trees were planted 
as noise bunds and some of those matured to 30 feet high – residents often felt 
those should be hedges but that was not the case. Properties were more likely to 
be susceptible to subsidence in high clay areas like Tewkesbury Borough and 
those needed to be managed appropriately understanding that trees were 
important. The Tree Officer looked at monetary value as well as carbon value to 
understand how best to manage and secure trees wherever possible. In response 
to a query regarding the loss of trees through Ash dieback, the Asset Manager 
explained that there was an inspection policy around dangerous trees and there 
were experts who inspected Ash dieback on a grading system; in the Council’s 
experience, there were only a handful of trees each year that had to be removed 
as it did not have a large population of Ash trees within its estate. 

58.4 Having considered the information provided, it was 

RESOLVED: That the updated Tree Safety Management Policy be 
APPROVED.  

7



EX.17.11.21

EX.59 ENVIRONMENTAL HEALTH ENFORCEMENT POLICY AND FIXED PENALTY 
SCHEME 

59.1 The report of the Interim Environmental Health Manager, circulated at Pages No. 
70-95, set out a refreshed Environmental Health Enforcement Policy, including the 
use of Fixed Penalty Notices, which Members were asked to approve. 

59.2 The Head of Community Services explained that the Environmental Health 
Enforcement Policy was subject to periodic review following its adoption by the 
Council in August 2017. The principles contained in the policy were reflected in the 
Council’s overarching Corporate Enforcement Policy which was adopted in 2020. 
The draft policy, with proposed changes highlighted, was attached at Appendix 1 to 
the report and Councillors were asked to note that there were no material changes 
other than updating legislation and house-keeping changes; however, one of the 
main changes was that the Fixed Penalty Notice Scheme would form part of the 
Environmental Health Enforcement Policy and be added as an Appendix. In March 
2021, the Executive Committee had approved the Council’s approach to Civil 
Penalty, Rent Repayment Order and Minimum Energy Efficiency Standards in 
Privately Rented Homes and that scheme would also be added to the 
Environmental Health Enforcement Policy as an Appendix – there was no change 
proposed to that element of the policy. 

59.3 A Member questioned whether the levels of fines were statutory and was advised 
that in the main they were. There was some leeway in whether the Council wanted 
to offer early payment discounts and Officers tended to think that worked. Another 
Member expressed concern that the Council’s Enforcement Officers could not 
catch everyone that they needed to issue Fixed Penalty Notices to and she 
questioned how many had been issued for dog fouling. In response, the Head of 
Community Services advised that there had been one or two issued – he agreed 
there was a problem in that the Officer had to be there, or a witness statement 
received, before a Fixed Penalty Notice was issued. 

59.4 Accordingly, it was

RESOLVED: 1. That the updated and refreshed Environmental 
Health Enforcement Policy, and Appendix 1 to the 
report setting out the use of Fixed Penalty Notices, 
be APPROVED. 

2. That the Head of Community Services be authorised 
to approve any future minor amendments, in 
consultation with the Borough Solicitor and the Lead 
Member for Clean and Green Environment.  

EX.60 ANNUAL INFRASTRUCTURE FUNDING STATEMENT (IFS) AND COMMUNITY 
INFRASTRUCTURE LEVY (CIL) RATE SUMMARY STATEMENT 
REQUIREMENTS 

60.1 The report of the Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Manager for the Joint Core 
Strategy (JCS) authorities, circulated at Pages No. 96-124, provided an update on 
the preparation of the Infrastructure Funding Statement (IFS) for 2021 and this 
year’s CIL Rates Summary Statement. Members were asked to consider the 
information and recommend to Council approval of the publication of the IFS 
relating to the financial year ending 31 March 2021 by 31 December 2021 and to 
note that the annual CIL Rate Summary Statement would be published alongside 
it. 

60.2 The CIL Manager for the JCS authorities advised that this was the second annual 
Infrastructure Funding Statement which needed to be published by 31 December 

8



EX.17.11.21

each year. The Statement reported on the previous financial year and so provided 
a snapshot. It was required to cover three areas: to report on the CIL; to report on 
S106 Agreements; and to provide the infrastructure list. The format was prescribed 
in legislation which made the statement quite unreadable to general members of 
the public but it was factual. The Infrastructure List was different and was shared 
with Cheltenham Borough Council and Gloucester City Council based on the 
projects derived from the Infrastructure Delivery Plan (IDP) for the JCS. The List 
was being reported on as adopted last year and projects had been added since 
that time. The CIL Rates Summary Statement provided an explanation of how 
inflation was taken into account and how the index was required by government to 
apply those changes. The index was prepared by the Royal Infrastructure of 
Chartered Surveyors and the changes set in December would apply for the next 
calendar year in line with the charges set by that body.

60.3 Referring to Page No. 110 of the report, a Member asked what was meant by the 
description ‘recode litter bins to relevant planning obligations for 2020/21 
(£689.33). Install mixed waste bin at Crippetts Lane, Shurdington (£110)’. In 
response, the CIL Manager for the JCS authorities undertook to check that and 
confirm. Another Member questioned why the authority gave CIL funding to the 
Police and Crime Commissioner and the CIL Manager for the JCS authorities 
confirmed that this was S106 funding not CIL funding – in fact no CIL money had 
yet been spent. There were obligations negotiated for specific purposes and Case 
Officers would have got feedback from the Police and Crime Commissioner 
regarding his requirements and that was written into agreements. The difference 
with CIL was that it was essentially a tax which never had to be given back to 
developers. If Parish money was not spent within five years it came back to the 
Borough Council and spending was monitored annually; Parishes could decide to 
keep the funding for longer but that was at the Borough Council’s discretion and 
the Parish had to put its request in writing two weeks before the five years were up. 
If the funding went back to the Borough Council it would go into the bigger pot to 
be spent on the Infrastructure List. If the Parish was not set up to deal with large 
sums of funding they could ask the Borough Council to retain it. In addition, if the 
Parish Council did not have a general power of competence, it may not be able to 
spend it on what it wanted and it could ask the Borough Council to do that on its 
behalf or, if it did not have any projects, it could ask the Borough Council to keep 
the funding. 

60.4 The CIL Manager for the JCS authorities, advised that the Infrastructure Delivery 
Plan and Infrastructure Lists were used to justify becoming a CIL Charging 
Authority. There was a need to identify a gap and to raise CIL to help fill that gap; 
however, the amount of CIL must take into account viability and not stop 
development. Part of the reason for the update on progress of schemes was that it 
showed a lot of schemes had no funding guaranteed at the moment but could in 
future which was the reason for the Council wanting to demonstrate a large gap. 

60.5 A Member noted that the frustration of CIL was that it was great for other agencies 
but there did not seem to be much in it for local district authorities. In response, the 
CIL Manager for the JCS authorities advised that the JCS was a partnership and, if 
the Council did not support delivery, it would not deliver the required level of 
housing meaning it would not have a five-year housing land supply. The 
Infrastructure List was based on the IDP for the JCS; however, there were three 
district Councils, including Tewkesbury Borough, who had examinations for district 
level plans. This was an opportunity to review CIL charging schedules and the 
Inspector had looked at CIL charging rates and had not been happy with some of 
the evidence presented and felt it should be reviewed. The Head of Development 
Services explained that the CIL Infrastructure List had been carried forward from 
last year with some projects already having received funding from the County 
Council. All of the projects listed had not collected that much money to date but the 
key benefit was in the partnership/collection and pooling of money. A Member 

9



EX.17.11.21

understood that areas with a lot of development needed funding to support the 
needs in the community and, as a Borough Council, Tewkesbury did not get the 
left over funding as it was put into a bigger pot; he was concerned that the larger 
pot was dominated by the County Council and he questioned how the Borough 
Council could help shape what that was spent on. In response, the Head of 
Development Services indicated that the purpose of CIL was for strategic 
infrastructure. The CIL List was currently dominated by transport projects and it 
was being reviewed by district Councils – there was an opportunity for influence 
but expectations needed to be managed and must be strategic in nature. 

60.6 It was 

RESOLVED: That it be RECOMMENDED TO COUNCIL: 
1. That the publication of the Infrastructure Funding 

Statement (IFS) relating to the financial year ending 
31 March 2021 by 31 December 2021 be 
APPROVED. 

2. That the Annual Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) 
Rate Summary Statement be published alongside 
the IFS. 

EX.61 LOCAL HERITAGE LIST SELECTION CRITERIA FOR TEWKESBURY 
BOROUGH SUPPLEMENTARY PLANNING DOCUMENT (SPD) 

61.1 The report of the Planning Policy Manager, circulated at Pages No. 125-138, 
asked Members to approve the draft Supplementary Planning Document (SPD): 
Local Heritage List Selection Criteria for Tewkesbury Borough for consultation 
purposes. 

61.2 Members were advised that the Local Heritage List Selection Criteria SPD 
provided the basis for deciding which nominated heritage assets identified were 
adopted onto the Local Heritage List which was a list of undesignated heritage 
assets which had special local architectural, archaeological or historic interest and 
contributed to the character of a place. A Local Heritage List provided information 
on the location of those assets and what was significant about them. The purpose 
of the local procedure for the Local Heritage List Selection Criteria SPD was to 
identify and utilise a robust and standardised procedure for nominating assets onto 
a Local Heritage List – the publication of the SPD ran in tandem with the creation 
of a Local Heritage List for Tewkesbury Borough. The Committee was asked to 
approve the draft Supplementary Planning Document for consultation and to 
delegate authority to the Head of Development Services to make any necessary 
minor amendments to the draft document, as considered appropriate, prior to 
consultation. 

61.3 Referring to the nomination categories, a Member noted that bridges were not 
listed and felt they ought to be given the number of historic bridges in the 
Tewkesbury area. In addition, he questioned whether a call to the public was made 
for nominations to be listed. In response, the Heritage Engagement Officer advised 
that bridges should have been included and she would amend the list referred to. 
The public had been asked for individual nominations initially but feedback from 
Members was required in the first tranche to bring forward the unlisted 
characteristics of a local area – Parish Councils had also been consulted. She 
would visit and develop local knowledge alongside Parishes or they could just put 
forward their nominations – her role with the Council was time-limited and, once 
she left, other Officers would take forward the maintenance of the list. In addition, 
the Head of Development Services advised that the SPD set the criteria for how 
feedback was gained and assessed. A grant had been received from central 

10



EX.17.11.21

government to set up the Local Heritage List and Councils would gain nominations 
but it needed to be robust in how it was adopted. In an ideal world, the criteria 
would be set up before the nominations were requested but there was a finite 
amount of time to get the project completed, as such, it was being undertaken 
together. So far the Parishes had been informed of the work which was ongoing 
and they had responded based on the draft criteria. A Member felt this needed to 
be made clear to Parishes otherwise they would think the document was final and 
that anything they wished to add would not be included. The Heritage Engagement 
Officer explained that she had provided a guide to the selection criteria and that 
was not dissimilar to the document which was currently before the Committee. 
Nominations for the list would be taken to the Panel and would then go on the 
provisional list. 

61.4 Accordingly, it was 

RESOLVED: 1. That the draft Supplementary Planning Document 
(SPD): Local Heritage List Selection Criteria for 
Tewkesbury Borough be APPROVED for 
consultation subject to the inclusion of bridges in the 
list of assets. 

2. That authority be delegated to the Head of 
Development Services to make any minor 
amendments to the draft document as considered 
appropriate prior to consultation. 

EX.62 PENSION DISCRETIONS POLICY 

62.1 The report of the HR and OD Manager and Finance Manager, circulated at Pages 
No. 139-158, asked Members to approve the revised Pensions Discretion Policy; 
to delegate authority to the Borough Solicitor to make amendments to the Scheme 
of Delegation to increase the financial limit from £10,000 to £20,000 (or where 
expenditure could not be found within existing budgets) before it would be referred 
to the Executive Committee; and to agree that the Policy be reviewed annually but 
only brought back to the Executive Committee for review every three years or 
when a change was required, whichever was sooner. 

62.2 Members were advised that the Council had a Discretions Policy published on its 
website and was available to employees. That Policy was kept under review so 
there was an opportunity to streamline and simplify the policy statement as well as 
to review the limits set by the Constitution at which individual pension requests 
needed to be considered by Members and to clarify the arrangements for review. 
The HR and OD Manager explained that almost all of the Council’s Officers were 
eligible to be part of the scheme so it was important it was reviewed and followed 
the template provided by the petition administrators. The Finance Manager 
explained that the discretions in the policy were the different ways people could 
draw their pensions early and the cost came from a lump sum cost which the 
central pensions administrator charged the Council. The requests were considered 
on a case-by-case basis subset to a business case demonstrating it was in the 
interests of the Council to approve. 

62.3 Accordingly, it was 

RESOLVED: 1. That the revised Pensions Discretions Policy be 
APPROVED. 

2. That authority be delegated to the Borough Solicitor 
to make amendments to the Scheme of Delegation 

11



EX.17.11.21

to increase the financial limit from £10,000 to 
£20,000 (or where expenditure could not be found 
within existing budgets) before it would be referred to 
Executive Committee. Requests below that level of 
expenditure to be delegated to the roles clarified as 
Head of Paid Service and S151 Officer in 
consultation with the Lead Member for Finance and 
Asset Management.  

3. That the Policy be reviewed annually but only 
brought to the Executive Committee for review every 
three years or when a change is required whichever 
is sooner. 

The meeting closed at 4:45 pm

12



1
Changes from previously published Plan shown in bold

EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE FORWARD PLAN 2021/22
REGULAR ITEM:
 Forward Plan – To note the forthcoming items.

Additions to 5 January 2022
 Community Governance Review Draft Proposals. 
 Shopfront Supplementary Planning Document. 

Committee Date: 2 February 2022

Agenda Item Overview of Agenda Item Lead Officer Has agenda item previously been 
deferred? Details and date of 
deferment required  

Budget 2022/23 (Annual). To recommend a budget for 2022/23 to 
the Council. 

Head of Finance and Asset 
Management.

No.

Council Plan Performance 
Tracker and COVID-19 
Recovery Tracker – Quarter 
Two 2021/22.

To receive and respond to the findings of 
the Overview and Scrutiny Committee‘s 
review of the quarter two performance 
management and recovery information.

Head of Corporate Services. No. 

Redundancy and 
Redeployment Policy

To approve the Policy. Head of Corporate Services. Yes, deferred from November 2021.

HR Allocations Policy To approve the Policy. Head of Corporate Services. Yes, deferred from November 2021. 

Discretionary Rate Relief 
Policy.

To consider the Discretionary Rate 
Relief Policy.

Head of Corporate Services. No.

Statement of Community 
Involvement. 

To recommend to Council for 
adoption. 

Head of Development Services. No. 

Managing Contractors 
Safely Policy. 

To approve the updated Policy. Head of Community Services. No. 

13

A
genda Item

 6



2
Changes from previously published Plan shown in bold

Committee Date: 2 February 2022

Agenda Item Overview of Agenda Item Lead Officer Has agenda item previously been 
deferred? Details and date of 
deferment required  

Confidential Item: 
Irrecoverable Debts Write-
Off Report (Quarterly).

To consider the write-off of irrecoverable 
debts. 

Head of Corporate Services. No. 

(To be considered in private because of the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in Paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A to the Local 
Government Act 1972 – Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular person (including the authority holding that 
information)).

14



3
Changes from previously published Plan shown in bold

Committee Date: 2 March 2022

Agenda Item Overview of Agenda Item Lead Officer Has agenda item previously been 
deferred? Details and date of 
deferment required  

Financial Update - Quarter 
Three 2021/22.

To consider the quarterly budget 
position.

Head of Finance and Asset 
Management.

Yes, from February to enable figures 
to be collated.

Digital Strategy. To approve the Digital Strategy. Head of Corporate Services. No. 

Asset Management Strategy. To approve the Asset Management 
Strategy.

Head of Finance and Asset 
Management.

No. 

Housing Strategy. To recommend the Housing Strategy to 
Council for approval.

Head of Community Services. No. 

Action for Affordable Warmth 
2013-18.

To consider and approve. Head of Community Services. No. Deleted as not a matter for 
Executive Committee. 

Tewkesbury Borough Council 
domestic waste and recycling 
collection services policy and 
procedures.

To consider and approve. Head of Community Services. No. 

Equalities and Diversity 
Policy.

To approve the Equalities and Diversity 
Policy.

Head of Corporate Services. Moved from September meeting to 
enable a bid for consultant funding to 
undertake work on equalities. 

Medium Term Financial 
Strategy (Annual).

To recommend to Council the adoption of 
the five-year MTFS which describes the 
financial environment the Council is 
operating in and the pressures it will face 
in delivering its services and a balanced 
budget over the period.

Head of Finance and Asset 
Management.

Yes – deferred from January to allow 
the necessary information from the 
government.

15



4
Changes from previously published Plan shown in bold

Committee Date: 2 March 2022

Agenda Item Overview of Agenda Item Lead Officer Has agenda item previously been 
deferred? Details and date of 
deferment required  

Community Infrastructure 
Levy Review – New Draft 
Charging Schedule. 

To recommend to Council approval for 
consultation. 

Head of Development Services. Yes, deferred from November 2021 
due to slippage in the timetable. 

Discretionary Housing 
Payments Policy.

To consider the Discretionary 
Housing Payments Policy. 

Head of Corporate Services. No. 

Confidential Item: 
Irrecoverable Debts Write-
Off Report (Quarterly).

To consider the write-off of 
irrecoverable debts. 

Head of Corporate Services. No. 

(To be considered in private because of the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in Paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A to 
the Local Government Act 1972 – Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular person (including the authority 
holding that information)).16



5
Changes from previously published Plan shown in bold

Committee Date: 30 March 2022    

Agenda Item Overview of Agenda Item Lead Officer Has agenda item previously been 
deferred? Details and date of 
deferment required  

Council Plan Performance 
Tracker and COVID-19 
Recovery Tracker – Quarter 
Three 2021/22.

To receive and respond to the findings of 
the Overview and Scrutiny Committee‘s 
review of the quarter three performance 
management and recovery information.

Head of Corporate Services. No. 

Council Plan 2020/24 
Refresh (Annual).

To consider the Council Plan and make a 
recommendation to Council.

Head of Corporate Services. No. 

High Level Service Plan 
Summaries (Annual).

To consider the key activities of each 
service grouping during 2021/22.

Head of Corporate Services. No. 

Economic Development and 
Tourism Strategy.

To approve the Strategy. Head of Development Services. No. 

ITEMS FOR 2022/23

Agenda Item Overview of Agenda Item Lead Officer Has agenda item previously been 
deferred? Details and date of 
deferment required  

Community Infrastructure 
Levy Review – New Draft 
Charging Schedule. 

To recommend to Council for approval. Head of Development Services. No. 

Car Parking Strategy – June 
2022.

To approve the Car Parking Strategy. Head of Development Services. No. 

17



6
Changes from previously published Plan shown in bold

PENDING ITEMS

Agenda Item Overview of Agenda Item Date Item Added to 
Pending 

Spring Gardens Regeneration 
Phase 1a report.

To agree the recommendation of the preferred option for the regeneration of 
Spring Gardens.

4 September 2019

Council Plan 2020/24 Refresh 
(Annual).

To consider the Council Plan and make a recommendation to Council. 3 February 2021

Managing Contractors Safely 
Policy.

To approve the Policy. 26 July 2021

18



TEWKESBURY BOROUGH COUNCIL
Report to: Executive Committee

Date of Meeting: 5 January 2022

Subject: Interim Housing Strategy 2021-2022 Monitoring Report

Report of: Housing Services Manager

Corporate Lead: Head of Community Services

Lead Member: Lead Member for Housing

Number of Appendices: Three 

Executive Summary:
“At home in Tewkesbury Borough” is our interim housing strategy for 2021-2022 and it set out 
our vision and plans for housing and homelessness in the borough for the year.  As our plans 
for 2020-2021 had seen a considerable amount of distruption, a ‘refresh’ to the Housing 
Strategy was conducted.  It was an updated version of the previous strategy and work for a new 
longer term strategy from 2022-2026 began earlier this year. 
We know how important it is for residents to be able to access good quality housing and 
housing related services that make a real difference to their lives.  The strategy identifies four 
key housing priorities and key objectives for Tewkesbury Borough Council:
Priority 1: Increasing the supply of housing.
Priority 2: Prevent homelessness.
Priority 3: Meet the housing needs of specific groups.
Priority 4: Improving the health and well-being of local people.
Annual action plans are agreed by Executive Committee with regular reporting to Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee for review of achievements and future challenges.  The action plan priorities 
focus on developments in the service rather than service performance which is outlined in the 
performance tracking.    
This report presents Committee with:

 The action plan for 2021-2022 which formulates the actions to continue to meet the 
above priorities in line with the strategy will cover the period April 2021-March 2022.  

 A summary of the key activities which have been achieved during the year can be found 
at Appendix 2 – Interim Housing Strategy 2021-22 Action Plan Progress.

Recommendation:
To CONSIDER and NOTE the Housing Strategy Action Plan progress for 2021-2022.

19

Agenda Item 7



Reasons for Recommendation:
The Homelessness Act 2002 and Local Government Act 2003 requires all District Councils to 
develop a strategy which sets out the Council’s policies, commitments and programme for a 
wide range of housing matters. Following development of the Council’s Interim Housing 
Strategy 2021-2022, it was agreed that outcomes identified in the strategy action plan be 
monitored, regular updates are presented to the Overview and Scrutiny Committee, and that the 
Annual Action Plan is refreshed and agreed by the Executive Committee on an annual basis.

Resource Implications: 
Staff time and Member time. Resource implications will be met from existing budget allocations 
and, where they cannot, will be subject to a growth bid within the Council’s Medium Term 
Financial Strategy and a separate report to Members.

Legal Implications:
The Council is required to have a Housing and Homelessness Strategy in place so that its duties 
under the Homelessness Act 1996 (as amended) and Local Government Act 2003 can be met.  
The Homelessness Act 2002 requires local authorities to publish a strategy setting out how it will 
address homelessness and the Localism Act 2011 places a duty on all local authorities to 
produce a Tenancy Strategy.   
The Homelessness Reduction Act 2017 was implemented in April 2018. The current strategy 
incorporates the Homelessness Reduction Act, and the action plan is renewed annually to 
enable the strategy to flexibly respond to legislative changes.

Risk Management Implications:
The review of activities against the strategy action plan identifies the aims and objectives of the 
strategy and ensures they are being delivered in a timely way. The action plan supports the local 
authority in meeting statutory housing and homelessness duties, gives direction for improvement, 
and ensures that focus in housing development and private sector housing remains in line with 
housing need.

Performance Management Follow-up:
The Housing Strategy 2022-2026 and associated action plan are currently being produced and 
will be reviewed to ensure that they remain fit for purpose in the future.   

Environmental Implications: 
There are positive environmental implications in the delivery of the strategy objectives e.g. the 
strategy supports the delivery of new energy efficient homes and energy efficiency improvements 
in the existing housing stock across the borough.

20



1.0 INTRODUCTION/BACKGROUND

1.1 The Housing Act 1996 (as amended) and Local Government Act 2003 require all District 
Councils to develop a strategy which sets out the Council’s policies, commitments and 
programme for a wide range of housing matters. The Interim Housing Strategy 2021-
2022 was approved by Tewkesbury Borough Council in February 2021.  The action plan 
was reviewed and updated for the period April 2021 – March 2022 and is summarised 
below.   

2.0 UPDATE AND KEY ACTIVITIES

2.1 The following is a summary of the key activities, identified within the Interim Housing 
Strategy 2021-2022, which have formed the focus for April 2021-March 2022.  
Following on from service improvements to help meet the requirements of the 2017 
Homeless Reduction Act, the focus for 2020-2021 had been to continue with 
improvements such as engaging with customers through home visits and using 
alternative venues across the borough for housing appointments.
Prevented from taking these opportunities the department was hugely successful at 
responding to the very difficult conditions the COVID-19 pandemic presented.  The 
effects are still felt by the team with some restrictions on resources such as 
accommodation options and working remotely.  

3.0 Priority 1 – Increasing the supply of housing (for full details see action plan)

3.1 P1.1 Investigate how Registered Providers can be encouraged to consider alternative 
construction methods and deliver homes to a high build standard.
Improved build standards have been achieved by working closely with Registered 
Provider (RP) partners and supporting development with commuted sums funding.  RPs 
are committed to using alternative construction methods but still learning from pilot 
projects.  Different products, suppliers and ways of arranging contracts mean that, 
compared to traditional build methods, RPs are still working to find the best ways of 
employing new construction methods. 

3.2 P1.2 Produce a guidance note and bid pro forma that assists with the use of commuted 
sums (financial contributions in lieu of on-site affordable housing) and seek Executive 
Committee approval.
A guidance note and bid pro forma have been produced to help assess proposals from 
RPs. Funds have been committed to schemes that will support 68 new Affordable 
Housing units in the borough.  

4.0 Priority 2 – Homelessness and Homelessness Prevention (for full details see 
action plan)

4.1 P2.1 Improve advice processes to assist in supporting customers while working remotely 
including personalised plans that agree customer actions.

Improvements to our processes have been influenced by working remotely and work on 
customer contact and homelessness applications has helped maintain our service.  
Working remotely has generated some other benefits with more paperless working 
options saving money and reducing, if only modestly, our impact on the environment.

21



4.2 P2.2 Contact all housing associations and private landlords who have worked with us to 
prevent homelessness to develop an eviction/ prevention protocol.

By improving relationships with our RP partners through meetings with managers and 
joint team meetings we have encouraged better communication.  This has led to 
opportunities to improve tenants’ situations e.g. reduce rent arrears and assist in moving 
tenants to more suitable accommodation.
We have also contacted private sector lettings agent across the borough to raise the 
profile of another funding source allocated to us by Department Levelling Up, Housing 
and Communities.  The fund is available to help support vulnerable, low income tenants 
to reduce rent arrears and/or support them to move into alternative private sector 
accommodation options.  We hope that this can help develop prevention of eviction 
processes and give us opportunities to work with tenants at risk of homelessness. 

4.3 P2.3 Improve housing services website and include a landlord advice section

Changes to how we all live have led us to review how customers interact with our 
service.  Part of this is helping customers to ‘self-serve’ when they access our website 
and not have to click too many times to get the information they need.  The Business 
Transformation Team is supporting the Housing Advice Team to map its customer 
contact channels in order to further asses how customers interact with us.  We will then 
be able to consider if we need to make changes and use new tools to improve the 
customer experience such as online contact forms.
Although engagement with private sector landlords and agents has proved difficult due 
to a buoyant housing market, we have still had some success in securing tenancies for 
customers.  We have updated the relevant web pages to encourage landlords to work 
with us.

4.4 P2.4 Update the housing services housing options/homelessness form and investigate 
online solutions to support this.
The online platform that records our homelessness data has been improved through 
feedback from our team and is now used to record our housing options/homelessness 
application cases without the need for paper forms.
Information is now recorded more consistently and more fields can be used to produce 
reports on housing advice/homelessness cases.

4.5 P2.5 Reduce the use of private bed and breakfast accommodation except in 
emergencies.
Changing conditions across homelessness and rough sleeping in the last two years has 
meant comparing use of B&Bs across different periods has been difficult.  Many 
variables have affected the numbers requiring temporary accommodation and the 
availability of suitable options.   
Discussions with RP partners about potential solutions have been positive but no firm 
options have been identified so far.

22



4.6 P2.6 Work with county local authority partners to find solutions for high risk/high 
support/multiple needs homeless households.
In the last year the housing partnership networks across the County, born out of the 
COVID-19 response, have been developed further.  Information and resource sharing 
have improved and we have access to a greater variety of options for complex cases.  
The partnership also secured £382,500.00 from the County Contain Outbreak 
Management Fund (COMF).  As of 10/12/2021, it had spent £17,821.08 on 
homelessness prevention activity that will help customers have the ability to self-isolate if 
needed and reduce rough sleeping and the use of shared temporary accommodation 
options.

5.0 Priority 3 Meeting the housing needs of those who need it most (for full details see 
action plan).

5.1 P3.1 Support the evaluation of the accommodation needs of Travellers and Non-
Travellers (as determined by the 2016 updated Gypsy Traveller and Travelling 
Showpeople Accommodation Assessment (GTTSAA).
Planning Policy is supporting the development of the assessment.  The full report is due 
February 2022.

5.2 P3.2 Continue to play an active role in the Housing with Care Project Board to build 
relationships and create a joined-up way of working to better support vulnerable 
residents.
Benefits of our department engaging with the Housing with Care Project Board, now 
HEAT Partnership Board (Housing, Equipment, Energy, Adaptations, Aids and 
Technology) include influence on the previous development of the Housing with Care 
Strategy and connections between the Partnership and RPs, particularly in relation to 
Disable Facilities Grants (DFGs).
DFGs benefitting RP tenants have usually been from an adhoc, individual application 
basis.  We have asked RPs to identify larger projects, such as making communal areas 
more accessible or improving home technologies, that would benefit whole sites and 
impact on a wider scale.

6.0 Priority 4 Improving the health and well-being of local people (for full details see 
action plan).

6.1 P4.1 Encourage landlords wanting to work with the Council on improving housing 
standards and be better trained to provide quality accommodation and management.
The Environmental Health service is undergoing a trial with officers moving to focus on 
specialist areas instead of working generically e.g. across food, housing, enviro-crimes.  
A Private Sector Housing team will be upskilled through training and will then be in place 
to provide support and enforcement options with private sector landlords. 
This dual approach, alongside the stock condition survey below, will help to improve the 
management by landlords and physical standards of properties to the benefit of tenants 
in the borough.

23



6.2 P4.2 Work in partnership with district colleagues to commission a ‘Stock Condition 
Survey’.
The procurement process is underway with a provider to be selected with a contract start 
date of 10 January 2022.  Survey results due October 2022 will help inform the actions 
for Year 2 of the new Housing Strategy around improving private sector housing 
standards. 

6.3 P4.3 Respond within 3 working days to customer complaints about housing conditions.
The service has maintained a high rate of responses made within three working days 
with an estimated figure of 80%.  Reporting systems will be put in place to assess this in 
more detail.
While still relatively low overall, complaints on housing conditions have doubled in the 
last 12 months.

6.4 P4.4 Reduce poor quality housing by taking appropriate action to deal with identified 
Housing Health and Safety Rating System Category 1 hazards.
A specialist team is now in place to take enforcement action with Improvement Notices 
now subject to a charge.  An Enforcement Policy has been refreshed and approved in 
November 2021.

6.5 P4.5 Current warm and well contract expires in March 2022.  Review performance of 
current provider and participate in joint procurement with other Gloucestershire local 
authorities.
The existing contract with Warm and Well is proposed to be extended for two years with 
an option to extend for a further three years. Final agreement will be by end of March 
2022.
The Sustainable Warmth Fund is to assist those in fuel poverty living in homes with 
Energy Performance ratings of E or lower and is in two parts:

 £1,030,000 for Local Authority Delivery Scheme (LADS) phase 3 for insulation 
and heating (non fossil fuel types) for those on the gas network 

 £4,217,985 for Home Upgrade Grant (HUG) phase 1 for insulation and heating 
for homes off the gas network.

Severn Wye will be delivering this fund on behalf of all Gloucestershire Districts.

6.6 P4.6 Regulate the standards of larger houses in multiple occupation (HMOs) and 
caravan sites by enforcing mandatory license conditions.
A number of new policies and procedures are in place to support this action:

 HMO Policy.

 Civil Penalty Policy adopted July 2021.

 Enforcement Policy approved November 2021.

 Mobile Homes and Caravan Site Policy adopted October 2021.
Notices for enforcement action under the Housing Act are now subject to charge within 
Fees and Charges.
As well as arrangement being in place for updating our web pages, other future activity 
will continue to identify unlicensed HMOs.  The service will also plan a programme of 
inspections of caravan sites and continue to address substandard conditions in both the 
private and social sectors.

24



6.7 P4.7 To explore how housing applicants supported by Tewkesbury Borough Council can 
benefit from the ‘Going the Extra Mile’ (GEM) Project.
Joint meetings firstly between Housing Services and GEM and then another with 
Bromford Neighbourhood Coaches helped to share experiences and inform each other 
of how we would interact with potential shared cases.  
It was important to include Bromford in discussions as they can be better placed to refer 
cases to GEM.  As an applicant needs to be focussed and committed to the GEM 
project, it was noted that this can be difficult when also having to resolve a level of 
housing need.  A more stable base once accommodation issues are resolved provides a 
better opportunity to engage with training and employment.

7.0 Housing Strategy 2022-2026

7.1 Work on the new Housing Strategy is progressing and on target.  The public consultation 
has opened and we looked forward to receiving thoughts on the challenges and 
opportunities we have presented. 

7.2 Some priorities for the new strategy include – 

 Producing an Empty Homes Strategy to bring different departments within the 
organisation together and reduce the number of empty homes in the borough.

 Using our latest evidence base to deliver more homes at Social Rent levels to 
help address problems around affordability.

 Further promote and allocate our commuted sums funding to increase Affordable 
Housing delivery and improve build standards.

7.3 To support the aims of the new strategy, Environmental Health and Housing Services 
will be working more closely together to avoid duplication of work, ensure the right 
advice/enforcement is provided to landlords and deliver better outcomes for customers.

8.0 OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED

8.1 None – this is an update on actions following progress made to meet strategy to date.

9.0 CONSULTATION 

9.1  None – updates and have been provided by the relevant Service Managers.

10.0 RELEVANT COUNCIL POLICIES/STRATEGIES

10.1 Interim Housing Strategy 2021-22.

11.0 RELEVANT GOVERNMENT POLICIES 

11.1 The main documents driving government housing policy and legislation are:
• The Future Home Improvement Agency (CLG 2009).
• Fixing the foundations: Creating a more prosperous nation (July 2015).

25



12.0 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS (Human/Property)

12.1 None directly associated with this report other than staff and Member time. Any 
resources associated with the actions in the strategy will form part of the Council’s 
Medium Term Financial Strategy and Asset Management Plan. Resource implications 
will be met from existing budget allocations and, where they cannot, will be subject to a 
growth bid within the Council’s Medium Term Financial Strategy and a separate report to 
Members.

13.0 SUSTAINABILITY IMPLICATIONS (Social/Community Safety/Cultural/ Economic/ 
Environment)

13.1 The strategy includes considerations of sustainability and energy efficiency in addition to 
the social and economic implications.

14.0 IMPACT UPON (Value For Money/Equalities/E-Government/Human Rights/Health 
And Safety)

14.1 Housing is a basic human need. An Equality Impact Assessment was undertaken prior to 
the Council’s adoption of the strategy in September 2016, this is still relevant.

15.0 RELATED DECISIONS AND ANY OTHER RELEVANT FACTS 

15.1 The Interim Housing Strategy 2021-22 has been approved and adopted by Council in 
February 2021.

Background Papers: Existing strategies and policies are available on the Council’s website.
Contact Officer: Head of Community Services Tel: 01684 272259   

Email: Peter.Tonge@Tewkesbury.gov.uk
Housing Services Manger Tel: 01684 272162 
Email: john.bryant@tewkesbury.gov.uk

 Environmental Health Manager Tel: 01684 272175 
Email: Alastair.Low@tewkesbury.gov.uk 

Appendices: 1 – Interim Housing Strategy 2021-22.
                                       2 – Interim Housing Strategy 2021-22 Action Plan Progress.

3 – Bid Pro forma for TBC funds.

26

mailto:Peter.Tonge@tewkesbury.gov.uk
mailto:john.bryant@tewkesbury.gov.uk
mailto:Alastair.Low@tewkesbury.gov.uk


Housing Strategy 2021-2022 1

￼  

Appendix 1

At home in Tewkesbury Borough
interim housing strategy for our 
borough 
                   2021-2022 

Tewkesbury Interim Housing Strategy 2021-22

27



Housing Strategy 2021-2022 2

This page is intentionally left blank

28



Housing Strategy 2021-2022 3

Foreword 

Welcome to the Tewkesbury Borough Council Housing interim 

Strategy 2021-2022. This interim strategy has been prepared as 

a review from the 2017-21 strategy. The interim approach is 

appropriate as there are many changes both proposed and 

current in the Housing and Planning policy landscape as well as 

Covid restrictions and these are yet to be fully resolved and 

impacts understood. A further comprehensive review is proposed 

in 2022 when it is anticipated matters will have settled.  

  As Lead Member for Housing, I recognise how important it is for residents to be able to 

access good quality housing and housing related services that make a real difference to their 

lives. Not only is housing important for the health and wellbeing of individuals and families, but 

it is an important part of building and maintaining strong communities and supporting the 

overall economic prosperity of the borough.  

Under the Housing Acts of 1996 and 2002, the Local Government Act 2003, Localism Act 

2011 and the Homelessness Reduction Act 2017 the Council is required to have a strategy in 

place to set out its vision for housing and how it will address homelessness across its 

administrative area. National and local policies guide the principles within this strategy.

 This document provides a clear direction and commitment for the delivery of a customer 

focused, efficient housing service. By having a single overarching strategy it should make it 

easier for our stakeholders to understand when as well as what  we intend to do to address 

housing issues and tackle homelessness.   

This strategy will enable the council to work effectively and with a range of partner 

organisations to actively support private sector landlords and tenants and maintain and 

improve all accommodation across the borough. We will need to work with our stakeholders 

to achieve our annual action plans and in doing so I am confident that the delivery of this 

strategy, through innovative approaches, will help the council to deliver the right mix of 

accommodation in the borough. The Council will provide high quality housing advice and 

support  people when they need it to prevent and relieve homelessness.   

29



Housing Strategy 2021-2022 4

Providing our communities with a choice of affordable and private market housing, in an area 

where they want to live and work now and in the future, will contribute towards making 

Tewkesbury Borough a place where a good quality of life is open to all.   

Councillor Gill Blackwell
Lead Member for Housing
Tewkesbury Borough Council

Contents Page

1 Introduction and background Page 5

2 The local context Page 6

3 Policy context and key challenges Page 9

3.1 Increasing housing supply Page 9

3.2 Homelessness and Homelessness Prevention Page 14

3.3 Meetings the needs of specific groups Page 15

3.4 Improving the health and well-being of local people Page 20

4 The Challenges Page 23

5 Addressing the challenges Page 24

6 Key Priorities Page 25

7 Monitoring our Strategy Page 26

8 Action Plan:  Year one 2021 Page 27                        

9 Glossary of Terms Page 35

30



Housing Strategy 2021-2022 5

1 Introduction and background

The Housing Strategy 2021-2022 has a key part to play in delivering the council’s 
overarching vision1 for the residents and communities of Tewkesbury Borough:

“Tewkesbury Borough, a place where a good quality of life is open for all”

Quality housing is fundamental to the health and well-being of our communities and ensures 
the borough remains a thriving one where people want to live, work and visit.  Tewkesbury 
Borough Council recognises that access to quality affordable housing underpins the 
success of our area and all of the overarching corporate priorities.  

The Council Plan 2020-2024 identifies housing as a key priority. The plan commits to create 
a ‘sustainable place’ to meet the needs of our growing population. 

The housing objectives are set out as follows: 
 

 Deliver the housing needs of our communities

 Ensure development plans provide for the five-year land supply 
requirement 

 Support infrastructure and facilities delivery to enable sustainable 
communities 

 It is important for residents to be able to access good quality housing and housing 
services that make a real difference to their lives. 

Not only is housing important for the health and well-being of residents it is also an important 
part of building and maintaining strong communities and supporting the economic prosperity 
of the borough.

Only with the right supply of homes to meet the housing needs of local people can we 
achieve our vision of sustainable communities supported by economic growth.

The Council Plan has other  key policies on Sustainable Environment and Garden 
Communities both of which will impact on our housing plans.

The Climate Emergency Declaration under Sustainable Environment calls for:

  “Review and update of our plans in relation to environmental sustainability and carbon 
management “ 

This could have wide ranging effects upon new build housing construction standards as well 
as existing housing stock refurbishment requirements.  In practice this will be effectively 
pursued on new build schemes when the Government issues new Building Regulation 

31



Housing Strategy 2021-2022 6

Guidance and when the JCS Plan Review has in place planning policy to support these 
changes. Existing housing stock refurbishment depends upon Government initiatives such 
as the Green Deal Grant regime and the forthcoming De-carbonisation grants aimed at large 
stock holders such as Housing Associations.

The Garden Communities will deliver large scale housing numbers for the Borough with a 
wide range of housing types and tenures as well as new employment and leisure 
opportunities in new sustainable communities. However, the delivery of the housing 
elements of this scheme is still some way off. This is because the proposal has yet to pass 
through the formal Local Plan stages.  

The housing strategy is an overarching strategic document.  It takes account of the principal 
national and local issues that are likely to affect Tewkesbury Borough in the foreseeable 
future. Although the effects of Covid 19 and The EU-UK Trade and Cooperation Agreement 
are not fully understood at this time.  It sets out our housing challenges and explains how we 
intend to address these issues through four key priorities. Key objectives are detailed within 
each of the priority areas with targets and outcomes for delivering these objectives will be 
detailed annually in the action plan.

2 The local context 
2.1 Our profile

Tewkesbury borough is spread across 160 square miles and despite its predominately rural 
nature it also includes growing communities on the fringes of Gloucester City and the town of 
Cheltenham.  The eastern part of the borough lies within the Cotswold Area of Outstanding 
Natural Beauty (AONB) which accounts for 8.5% of our district2.

Flooding is a natural feature of the borough particularly in relation to the River Severn which 
runs down the western edge of the area and creates constraints regarding flood plain3.  
These constraints and the AONB can make development of new homes and other buildings 
and infrastructure difficult in the borough.  However, the borough is at the heart of the 
economic engine of Gloucestershire, including four junctions of the M5 motorway and has 
excellent national transport links making it an area of significant growth.

The borough’s population is roughly 92,599 with just over 42,000 households. There are 50 
parish and town councils (includes parish meetings) covering the borough ranging in size 
from 3,062 households to as small as 574 households.  Information from What Homes 
Where 20134, a toolkit to help local authorities assess their housing needs shows us some of 
these key population issues5.

Assuming current population trends continue, the ONS projections6
 for the next 25 years 

suggest that the population in Tewkesbury Borough will reach 93,400 by 2025 and 100,400 
by 2037. The district’s growth rates are higher than those predicted for Gloucestershire and 
England in the short, medium and long term7.  

32



Housing Strategy 2021-2022 7

The dominating feature of the projected trend for Tewkesbury Borough is a sharp increase 
in the number of older people (aged 60 and over) to 2033.  Projections for children and 
young people indicate slower growth, while the working-age population is expected to show 
little change in the long term.  There continues to be an increase in one person households 
with this household type projected to overtake all others by 2033.  Couples on their own and 
small families increase at a relatively steady rate but larger family growth remains small.  
Other households include couples with adult children living at home, friends living in a 
property and so on, are predicted to decline8.

In 2015, 11.8% of the housing stock in Tewkesbury Borough was affordable housing (owned 
by housing associations).  The percentage increase in the actual number of all dwellings in 
Tewkesbury Borough from 2009 to 2015 is 7%; the market stock as increased by 7% and 
the housing association stock has increased by 9.5%.  The extent of housing growth across 
Tewkesbury Borough has been beneficial for our households in need.  However, the 
affordable housing accommodation in Tewkesbury Borough has only increased by 0.1% 
since 2010.   

The majority of the borough’s housing stock is owner-occupied and is generally in good 
condition. However, the stock is skewed towards larger more expensive properties.  
Tewkesbury Borough as a whole is generally an affluent area; however, this can mask 
pockets of significant inequality.  As an example, housing in Tewkesbury borough is 
relatively expensive against national and regional averages with the East of the borough 
having the highest values given its proximity to the AONB.  The ward with the highest 
property valueshas an average house price of £490,996, with detached properties fetching 
over £600,0009.  Compared against data from the Indices of Multiple Deprivation (IMD)10 
where the borough has 2 lower super output areas.  Both perform poorly on employment, 
education, skills and training, and income deprivation affecting children.  A further area also 
performs poorly on income deprivation affecting older people.

The growth in income levels has not kept pace with the increases in property values 
meaning that many people are priced out of owner occupation the borough.  While income 
growth in Tewkesbury Borough is in line with the rest of England, the average house price 
increase has been more significant at 2.96 times the values 15 years ago.  The income to 
house price ratio for Tewkesbury Borough in 2013/14 was higher than Gloucestershire 
overall, the South West and England.

Both private and social housing rents are becoming more unaffordable to our residents. 
From 2008/09 to 2014/15 private sector rents have increased by 15% and social sector rents 
have also increased by a substantial 35%11.  

2.2 Statutory requirements 

Under the Homelessness Reduction Act 2017 and  Homelessness Code of Guidance for Local 
Authorities 2018 , the Council is required to publish a strategy setting out how it will address 
homelessness in its administrative area.  The Homelessness and Homelessness Prevention 
Strategy 2021-2022 can found in Appendix 2.

33

https://england.shelter.org.uk/legal/homelessness_applications/introduction_to_homelessness/essential_links/homelessness_code_of_guidance_february_2018
https://england.shelter.org.uk/legal/homelessness_applications/introduction_to_homelessness/essential_links/homelessness_code_of_guidance_february_2018


Housing Strategy 2021-2022 8

The Localism Act 201113 places a duty on all local authorities to produce a tenancy strategy, 
setting out what housing associations should take into consideration when making decisions 
about their individual tenancy policies.  The Government White Paper on Social Housing 
(November 2020) currently out to consultation will likely make this process more transparent 
for tenants. Our Tenancy Strategy is a separate document which should be read in 
conjunction with this document.

34



Housing Strategy 2021-2022 9

2.3 Where the Housing Strategy fits

The following diagram shows where the Housing Strategy fits with other key Tewkesbury 
Borough Council and Gloucestershire county-wide strategic-level documents:

 Housing Strategy 2021-2022

Homelessness and 
Homelessness Prevention 

Strategy 2021-2022

Tenancy Policy 2021-2022

Joint Glos Local 
Housing Needs 

Assessment

Gypsy, Traveller and 
Travelling Show 

people 
Accommodation 

AssessmentJoint Glos Local 
Housing Needs 

Assessment

Gloucester, Cheltenham & Tewkesbury 
Joint Core Strategy and Review

Tewkesbury Borough 
Council Plan

Neighbourhood 
Development Plans

Supporting 
People 

Strategy

Affordable 
Housing 

Supporting 
Planning 
Guidance

Government Grant Regimes-
such as Green Homes Grant 
and De-carbonisation Fund

Tewkesbury Borough 
Council Enforcement 

Policy

Tewkesbury Borough 
Plan

Blue boxes represent 
Tewkesbury Borough 
Council documents

Orange outlined boxes represent 
external documents impacting on 

Tewkesbury Borough Council

GCC Housing 
Commissioning

GCC & CCG 
Housing with 
Care Policy

35



Housing Strategy 2021-2022 10

3 Policy context and key challenges
 
We continue to be guided by the National Strategy14 along with new legislation, such as the  
Homelessness Reduction Act 2017 and other government policies and initiatives such as 
the NPPF which stresses the planning importance of new housing.   These key government 
initiatives impact on our housing services in Tewkesbury Borough..

3.1 Increasing housing supply 

3.1.1 Universal housing provision

The Joint Core Strategy (JCS)15 partners will, through the Strategy and emerging Local 
Plans16, deliver sufficient housing supply to meet the universal housing provision and 
economic growth needs of the borough.

 Section 4.2 of Appendix 1a evidences our resident’s ability to access the housing market 
and how important it is for the council to consider and provide for the whole market to meet 
their needs. It is clear that government supported schemes and affordable housing home 
ownership are extremely popular and needed by our residents, but with these options being 
less than 12% of all sales in the borough the opportunities particularly for younger people to 
get on the housing ladder are limited.  

3.1.2 Government manifesto to increase home ownership 

Whilst there is still some focus on rented housing, home ownership is the government’s 
driver for housing at present believing more homes will be built, particularly First Homes, in 
the near future which has now replaced the earlier concept of Starter Homes of the previous 
administration. 

The government manifesto to provide more homes and more homes for sale for young 
people has meant a new First Homes concept . This is  a vision of ‘discounting’ new homes 
prices by up to 30% and possibly 50% in areas of high house prices with the discount 
protected in perpetuity. The proposal has been out for consultation and a consultation report 
has been prepared (Feb 2020). The sector is now waiting for the decision as to how this 
product will work in reality.  If First Homes are to be considered affordable housing in the 
future, this will affect the council’s current position of what we can provide on-site on new 
developments impacting the rented element. The effects of the proposal are not known at 
the moment as final detailed proposals are awaited. However, the Local Housing Needs 
Assessment 2019 makes it very clear that housing need in the Borough cannot be entirely 
met by home ownership alone as a model.   
Recent development in key locations has significantly increased the supply of affordable 
homes including shared ownership and shared equity products ensuring that there are 
opportunities for lower incomes households to buy a home of their own.   

In the June 2014 Financial Stability Report18, the Bank of England announced measures to 
cut the risk of a damaging house price bubble emerging by limiting the number of high-risk 
mortgages.  Mortgage lenders must limit the proportion of mortgages at loan to income 

36



Housing Strategy 2021-2022 11

multiples of 4.5 and above to no more than 15% of their new mortgages. However, at the 
Conservative Party Conference in October 2020 the Prime Minister announced plans for a 
state backed mortgage offer of up to 95% to encourage further home ownership particularly 
amongst the young. The scheme has yet to be released to the market.   

Whilst mortgages remain restricted, Tewkesbury Borough’s income to house price ratio  
makes it difficult for first time buyers to get on the property ladder. This results in the out-
migration of young people in the lower income brackets of our borough and encourages 
people to commute into Tewkesbury Borough for work, while living in areas where housing 
is cheaper outside of the borough and in more urban areas. 
 
3.1.3 Right to Buy extension 

Further to the government home ownership ambition, a pilot commenced in November 2015 
of 5 housing associations was undertaken to extend the Right to Buy to their tenants.  The 
outcome to date has shown that just with 48,000 potential sales found that only “a shade 
under 16,000 of the 48,000 households were allowed to buy under the pilot once the 
exemptions were applied” and 1.6% (790) households made formal applications to buy their 
home19.  Applications for the pilot from tenants of the housing associations closed in October 
2016; in September 2016, almost a year after the pilot was launched, were sales going 
through.  According to Inside Housing20 this was an unconfirmed figure of 8 sales.  In 
essence the government intends for 1.3million housing association tenants in England to 
receive Right to Buy and 3 years for the housing associations or local authority (where 
applicable) to start building a new home for each one sold under the new policy21.

3.1.4 Effects on affordable housing of the economic downturn

The economic downturn of 2008 saw a reduction in affordable housing delivery as schemes 
became unviable to deliver. Viability negotiations with developers meant that very low or 
zero affordable housing was provided and the loss was felt until delivery gained momentum 
again in 2012. Now, after some years of a successful housing market, house building and 
affordable housing delivery have regained traction. But, the future holds some uncertainty 
given the economic effects of Covid and the impact of EU exit on the housing sector labour 
force and general economic performance. Currently, stamp duty relief until March 2021 and 
existing housing consents are providing a short boom to the housing market and delivery of 
affordable housing under older s106 agreements already in place.

3.1.5 Delivering affordable housing

Tewkesbury Borough Council has a target to deliver 40% ( 35% on strategic sites) affordable 
housing in accordance with the JCS plan on all market-led development within the Borough.  
However, the government continues to reduce planning obligations on Small and Medium 
Enterprise (SME) developers to incentivise development of new homes through a policy of 
zero affordable housing contributions on small sites of 10 or less dwellings or sites of less 
than 1000sqm unless in a designated area (for Tewkesbury Borough this is AONB only)   

37



Housing Strategy 2021-2022 12

The council seeks to work with developers and housing associations to provide housing for 
sale within affordable levels, considering local incomes and house prices.  At present a 
new-build first sale shared ownership share for an applicant cannot exceed 75% of the 
property’s full market value.  Typically, on first sale the share sold is more likely to be 
between 35% and 50% of the property’s full value depending on the area of the borough.  
The Government are consulting on allowing the sale portion to fall to as low as 10% but 
Housing Associations have expressed concern that this may not be a mortgageable asset 
from the bank and building society viewpoint so that there may be a practical difficulty in 
delivery.

Evidence from the LHNA 2019 informs us of the most suitable mix of tenures across a 
development.  However, like all policies regarding planning obligations,  we negotiate the 
percentage of affordable housing that can be delivered considering viability and suitable 
tenure mixes, house types as well as accessibility for disability  The council will continue a 
flexible approach to new development in the borough to ensure that new homes can be 
delivered within suitable timescales to meet our corporate objectives as well as delivering 
our housing planning policies of the JCS and Local Plan.

3.1.6 Challenges for the affordable housing sector

The rent cap affects housing associations where the rents on their rented properties are to 
be at local housing allowance (LHA) and will need to be considered in terms of rented 
housing products.  A realistic percentage of rented housing on new developments will need 
to be established, possibly on a site-by-site basis, so that the affordable housing provision 
on-site is indeed affordable to local people.  This may mean specific house sizes are 
required to be set at particular rents levels i.e. within the LHA. 

The Welfare Reform Act 201225 is the borough’s most significant legislative change 
impacting on our approaches for meeting housing need.  For example, those on low incomes 
are struggling to find suitable low cost housing as the Localism Act brought in affordable 
rents.   (up to 80% of open market rent, inclusive of service charge).  While this generates 
more income for housing associations, our residents in housing need now require more 
money towards their housing costs, often not fully met by the current housing benefit levels.  
The council seeks to negotiate rent levels at planning stage but this must be agreed based 
on the development viability. For a time grants were not available for the more affordable 
social rented housing from Homes England. However, this funding has now recently been 
re-instated in the latest Homes England funding package updated December 2020.

 Homes England funding programmes - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk)

We continue to monitor the effects of the under-occupation charge, commonly known as the 
‘bedroom tax’, brought in by the Welfare Reform Act where social housing tenants who are 
under-occupying a property are charged a rate to pay for the extra room.  This is 14% of net 
rent for one spare bedroom or 25% for two or more spare bedrooms.  In reality the charge 
saw a smaller number of households than anticipated move to more suitably sized 

38

https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/homes-england-funding-programmes


Housing Strategy 2021-2022 13

accommodation with the majority of those affected by the charge able to afford to remain in 
their home and pay the charge. 

Increasing income for housing associations and initiating more housing building by them has 
been contradicted by the requirement to reduce their rents by 1% per annum in each of the  
four years with effect from 1 April 2016.  The Welfare Reform and Work Act 201626 requires 
housing associations to comply with maximum rent requirements for new tenancies.  This 
has placed pressure on housing associations to reduce their costs and has for some limited 
their capacity.  Many Housing associations are committed to their new-build programmes 
whilst others have reduced theirs. There has been a noticeable increase of the merging of 
Housing Associations to create larger bodies that have more flexible funding arrangements 
in place as a result.  

3.1.7 Environmental impacts of new homes

During our consultation period it was brought to our attention that Tewkesbury Borough 
Council needs to have an awareness of the potential improvements in construction by 
incorporating flood resilience measures where appropriate, for example reflecting the 
Environment Agency flood zones. It is therefore necessary to fully understand the 
requirements for new homes as well as providing support for communities when they are 
flooded.  It will be for the Council’s Flood Risk Management Group to determine measures in 
new housing development and the planning process; it is the vision of this document that all 
possible support will be given to such wider priorities of Tewkesbury Borough Council and its 
communities. 

3.1.8 Private rented sector and empty homes

The council recognises that the private rented sector is growing and will continue to do so in a 
growing area like Tewkesbury Borough; it will also support the borough to meet its housing 
needs. The council takes its statutory enforcement role seriously and where landlords are not 
meeting the standards required will deliver a robust service as described above. This is 
particular important that the Council can now discharge its homelessness duty into the private 
rent sector   Ensuring such homes are available and appropriate and that the tenancy can be 
sustained is, therefore, increasingly important.

However, whilst a large proportion of the environmental health team's time is spent on 
enforcement this is only to deal with a small proportion of the worst private rented housing. 
Enforcement should only need to be a last resort. We wish to place a larger emphasis on the 
proactive role the council will play in helping landlords in the early stages. This is in particular 
for owners where being a landlord is not their core business, or reluctant landlords such as 
those who inherit a property but do not wish to sell it.  The council will promote sources of 
advice that are available to landlords, existing private tenants and residents considering 
private renting. 

The council will work with the other Gloucestershire district councils to promote the ‘Fit to 
Rent’ common accreditation scheme for landlords and letting agents across Gloucestershire. 

39



Housing Strategy 2021-2022 14

Crucially, prospective tenants need to be made aware of the advantages of selecting a 
property owned by an accredited landlord or managed by an accredited letting agent.  The 
environmental health team aims to maximise the number of inspections of properties owned 
by accredited landlords so that they can be given advice on the improvements that could be 
made. 

Further to new-build housing, the council’s environmental health team works closely with 
partners on initiatives handling operational (enforcement) actions to bring empty homes back 
into use. Most empty homes brought back into use will become private sector homes. The 
team will aim to ensure that each property achieves the highest standard. Enforcement 
options will include the Housing Health and Safety Rating System (HHSRS) under the 
Housing Act 200427, Empty Dwelling Management Orders, enforced sale and compulsory 
purchase orders (CPO).

40



Housing Strategy 2021-2022 15

3.2 Homelessness and Homelessness Prevention

Local housing authorities have a statutory duty to provide advice and assistance to anyone 
who is homeless or threatened with homelessness. (see: Homelessness Reduction Act 
2017) The Act  modifies and extends existing homelessness protection in a number of key 
ways:

1. Improved advice and information about homelessness and the prevention of 
homelessness

2.  Extension of the period ‘threatened with homelessness’
3. Introducing new duties to prevent and relieve homelessness for all eligible 

people, regardless of priority need and intentionality
4. Introducing assessments and personalised housing plans, setting out the 

actions housing authorities and individuals will take to secure accommodation
5. Encouraging public bodies to work together to prevent and relieve 

homelessness through a duty to refer

The Council’s housing services team undertakes enquiries to assess what duties and 
assistance can be offered to those seeking help.  Our focus is to work with our clients to 
prevent their homelessness wherever possible.  If we are unable to prevent homelessness, 
the council has further statutory duties to secure accommodation for eligible vulnerable 
homeless households.  

Our focus will be on preventing homelessness wherever possible and our joint interventions 
with our Council colleagues and partners are likely to include: 

 Establishing if households are entitled to exemptions from welfare reform changes
 Advising residents of changes and the personal impact on their household
 How they can avoid financial hardship
 Offer financial advice and advice on the benefits of securing employment, and 
 Working with the financial inclusion partnership to offer temporary assistance 

through discretionary housing payments, advice and assistance on arrears, working 
with housing providers to avoid possession proceedings.  

Changes associated with welfare reform are likely to continue throughout the lifetime of this 
strategy and we will continue to take a proactive approach to identifying cohorts and clients. 
We will work with our partners and affected groups to offer early resolution to affordability 
issues. Those most likely to be affected will be:

 Those under-occupying affordable rented housing
 Those under 35 in unaffordable private rented, affordable rented housing, in 

supported accommodation, or at risk of homelessness.
 Those likely to be affected by the reduction of the benefit cap 
 Those in affordable rents (rents set at 80% of the market rent) who may be affected 

by unaffordability following the implementation of the welfare reform changes.

41



Housing Strategy 2021-2022 16

The challenges facing Tewkesbury Borough Council, the implications of the above changes 
and further analysis of homelessness and homelessness prevention can be found in 
Appendix 2: Homelessness and Homelessness Prevention Strategy.  It outlines our 
commitment, priorities and objectives to meet the needs of those threatened with 
homelessness within Tewkesbury Borough.  Actions to be taken are detailed as part of this 
overarching document and can be found in Section 8.

 

42



Housing Strategy 2021-2022 17

3.3 Meeting the needs of specific groups

3.3.1 Requirements for accommodation assessments

Many information sources have been used to assess housing needs and supply including 
the Gloucestershire Housing Needs Assessment 2019 the housing register for rented 
affordable housing, the housing register for affordable home ownership schemes,  MAIDeN 
(Gloucestershire Information Observer) and nationally available databases such as the 
census, Office of National Statistics and Land Registry. 

The Borough Council is required to undertake several assessments; a Local Housing Needs 
Assessment and a Gypsy, Traveller and Travelling Show People Accommodation 
Assessment (GTTSAA) as per the National Planning Policy Framework29 (NPPF) and 
associated Planning Practice Guidance30 (PPG).

The planning policy for traveller sites( see: NPPF 2019 para 61)is one that supports 
provision such as rural exception sites to meet the housing and accommodation needs of 
gypsies, travellers and travelling showpeople.  However the updated 2015 policy changes 
the definition of these groups for planning purposes. Under the JCS the council’s 
requirement for additional pitches and plots   to the year 2031 has now reduced owing to 
households in Tewkesbury Borough not meeting the new definition.  We will continue to 
have an accommodation need for households who do not meet the definition and be 
required to provide suitable sites. These households who do not meet the definition will 
have their needs assessed through the Local Needs assessment.  Those who do meet the 
definition will continue to have their accommodation needs assessed through the GTTSAA, 
including the accommodation needs of gypsies, travellers and travelling showpeople.

 
 The Local Needs Assessment assesses our Borough-wide housing and 

accommodation needs and we work with our neighbouring authorities in 
Cheltenham and Gloucester  as our housing market areas cross administrative 
boundaries. The most recent assessment was published in 2019and identifies 
the scale and mix of housing and the range of tenures that the local population 
is likely to need over the plan period.   The Local Needs Assessment guides us 
in our requirements for rented and shared ownership affordable housing. 
However, the government is proposing further wide ranging changes with First 
Homes, reduced percentage sales for shared ownership and more 
encouragement to discounted home sales and custom build houses. It will be 
an on-going concern to see how these initiatives impact upon housing need in 
the Borough and the wider affordability challenges these initiatives address.

3.3.2 Larger families

The benefit cap for larger families will impact on the willingness of housing associations to 
develop larger family properties.  This has already been noted in ongoing new developments 
where at the planning stage a 6-bed home was negotiated but at the build stage, the council 
and the housing association involved agreed to change the property to a smaller home.  The 
members of staff involved from both organisations were unable to find a large family with a 

43



Housing Strategy 2021-2022 18

suitable level of income to move into the property.  Many large households opted to remain 
in their current home and over-occupy so they can continue to afford their rent. 

Welfare reform is likely to cause financial hardship for many residents on low incomes in our 
borough throughout the lifetime of this strategy.  Homeless charities such as Crisis and 
Homeless Link are reporting that reductions in benefit levels associated with welfare reform, 
and changes in the way that benefits are paid through Universal Credit are increasing the 
risk of homelessness  We are committed to mitigating the impact of welfare reform on 
financially vulnerable households in the borough to reduce the risk of homelessness.

3.3.3 Financial inclusion 

The rationale behind welfare reform is to incentivise work and reduce the cost of welfare.  
Households will be exempt from many of the most impactful reforms if they are in 
employment.  Resolving financial hardship and preventing homelessness will inevitably 
involve supporting affected households to understand how the reforms will impact on them.  
Tewkesbury Borough Council is a key partner in the borough-wide Financial Inclusion 
Partnership to encourage households into employment wherever possible.  

We are committed to identifying cohorts of clients likely to be affected by forthcoming 
reforms with a view to early intervention with partners in the Financial Inclusion Partnership.  
The partnership  commissioned research by Policy in Practice on the projected cumulative 
impact of Welfare Reform within the borough with a view to identifying individuals and 
cohorts of residents likely to be significantly affected.    

Evidence from the Policy in Practice research can be found in Appendix 1b where the 
impact of welfare reform has been analysed for Tewkesbury Borough and includes: 

 The under occupation charge
 Local housing allowance
 The benefit cap at £26,000 and the new lower cap of £20,000 as at November 2016
 The profile of households capped
 Changes to benefit for young people
 The removal of the WRAG premium (work related activity group)
 Housing benefit capped at local housing allowance (LHA) rates for social rents
 The LHA freeze
 Removal of the Housing Benefit Family Premium
 The impact of universal credit
 The cumulative impact of welfare reform.  

The housing services team are committed to working with our council colleagues in 
revenues and benefits and partners namely the Department for Work and Pensions (DWP), 
housing associations, support providers, and Citizens Advice Bureau to identify the 
vulnerable cohorts and work with the affected households to resolve these difficulties.   Our 
strong working relationships within the Tewkesbury Borough Financial Inclusion Partnership 
will be invaluable in managing the effects of welfare reform.  

44



Housing Strategy 2021-2022 19

Revenues and benefits teams can offer temporary support to those affected by welfare 
reform changes with Discretionary Housing Payments (DHP) to prevent financial hardship 
whilst alternative, more permanent solutions are sought.  However, this must only be an 
intervening measure as the DHP funding is not long-term and is likely to diminish over time.  
Tenants must seek to find employment or increase working hours to enhance their income 
to afford rents.

We will work with our colleagues in the revenues and benefits team, the DWP and housing 
associations to identify affected households and offer sustainable solutions.  We will also 
work with housing associations operating within Tewkesbury Borough to establish how they 
can continue to meet the housing needs of those households unable to their meet their 
housing needs through affordable housing products.  

3.3.4 Older People

Population changes will present an increasing challenge for the borough in relation to 
additional pressure on health and social care and the need for more specialist 
accommodation.  There is also evidence that a number of homes in both the 
social/affordable rented sector and market sector are currently under-occupied, particularly 
in rural areas.

The Care Act 2014 includes housing as a fundamental component.  The Act looks at the 
suitability of accommodation for those at home receiving care and support. The Act and the 
accompanying regulations and guidance outline how housing can support a more integrated 
approach of particular note:

 A duty to promote well-being.
 Housing not just the 'bricks and mortar' but also includes housing related support. 
 Housing must be considered as part of the household’s assessment process 
 Information and advice should reflect housing options, as part of a universal service 

offer 
 Care and support is to be delivered in an integrated way with cooperation with partner 

bodies, including housing services.

Tewkesbury Borough offers 40 retirement homes, sheltered housing and extra care housing 
accommodating 1,004 properties along with 25 care homes of 798 units of accommodation.  
Of the care homes, 12 are specific for older people (aged 55 and over), with the remaining 
accommodating any person with care needs and for people with specific disabilities.  

Tewkesbury Borough will see significant growth in its older population and accommodation 
needs for this group are likely to change.  For example, as we live healthier for longer our 
accommodation needs become different where we stay more active and mobile for longer 
and seek a more suitable home for our lifestyle.  36.47% of the Homeseeker Plus waiting list 
state that their vulnerability is worsened by their housing situation.  Of this, a quarter (around 
180 households) is over 60 years old.

Care homes are typically single bed units; there are few that are for couples or sharing.  For 
many people having a disability and/or care need means living away from their family and 

45



Housing Strategy 2021-2022 20

friends in specialist housing; for some this is a necessity to receive around the clock care 
and support.  For others their care needs can be and are being met in the family home but 
this often results in the home being unsuitable.  More and more adaptations are required to 
existing homes across all tenures to ensure homes are suitable.

Gloucestershire County Council provide commissioning services for Disabled Facilities Grants. 
The Council provides information on agencies and surveyors in the local area that can help to 
support and assist applicants with major works to their properties, focussing on providing 
services and assistance to elderly and vulnerable clients..  Providing adaptations is seen as 
particularly important given the possible health implications, care and support costs of 
residents not obtaining essential disabled adaptations in a timely fashion. However, it is 
essential that delivery of this aspect of the private sector housing service is integrated with all 
other aspects.  We therefore work across services to assess housing need and whether a 
move to more appropriate accommodation is required.

3.3.5 People with a disability 

Government statistics37 show that people with disabilities have a poorer quality of life with a 
“substantially higher proportion of individuals who live in families with disabled members live 
in poverty, compared to individuals who live in families where no one is disabled.”  

Barriers to employment and education are improving by remain significant as there is “a 30.1 
percentage point gap between disabled and non-disabled people, representing over 2 million 
people” and that disabled people “are around 3 times as likely not to hold any qualifications 
compared to non-disabled people, and around half as likely to hold a degree-level 
qualification”.
In terms of housing these statistics say that “Although the gap in non-decent accommodation 
has closed over recent years, 1 in 3 households with a disabled person still live in non-
decent accommodation.  1 in 5 disabled people requiring adaptations to their home believe 
that their accommodation is not suitable”.

With 2.5% of the housing waiting list requiring a ground floor, wheelchair property with 
specific adaptations, we must work with partners across the housing, health and social care 
sectors to consider how these homes will be built.  

We must also consider the challenges faced when working with the house-building sector, 
particularly larger house-builders, when affordable housing that is outside of the norm is 
requested as part of Section 106 agreements.  The Council often has to negotiate reduced 
overall affordable housing contributions in order to build specialist housing due to the costs 
associated.  

3.3.6 Rural affordable housing

The Gloucestershire Rural Community Council (GRCC) state that:

“The lack of suitable affordable housing in Gloucestershire is a serious problem for many 
people who are forced to move home out of the countryside and into our larger towns and 

46



Housing Strategy 2021-2022 21

cities. The movement of people away from their roots has a major impact on rural 
communities in Gloucestershire, both socially and economically.”38

The council’s work with GRCC is to facilitate rural exceptional housing whereby under 
exceptional circumstances development can be brought about to meet a specific need i.e. 
affordable housing need, in a village, parish or a specific area.

For a rural local authority where housing in villages and small communities (fewer than 3,000 
population) comes through on small sites, the government’s small sites policy may come into 
effect and the Council cannot negotiate on-site affordable housing.  This results in less 
affordable homes for local communities.  

Whilst planning policies will aim to maximise affordable housing delivery, the council must 
continue to facilitate rural exceptional housing development to meet local needs.  There are 
numerous struggles that face the council in bringing about rural affordable housing including, 
sourcing suitable developable land with a willing land owner, building relationships with local 
representatives such as parish councils, and funding such a project.

Sixteen of our 50 parishes in Tewkesbury Borough have zero affordable housing at this time. 
In 19 parishes fewer than 1% of dwellings are affordable housing. The council is aspiring to 
deliver more homes in rural areas so that these communities continue to thrive.  
There are numerous benefits to rural development including retaining young families in the 
area to support the local economy, schools and keeping families closer together as well as 
enabling those wishing to downsize to remain in the village in more suitably sized 
accommodation.  

Housing associations are essential in delivering small-scale rural development and have 
shown continued commitment to Tewkesbury Borough in recent years and engagement 
through the Gloucestershire Rural Housing Partnership  

Tewkesbury Borough Council has made great progress with a programme of Housing Needs 
Surveys conducted at a parish level.  Identifying the housing needs of our communities is 
vital to help ensure the right properties are delivered where they are needed most.  We 
encourage feedback and discussion from all parts of a community to hear their views, dispel 
common myths and misconceptions and highlight the benefits of rural affordable housing.  

GRCC have now set up a Community Led Housing Hub that can provide advice and support 
to communities interested in having a greater part in housing development.  We will continue 
to inform local community groups about Community Led Housing as we acknowledge the 
benefits of these locally led schemes.  We will also continue to offer funding to our 
Registered Social Landlord partners to support rural housing deliver through our commuted 
sums.     

3.3.7 Asylum seekers and refugees

Tewkesbury Borough is a partner within the Gloucestershire Syrian Resettlement 
Programme and has worked with our partners Severn Vale Housing, now Bromford Housing, 
and GARAS (Gloucestershire Action for Refugees and Asylum Seekers) to provide 

47



Housing Strategy 2021-2022 22

accommodation for vulnerable families in our borough.  We will continue to meet our 
commitment to this group during the lifetime of this strategy.

3.4 Improving the health and well-being of local people

3.4.1 More than bricks and mortar

The Housing Strategy must address more than bricks and mortar; more than simply the 
number of homes.  Tewkesbury Borough Council understands the importance of building 
communities as well as homes.  The Joint Core Strategy not only deals with the housing 
development but also the infrastructure and economic development of the three districts of 
Tewkesbury, Cheltenham and Gloucester.  

Here in Tewkesbury Borough the Council’s community development team works from a 
‘place’ perspective; a way of engaging with our communities as well as supporting them to 
achieve their potential and reduce dependency on the council and other public services. We 
want our communities to thrive and feel empowered to do for themselves.  We truly want 
Tewkesbury Borough to be a place where a good quality of life is open for all. This is also 
something we pursue with our preferred Registered Housing Associations and we expect 
them to be concerned and supportive of the communities they build and manage.

We will ensure our residents are well supported to enable them to live life to the fullest and it 
starts with good quality housing.  

3.4.2 Stock condition and fuel poverty

The condition of the existing housing stock is important to ensure that residents are living in 
decent, safe accommodation which is suited to their needs. The condition of the housing 
stock is important to ensure that the increase in net housing stock through growth is not offset 
by a reduction in the number of existing homes which are habitable. Equally it is necessary to 
mitigate against the potential unintended consequence of growth that poor quality private 
sector housing leads to migration from existing communities into more attractive new housing 
developments leading to low demand neighbourhoods. 

Living in poor condition, cold, damp homes that are not suitable for a household’s needs have 
a detrimental effect on the health and wellbeing of the occupiers. When accidents and illness 
occur because homes are not fit, it has an impact on a person's ability to participate in work, 
education, social and other activities and consequently impacts on social care services and 
the NHS.

The significant shift in emphasis on home owners being responsible for repairs to their 
properties has to be reflected in this Strategy. The majority of home owners will, therefore, be 
offered no more than self-help to secure home improvements. Nevertheless, the Council 
recognises that there will be situations where support is necessary and appropriate for 
vulnerable home owners.

The council’s environmental health service offers advice that aims to demonstrating to a 
private landlord the works that are needed to avoid enforcement action being taken against 

48



Housing Strategy 2021-2022 23

them, for landlord accreditation and or for the property to be accepted onto a Local Letting 
Agency; they also provide an owner of an empty home with details of the works necessary to 
put the property in a state suitable for letting or that are likely to affect the sale price of the 
property.  

The Council will take appropriate action against landlords and home owners as appropriate in 
accordance with the Council’s Corporate Enforcement Policy This includes a period of informal 
action to encourage a landlord to take action voluntarily. 

In the main the council will refer enquirers to the Gloucestershire Warm and Well energy 
advice helpline for general advice on how to save energy in the home. This service is currently 
provided by Severn Wye Energy Agency. 

The Environmental Health team will establish the suitability or otherwise of the property in 
regards to condition, affordable warmth and space. If the householder raises a potential need 
for disabled adaptations details shall be referred to Gloucestershire County Council's Adult and 
Children Social Care, Customer Contact Centre for assessment.

3.4.3 Houses in multiple occupation

There are thought to be exceptionally few houses in multiple occupation (HMO) requiring 
mandatory licensing in Tewkesbury Borough. Progressing licenses has, therefore, not been a 
priority to date. Nevertheless, the Council now recognises it should pursue owners operating 
a licensable HMO illegally. 

Where a HMO requiring a license comes to the attention of the Council, the Environmental 
Health team will send a standard application pack to the owner.   

There also needs to be some preparation for any possible future changes in HMO licensing 
and therefore the Council aims to identify all HMOs in the borough.

3.4.4 Supporting residents affected by welfare reform and helping people into work

Registered Providers have been impacted by the 1% rent reduction and have been 
reviewing business plans. Non-essential services and some community work for example 
could be affected as housing associations cut back.  This is not the case for all and may not 
affect Tewkesbury Borough social housing tenants greatly, however we must be prepared 
for possible impacts on housing association tenancy support services.

The Council is increasingly reliant on working in partnership with housing associations with 
stock in our borough to respond to welfare reform changes.

The Council will be working proactively with Registered Providers and other partners to 
support residents not only into work and to seek employment, but to opportunities to gain 
qualifications and so on, to help them gain the skills and confidence they need to be active 
and productive members of their communities.

49



Housing Strategy 2021-2022 24
50



Housing Strategy 2021-2022 25

4 Key Challenges

4.1 Increasing Housing Supply

 Robustness of affordable housing policies in the Tewkesbury Borough Plan that manage 
home ownership products as well as rented.

 Rent levels and sales values that ensure viability for developers and affordability for our 
residents.

 Meeting the number of new affordable homes needed.
 The possible reduction in affordable housing stock through the Voluntary Right to Buy 

(the extension to the Right to Buy for housing associations)
 Empty homes across the borough that should be brought into productive use.
 Quality private sector rented accommodation 
 Land opportunities for rural developments
 Higher costs of rural development
 Support for both landlords and tenants in the private sector.

4.2 Homelessness and Homelessness Prevention

 Intervention at the earliest possible stage for households in crisis and ensuring they 
access our services 

 Working with residents and partners to mitigate the effects of Welfare Reform on 
tenancy affordability

 Improving choice for residents facing homelessness by improving access to the private 
rented sector

 Addressing the needs of home owners following the removal of the Mortgage Rescue 
Scheme.

 Lack of local alternatives to Bed & Breakfast (B&B)
 Limited number of accommodation spaces available for households
 Expense of emergency accommodation/ short term accommodation
 Supporting specific groups to access suitable emergency accommodation
 Supporting households with poor tenancy history to find a sustainable solution
 Lack of temporary accommodation within the borough
 Solutions for single households with dual diagnosis/multiple needs
 Continued use of the social housing sector for discharging homelessness duty
 Sourcing sustainable housing solutions for care leavers and young people under 35.
 Discharging Homeless duties to those affected by welfare reform 
 Continue meeting obligations associated with the  Homelessness Reduction Act

4.3 Meeting the needs of specific groups

 Affordability of housing for low-income households and households affected by Welfare 
Reform

 Housing large families in affordable accommodation.
 Seeking appropriate accommodation for gypsies and travellers.
 Housing those with very specific housing needs including disability and mobility issues.
 Housing older people as the population ages.

51



Housing Strategy 2021-2022 26

 Meeting the housing needs of our rural communities.
 Understanding, supporting and meeting the demand and need for self/custom-build and 

Starter Homes.
 Meeting the housing needs of refugees and asylum seekers

4.4 Improving the health and well-being of local people

 How tenants and leaseholders of affordable housing can deal with issues themselves as 
non-essential services lessen.

 Working with private landlords to provide suitable housing that meet basic standards.
 Ensuring homes are suitably kept warm.
 Meeting the needs of those in houses of multiple occupation and licensing such 

properties where appropriate.
 Energy saving, particularly for those on low incomes ensuring they are not paying too 

much in energy costs for their home.
 Providing appropriate support for non-working households to mitigate welfare reform.

5 Addressing the challenges

5.1 These challenges will be addressed during the lifetime of the Strategy.  Key priorities 
and objectives have been drawn from these challenges, see Section 6 overleaf.  

5.2 Following consultation on these priorities and objectives, we believe that Tewkesbury 
Borough Council is in a good position to address the challenges.

52



Housing Strategy 2017-2021 25

6 Tewkesbury Borough Council Housing Strategy 2021-2022 Key Priorities
From this work we have concluded that there are 4 key priorities for Tewkesbury Borough Council; under each priority there are objectives to focus on 
for the next 2 years.

Priority 1: Increasing the supply 
of housing

1.1 Encouraging new developments 
to meet the aims of the Joint Core 
Strategy.

1.2 Using financial sums from 
development to fund the building of 
more specialist and affordable 
homes.

1.3 Bring empty homes back into 
use across the Borough.

1.4 Maximise the opportunities of 
the private rented sector.

Priority 2: Prevent homelessness

2.1 Improve the proactive 
homelessness prevention 
programme.

2.2 Review the provision of 
temporary accommodation.

2.3 StopReduce the use of B&B 
accommodation for homeless 
households except in emergencies.

2.4 Continue to meet the obligations 
of the Homelessness Reduction 
Act.

Priority 3: Meet the housing 
needs of specific groups

3.1 Consider and act on the 
outcomes of our accommodation 
assessments to assess our 
communities' needs.

3.2 Promote and facilitate rural 
affordable housing development.

3.3 Work with the health and social 
care sectors to provide effective 
housing-related support for 
vulnerable people.

3.4 Evaluate the provision of 
accommodation-based support for 
specific groups.

3.5 Work with partners to facilitate 
appropriate accommodation for 
refugees and asylum 
seekers as legislation 
and policy 
requires.

Priority 4: Improving the health 
and well-being of local people

4.1 Work with private landlords to 
ensure their properties meet basic 
standards and support them to 
improve the condition of their 
properties.

4.2 Continue working with and 
supporting schemes that provide 
advice and assistance to vulnerable 
households to help them reduce 
fuel costs and promotes safety 
through the installation of minor 
adaptations in the home.

4.3 Work with our partners to 
actively encourage individuals to 
take up education, employment or 
other activities to support 
independence and create 
a sense of worth.

53



Housing Strategy 2017-2021

7 Monitoring our Strategy
This Strategy will be regularly monitored and reviewed by the Lead Member for Housing..  
Annual action plans will be agreed by Executive Committee with annual reporting to 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee for review of achievements and future challenges.

Our annual action plan will be updated regularly and will be made publicly available on the 
council’s housing webpages42.  This will ensure that all our stakeholders can see the 
progress we are making and when new actions are being taken to achieve our objectives.

Our action is to be shaped annually (calendar year) to be pro-active as well as re-active to 
the changing needs of our community and challenges facing us when new government 
policies are implemented.  

We want our Housing Strategy to be as flexible as possible so that we can continue to take 
action where necessary and start new actions when appropriate.

Each of the 4 priorities are referenced with the letter P and the priority number i.e. Priority 1 
is P1.  Each action to be achieved is then numbered (in no particular order) with a number to 
get the ID reference i.e. P1.1; P1.2 and so on.  All actions have a deadline date for 
achievement.

Section 8 overleaf details the action plan for the first year of the Strategy; there is at least 
one action for each objective.

54

http://www.tewkesbury.gov.uk/housing-strategy


Housing Strategy 2017-2021

8   Interim Housing Strategy Action Plan 
This Interim Housing Strategy Action Plan  has been created  to prioritise areas of work for the next 12 months. This action plan identifies specific steps Tewkesbury 
Borough Council needs to take in order to achieve the priorities and objectives of the Housing Strategy during the next year.  

Priority 1    Increase the supply of housing

ID ref Action
Objective to 
which the action 
contributes

Responsible Person Required resources Deadline

P1. 1.

Investigate how Registered Providers 
can be encouraged to consider 
alternative construction methods and 
deliver homes to a high build standard

Objective 1.1 Strategic Housing & 
Enabling Officer

Input from: 
Property Services 
Development Management
Registered Providers

March 2022

P1. 2.

Produce a guidance note and bid pro 
forma that assists with the use of 
commuted sums (financial contributions 
in lieu of on-site affordable housing) and 
seek Executive Committee approval

Objective 1.3 Strategic Housing & 
Enabling Officer

Input from:
Democratic Services
Housing Services Manager
Development Management

September 
2021

Priority 2    Homelessness and Homelessness Prevention

ID ref Action
Objective to 
which the action 
contributes

Responsible 
Person Required resources Deadline

P2. 1.

Improve advice process to assist in 
supporting customers while working 
remotely including personalised plans 
that agree customer actions.

Objective  2.1 Housing Services 
Manager None September 2021

P2. 2.

Contact all housing associations and 
private landlords who have worked with 
us to prevent homelessness to develop 
an eviction/ prevention protocol

Objective  2.1 Housing Services 
Manager None June 2021

55



Housing Strategy 2017-2021

P2. 3. Improve housing services website and 
include a landlord advice section Objective  2.1 Housing Services 

Manager None September 2021

P2. 4.

Update the housing services housing 
options/homelessness form and 
investigate online solutions to support 
this

Objective  2.1 Housing Services 
Manager

Input from IT services / Business 
Transformation September 2021

P2. 5.
Reduce the use of private bed and 
breakfast accommodation except in 
emergencies.

Objective 2.4  
Objective 2.5

Housing Services 
Manager

Input from:
Housing association partners
Wider homelessness pathway 
(County)

March 2022

P2 6.

Work with county local authority partners 
to find solutions for high risk/high 
support/multiple needs homeless 
households

Objective 2.4 
Objective 2.5

Housing Services 
Manager 

Input from:
Partner local authorities for multi-
authority solution
Other agencies and accommodation 
providers

Explore funding 
solutions by 
March 2021

Priority 3     Meeting the housing needs of those who need it most

ID ref Action
Objective to 
which the action 
contributes

Responsible Person Required resources Deadline

P3. 1.

Support the evaluation of the 
accommodation needs of Travellers and 
Non-Travellers (as determined by the 
2016 updated Gypsy Traveller and 
Travelling Showpeople Accommodation 
Assessment (GTTSAA)

Objective 3.1 Planning Policy 
Manager

Strategic Housing & 
Enabling Officer March 2022

P3. 2.

 Continue to play an active role in the 
Housing with Care Project Board to build 
relationships and create a joined-up way 
of working to better support vulnerable 
residents.

Objective 3.3 Housing Services 
Manager

Strategic Housing & 
Enabling Officer March 2022

56



Housing Strategy 2017-2021

Priority 4     Improving the health and well-being of local people

ID ref Action
Objective to 
which the action 
contributes

Responsible Person Required resources Deadline

P4. 1.

Encourage landlords wanting to work 
with the council on improving housing 
standards and be better trained to 
provide quality accommodation and 
management.

Objective 4.1 Environmental Health 
Manager

Environmental Health team 
& Housing Services team March 2022

P4. 2.
Work in partnership with district 
collegues to commission a ‘Stock 
Condition Survey’

Objective 4.2 Environmental Health 
Manager All Gloucestershire districts March 2022

P4. 3.
Respond within 3 working days to 
customer complaints about housing 
conditions.

Objective 4.2 Environmental Health 
Manager Environmental Health team March 2022

P4. 4.

Reduce poor quality housing by taking 
appropriate action to deal with identified 
Housing Health and Safety Rating 
System Category 1 hazards.

Objective 4.2 Environmental Health 
Manager Environmental Health team March 2022

P4. 5.

Current warm & well contract expires in 
March 2022.  Review performance of 
current provider and participate in joint 
procurement with other Gloucestershire 
LAs

Objective 4.2 Environmental Health 
Manager

Gloucestershire Affordable 
Warmth Partnership March 2022

57



Housing Strategy 2017-2021

Priority 4    Improving the health and well-being of local people (continued)

ID ref Action
Objective to 
which the action 
contributes

Responsible Person Required resources Deadline

P4. 6.

Regulate the standards of larger houses 
in multiple occupation and caravan sites 
by enforcing mandatory license 
conditions

Objective 4.2 Environmental Health 
Manager

Environmental Health team
Housing Benefit team March 2022

P4. 7.

To explore how housing applicants 
supported by Tewkesbury Borough 
Council can benefit from the ‘Going the 
Extra Mile’ Project 

Objective 4.3 Housing Services 
Manager Housing Services Team June 2021

58



Housing Strategy 2017-2021

Glossary of key terms 
 
This glossary is intended to cover all terms within the Housing Strategy 2021-22 documentation.  The 
Homelessness and Homelessness Prevention Strategy Appendix 3 provides its own Glossary of Terms to 
complement.

Affordable Homes Programme DCLG funding that is available for Housing associations and 
house builders via the Homes and Communities Agency to 
increase the supply of Affordable Housing and specialist 
housing in England.  Programmes are normally over a 3 year 
period with set target dates for drawing down grant and new-
build 
completion.https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/homes-
england-funding-programmes

Affordable Housing Social rented, affordable rented and intermediate housing, 
provided to eligible households whose needs are not met by 
the market. Eligibility is determined with regard to local 
incomes and local house prices. Full definition as per National 
Planning Policy Framework 2012 or any successor document 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-planning-
policy-framework--2  

Affordable rent levels Rented housing provided by a housing association subject to  
a rent of up to 80% of local market rents (inclusive of any 
Service Charge where applicable)

Building Regulations 2010 
Approved Document M: Access 
to and use of buildings (and 
associated volumes and 
corrections) or any successor 
document

Building regulation in England to ensure that people are able to 
access and use buildings and their facilities  
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/access-to-and-
use-of-buildings-approveddocument-m    

Category 2 Housing  Optional requirement M4(2) – Category 2: Accessible and 
Adaptable dwellings  
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/access-to-and-
use-of-buildings-approved-document-m  

Category 3 Housing a) 
Adaptable and b) Accessible

Optional requirement M4(3) – Category 3: Wheelchair user 
dwellings https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/access-
to-and-use-of-buildings-approved-document-m  

Code for Sustainable Homes –
now abandoned 

The Code was the national standard for the sustainable design 
and construction of new homes. The Code aimed to reduce our 
carbon emissions and create homes that were more 
sustainable.  This policy was withdrawn on 27th March 2015. 

Compulsory purchase order 
(CPO)

A legal function in the United Kingdom and Ireland that allows 
certain bodies which need to obtain land or property to do so 
without the consent of the owner.

Department for Communities 
and Local Government (DCLG)

A UK Government department established to create great 
places to live and work, and to give more power to local people 
to shape what happens in their area. Responsibilities include 
driving up housing supply, increasing home ownership, 
devolving powers and budgets to boost local growth in 
England, supporting strong communities with excellent public 
services.

59

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-planning-policy-framework--2
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-planning-policy-framework--2
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/access-to-and-use-of-buildings-approveddocument-m
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/access-to-and-use-of-buildings-approveddocument-m
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/access-to-and-use-of-buildings-approved-document-m
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/access-to-and-use-of-buildings-approved-document-m
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/access-to-and-use-of-buildings-approved-document-m
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/access-to-and-use-of-buildings-approved-document-m


Housing Strategy 2017-2021

Empty Dwelling Management 
Order

Empty Dwelling Management Orders: guidance 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/empty-dwelling-
management-orders-guidance

Gloucestershire Going the Extra 
Mile (GEM) Project

The project will be managed by Gloucestershire Gateway Trust 
(GGT) on behalf of Gloucestershire County Council (GCC).  
The Gloucestershire GEM Project aimed to engage with 1,100 
people over three years from October 2016 and will focus on 
people who face challenges in getting into work, and support 
them to move closer towards education, training, volunteering 
or employment.

Gypsy, Traveller and Travelling 
Show People Accommodation 
Assessment (GTTSAA)

The Homelessness Reduction 
Act

A document to provide an evidence base to enable authorities 
to comply with their requirements to gypsies, travellers and 
show people under the Housing Act 2004, the National 
Planning Policy Framework 2012, Planning Policy for Traveller 
Sites 2012 and 2015.

  The Homelessness Reduction Act 2017
The Homelessness Reduction Act (‘the Act’) came into force 
in April 2018.1 The Act modifies and extends homelessness 
protection in a number of key ways.

    
Homeseeker Plus Homeseeker Plus is our choice based lettings system for 

letting social housing. It is a partnership formed between all six 
local Councils in Gloucestershire and West Oxfordshire District 
Council and many of the Housing Associations and social 
landlords operating in the area.  Note: formerly known as 
Gloucestershire Homeseeker

Homes England - formerly 
known as Homes & 
Communities Agency (HCA)

The national housing and regeneration agency for England, 
with a capital investment budget 
https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/homes-and-
communities-agency   

Houses of multiple occupation 
(HMOs)

As per government definition https://www.gov.uk/private-
renting/houses-in-multiple-occupation 

Housing associations  As defined in section 80 of the Housing and Regeneration Act 
2008; also known as Registered Providers or Registered 
Social Landlords

Housing Benefit Financial support to pay a tenant’s rent if they are on a low 
income.

Housing & Planning Act 2016

Local Housing Needs 
Assessment

Legislation that made changes to housing policy and the 
planning system that included Starter Homes; Extension of 
the Right to Buy; Sale of high value social housing; 
Improvements to the private rented housing sector; Self-build 
duty on local authorities; Planning policy for traveller sites. 
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2016/22/contents/enacted 
Glos. Local Housing Needs Assessment 2019. This 
document has replaced the former SHMA (see below) and 
details the district housing needs which feeds into the 
planning process both in policy and development control 
terms under legal s.106 agreements.

60

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/empty-dwelling-management-orders-guidance
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/empty-dwelling-management-orders-guidance
https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/homes-and-communities-agency
https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/homes-and-communities-agency
https://www.gov.uk/private-renting/houses-in-multiple-occupation
https://www.gov.uk/private-renting/houses-in-multiple-occupation
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2016/22/contents/enacted


Housing Strategy 2017-2021

Lifetime Homes Standard The Lifetime Homes standard is a set of 16 design criteria that 
provide a model for building accessible and adaptable homes 
http://www.lifetimehomes.org.uk/ .

Local Housing Allowance (LHA) LHA is used to calculate the amount of Housing Benefit for 
tenants who rent privately.

Low cost home ownership The collective term for home ownership products under the 
Affordable Housing definition.

National Planning Policy 
Framework

"The National Planning Policy Framework sets out the 
Government’s planning policies for England and how these are 
expected to be applied"  
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attach
ment_data/file/6077/2116950.pdf 

National Planning Practice 
Guidance  

Guidance to assist practitioners in the use of the NPPF
http://planningguidance.communities.gov.uk/blog/guidance/ 

Planning Policy for Traveller 
Sites 2012 and updated 2015.

Sets out the Government’s planning policy for traveller sites 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/planning-policy-
for-traveller-sites 

Rural exceptional housing 
development

Where, particularly in rural areas, a local need for affordable 
housing can be clearly demonstrated, and cannot be met in 
other way; exceptionally the council may permit residential 
development in accordance with the appropriate housing 
policies and the NPPF planning guidance.

Social rent levels Rents that are set by the housing association in accordance 
with the formula set by the Homes and Communities Agency 
(or its successor body)

Strategic Housing Market 
Assessment –SHMA. Now 
replaced by Local Housing 
Needs Assessment (see above)

The SHMA assessed the District housing needs and fed into 
the planning system.

Warm and Well Scheme Warm & Well can ensure older people stay safe and warm, 
whether they live in their own home or a rented property, by 
improving the energy efficiency of their homes. This will keep 
fuel costs down and reduce the risk of health problems linked 
to the cold 
http://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/article/106393/Gloucestershi
re-Warm--Well---Energy-savinggrants-keep-older-people-safe-
in-winter    

61

http://www.lifetimehomes.org.uk/
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/6077/2116950.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/6077/2116950.pdf
http://planningguidance.communities.gov.uk/blog/guidance/
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/planning-policy-for-traveller-sites
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/planning-policy-for-traveller-sites
http://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/article/106393/Gloucestershire-Warm--Well---Energy-savinggrants-keep-older-people-safe-in-winter
http://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/article/106393/Gloucestershire-Warm--Well---Energy-savinggrants-keep-older-people-safe-in-winter
http://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/article/106393/Gloucestershire-Warm--Well---Energy-savinggrants-keep-older-people-safe-in-winter


Housing Strategy 2017-2021

Endnotes

1    Tewkesbury Borough Council Plan 2016-2020 https://www.tewkesbury.gov.uk/tewkesbury-borough-council-plan
2    Cotswold AONB http://www.cotswoldsaonb.org.uk/userfiles/factsheet-1.pdf
3    Environment Agency; Tewkesbury Borough flood map for planning https://goo.gl/PwsxmY
4    What Homes Where, 2013 http://www.cotswoldsaonb.org.uk/userfiles/factsheet-1.pdf
5    Housing Strategy 2017-2021 Appendix 1a, Section 2, Chart 1, Page 6
6    2012-Based Sub-national Population Projections, Office for National Statistics   
7    Housing Strategy 2017-2021 Appendix 1a, Section 2, Chart 3, Page 7
8    Housing Strategy 2017-2021 Appendix 1a, Section 2, Chart 2, Page 7
9    Average house price for all properties over the period June 2015-May 2016; Source Land Registry via Local Insight, OCSI
10  IMD data and maps can be found here     https://inform.gloucestershire.gov.uk/viewpage.aspx?c=page&page=Deprivation_Maps2015
11  Rents are covered in full in Housing Strategy 2017-2021 Appendix 1b Section 8.
12  Homelessness Act 2002 http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2002/7/section/1
13  Localism Act 2011 http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2011/20/contents/enacted
14  Laying the foundations: a housing strategy for England 2011 https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/laying-the-foundations-a-
housing-strategy-for-england--2
15  The Joint Core Strategy is a partnership between Gloucester City Council, Cheltenham Borough Council, and Tewkesbury Borough 
Council,  formed to produce a coordinated strategic development plan to show how this area will develop during the period up to 2031 
http://www.gct-jcs.org/ 
16  The Tewkesbury Borough Plan is the development plan solely for Tewkesbury Borough https://www.tewkesbury.gov.uk/tewkesbury-
borough-plan/?rq=Tewkesbury%20Plan
17  A Strategic Housing Market Assessment or SHMA is a technical study intended to help local planning authorities understand how many 
homes will be needed in a given period.
18  Bank of England, Financial Stability Report 2014 http://www.bankofengland.co.uk/publications/Documents/fsr/2014/fsrfull1406.pdf  
19  Shorthand Social Case Study on the pilot housing association Right to Buy Extension 
https://social.shorthand.com/insidehousing/jydtttxO6P/the-right-to-buy-extension  
20  Inside Housing article “First tenants purchase homes under Right to Buy pilots” http://www.insidehousing.co.uk/first-tenants-purchase-
homes-under-right-to-buy-pilots/7016750.article
21  Memorandum for the House of Commons, Committee of Public Accounts, Department for Communities and Local Government, 
Extending the Right to Buy https://www.nao.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2016/03/Memorandum-extending-the-right-to-buy.pdf
22  The Strategic Housing Market Assessment Final 2014 can be found in the housing section of the  council’s webpage Strategies and 
Policies  https://www.tewkesbury.gov.uk/strategies-and-policies
23  National Planning Policy Guidance; Planning Obligations Para 31 http://planningguidance.communities.gov.uk/blog/guidance/planning-
obligations/planning-obligations-guidance/
24  Section 1 and Section 4 of the Capital Funding Guide for Shared Ownership details the main features of the scheme and the rent and 
service charge element https://www.gov.uk/guidance/capital-funding-guide/11-shared-ownership
25  Welfare Reform Act 2012 http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2012/5/contents
26  Welfare Reform and Work Act 2016 http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2016/7/contents/enacted
27  Housing Act 2004 http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2004/34/contents
28  Housing Act 1996 http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1996/52/contents
29  National Planning Policy Framework https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-planning-policy-framework--2
30  Planning Practice Guidance  http://planningguidance.communities.gov.uk/blog/guidance/
31  Planning Policy for Traveller Sites 2015 https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/planning-policy-for-traveller-sites
32  Gloucestershire SHMA http://tewkesbury.gov.uk/index.aspx?articleid=1907#SHMA
33  Fair welfare campaign http://www.homeless.org.uk/our-work/campaigns/policy-and-lobbying-priorities/fair-welfare-campaign

62

https://www.tewkesbury.gov.uk/tewkesbury-borough-council-plan
http://www.cotswoldsaonb.org.uk/userfiles/factsheet-1.pdf
https://goo.gl/PwsxmY
http://www.cotswoldsaonb.org.uk/userfiles/factsheet-1.pdf
https://inform.gloucestershire.gov.uk/viewpage.aspx?c=page&page=Deprivation_Maps2015
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2002/7/section/1
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2011/20/contents/enacted
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/laying-the-foundations-a-housing-strategy-for-england--2
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/laying-the-foundations-a-housing-strategy-for-england--2
http://www.gct-jcs.org/
https://www.tewkesbury.gov.uk/tewkesbury-borough-plan/?rq=Tewkesbury%20Plan
https://www.tewkesbury.gov.uk/tewkesbury-borough-plan/?rq=Tewkesbury%20Plan
http://www.bankofengland.co.uk/publications/Documents/fsr/2014/fsrfull1406.pdf
http://www.bankofengland.co.uk/publications/Documents/fsr/2014/fsrfull1406.pdf
https://social.shorthand.com/insidehousing/jydtttxO6P/the-right-to-buy-extension
http://www.insidehousing.co.uk/first-tenants-purchase-homes-under-right-to-buy-pilots/7016750.article
http://www.insidehousing.co.uk/first-tenants-purchase-homes-under-right-to-buy-pilots/7016750.article
https://www.nao.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2016/03/Memorandum-extending-the-right-to-buy.pdf
https://www.tewkesbury.gov.uk/strategies-and-policies
http://planningguidance.communities.gov.uk/blog/guidance/planning-obligations/planning-obligations-guidance/
http://planningguidance.communities.gov.uk/blog/guidance/planning-obligations/planning-obligations-guidance/
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/capital-funding-guide/11-shared-ownership
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2012/5/contents
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2016/7/contents/enacted
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2004/34/contents
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1996/52/contents
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-planning-policy-framework--2
http://planningguidance.communities.gov.uk/blog/guidance/
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/planning-policy-for-traveller-sites
http://tewkesbury.gov.uk/index.aspx?articleid=1907#SHMA
http://www.homeless.org.uk/our-work/campaigns/policy-and-lobbying-priorities/fair-welfare-campaign


Housing Strategy 2017-2021

34  Welfare Reform 2.0 - Long-term solutions, not short-term savings 
https://www.policyexchange.org.uk/images/publications/welfare%20reform%202%20point%200.pdf
35  The cumulative impact of welfare reform in Tewkesbury Borough
36  The Care Act 2014 http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2014/23/contents/enacted/data.htm
37  Figures published in 2014 by the Office for Disability Issues Department for Work and Pensions  
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/disability-facts-and-figures
38  Gloucestershire Rural Community Council http://www.grcc.org.uk/affordable-rural-housing/affordable-rural-housing
39  Gloucestershire Rural Housing Partnership http://www.grcc.org.uk/affordable-rural-housing/gloucestershire-rural-housing-partnership-
40  The Tewkesbury Borough Council Corporate Enforcement Policy can be found in the housing section of the  council’s webpage Strategies 
and Policies  https://www.tewkesbury.gov.uk/strategies-and-policies
41  More information can be found in the Autumn 2016 newsletter 
http://www.gloucestershiregatewaytrust.org.uk/images/pdfs/GGC%20Community%20Partners%20News%20Autumn%202016.pdf  
42  The council’s housing webpages: https://www.tewkesbury.gov.uk/housing-strategy

63

https://www.policyexchange.org.uk/images/publications/welfare%20reform%202%20point%200.pdf
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2014/23/contents/enacted/data.htm
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/disability-facts-and-figures
http://www.grcc.org.uk/affordable-rural-housing/affordable-rural-housing
http://www.grcc.org.uk/affordable-rural-housing/gloucestershire-rural-housing-partnership-
https://www.tewkesbury.gov.uk/strategies-and-policies
http://www.gloucestershiregatewaytrust.org.uk/images/pdfs/GGC%20Community%20Partners%20News%20Autumn%202016.pdf
https://www.tewkesbury.gov.uk/housing-strategy


INTERIM HOUSING STRATEGY 2021-22   ACTION PLAN PROGRESS
Appendix 2

Priority 1 – Increase the supply of housing

Actions linked to Strategy 
Priorities  

Responsible 
Officer

Target Date Status Planned activity progress

P1.1 Investigate how 
Registered Providers can 
be encouraged to consider 
alternative construction 
methods and deliver homes 
to a high build standard.

Strategic 
Housing & 
Enabling Officer 
(SHEO)

March 2022

 

Progress to date:  Funds have been committed to support 
Registered Providers (RPs) deliver new Affordable Housing.  
These new properties will be delivered with a higher build 
standard than the basic building regulations.  Improved size 
standards, an aim for Energy Performance Certificate (EPC) 
ratings of ‘A’ and renewable technologies will help issues around 
fuel poverty and the wider environment.

P1.2 Produce a guidance 
note and bid pro forma that 
assists with the use of 
commuted sums (financial 
contributions in lieu of on-
site affordable housing) and 
seek Executive Committee 
approval.

SHEO Sep 2021   Progress to date:  A guidance note and pro forma have been 
developed.  As above, funds have been committed to three 
schemes totalling up to £1,142,000 supporting 68 new Affordable 
Housing properties.

64



INTERIM HOUSING STRATEGY 2021-22   ACTION PLAN PROGRESS
Appendix 2

Priority 2 – Homelessness and Homelessness Prevention

Actions linked to Strategy 
Priorities  

Responsible 
Officer

Target Date Status Planned activity

P2.1 Improve advice process to 
assist in supporting customers 
while working remotely including 
personalised plans that agree 
customer actions.

Housing 
Services 
Manager 
(HSM)

September 
2021

 

Progress to date: Personal Housing Plans have continued to be 
improved as an officer led project.  They are now easier to use 
for officers and customers and enable better setting and 
monitoring of tasks for both.

Regular check-in calls from officer to customer are now 
embedded and important as we are still largely working 
remotely.

P2.2 Contact all housing 
associations and private 
landlords who have worked with 
us to prevent homelessness to 
develop an eviction/ prevention 
protocol

HSM June 2021

 
Progress to date: Discussions with our main Registered 
Providers – Bromford, Rooftop, Sovereign, Two Rivers, Aster 
and Platform took place through the summer.

As each RP works differently and has different processes around 
evictions it was not possible to establish a single prevention of 
eviction protocol.  We have instead developed and maintained 
relationship between RP housing management and income 
officers and our Housing Advice Team.

These enhanced relationships have enabled us to make use of 
the Contain Outbreak Management Fund to support RP tenants 

65



INTERIM HOUSING STRATEGY 2021-22   ACTION PLAN PROGRESS
Appendix 2

as mentioned below at P2.6.
 

P2.3 Improve housing services 
website and include a landlord 
advice section

HSM September 
2021  

 
Progress to date:  The Business Transformation team have 
worked with Housing Advice to understand and review how 
customers interact with the department including through our 
website.  Once different contact methods have been mapped 
and assessed any changes such as outgoing messages to 
customers or online contact form will be considered.  

The housing services pages include sections under ‘Rented 
accommodation’ and they have been reviewed and updated.

P2.4 Update the housing services 
housing options/homelessness 
form and investigate online 
solutions to support this

HSM September 
2021  

Progress to date:  Improvements to our homelessness module 
has enabled it to replace the paper forms we previously used for 
housing options/homelessness appointments.  

P2.5 Reduce the use of private 
bed and breakfast 
accommodation except in 
emergencies.

HSM March 2022


Progress to date:  The service made 41 placements into B&B in 
Q1 & Q2 of 2020-21.  For the same period in 2021-22 this 
number was 35 showing a slight decrease.

It if difficult to compare previous periods and draw conclusions 
as the service has been affected by the response to the Covid-
19 pandemic.  Previous demands on the service were supported 
by hotels opening for temporary accommodation and restrictions 
on eviction activity and these have now ended.  The wider 
homeless network is still affected by the reduced ‘safe spaces’ 
provision and delays in delivery of new ‘Next Steps 
Accommodation’ that will help with the flow of roofless 
households through the system.

We have had discussions with Registered Providers about 
establishing some new self-contained temporary accommodation 

66



INTERIM HOUSING STRATEGY 2021-22   ACTION PLAN PROGRESS
Appendix 2

options and we will continue to work on developing more 
alternatives to private B&Bs.

P2.6 Work with county local 
authority partners to find 
solutions for high risk/high 
support/multiple needs homeless 
households

HSM
Explore funding 
solutions by 
March 2021

  

Progress to date:  Extra funding was identified to support 
households at risk of rough sleeping beyond our statutory duties.

This has helped maintain a running number of zero to two rough 
sleepers in Tewkesbury Borough throughout this year.  

We have also made use of some of the Contain Outbreak 
Management Fund (COMF) allocated by Gloucestershire County 
Council.  Homeless prevention options such as assisting with 
rent arrears and securing new private rented properties with rent 
in advance and/or deposit have enabled households to have 
their own space and provided the ability to self-isolate if required.

67



INTERIM HOUSING STRATEGY 2021-22   ACTION PLAN PROGRESS
Appendix 2

Priority 3 – Meeting the housing needs of those who need it most 

Actions linked to Strategy 
Priorities  

Responsible 
Officer

Target Date Status Planned activity

P3.1 Support the evaluation of 
the accommodation needs of 
Travellers and Non-Travellers 
(as determined by the 2016 
updated Gypsy Traveller and 
Travelling Showpeople 
Accommodation Assessment 
(GTTSAA)

Planning 
Policy 
Manager

March 2022   Progress to date: RRR were commissioned through a County 
arrangement and have submitted an interim report to the 
steering group following data analysis, stakeholder consultation 
and fieldwork.

The full report is due late February 2022.

P3.2 Continue to play an active 
role in the Housing with Care 
Project Board to build 
relationships and create a 
joined-up way of working to 
better support vulnerable 
residents.

HSM March 2022   Progress to date: Strategic Housing & Enabling Officer has 
represented the Council at Housing with Care Project Board 
(now HEAT - Housing, Equipment, Energy, Adaptations, Aids 
and Technology).

Experience and knowledge has been shared and use of DFG 
funds has been discussed with Registered Provider (RP) 
partners to develop a more strategic approach to benefit more 
vulnerable residents.

68



INTERIM HOUSING STRATEGY 2021-22   ACTION PLAN PROGRESS
Appendix 2

Priority 4 – Improving the health and wellbeing of local people 

Actions linked to Strategy 
Priorities  

Responsible 
Officer

Target Date Status Planned activity

P4.1 Encourage landlords 
wanting to work with the council 
on improving housing standards 
and be better trained to provide 
quality accommodation and 
management.

EHM March 2022
   Progress to date: The service is undergoing a trial structural 

change focussing on specialist areas.  A Private Sector Housing 
team is focussing on ensuring training and competencies are in 
place by March 2022 to improve housing standards by 
enforcement.  This training for officers will also enable the 
service to offer advice and training on best practice for landlords 
to provide a supportive approach as well as enforcement.

In 2022/23 further work will commence on landlord engagement.

P4.2 Work in partnership with 
district colleagues to 
commission a ‘Stock Condition 
Survey’

EHM March 2022
   Progress To Date: The procurement process has commenced 

and it is intended to select the company who will deliver the 
survey by January 2022 with a commencement date of 10th 
January 2022.  The survey will deliver outputs by October 2022. 

Survey outputs will be incorporated in to actions from Year 2 of 
the new Housing Strategy. 

69



INTERIM HOUSING STRATEGY 2021-22   ACTION PLAN PROGRESS
Appendix 2

P4.3 Respond within 3 working 
days to customer complaints 
about housing conditions.

EHM March 2022  
Progress To Date:  On average 80% of cases responded to 
within 3 working days (this figure is an estimate as we are not in 
a position to report on this).  While still relatively low, complaints 
on housing conditions have doubled in the last 12 months. 

Reporting systems will be put in place to monitor progress.

P4.4 Reduce poor quality 
housing by taking appropriate 
action to deal with identified 
Housing Health and Safety 
Rating System Category 1 
hazards.

EHM March 2022
   Progress To Date: Enforcement Policy refreshed and approved 

November 2021.  Improvement Notices now subject to a charge.  
Specialist team in place. 

P4.5 Current warm & well 
contract expires in March 2022.  
Review performance of current 
provider and participate in joint 
procurement with other 
Gloucestershire LAs

EHM March 2022   Progress To Date:  The existing contract with Warm & Well is 
proposed to be extended for 2 years with an option to extend for 
a further 3 years. Final agreement will be by end of March 2022. 

The Sustainable Warmth Fund is to assist those in fuel poverty 
living in homes with Energy Performance ratings of E or lower 
and is in two parts;
£1,030,000 for Local Authority Delivery Scheme (LADS) phase 3 
for insulation and heating (non fossil fuel types) for those on the 
gas network 
£4,217,985 for Home Upgrade Grant (HUG) phase 1 for 
insulation and heating for homes off the gas network
Severn Wye will be delivering this fund on behalf of all 
Gloucestershire Districts.

70



INTERIM HOUSING STRATEGY 2021-22   ACTION PLAN PROGRESS
Appendix 2

P4.6 Regulate the standards of 
larger houses in multiple 
occupation and caravan sites 
by enforcing mandatory license 
conditions 

EHM March 2022   Progress To Date: HMO Policy in place. Civil Penalty Policy 
adopted July 2021.  Enforcement Policy refreshed and approved 
November 2021.  Mobile Homes and Caravan site Policy 
adopted October 2021.  Arrangements in place for updating web 
pages. Housing Act Notices now subject to charge contained 
within Fees and Charges.

Future activity will continue to identify unlicensed HMOs.  Plan a 
programme of inspections of caravan sites with priority being 
given to residential sites in the first instance.  Continue to 
promote and enforce substandard conditions in single residential 
units in the private rented sector which includes social landlords.

P4.7 To explore how housing 
applicants supported by 
Tewkesbury Borough Council 
can benefit from the ‘Going the 
Extra Mile’ Project

HSM June 2021

Complete
  Progress to date:  The Housing Advice Team met with Going the 

Extra Mile and learnt about their activity and how they can help 
support households into employment and/or training 
opportunities.

HSM then arranged a joint workshop session with GEM, 
Bromford ‘Neighbourhood Coaches’ & managers and Housing 
Advice Team to discuss potential shared cases and the 
challenges and successes they have experienced.

  

71



INTERIM HOUSING STRATEGY 2021-22   ACTION PLAN PROGRESS
Appendix 2

STATUS KEY

 Action is progressing well and on target to achieve completion date/within agreed budget (if applicable) etc.
 Action has some issues or delays but is likely to achieve completion date/within agreed budget (if applicable) etc. 
 Significant risk to not achieving the action or there has been significant slippage in the timetable.
 Action is complete.

Action not yet commenced. (may not yet be programmed for action)

72



1

Appendix 3

Bid Pro forma for Tewkesbury Borough 
Council’s Affordable Housing Delivery Fund

Please return completed forms to Strategic Housing & Enabling Officer 
by:

 Email to housingstrategy@tewkesbury.gov.uk
 Post to Tewkesbury Borough Council, Gloucester Road, Tewkesbury, GL20 5TT

 For further information or to discuss a bid, please call on 01684 272162

Company Name & Address Contact Details

Proposal Description
Please include details such as size of site, number of units, proposed tenure mix and what benefits can be achieved with the use of commuted 
sum funding.

73

mailto:housingstrategy@tewkesbury.gov.uk


2

Bid Criteria

Criteria Response
  Yes   No

1.  Has a need for affordable housing 
been identified?

Additional Information

  Yes   No
2.  Will the scheme meet identified 
need in terms of type and tenure?

Additional Information

  Yes   No
3.  Will the scheme provide an 
improved housing tenure mix 
(prioritising Social Rented units) or 
redress a current shortfall?

Additional Information

  Yes   No
4.  Does the scheme link into wider 
regeneration in the area?

Additional Information

  Yes   No
5.  Does the scheme link into 
Tewkesbury Borough Council’s 
development plans?

Additional Information

74



3

  Yes   No
6.  Will the scheme assist delivery of a 
site that would otherwise be 
undeliverable?

Additional Information

Criteria Response
  Yes   No

7.  Will the proposed scheme allow 
delivery of affordable housing to be 
incorporated within the site where it 
would not be viable without 
commuted sum funding?

Additional Information

  Yes   No
8.  Does the proposal provide an 
opportunity to deliver an innovative 
affordable housing product in an area 
of identified need, which requires 
additional investment?

Additional Information

  Yes   No
9.  Has a pre-application enquiry been 
undertaken – was the response 
positive?

Additional Information

  Yes   No
10.  Is the site in the Company’s 
ownership or in the process of being 
acquired?

Additional Information

75



4

  Yes   No
11.  Can start on site be achieved 
within six months of allocation of 
commuted sums funding?

Additional Information

  Yes   No
12.  Will the proposal consider the use 
of Modern Methods of Construction?

Additional Information

  Yes   No
13.  Is the development receiving 
funding from other sources e.g. 
Homes England?

Additional Information

  Yes   No
14.  Will access to funding enable 
improved build standards such as 
larger sizes, high Energy Performance 
Certificate ratings and renewable 
technologies.

Additional Information

76



5

Financial Information
Please include a financial viability appraisal here or as an attachment, clearly demonstrating the deficit that a commuted sum 
allocation would address, or alternatively the benefits or additional units that could be achieved with the use of commuted sum 
funding.

77



6

Extra information (if required)

78



7

Affordable Housing financial contributions

Following collaboration between Development and Housing Services, a framework for the use of commuted sums 
received in lieu of on-site Affordable Housing contributions.

Three separate strands have been identified and all can continue to be considered although major projects may need 
funds to be earmarked to ensure funds are available when required.

1. TBC led projects 

Where specific strategic aims can be met or supported by use of commuted sums.

 TBC sites e.g. garage courts – Closing the circle of delivering Affordable Housing on TBC owned land while 
ensuring a return on disposal of our land assets.

 Temporary Accommodation – Reducing costs of TA placements and improving our offer to homeless applicants.  
Potential revenue from letting of TA to other Local Authorities.

 Mortgage Rescue Model – Funds to relieve applicants in mortgage difficulties by (under the right circumstances) 
purchasing their property and re-letting to them as Affordable Housing.

2. Registered Provider led projects

RPs able to apply for funds to help with new sites.

Help to ‘kickstart’ development or overcome particular barriers e.g. problems with services or access.

Bids for funding will be made through a pro forma to help assess bids alongside our strategic aims.  Benefits to our 
strategic aims to be demonstrated e.g. Delivery of additional properties, improved standard of builds or tenure types.

3.  Additionality / ‘Topping up’ existing sites

       Able to use funds in an ad hoc manner with less requirement for a strategic approach.

         Converting tenure types e.g. reducing Affordable Rented to Social rented levels.
         Delivering bespoke properties e.g. for larger families or those with disability needs.

79



TEWKESBURY BOROUGH COUNCIL

Report to: Executive Committee

Date of Meeting: 5 January 2022

Subject: Treasury and Capital Management

Report of: Head of Finance and Asset Management 

Corporate Lead: Chief Executive

Lead Member: Lead Member for Finance and Asset Management

Number of Appendices: Four

Executive Summary:
The Council is required to adopt a range of strategies and policies before the start of the 
financial year in order to provide clarity on the plans for the financial management of the 
authority in the forthcoming year. The strategies to adopt are listed in the recommendations.
A revised edition of Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) Prudential 
Code has been consulted on during 2021 and will be published in December 2021 with 
immediate adoption (at the time of this report it has yet to be published). The new requirements 
have been included in the accompanying reports.

Recommendation:
The Committee is asked to RECOMMEND TO COUNCIL the adoption of:
 The Capital Strategy 2022/23.
 The Investment Strategy 2022/23.
 Minimum Revenue Provision Statement 2022/23.
 Treasury Management Strategy 2022/23.

Reasons for Recommendation:
It is a statutory requirement to adopt these strategies prior to the start of the financial year. 

Resource Implications:
None directly relating to the report.

Legal Implications:
As detailed within the report and appendices.

Risk Management Implications:
As detailed within the appendices.

80

Agenda Item 8



Performance Management Follow-up:
As detailed within the appendices.

Environmental Implications:
None.

1.0 INTRODUCTION/BACKGROUND

1.1 There has been a long-standing requirement for the Council to produce both a Treasury 
Management Strategy and a Minimum Revenue Provision Policy before the start of the 
financial year. The CIPFA Prudential Code introduced in 2017 made it a requirement to 
produce an annual Capital Strategy and an amendment to the Local government Act 
2003 was made under statute to prepare an Investment Strategy from the 2019-20 
financial year.

1.2 CIPFA published a consultation on its review of The Prudential Code for Capital Finance 
in Local Authorities (2017) during 2021 and produced its responses on the comments 
received along with proposed amendments in September 2021.  The revised Prudential 
Code should be published towards the end of December. 

1.3 The main changes included within the revised Prudential Code are:
- Changing the emphasis on borrowing in advance of need purely to profit from the 

investment so it is now prohibited rather than advised against.  
- Including proportionality as an objective (assessing risk to levels of resources).
- Clearly defining and clarifying commercial activity and investment.
- Officially introducing the liability benchmark into the indicators (we have 

previously included this anyway).

2.0 TREASURY AND CAPITAL MANAGEMENT STRATEGIES 

2.1 The following paragraphs give a brief overview of each of the five appendices:

2.2 Capital Strategy
This is a requirement of CIPFA’s Prudential Code to place decisions around borrowing in 
the context of the overall longer term financial position of the authority and to improve 
links between the revenue and capital budgets.
This capital strategy was introduced for 2019/20, giving a high-level overview of how 
capital expenditure, capital financing and treasury management activity contribute to the 
provision of local public services along with an overview of how associated risk is 
managed and the implications for future financial sustainability.
The liability benchmark has been formally introduced as it is seen as an important 
indicator which demonstrates the lowest risk level of borrowing. The benchmark is our 
net borrowing requirement plus a liquidity allowance.

81



2.3 Investment Strategy
This comes from updated Ministry for Housing, Communities and Local Government 
(MHCLG) statutory guidance and applies to accounting periods starting 1 April 2018. 
This is not the Council’s strategy for actual investment or otherwise in either commercial 
property or service property. It does not commit the authority to any future direction or 
expenditure. The report provides oversight on how the Council undertakes transactions 
of this nature, the proportionality of these investments and a one year forecast of a range 
of financial indicators based on the standing investment decision of Council.
The strategy provides detailed information on the policies and procedures that the 
Council has in place to address the fundamental concepts that are associated with each 
investment type, which are risk, security and liquidity.
In line with the revised Prudential Code, we no longer borrow to fund the purchase of 
investment properties.

2.4 Minimum Revenue Provision Statement 2022/23
The statement at Appendix C sets out the Council policy on making a Minimum Revenue 
Provision (MRP) for the 2022/23 financial year in accordance with the Local Authorities 
(Capital Finance and Accounting) (England) (Amendment) Regulations 2008.  The policy 
is also in line with the revised guidance issued in 2018. As a result of the Council’s 
recent capital programme, funded by borrowing, the Council is required to make a MRP 
in order to repay the principal borrowed.
The Council will look to utilise capital and revenue balances where possible in order to 
reduce the revenue impact of investment plans. However, where either internal or 
external borrowing is required a MRP will be required to be made. 
The MRP statement includes details on voluntary overpayments of MRP which is not 
included in the current MRP policy. Voluntary overpayments can be made in a financial 
year with the impact of the overpayment being a reduction in the charge to revenue in 
future years.  We set aside £88k at the end of last year.

2.5 Treasury Management Strategy 2022/23
The Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy’s Treasury Management in 
the Public Services: Code of Practice 2017 (the CIPFA Code) requires the authority to 
approve a treasury management strategy before the start of each financial year. The 
report at Appendix D fulfils the authority’s legal obligation under the Local Government 
Act 2003 to have regard to the CIPFA Code.
The Treasury Management Strategy 2022/2023 sets the framework in which day-to-day 
and strategic treasury activities are operated. The documents are compiled from the 
recommendations within the CIPFA guidance and from the Council’s Treasury 
Management advisors with consideration given to the current financial climate and 
factors affecting market conditions.
The budget for investment income in 2022/23 is £0.44million, based on an average 
investment portfolio of £20.0 million at an interest rate of 2.20%.  The budget for debt 
interest paid in 2022/23 is £0.47 million, based on an average debt portfolio of £40 
million at an average interest rate of 1.17%.  If actual levels of investments and 
borrowing, and actual interest rates differ from those forecast, performance against 
budget will be correspondingly different.  

3.0 OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED

3.1 None.

82



4.0 CONSULTATION 

4.1 None.

5.0 RELEVANT COUNCIL POLICIES/STRATEGIES

5.1 Medium Term Financial Strategy.

6.0 RELEVANT GOVERNMENT POLICIES 

6.1 As detailed within the appendices.

7.0 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS (Human/Property)

7.1 No specific proposals within appendices affecting human or property resources.

8.0 SUSTAINABILITY IMPLICATIONS (Social/Community Safety/Cultural/ Economic/ 
Environment)

8.1 None.

9.0 IMPACT UPON (Value For Money/Equalities/E-Government/Human Rights/Health 
And Safety)

9.1 As contained within the appendices.

10.0 RELATED DECISIONS AND ANY OTHER RELEVANT FACTS 

10.1 None.

Background Papers: None.

Contact Officer: Finance Manager Tel:01684 272006
Email: Emma.harley@tewkesbury.gov.uk 

Appendices: A – Capital Strategy 2022/23.
B – Investment Strategy 2022/23.
C – Minimum Revenue Provision Statement 2022/23.
D – Treasury Management Strategy 2022/23. 

83

mailto:Emma.harley@tewkesbury.gov.uk


Appendix A

Capital Strategy Report 2022/23

Introduction

This capital strategy report gives a high-level overview of how capital expenditure, capital financing 
and treasury management activity contribute to the provision of local public services along with an 
overview of how associated risk is managed and the implications for future financial sustainability. It 
has been written in an accessible style to enhance members’ understanding of these sometimes 
technical areas.

Decisions made this year on capital and treasury management will have financial consequences for 
the Authority for many years into the future. They are therefore subject to both a national regulatory 
framework and to local policy framework, summarised in this report.

Capital Expenditure and Financing

Capital expenditure is where the Authority spends money on assets, such as property or vehicles, 
that will be used for more than one year. In local government this includes spending on assets owned 
by other bodies, and loans and grants to other bodies enabling them to buy assets. The Authority has 
some limited discretion on what counts as capital expenditure, for example assets costing below £10k 
are not capitalised and are charged to revenue in year.

 For details of the Authority’s policy on capitalisation, see Note 1.15 in the Financial 
Statements for the year ended 31 March 2021

In 2022/23, the Authority is planning capital expenditure of £4.48m as summarised below:

Table 1: Prudential Indicator: Estimates of Capital Expenditure in £ millions

2020/21 
actual

2021/22 
forecast

2022/23 
budget

2023/24 
budget

2024/25 
budget

General Fund services 1.45 3.12 4.48 2.60 4.60

Capital investments 19.74 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

TOTAL 21.19 3.12 4.48 2.60 4.60

The main General Fund capital projects include the delivery of the Ashchurch bridge project and also 
payment of Disabled Facility Grants.

Governance: Service managers must take a report to full Council in order to include projects in the 
Council’s capital programme. Finance calculate the financing cost (which can be nil if the project is 
internally financed) and review any business case for the proposal to ensure it meets the council 
requirements over payback periods (if applicable). Council appraises all proposals based on a 
comparison of service priorities against financing costs and approves the use of capital resources.  
The final capital programme is then presented to Executive Committee and to Council in February 
each year.

All capital expenditure must be financed, either from external sources (government grants and 
other contributions), the Council’s own resources (revenue, reserves and capital receipts) or debt 
(borrowing, leasing and Private Finance Initiative). The planned financing of the above expenditure 
is as follows:

Table 2: Capital financing in £ millions

84

https://drive.google.com/file/d/1dQiyx03WtxVIzYpcm9MWtuovPddA316D/view


Appendix A

2020/21 
actual

2021/22 
forecast

2022/23 
budget

2023/24 
budget

2024/25 
budget

External sources 1.21 2.60 3.95 2.50 0.50

Own resources 0.24 0.52 0.53 0.10 4.10

Debt 19.74 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

TOTAL 21.19 3.12        4.48 2.60 4.60

Debt is only a temporary source of finance, since loans and leases must be repaid, and this is therefore 
replaced over time by other financing, usually from revenue which is known as minimum revenue 
provision (MRP). Alternatively, proceeds from selling capital assets (known as capital receipts) may 
be used to replace debt finance. Planned MRP and use of capital receipts are as follows:

Table 3: Replacement of debt finance in £’000

2020/21 
actual

2021/22 
forecast

2022/23 
budget

2023/24 
budget

2024/25 
budget

Own resources 640 882 905 927 950

The Authority’s cumulative outstanding amount of debt finance is measured by the capital financing 
requirement (CFR). This increases with new debt-financed capital expenditure and reduces with MRP 
and capital receipts used to replace debt. The CFR is expected to be £54,367k during 2021/22. Based 
on the above figures for expenditure and financing, the Authority’s estimated CFR is as follows:

Table 4: Prudential Indicator: Estimates of Capital Financing Requirement in £’000

31.3.2021 
actual

31.3.2022 
forecast

31.3.2023 
budget

31.3.2024 
budget

31.3.2025 
budget

Capital investments 55.25 54.37 53.46 52.54 51.59

TOTAL CFR 55.25 54.37 53.46 52.54 51.59

Asset management: To ensure that capital assets continue to be of long-term use, the Council has 
an asset management strategy in place. This plan is set in the wider context of ensuring a 
sustainable future for Council expenditure and revenue and aims to:

• Identify and explain the context and objectives of Asset Management at Tewkesbury Borough 
Council.

• Identify and explain how the plan links with our Corporate Plan and processes that will be 
followed to deliver Asset Management to Tewkesbury Borough Council.

• Identify the specific challenges and opportunities that currently affect Tewkesbury Borough 
Council's land and building assets and the ability of those assets to deliver the priorities, goals and 
promises set out in our Corporate Plan.

• Identify and recommended strategies to address and resolve issues and opportunities within the 
asset portfolio.

• Establish an annual Service Action Plan summarising the required actions arising from those 
recommendations.

The Council’s asset management strategy can be found on our website.

85



Appendix A

Asset disposals: When a capital asset is no longer needed, it may be sold so that the proceeds, 
known as capital receipts, can be spent on new assets or to repay debt.  Repayments of capital 
grants, loans and investments also generate capital receipts. The Council plans to receive £20,000 
of capital receipts in the coming financial year as follows:

Table 5: Capital receipts receivable in £’000

2020/21 
actual

2021/22 
forecast

2022/23 
budget

2023/24 
budget

2024/25 
budget

Asset sales 66 66 0 0 0

Right to buy receipts 89 20 20 20 20

Other 57 0 0 0 0

TOTAL 212 86 20 20 20

Treasury Management

Treasury management is concerned with keeping sufficient but not excessive cash available to meet 
the Authority’s spending needs, while managing the risks involved. Surplus cash is invested until 
required, while a shortage of cash will be met by borrowing, to avoid excessive credit balances or 
overdrafts in the bank current account. The Authority is typically cash rich in the short-term as 
revenue income is received before it is spent, but cash poor in the long-term as capital expenditure 
is incurred before being financed. The revenue cash surpluses are offset against capital cash shortfalls 
to reduce overall borrowing. 

Due to decisions taken in the past, the Authority currently has £34.13m borrowing at an average 
interest rate of 1.42% and £30.49m treasury investments at an average income rate of 1.60%.

Borrowing strategy: The Authority’s main objectives when borrowing are to achieve a low but certain 
cost of finance while retaining flexibility should plans change in future. These objectives are often 
conflicting, and the Authority therefore seeks to strike a balance between cheap short-term loans 
(currently available at around 0.10%) and long-term fixed rate loans where the future cost is known 
but higher (currently 1.5 to 2.5%).

Projected levels of the Authority’s total outstanding debt (which comprises borrowing, PFI liabilities, 
leases are shown below, compared with the capital financing requirement (see above).

Table 6: Prudential Indicator: Gross Debt and the Capital Financing Requirement in £’000

31.3.2021

actual

31.3.2022 
forecast

31.3.2023 
budget

31.3.2024 
budget

31.3.2025 
budget

Debt 39.40 33.90 33.30 32.80 32.30

Capital Financing 
Requirement

55.25 54.37 53.46 52.54 51.59

Statutory guidance is that debt should remain below the capital financing requirement, except in the 
short-term. As can be seen from table 6, the Authority expects to comply with this in the medium 
term

Liability benchmark: To compare the Authority’s actual borrowing against an alternative strategy, 
a liability benchmark has been calculated showing the lowest risk level of borrowing. This assumes 
that cash and investment balances are kept to a minimum level of £10m at each year-end. This 

86



Appendix A

benchmark is currently £30.95m and is forecast to decrease to £25.79m over the next three/four 
years.

Table 7: Borrowing and the Liability Benchmark in £m

31.3.2021 
actual

31.3.2022 
forecast

31.3.2023 
budget

31.3.2024 
budget

31.3.2025 
actual

Outstanding borrowing 39.40 33.90 33.30 32.80 32.30

Liability benchmark 30.95 23.57 22.66 21.74 20.79

The table shows that the Authority expects to remain borrowed above its liability benchmark. This is 
because a deliberate decision has been made to borrow additional sums due to the volatility of the 
Council’s cash flows. 

Affordable borrowing limit: The Authority is legally obliged to set an affordable borrowing limit (also 
termed the authorised limit for external debt) each year and to keep it under review. In line with 
statutory guidance, a lower “operational boundary” is also set as a warning level should debt 
approach the limit.

Table 8: Prudential Indicators: Authorised limit and operational boundary for external debt in £m

2021/22 
limit

2022/23 
limit

2023/24 
limit

2024/25 
limit

Authorised limit – borrowing 60 50 45 45

Operational boundary – borrowing 55 40 35 35

Further details on borrowing are in the treasury management strategy 

Treasury investment strategy: Treasury investments arise from receiving cash before it is paid out 
again. Investments made for service reasons or for pure financial gain are not generally considered 
to be part of treasury management. 

The Authority’s policy on treasury investments is to prioritise security and liquidity over yield, that 
is to focus on minimising risk rather than maximising returns. Cash that is likely to be spent in the 
near term is invested securely, for example with the government, other local authorities or selected 
high-quality banks, to minimise the risk of loss. Money that will be held for longer terms is invested 
more widely, including in bonds, shares and property, to balance the risk of loss against the risk of 
receiving returns below inflation. Both near-term and longer-term investments may be held in pooled 
funds, where an external fund manager makes decisions on which particular investments to buy and 
the Authority may request its money back at short notice.

Table 9: Treasury management investments in £m

31.3.2021 
actual

31.3.2022 
forecast

31.3.2023 
budget

31.3.2024 
budget

31.3.2025 
budget

Near-term investments 8.25 9.83 11.14 11.57 12.02

Longer-term investments 10.20 10.50 9.50 9.50 9.50

TOTAL  18.45 20.33 20.64 21.07 21.52

87



Appendix A

Further details on treasury investments are in the treasury management strategy 

Risk management: The effective management and control of risk are prime objectives of the 
Authority’s treasury management activities. The treasury management strategy therefore sets out 
various indicators and limits to constrain the risk of unexpected losses and details the extent to which 
financial derivatives may be used to manage treasury risks.

 The treasury management prudential indicators are in the treasury management strategy 

Governance: Decisions on treasury management investment and borrowing are made daily and are 
therefore delegated to the Head of Finance and Assets and staff, who must act in line with the 
treasury management strategy approved by Council. Half yearly reports on treasury management 
activity are presented to Executive Committee along with quarterly performance being reported as 
part of the quarterly budget reporting. The Audit and Governance Committee is responsible for 
scrutinising treasury management decisions.

Commercial Activities

With central government financial support for local public services declining and uncertainty 
around future funding sources (e.g. New Homes Bonus), the Council had no choice in previous years 
but to invest in commercial property purely or mainly for financial gain. Total commercial 
investments are currently valued at £59.08m as at 31.03.21 (with a cost value of £59.23m) 
providing a net return after all costs of 5%.

With financial return being the main objective, the Council accepts higher risk on commercial 
investment than with treasury investments. The principal risk exposures include voids, fall in 
capital value and high asset management costs. These risks are managed by using professional 
property advisers who are used to analyse the risk of voids, advice on alternative uses or exit 
strategies for investment properties.   In order that commercial investments remain proportionate 
to the size of the authority we have decided not to continue acquiring further properties and 
contingency plans are in place (including a contingency reserve) should expected yields not 
materialise.

Only direct costs such as property management are netted off gross income.  Interest and minimum 
revenue provision costs are excluded from this indicator.

 
2020/21 
actual

2021/22 
forecast

2022/23 
budget

2023/24 
budget

2024/25 
budget

Net income from 
commercial investments 

2,979 3,046 3,401 3,401 3,401

Proportion of net 
revenue stream

22.27% 24.59% 32.02% 32.58% 32.12%

Proportion of usable 
revenue reserves 

9.42% 10.84% 12.92% 14.11% 8.97%

Governance: Decisions on commercial investments are made by the Head of Finance and Asset 
Management alongside the Commercial Investments Board in line with the criteria and limits 
approved by Council. Property and most other commercial investments are also capital expenditure 
and purchases will therefore also be approved as part of the capital programme.

88



Appendix A

 Further details on commercial investments and limits on their use are in the investment 
strategy.

 Further details on the risk management of commercial investments are also within the 
investment strategy.

Liabilities

In addition to forecast debt of £33.9m detailed above, the Council is committed to making future 
payments to cover its pension fund deficit (valued at £36.97m as at 31 March 2021).  It has also set 
aside £3.7m to cover risks of provisions (of which £3.1m relates to business rates appeals). The 
Authority is also at risk of having to pay for a challenge to planning permission regarding Ashchurch 
Road bridge.  We didn’t put and money aside at year end as it did not meet the definition of a 
provision however we have a reserve for appeals which will be used to cover any costs.

Governance: Decisions on incurring new discretional liabilities are taken in line with the Financial 
Procedure Rules by service managers in consultation with Head of Finance and Asset Management 
and the Borough Solicitor.  

Revenue Budget Implications

Although capital expenditure is not charged directly to the revenue budget, interest payable on 
loans and MRP are charged to revenue, offset by any investment income receivable. The net annual 
charge is known as financing costs; this is compared to the net revenue stream i.e. the amount 
funded from Council Tax, business rates and general government grants.

Table 10: Prudential Indicator: Proportion of financing costs to net revenue stream

2020/21 
actual

2021/22 
forecast

2022/23 
budget

2023/24 
budget

Financing costs (£m) 1.19 1.34 1.37 1.47

Proportion of net 
revenue stream

8.91% 10.84% 12.92% 14.11%

Further details on the revenue implications of capital expenditure are in the 2022/23 revenue 
budget.

Sustainability: Due to the very long-term nature of capital expenditure and financing, the revenue 
budget implications of expenditure incurred in the next few years will extend for up to 40 years 
into the future. The Head of Finance and Asset Management is satisfied that the proposed capital 
programme is prudent, affordable and sustainable because it has all been full costed and the full 
revenue implications have been included within the Medium Term Finance Strategy (MTFS).

Knowledge and Skills

The Council employs professionally qualified and experienced staff in senior positions with 
responsibility for making capital expenditure, borrowing and investment decisions. For example, 
the Head of Finance and Asset Management is a qualified accountant with over 25 years’ 
experience, the Asset Manager has many years’ experience and is supported by an experienced 
team including engineers and building surveyors. The Council pays for staff to study towards 
relevant professional qualifications including CIPFA and AAT.

89



Appendix A

Where Council staff do not have the knowledge and skills required, use is made of external advisers 
and consultants that are specialists in their field. The Council currently employs Arlingclose Limited 
as treasury management advisers, Lambert Smith Hampton as property consultants and appoints legal 
specialists as necessary. This approach is more cost effective than employing such staff directly and 
ensures that the Council has access to knowledge and skills commensurate with its risk appetite. 

90



Appendix B

Investment Strategy Report 2022/23

Introduction

The Authority invests its money for three broad purposes:

 because it has surplus cash as a result of its day-to-day activities, for example when income 
is received in advance of expenditure (known as treasury management investments),

 to support local public services by lending to or buying shares in other organisations (service 
investments), and

 to earn investment income (known as commercial investments where this is the main 
purpose).

This investment strategy meets the requirements of statutory guidance issued by the government in 
January 2018 and focuses on the second and third of these categories. 

Treasury Management Investments 

The Authority typically receives its income in cash (e.g. from taxes and grants) before it pays for its 
expenditure in cash (e.g. through payroll and invoices). It also holds reserves for future expenditure 
and collects local taxes on behalf of other local authorities and central government. These 
activities, plus the timing of borrowing decisions, lead to a cash surplus which is invested in 
accordance with guidance from the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy. The 
balance of treasury management investments is expected to fluctuate between £18m and £32m 
during the 2022/23 financial year.

Contribution: The contribution that these investments make to the objectives of the Authority is to 
support effective treasury management activities. 

Further details: Full details of the Authority’s policies and its plan for 2022/23 for treasury 
management investments are covered in a separate document, the Treasury Management Strategy.

Service Investments: Loans

Contribution: The Council may lend money to local businesses/charities to support local public 
services and stimulate local economic growth. A loan agreement for £30k was entered into during 
2020 with a local business.

Security: The main risk when making service loans is that the borrower will be unable to repay the 
principal lent and/or the interest due. In order to limit this risk and ensure that total exposure to 
service loans remains proportionate to the size of the Authority, we ensure that any default in the 
repayment is affordable for the Council.  

Accounting standards require the Authority to set aside loss allowance for loans, reflecting the 
likelihood of non-payment. The figure for any loans in the Authority’s statement of accounts at the 
end of 2022-23 will be shown net of this loss allowance (as it was in 2021-22). However, the Authority 
makes every reasonable effort to collect the full sum lent and has appropriate credit control 
arrangements in place to recover overdue repayments. 

Risk assessment: The Authority assesses the risk of loss before entering into and whilst holding 
service loans.  As we only have one in progress we have assessed their credit rating and also ensured 
we could afford any financial loss of a default in repayment.

91



Appendix B

Service Investments: Shares

Contribution: The Council invests in the shares of a jointly owned teckel company (Ubico Ltd) to 
support local public services (environmental services).  Tewkesbury Borough Council have a £1 
share and there are 7 other authorities each owning £1 each. 

The purpose of the investment is to work with other local authorities to create efficiencies and 
resilience within our environmental services and also enable a more commercial outlook within the 
company.

Security: One of the risks of investing in shares is that they fall in value meaning that the initial 
outlay may not be recovered. As the only shares we have are nominal and relate to a service 
objective then there is no risk of falls in value.

Other Shares

We also hold shares in a Local Authority Property Fund however this is covered within the Treasury 
Management Strategy.

Commercial Investments: Property

Contribution: The Council invests in local and UK wide commercial property with the intent of 
making a profit that will be spent on local public services. The properties held cover a range of 
sectors including industrial and retail to spread the risk and include a wide range of lease types and 
lengths.  The income generated from these investments enables us to continue functioning as a 
council and provide our statutory duties.

Some investments are held for service reasons as well and are immaterial in value.  The material 
items are shows in the table below:

Table 3: Property held for investment purposes in £ millions

Actual 31.3.2021 actualProperty 

Purchase 
costs

Gains or 
(losses)

Value in 
accounts

Land only 1.5 (0.2) 1.3

Office 23.0 0.8 23.8

Industrial 13.4 (0.6) 12.8

Retail 22.9 (0.4) 22.5

TOTAL 60.8 (0.4) 60.4

Security: In accordance with government guidance, the Authority considers a property investment 
to be secure if its accounting valuation is higher than its purchase cost (including taxes and 
transaction costs) or, overall, the value of material investment properties are no less than 20% lower 
than purchase cost.  A fall in the value of the property does not impact on the council as it is reversed 
out in the Movement in Statement of Reserves.  The council is concerned about the net income return 
as this is crucial to the budget. 

92



Appendix B

Where value in accounts is below purchase cost: The fair value of the Council’s investment property 
portfolio is lower than the original purchase price as the fair value looks at the length of any leases 
currently in place (and as the lease term diminishes the fair value falls).  If the value falls a significant 
amount (20% or more) then further work is done to identify whether any mitigating actions are needed 
to protect the capital invested. These actions include analysing any risk of lease defaults or 
cancellations and ensuring contingency funds are in place to mitigate any material impact on the 
budget.

Risk assessment: The Authority assesses the risk of loss before entering into and whilst holding 
property investments by:

- using professional property advisers (LSHIM) to assess the full cost of any potential 
commercial property purchase, including void periods;

- ensuring an exit strategy by looking at the alternative use for the property;
- costing any asset management requirements required and setting aside monies in the 

budget;
- looking at lease lengths and break clauses to ascertain the risk of any voids and to enter 

early negotiations with tenants;
- ensuring a minimum rate of return that enables all known costs to be covered;
- diversifying the portfolio over a number of sector areas.
- Undertaking an independent valuation exercise to substantiate the purchase price prior to 

completion
- Undertaking other building and environmental surveys
- Reviewing the strength of covenant of the existing tenant
- Reviewing the strength of economy in the surrounding area
- Familiarisation of local commercial agents for an efficient and cost-effective marketing 

process
- Regular communication with new tenants to build initial relationships and manage any 

teething problems
- Annual in person inspections to respond to any landlord repairs required and to maintain 

landlord and tenant alliance
- Regular email and telephone contact with tenants to maintain a strong professional 

relationship
- Efficient reactive repair management whilst keeping the tenant informed
- Strong bond with local contractors who can be relied upon to react rapidly to repairs
- Forward knowledge of major repairs within the last year of lease, to be completed as soon 

as the property becomes vacant to minimise any void period.
- Good communication whilst arranging engineering inspections for insurance purposes
- Active rent account management for early interception of tenant financial difficulties
- Tight budget control of service charges in order that good value for the tenant is achieved
- Good relationship with RICS professionals for rent review, lease renewal and lease 

termination support.
- Efficient dilapidations management to secure funds for works required on lease termination

Liquidity: Compared with other investment types, property is relatively difficult to sell and convert 
to cash at short notice and can take a considerable period to sell in certain market conditions. To 
ensure that the invested funds can be accessed when they are needed, for example to repay capital 
borrowed, the Council would use professional agents to sell these assets to maximise best value.

Proportionality 

93



Appendix B

The Council is dependent on profit generating investment activity to achieve a balanced revenue 
budget. Table 4 below shows the extent to which the expenditure planned to meet the service 
delivery objectives of the Authority is dependent on achieving the expected net profit from 
investments over the lifecycle of the Medium Term Financial Plan. Should it fail to achieve the 
expected net profit, Council’s contingency plans for continuing to provide these services to firstly 
use any contingency reserves available to continue to provide these services in the short term, 
whilst an assessment of the investments future capabilities are made, and then cost reductions 
would be made to ensure the council is financially viable in the longer term.

Table 4: Proportionality of Investments (£’000)

2020/21 
Actual

2021/22 
Forecast

2022/23 
Budget

2023/24 
Budget

2024/25 
Budget

Investment income 3,369 3,457 3,803 3,803 3,803

Gross service expenditure 41,757 31,651 30,989 30,521 30,113

Proportion 8.07% 10.92% 12.27% 12.46% 12.63%

Borrowing in Advance of Need

Government guidance is that local authorities must not borrow more than or in advance of their needs 
purely in order to profit from the investment of the extra sums borrowed. The Authority has chosen 
not to follow this guidance previously and has previously borrowed for this purpose because, as a 
small council with the 6th lowest council tax in the country, the level of cuts to core government 
support along with losses associated with the retained business rates scheme and the growing size of 
the Borough mean that the Council would be unlikely to balance its budget without this income and 
therefore would be forced to reduce service offering drastically. It would also heighten the potential 
for issuing a s114 notice. 

The Authority’s policies in investing the money borrowed, including management of the risks, for 
example of not achieving the desired profit or borrowing costs increasing, is to always have a fixed 
rate for borrowing for at least 40% of investments to manage the risk of interest rate increases. In 
addition, the Council ensures any rental income is managed and leases are reviewed early to allow 
for any potential break clauses and void periods which can be factored into the budget.

Despite having undertaken borrowing in advance of need previously we will not borrow in this way in 
future as we feel the level of these investments is at an acceptable level of risk and any further 
investments would not be at a proportionate for an authority of our size.  We will only borrow in 
future to replace short term debt relating to prior year investment decisions.

Capacity, Skills and Culture

Elected members and statutory officers: 

A Commercial Investment Board was set up along with an approved Commercial Investment 
Strategy (Council, December 2016) to provide a level of scrutiny and governance around property 
purchases. The board consists of six Members and council officers (to include the Head of Finance 
and Asset Management and the Asset Manager) who receive investment proposals and evaluate 
individual proposals for bidding.  

Commercial deals and corporate governance:

94



Appendix B

Lambert Smith Hampton Investment Management (LSHIM) were appointed as our professional 
property investment advisers.  The Council gave them the total amount of money available for 
investment and the minimum net return we will accept and they recommended a balanced 
portfolio between industrial, retail and office accommodation in order to spread the risk between 
sectors.

When a property comes to the market that LSHIM believe fits this criteria they will send us a 
summary to see whether we are interested in pursuing it further.  If we choose to look into the 
investment, we commission LSHIM to perform their due diligence and prepare a full report on the 
property.

Detailed analysis of any potential bids are received by the board outlining the risks, returns, any 
existing tenancies and asset management opportunities for the property explained.  LSHIM are 
aware of the differing requirements of a local authority and recommend properties that would fit 
within our approved commercial strategy and risk appetite.  Detailed financials are received 
outlining possible net returns to us which include our statutory costs such as minimum revenue 
provision (MRP) and also allow for voids and conservative estimates of any rent increases.  

Authority of investments up to £12m can be made by the Head of Finance and Assets in consultation 
with the Commercial Investment Board whereas anything over £12m is referred to the Executive 
Committee for deeper scrutiny and decision making.

We have no plans to buy any new investment property in the future.

Investment Indicators

The Authority has set the following quantitative indicators to allow elected members and the public 
to assess the Authority’s total risk exposure as a result of its investment decisions. 

Total risk exposure: The first indicator shows the Authority’s total exposure to potential 
investment losses. This includes amounts the Authority is contractually committed to lend but have 
yet to be drawn down.

Table 5: Total investment exposure in £millions

Total investment exposure 31.03.2021 
Actual

31.03.2022 
Forecast

31.03.2023 
Forecast

Treasury management investments 13.47 10.50 9.50

Commercial investments: Property 60.42 60.42 60.42

TOTAL INVESTMENTS 73.89 70.92 69.92

How investments are funded: Government guidance is that these indicators should include how 
investments are funded. Since the Authority does not normally associate particular assets with 
particular liabilities, this guidance is difficult to comply with. However, the following investments 
could be described as being funded by borrowing. The remainder of the Authority’s investments are 
funded by usable reserves and income received in advance of expenditure. 

We have no treasury management investments funded by borrowing and have no plans to do this in 
the future either. 

Table 6: Investments funded by borrowing in £million

95



Appendix B

Investments funded by borrowing 31.03.2021 
Actual

31.03.2022 
Forecast

31.03.2023 
Forecast

Commercial investments: Property 39.40 33.90 30.30

TOTAL FUNDED BY BORROWING 39.40 33.90 30.30
 

Rate of return received: This indicator shows the investment income received less the associated 
costs, including the cost of borrowing where appropriate, as a proportion of the sum initially 
invested. Note that due to the complex local government accounting framework, not all recorded 
gains and losses affect the revenue account in the year they are incurred. 

Table 7: Investment rate of return (net of all costs)

Investments net rate of return
2020/21 
Actual

2021/22 
Forecast

2022/23 
Forecast

Treasury management investments 2.26% 2.35% 2.20%

Commercial investments: Property 2.94% 2.80% 3.33%

96



Appendix C

1

Minimum Revenue Provision Statement 2022/23

Annual Minimum Revenue Provision Statement 2022/23

Where the Authority finances capital expenditure by debt, it must put aside resources to repay that 
debt in later years.  The amount charged to the revenue budget for the repayment of debt is known 
as Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP), although there has been no statutory minimum since 2008. The 
Local Government Act 2003 requires the Authority to have regard to the Ministry for Housing, 
Communities and Local Government’s Guidance on Minimum Revenue Provision (the MHCLG 
Guidance) most recently issued in 2018.

The broad aim of the Guidance is to ensure that capital expenditure is financed over a period that is 
either reasonably commensurate with that over which the capital expenditure provides benefits, or, 
in the case of borrowing supported by Government Revenue Support Grant, reasonably commensurate 
with the period implicit in the determination of that grant.

The MHCLG Guidance requires the Authority to approve an Annual MRP Statement each year and 
recommends a number of options for calculating a prudent amount of MRP.  The following statement 
incorporates options recommended in the Guidance.

 For capital expenditure incurred after 31st March 2008, MRP will be determined by 
charging the expenditure over the expected useful life of the relevant asset as the principal 
repayment on an annuity with an annual interest rate of the Public Works Loan Board (PWLB) 
annuity rate (less the 0.2% for certainty rate) for 20 years on the day or purchase, starting in 
the year after the asset becomes operational.  MRP on expenditure not related to fixed assets 
but which has been capitalised by regulation or direction will be charged over 20 years. 

 MRP on purchases of freehold land will be charged over 50 years.

 For assets acquired by finance leases, MRP will be determined as being equal to the 
element of the rent or charge that goes to write down the balance sheet liability.

 Where former operating leases have been brought onto the balance sheet on 1st April 2022 due 
to the adoption of the IFRS 16 Leases accounting standard, and the asset values have been 
adjusted for accruals, prepayments, premiums and/or discounts, then the annual MRP charges 
will be adjusted so that the total charge to revenue remains unaffected by the new standard.

Capital expenditure incurred during 2022/23 will not be subject to a MRP charge until 2023/24.

Based on the Authority’s latest estimate of its capital financing requirement (CFR) on 31st March 
2022, the budget for MRP has been set as follows:

31.03.2022 
Estimated CFR

£’000

2022/23 
Estimated MRP

£’000

Unsupported capital expenditure after 31.03.2008 55,118 905

Voluntary overpayment (or use of prior year 
overpayments)

0 0

Total General Fund 55,007 905

97



Appendix C

2

Overpayments: In earlier years, the Authority has made voluntary overpayments of MRP that are 
available to reduce the revenue charges in later years. 

MRP Overpayments £’000

Actual balance 31.03.2021 88

Approved [overpayment/drawdown] 2021/22 0

Expected balance 31.03.2022 88

Planned [overpayment/drawdown] 2022/23 0

Forecast balance 31.03.2023 88

98



Appendix D

1

Treasury Management Strategy Statement 2022/23

Introduction

Treasury management is the management of the Authority’s cash flows, borrowing and investments, and 
the associated risks. The Authority has borrowed and invested substantial sums of money and is therefore 
exposed to financial risks including the loss of invested funds and the revenue effect of changing interest 
rates.  The successful identification, monitoring and control of financial risk are therefore central to the 
Authority’s prudent financial management. 

Treasury risk management at the Authority is conducted within the framework of the Chartered Institute 
of Public Finance and Accountancy’s Treasury Management in the Public Services: Code of Practice 2017 
Edition (the CIPFA Code) which requires the Authority to approve a treasury management strategy before 
the start of each financial year. This report fulfils the Authority’s legal obligation under the Local 
Government Act 2003 to have regard to the CIPFA Code.

Investments held for service purposes or for commercial profit are considered in a different report, the 
Investment Strategy. 

External Context 

Economic background: The ongoing impact on the UK from coronavirus, together with higher inflation, 
the likelihood of higher interest rates, and the country’s trade position post-Brexit, will be major 
influences on the Authority’s treasury management strategy for 2022/23.

The Bank of England (BoE) held Bank Rate at 0.10% in November 2021 and maintained its Quantitative 
Easing programme at £895 billion. The Monetary Policy Committee (MPC) voted 7-2 to keep rates on hold 
and 6-3 to maintain the asset purchase programme. Within the announcement the MPC suggested interest 
rates would be increased soon, but not to the 1% level expected by financial markets. Within the 
November 2021 Monetary Policy Report, the Bank expected consumer price index (CPI) inflation to peak 
at around 5% in April 2022 before falling back as the impact from higher energy prices fade and demand 
slows.

UK CPI for September 2021 registered 3.1% year on year, slightly down from 3.2% in the previous month. 
Core inflation, which excludes the more volatile components, fell to 2.9% y/y from 3.1%. The most recent 
labour market data for the three months to August 2021 showed the unemployment rate fell to 4.5% 
while the employment rate rose to 75.3%. Both measures were helped by the extension of the 
government’s furlough scheme, but this ended in September 2021 and while this may put some pressure 
on the jobs market, it is not expected to be material, with the BoE forecasting unemployment will only 
increase modestly in Q4 2021 according to its November 2021 Monetary Policy Report but remain low 
overall.

In August 2021, the headline 3-month average annual growth rate for wages were 7.2% for total pay and 
6.0% for regular pay. In real terms, after adjusting for inflation, total pay growth was up 4.7% while 
regular pay was up 3.4%. These figures should be interpreted with caution, however, as pay growth is 
now being impacted by base effects compared to 12 months ago when earnings were first affected by 
the coronavirus pandemic. Moreover, there has also been a fall in the number and proportion of lower 
paid jobs, helping to push up the average earnings figure.

99



Appendix D

2

Gross domestic product (GDP) grew by 5.5% in the second calendar quarter of 2021, compared to a fall 
of -1.6% q/q in the previous three months, with the annual rate jumping to 23.6% from -6.1%. Here too, 
base effects from 2020 have resulted in the high Q2 2021 data. Monthly GDP estimates have shown the 
economy is recovering, with the economy now just 0.8% below its pre-pandemic level. Looking ahead, 
the BoE’s November 2021 Monetary Policy Report forecasts economic growth will rise by 1.5% in Q3 2021, 
1.0% in Q4 2021 with the economy expected to get back to its pre-pandemic level in Q1 2022. GDP growth 
is now expected to be around 5% in 2022 (revised down from 6%), before slowing to 1.5% in 2023 and 1% 
in 2024.

GDP growth in the euro zone increased by 2.2% in calendar Q3 2021 following a gain of 2.1% in the second 
quarter and a decline of -0.3% in the first. Headline inflation has been strong, with CPI registering 4.1% 
year-on-year in October, the fourth successive month of inflation. Core CPI inflation was 2.1% y/y in 
October, the third month of successive increases from July’s 0.7% y/y. At these levels, inflation is above 
the European Central Bank’s target of ‘below, but close to 2%’, putting some pressure on its long-term 
stance of holding its main interest rate of 0%.

The US economy expanded at an annualised rate of 2.0% in Q3 2021, slowing sharply from gains of 6.7% 
and 6.3% in the previous two quarters. In its November 2021 interest rate announcement, the Federal 
Reserve continue to maintain the Fed Funds rate at between 0% and 0.25% but outlined its plan to reduce 
its asset purchase programme. Having bought $120 billion of bonds each month during the pandemic to 
keep interest rates low, the Fed confirmed that purchases will be scaled back, starting with a $15 billion 
reduction in November 2021. In terms of the timing of any interest rate hikes, Fed Chair Jerome Powell 
said the central bank can be patient about doing so.

Credit outlook: Since the start of 2021, relatively benign credit conditions have led to credit default 
swap (CDS) prices for the larger UK banks to remain low and have steadily edged down throughout the 
year to almost pre-pandemic levels. The improved economic outlook during 2021 helped bank 
profitability and reduced the level of impairments many had made as provisions for bad loans. However, 
the relatively recent removal of coronavirus-related business support measures by the government means 
the full impact on bank balance sheets may not be known for some time.

The improved economic picture during 2021 led the credit rating agencies to reflect this in their 
assessment of the outlook for the UK sovereign as well as several financial institutions, revising them 
from negative to stable.

Looking ahead, while there is still the chance of bank losses from bad loans as government and central 
bank support is removed, the institutions on the Authority’s counterparty list are well-capitalised and 
general credit conditions across the sector are expected to remain benign. Duration limits for 
counterparties on the Authority’s lending list are under regular review and will continue to reflect 
economic conditions and the credit outlook.

Interest rate forecast: The Authority’s treasury management adviser Arlingclose is forecasting that Bank 
Rate will rise in calendar Q2 2022 to subdue inflationary pressures and the perceived desire by the BoE 
to move away from emergency levels of interest rates.

Investors continue to price in multiple rises in Bank Rate over the next forecast horizon, and Arlingclose 
believes that although interest rates will rise, the increases will not be to the extent predicted by 
financial markets. In the near-term, the risks around Arlingclose’s central case are to the upside while 
over the medium-term the risks shift towards the downside.

Gilt yields had increased sharply on the back of higher inflation and anticipated central bank action, 
however in its November MPC meeting, the committee noted that market expectations for rates were 
excessive, and yields have since fallen back. Yields are expected to remain broadly at current levels 

100



Appendix D

3

over the medium-term, with the 5, 10 and 20 year gilt yields expected to average around 0.60%, 1.0%, 
and 1.35% respectively. The risks around the gilt yield forecast are judged to be broadly balanced in the 
near-term and to the downside over the remainder of the forecast horizon. As ever, there will almost 
certainly be short-term volatility due to economic and political uncertainty and events.

A more detailed economic and interest rate forecast provided by Arlingclose is attached at Appendix A.

For the purpose of setting the budget, it has been assumed that new treasury investments will be made 
at an average rate of 0.25%, with no current expectation for new long-term borrowing.

Local Context

On 30th September 2021, the Authority held £34.1m of borrowing and £30.5m of treasury investments. 
This is set out in further detail at Appendix B.  Forecast changes in these sums are shown in the balance 
sheet analysis in table 1 below.

Table 1: Balance sheet summary and forecast

31.3.21 31.3.22 31.3.23 31.3.24 31.3.25
Actual Estimate Forecast Forecast Forecast 

£m £m £m £m £m

General Fund CFR 55.25 54.37 53.46 52.54 51.59

Less: External borrowing 39.4 33.9 33.3 32.8 32.3

Internal (over) borrowing 15.85 20.47 20.16 19.74 19.29

Less: Balance sheet resources 34.30 40.80 40.80 40.80 40.80

Treasury investments 18.45 20.33 20.64 21.06 21.51

The underlying need to borrow for capital purposes is measured by the Capital Financing Requirement 
(CFR), while usable reserves and working capital are the underlying resources available for investment.  
The Authority’s current strategy is to maintain borrowing and investments below their underlying levels, 
sometimes known as internal borrowing. 

CIPFA’s Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities recommends that the Authority’s total 
debt should be lower than its highest forecast CFR over the next three years.  Table 1 shows that the 
Authority expects to comply with this recommendation during 2022/23.  

Liability benchmark: To compare the Council’s actual borrowing against an alternative strategy, a 
liability benchmark has been calculated showing the lowest risk level of borrowing. This assumes the 
same forecasts as table 1 above, but that cash and investment balances are kept to a minimum level of 
£10m at each year-end to maintain sufficient liquidity but minimise credit risk.

101



Appendix D

4

Table 2: Liability benchmark 

31.3.21 31.3.22 31.3.23 31.3.24 31.3.25
Actual Estimate Forecast Forecast Forecast 

£m £m £m £m £m

CFR 55.25 54.37 53.46 52.54 51.59

Less: Balance sheet resources 34.303 40.8 40.8 40.8 40.8

Net loans requirement 20.947 13.57 12.66 11.74 10.79

Plus: Liquidity allowance 10 10 10 10 10

Liability benchmark 30.95 23.57 22.66 21.74 20.79

Following on from the medium-term forecasts in table 2 above, the long-term liability benchmark 
assumes capital expenditure funded by borrowing of £0m a year, minimum revenue provision on new 
capital expenditure based on a 25 year asset life and income, expenditure and reserves all increasing by 
inflation of 2.5% a year. This is shown in the chart below:

Insert Liability Benchmark Chart  - To Follow

Explain actual borrowing vs liability benchmark over time

Borrowing Strategy

The Authority currently holds £34.1 million of loans, a decrease of £5.6 million on the previous year, as 
part of its strategy for funding previous years’ capital programmes. The balance sheet forecast in table 
1 shows that the Authority expects to borrow up to £33.9m in 2022/23.  The Authority may also borrow 
additional sums to pre-fund future years’ requirements, providing this does not exceed the authorised 
limit for borrowing of £50 million.

Objectives: The Authority’s chief objective when borrowing money is to strike an appropriately low risk 
balance between securing low interest costs and achieving certainty of those costs over the period for 
which funds are required.  The flexibility to renegotiate loans should the Authority’s long-term plans 
change is a secondary objective.

Strategy: Given the significant cuts to public expenditure and in particular to local government funding, 
the Authority’s borrowing strategy continues to address the key issue of affordability without 
compromising the longer-term stability of the debt portfolio. With short-term interest rates currently 
much lower than long-term rates, it is likely to be more cost effective in the short-term to either use 
internal resources, or to borrow short-term loans instead.

By doing so, the Authority is able to reduce net borrowing costs (despite foregone investment income) 
and reduce overall treasury risk. The benefits of short-term borrowing will be monitored regularly against 
the potential for incurring additional costs by deferring borrowing into future years when long-term 
borrowing rates are forecast to rise modestly. Arlingclose will assist the Authority with this ‘cost of carry’ 
and breakeven analysis. Its output may determine whether the Authority borrows additional sums at 
long-term fixed rates in 2022/23 with a view to keeping future interest costs low, even if this causes 
additional cost in the short-term.

The Authority has previously raised all of its long-term borrowing from the PWLB but will consider long-
term loans from other sources including banks, pensions and local authorities, and will investigate the 
possibility of issuing bonds and similar instruments, in order to lower interest costs and reduce over-
reliance on one source of funding in line with the CIPFA Code. PWLB loans are no longer available to 

102



Appendix D

5

local authorities planning to buy investment assets primarily for yield; the Authority intends to avoid this 
activity in order to retain its access to PWLB loans. 

Alternatively, the Authority may arrange forward starting loans, where the interest rate is fixed in 
advance, but the cash is received in later years. This would enable certainty of cost to be achieved 
without suffering a cost of carry in the intervening period.

In addition, the Authority may borrow further short-term loans to cover unplanned cash flow shortages.

Sources of borrowing: The approved sources of long-term and short-term borrowing are:

• HM Treasury’s PWLB lending facility (formerly the Public Works Loan Board)
• any institution approved for investments (see below)
• any other bank or building society authorised to operate in the UK
• any other UK public sector body
• UK public and private sector pension funds (except Gloucestershire County Council Pension Fund)
• capital market bond investors
• UK Municipal Bonds Agency plc and other special purpose companies created to enable local 

authority bond issues

Other sources of debt finance: In addition, capital finance may be raised by the following methods that 
are not borrowing, but may be classed as other debt liabilities:

• leasing
• hire purchase
• Private Finance Initiative 
• sale and leaseback

Municipal Bonds Agency: UK Municipal Bonds Agency plc was established in 2014 by the Local 
Government Association as an alternative to the PWLB.  It issues bonds on the capital markets and lends 
the proceeds to local authorities.  This is a more complicated source of finance than the PWLB for two 
reasons: borrowing authorities will be required to provide bond investors with a guarantee to refund 
their investment in the event that the agency is unable to for any reason; and there will be a lead time 
of several months between committing to borrow and knowing the interest rate payable. Any decision 
to borrow from the Agency will therefore be the subject of a separate report to full Council.  

Short-term and variable rate loans: These loans leave the Authority exposed to the risk of short-term 
interest rate rises and are therefore subject to the interest rate exposure limits in the treasury 
management indicators below. Financial derivatives may be used to manage this interest rate risk (see 
section below).

Debt rescheduling: The PWLB allows authorities to repay loans before maturity and either pay a 
premium or receive a discount according to a set formula based on current interest rates. Other lenders 
may also be prepared to negotiate premature redemption terms. The Authority may take advantage of 
this and replace some loans with new loans, or repay loans without replacement, where this is expected 
to lead to an overall cost saving or a reduction in risk.

103



Appendix D

6

Treasury Investment Strategy

The Authority holds significant invested funds, representing income received in advance of expenditure 
plus balances and reserves held. In the past 12 months, the Authority’s treasury investment balance has 
ranged between £27.30 and £37.50 million, with levels expected to be reduced in the forthcoming year 
once the excess Covid grant funding has been returned to Central Government. 

Objectives: The CIPFA Code requires the Authority to invest its treasury funds prudently, and to have 
regard to the security and liquidity of its investments before seeking the highest rate of return, or yield. 
The Authority’s objective when investing money is to strike an appropriate balance between risk and 
return, minimising the risk of incurring losses from defaults and the risk of receiving unsuitably low 
investment income. Where balances are expected to be invested for more than one year, the Authority 
will aim to achieve a total return that is equal or higher than the prevailing rate of inflation, in order to 
maintain the spending power of the sum invested.

Negative interest rates: The COVID-19 pandemic has increased the risk that the Bank of England will set 
its Bank Rate at or below zero, which is likely to feed through to negative interest rates on all low risk, 
short-term investment options. Since investments cannot pay negative income, negative rates will be 
applied by reducing the value of investments. In this event, security will be measured as receiving the 
contractually agreed amount at maturity, even though this may be less than the amount originally 
invested.

Strategy: Given the increasing risk and very low returns from short-term unsecured bank investments, 
the Authority has diversified it’s portfolio into more secure and/or higher yielding asset classes during 
the past few years.  The authority has current pooled fund investments of £9.5m and does not intend to 
extend this further in 2022/23. The majority of the Authority’s surplus cash remains invested in short-
term unsecured bank deposits, money market funds, and loans to other local authorities and registered 
providers.

Business models: Under the new IFRS 9 standard, the accounting for certain investments depends on 
the Authority’s “business model” for managing them. The Authority aims to achieve value from its 
treasury investments by a business model of collecting the contractual cash flows and therefore, where 
other criteria are also met, these investments will continue to be accounted for at amortised cost.

Approved counterparties: The Authority may invest its surplus funds with any of the counterparty types 
in table 3 below, subject to the limits shown.

Table 3: Treasury investment counterparties and limits 

Sector Time limit Counterparty limit Sector limit

The UK Government 50 years Unlimited n/a

Local authorities & other 
government entities

25 years £2m Unlimited

Secured investments * 25 years £2m Unlimited

Banks (unsecured) * 13 months £2m Unlimited

Building societies 
(unsecured) *

13 months £1m £2m

Registered providers 
(unsecured) *

5 years £2m £5m

Money market funds * n/a £2m Unlimited

104



Appendix D

7

Strategic pooled funds n/a

£4m for CCLA 
Property Fund for & 

£2m for all other 
pooled funds

£10m

Real estate investment 
trusts

n/a £2m £5m

Other investments * 5 years £1m £2m

This table must be read in conjunction with the notes below

* Minimum credit rating: Treasury investments in the sectors marked with an asterisk will only be made 
with entities whose lowest published long-term credit rating is no lower than A-. Where available, the 
credit rating relevant to the specific investment or class of investment is used, otherwise the 
counterparty credit rating is used. However, investment decisions are never made solely based on credit 
ratings, and all other relevant factors including external advice will be taken into account.

Government: Loans to, and bonds and bills issued or guaranteed by, national governments, regional and 
local authorities and multilateral development banks. These investments are not subject to bail-in, and 
there is generally a lower risk of insolvency, although they are not zero risk. Investments with the UK 
Government are deemed to be zero credit risk due to its ability to create additional currency and 
therefore may be made in unlimited amounts for up to 50 years. 

Secured investments: Investments secured on the borrower’s assets, which limits the potential losses 
in the event of insolvency. The amount and quality of the security will be a key factor in the investment 
decision. Covered bonds and reverse repurchase agreements with banks and building societies are 
exempt from bail-in. Where there is no investment specific credit rating, but the collateral upon which 
the investment is secured has a credit rating, the higher of the collateral credit rating and the 
counterparty credit rating will be used. The combined secured and unsecured investments with any one 
counterparty will not exceed the cash limit for secured investments.

Banks and building societies (unsecured): Accounts, deposits, certificates of deposit and senior 
unsecured bonds with banks and building societies, other than multilateral development banks. These 
investments are subject to the risk of credit loss via a bail-in should the regulator determine that the 
bank is failing or likely to fail. See below for arrangements relating to operational bank accounts.

Registered providers (unsecured): Loans to, and bonds issued or guaranteed by, registered providers 
of social housing or registered social landlords, formerly known as housing associations. These bodies are 
regulated by the Regulator of Social Housing (in England), the Scottish Housing Regulator, the Welsh 
Government and the Department for Communities (in Northern Ireland). As providers of public services, 
they retain the likelihood of receiving government support if needed.  

Money market funds: Pooled funds that offer same-day or short notice liquidity and very low or no price 
volatility by investing in short-term money markets. They have the advantage over bank accounts of 
providing wide diversification of investment risks, coupled with the services of a professional fund 
manager in return for a small fee. Although no sector limit applies to money market funds, the Authority 
will take care to diversify its liquid investments over a variety of providers to ensure access to cash at 
all times. 

Strategic pooled funds: Bond, equity and property funds that offer enhanced returns over the longer 
term but are more volatile in the short term.  These allow the Authority to diversify into asset classes 
other than cash without the need to own and manage the underlying investments. Because these funds 
have no defined maturity date, but are available for withdrawal after a notice period, their performance 
and continued suitability in meeting the Authority’s investment objectives will be monitored regularly.

105



Appendix D

8

Real estate investment trusts: Shares in companies that invest mainly in real estate and pay the 
majority of their rental income to investors in a similar manner to pooled property funds. As with 
property funds, REITs offer enhanced returns over the longer term, but are more volatile especially as 
the share price reflects changing demand for the shares as well as changes in the value of the underlying 
properties.

Other investments: This category covers treasury investments not listed above, for example unsecured 
corporate bonds and company loans. Non-bank companies cannot be bailed-in but can become insolvent 
placing the Authority’s investment at risk. 

Operational bank accounts: The Authority may incur operational exposures, for example though current 
accounts, collection accounts and merchant acquiring services, to any UK bank with credit ratings no 
lower than BBB- and with assets greater than £25 billion. These are not classed as investments but are 
still subject to the risk of a bank bail-in, and balances will therefore be kept below £4m per bank. The 
Bank of England has stated that in the event of failure, banks with assets greater than £25 billion are 
more likely to be bailed-in than made insolvent, increasing the chance of the Authority maintaining 
operational continuity. 

Risk assessment and credit ratings: Credit ratings are obtained and monitored by the Authority’s 
treasury advisers, who will notify changes in ratings as they occur. The credit rating agencies in current 
use are listed in the Treasury Management Practices document. Where an entity has its credit rating 
downgraded so that it fails to meet the approved investment criteria then:

• no new investments will be made,
• any existing investments that can be recalled or sold at no cost will be, and
• full consideration will be given to the recall or sale of all other existing investments with the 

affected counterparty.

Where a credit rating agency announces that a credit rating is on review for possible downgrade (also 
known as “negative watch”) so that it may fall below the approved rating criteria, then only investments 
that can be withdrawn on the next working day will be made with that organisation until the outcome 
of the review is announced.  This policy will not apply to negative outlooks, which indicate a long-term 
direction of travel rather than an imminent change of rating.

Other information on the security of investments: The Authority understands that credit ratings are 
good, but not perfect, predictors of investment default.  Full regard will therefore be given to other 
available information on the credit quality of the organisations in which it invests, including credit 
default swap prices, financial statements, information on potential government support, reports in the 
quality financial press and analysis and advice from the Authority’s treasury management adviser.  No 
investments will be made with an organisation if there are substantive doubts about its credit quality, 
even though it may otherwise meet the above criteria.

When deteriorating financial market conditions affect the creditworthiness of all organisations, as 
happened in 2008 and 2020, this is not generally reflected in credit ratings, but can be seen in other 
market measures. In these circumstances, the Authority will restrict its investments to those 
organisations of higher credit quality and reduce the maximum duration of its investments to maintain 
the required level of security. The extent of these restrictions will be in line with prevailing financial 
market conditions. If these restrictions mean that insufficient commercial organisations of high credit 
quality are available to invest the Authority’s cash balances, then the surplus will be deposited with the 
UK Government, or with other local authorities.  This will cause investment returns to fall but will protect 
the principal sum invested.

106



Appendix D

9

Investment limits: The Authority’s revenue reserves available to cover investment losses are forecast to 
be £3.44 million on 31st March 2022. The maximum that will be lent to any one organisation (other than 
the UK Government) will be £2 million with the exception of the CCLA Property Fund which has a limit 
of £4m as part of the balanced pooled fund portfolio. A group of entities under the same ownership will 
be treated as a single organisation for limit purposes. 

Credit risk exposures arising from non-treasury investments, financial derivatives and balances held for 
cash flow purposes in operational bank accounts count against the relevant investment limits.

Limits are also placed on fund managers, investments in brokers’ nominee accounts and foreign countries 
as below. Investments in pooled funds and multilateral development banks do not count against the limit 
for any single foreign country, since the risk is diversified over many countries.

Table 4: Additional investment limits

Cash limit

Any group of pooled funds under the same management £5m per manager

Negotiable instruments held in a broker’s nominee account £5m per broker

Foreign countries £2m per country

Liquidity management: The Authority uses purpose-built cash flow forecasting software to determine 
the maximum period for which funds may prudently be committed.  The forecast is compiled on a 
prudent basis to minimise the risk of the Authority being forced to borrow on unfavourable terms to 
meet its financial commitments. Limits on long-term investments are set by reference to the Authority’s 
medium-term financial plan and cash flow forecast.

The Authority will spread its liquid cash over at least four providers (e.g. bank accounts and money 
market funds) to ensure that access to cash is maintained in the event of operational difficulties at any 
one provider.

Treasury Management Indicators  

The Authority measures and manages its exposures to treasury management risks using the following 
indicators.

Security: The Authority has adopted a voluntary measure of its exposure to credit risk by monitoring the 
value-weighted average credit rating of its investment portfolio.  This is calculated by applying a score 
to each investment (AAA=1, AA+=2, etc.) and taking the arithmetic average, weighted by the size of 
each investment. Unrated investments are assigned a score based on their perceived risk.

Credit risk indicator Target

Portfolio average credit rating A

Interest rate exposures: This indicator is set to control the Authority’s exposure to interest rate risk.  
The upper limits on the one-year revenue impact of a 1% rise or fall in interest rates will be:

Interest rate risk indicator Limit

Upper limit on one-year revenue impact of a 1% rise in interest rates £190,000

Upper limit on one-year revenue impact of a 1% fall in interest rates £190,000

107



Appendix D

10

The impact of a change in interest rates is calculated on the assumption that maturing loans and 
investments will be replaced at new market rates.

Maturity structure of borrowing: This indicator is set to control the Authority’s exposure to refinancing 
risk. The upper and lower limits on the maturity structure of borrowing will be:

Refinancing rate risk indicator Upper limit Lower limit

Under 12 months 100% 0%

12 months and within 24 months 100% 0%

24 months and within 5 years 100% 0%

5 years and within 10 years 100% 0%

10 years and above 100% 0%

Time periods start on the first day of each financial year. The maturity date of borrowing is the earliest 
date on which the lender can demand repayment.  

Principal sums invested for periods longer than a year: The purpose of this indicator is to control the 
Authority’s exposure to the risk of incurring losses by seeking early repayment of its investments.  The 
limits on the long-term principal sum invested to final maturities beyond the period end will be:

Price risk indicator 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25

Limit on principal invested beyond year end £14m £13m £12m

Related Matters

The CIPFA Code requires the Authority to include the following in its treasury management strategy.

Financial derivatives: Local authorities have previously made use of financial derivatives embedded into 
loans and investments both to reduce interest rate risk (e.g. interest rate collars and forward deals) and 
to reduce costs or increase income at the expense of greater risk (e.g. LOBO loans and callable deposits).  
The general power of competence in section 1 of the Localism Act 2011 removes much of the uncertainty 
over local authorities’ use of standalone financial derivatives (i.e. those that are not embedded into a 
loan or investment). 

The Authority will only use standalone financial derivatives (such as swaps, forwards, futures and 
options) where they can be clearly demonstrated to reduce the overall level of the financial risks that 
the Authority is exposed to. Additional risks presented, such as credit exposure to derivative 
counterparties, will be taken into account when determining the overall level of risk. Embedded 
derivatives, including those present in pooled funds and forward starting transactions, will not be subject 
to this policy, although the risks they present will be managed in line with the overall treasury risk 
management strategy.

Financial derivative transactions may be arranged with any organisation that meets the approved 
investment criteria, assessed using the appropriate credit rating for derivative exposures. An allowance 
for credit risk calculated using the methodology in the Treasury Management Practices document will 
count against the counterparty credit limit and the relevant foreign country limit.

108



Appendix D

11

In line with the CIPFA Code, the Authority will seek external advice and will consider that advice before 
entering into financial derivatives to ensure that it fully understands the implications.

Markets in Financial Instruments Directive: The Authority has opted up to professional client status 
with its providers of financial services, including advisers, banks, brokers and fund managers, allowing 
it access to a greater range of services but without the greater regulatory protections afforded to 
individuals and small companies. Given the size and range of the Authority’s treasury management 
activities, the Head of Finance and Asset Management believes this to be the most appropriate status.

Financial Implications

The budget for investment income in 2022/23 is £440k, based on an average investment portfolio of 
£20m million at an interest rate of 2.20%.  The budget for debt interest paid in 2022/23 is £468k, based 
on an average debt portfolio of £40 million at an average interest rate of 1.17%.  If actual levels of 
investments and borrowing, or actual interest rates, differ from those forecast, performance against 
budget will be correspondingly different. 

Other Options Considered

The CIPFA Code does not prescribe any particular treasury management strategy for local authorities to 
adopt. The Head of Finance & Asset Management, having consulted the Lead Member for Finance & Asset 
Management, believes that the above strategy represents an appropriate balance between risk 
management and cost effectiveness.  Some alternative strategies, with their financial and risk 
management implications, are listed below.

Alternative Impact on income and 
expenditure

Impact on risk management

Invest in a narrower range of 
counterparties and/or for 
shorter times

Interest income will be lower Lower chance of losses from 
credit related defaults, but any 
such losses may be greater

Invest in a wider range of 
counterparties and/or for 
longer times

Interest income will be higher Increased risk of losses from 
credit related defaults, but any 
such losses may be smaller

Borrow additional sums at long-
term fixed interest rates

Debt interest costs will rise; 
this is unlikely to be offset by 
higher investment income

Higher investment balance 
leading to a higher impact in 
the event of a default; 
however long-term interest 
costs may be more certain

Borrow short-term or variable 
loans instead of long-term 
fixed rates

Debt interest costs will initially 
be lower

Increases in debt interest costs 
will be broadly offset by rising 
investment income in the 
medium term, but long-term 
costs may be less certain 

Reduce level of borrowing Saving on debt interest is likely 
to exceed lost investment 
income

Reduced investment balance 
leading to a lower impact in 
the event of a default; 
however long-term interest 
costs may be less certain

109



Appendix D

12

Appendix A – Arlingclose Economic & Interest Rate Forecast – October 2021

Underlying assumptions: 
 The global economy continues to recover from the pandemic but has entered a more 

challenging phase. The resurgence of demand has led to the expected rise in inflationary 
pressure, but disrupted factors of supply are amplifying the effects, increasing the likelihood 
of lower growth rates ahead. This is particularly apparent in the UK due to the impact of Brexit

 While Q2 UK GDP expanded more quickly than initially thought, the ‘pingdemic’ and more 
latterly supply disruption will leave Q3 GDP broadly stagnant. The outlook also appears 
weaker. Household spending, the driver of the recovery to date, is under pressure from a 
combination of retail energy price rises, the end of government support programmes and soon, 
tax rises. Government spending, the other driver of recovery, will slow considerably as the 
economy is taken off life support

 Inflation rose to 3.2% in August. A combination of factors will drive this to over 4% in the near 
term. While the transitory factors affecting inflation, including the low base effect of 2020, 
are expected to unwind over time, the MPC has recently communicated fears that these 
transitory factors will feed longer-term inflation expectations that require tighter monetary 
policy to control. This has driven interest rate expectations substantially higher

 The supply imbalances are apparent in the labour market. While wage growth is currently 
elevated due to compositional and base factors, stories abound of higher wages for certain 
sectors, driving inflation expectations. It is uncertain whether a broad-based increased in 
wages is possible given the pressures on businesses. 

 Government bond yields increased sharply following the September FOMC and MPC minutes, in 
which both central banks communicated a lower tolerance for higher inflation than previously 
thought. The MPC in particular has doubled-down on these signals in spite of softer economic 
data. Bond investors expect higher near-term interest rates but are also clearly uncertain 
about central bank policy.

 The MPC appears to be playing both sides, but has made clear its intentions to tighten policy, 
possibly driven by a desire to move away from emergency levels. While the economic outlook 
will be challenging, the signals from policymakers suggest Bank Rate will rise unless data 
indicates a more severe slowdown.

Forecast: 
 Arlingclose expects Bank Rate to rise in Q2 2022. We believe this is driven as much by the 

Bank’s desire to move from emergency levels as by fears of inflationary pressure. 
 Investors have priced in multiple rises in Bank Rate to 1% by 2024. While we believe Bank Rate 

will rise, it is by a lesser extent than expected by markets
 Gilt yields have risen sharply as investors factor in higher interest rate and inflation 

expectations. From here, we believe that gilt yields will be broadly steady, before falling as 
inflation decreases and market expectations fall into line with our forecast

 The risk around our forecasts for Bank Rate is to the upside over the next few months, shifting 
to the downside in the medium term. The risks around the gilt yield forecasts are initially 
broadly balanced, shifting to the downside later

110



Appendix D

13

PWLB certainty rate = relevant gilt yield + 0.80%

111



Appendix D

14

Appendix B – Existing Investment & Debt Portfolio Position

30/09/2021 30/09/2021

Actual 
portfolio

Average 
rate 

£m %

External borrowing:   
Public Works Loan Board 21.10 2.00
Local authorities 13.00 0.11
LOBO loans from banks 0.00 0.00
Other loans 0.00 0.00

Total external borrowing 34.10 1.42

Other long-term liabilities:   
Private Finance Initiative 0.00 0.00
Leases 0.00 0.00
Transferred Debt 0.00 0.00
Total other long-term liabilities 0.00 0.00

Total gross external debt 34.10 1.42

Treasury investments:   
The UK Government 0.00 0.00
Local authorities 0.00 0.00
Other government entities 0.00 0.00
Secured investments 0.00 0.00
Banks (unsecured) 8.00 0.07
Building societies (unsecured) 0.00 0.00
Registered providers (unsecured) 3.00 1.70
Money market funds 10.00 0.01
Strategic pooled funds 8.99 4.72
Real estate investment trusts 0.50 2.20
Other investments 0.00 0.00

Total treasury investments 30.49 1.60

Net debt 3.61  

112



TEWKESBURY BOROUGH COUNCIL

Report to: Executive Committee

Date of Meeting: 5 January 2022

Subject: Social Media Policy – Review  

Report of: Head of Corporate Services

Corporate Lead: Chief Executive

Lead Member: Leader of the Council 

Number of Appendices: Two 

Executive Summary:
Communications has a vital role to play in supporting Tewkesbury Borough Council to deliver its 
vision and promises to local people. Social media provides a modern and targeted form of 
communication and is commonly used in addition to more established forms of communication. 
A review of our social media and policy guidelines has been carried out to ensure it remains in 
line with legal requirements and reflects best practice. Importantly, our social media policy and 
guidelines has been developed to help support our drive for accessible and customer-focused 
services, while protecting the council’s reputation and ensuring the effective and safe use of 
social media.
The policy and guidelines was presented to the Overview and Scrutiny Committee on                          
23 November, where the Committee recommended approval to Executive Committee. 

Recommendation:
To APPROVE the updated social media policy and guidelines.  

Reasons for Recommendation:
Given the profile of our social media channels, a regular review of our policy and approach to 
social media is important. 

Resource Implications:
None, other than officer time to monitor social media channels.  

Legal Implications:
Use of social media sites, and the creation of new Council profiles, does give rise to additional 
legal risks for the Council in terms of data protection and copyright legislation as well as the law 
relating to defamation and confidentiality. The proposed policy does, however, include adequate 
safeguards to meet these risks, in particular, the approval of a business case by the corporate 
management team, designation of a single named responsible officer and maintenance of a 
corporate record of approvals by the Communications Officer.

113

Agenda Item 9



Risk Management Implications:
The policy and guidelines reduce the reputational, legal and financial risks that would occur if 
social media was introduced on an ad hoc basis without fully considering implications or 
monitoring the effectiveness and impact of such schemes post-implementation.

Performance Management Follow-up:
The effectiveness of an approved use of social media will be regularly monitored to
ensure it achieves the stated outcomes.

Environmental Implications: 
None directly arising from this report. 

1.0 INTRODUCTION

1.1 Our previous social media policy and guidelines was created in 2015 and detailed a 
robust approach – for both officers and members - to managing social media 
accounts. 

1.2 The social media landscape is constantly evolving, with new platforms being 
introduced and existing channels adapting their functionality to current trends, so a 
regular review of the policy is necessary to ensure our use of social media to engage 
with stakeholders is appropriately delivered. 

1.3 The Corporate Services Manager presented an updated social media policy and 
guidelines to Overview and Scrutiny Committee in November, and following a 
discussion around the different types of social media accounts the Council runs, the 
Committee recommended approval to Executive Committee.

2.0 WHY DO WE NEED A SOCIAL MEDIA POLICY?  

2.1 Our social media policy (Appendix 1) helps to ensure an appropriate and effective use 
of social media platforms, and that a standardised approach to our online 
communication is adopted. It acts as a point of reference for officers, temporary 
contractors, volunteers, agency staff and members who post on Council-run social 
media channels, and acts as a useful guide for those who have recently joined the 
Council.

2.2 Our policy also ensures that social media usage is aligned to the corporate 
Communications Strategy - that all Council-run social media channels remain 
professional and adhere to our brand guidelines, and that all communications through 
social media meet legal requirements.

3.0 OUR APPROACH TO SOCIAL MEDIA 

3.1 We manage social media accounts on Facebook, Twitter, LinkedIn, Instagram and 
YouTube. These platforms provide a quick, accessible and free way to engage with 
our communities. They allow us to demonstrate that we are an open and transparent 
organisation, and to operate as a trusted source of information among a sea of fake 
news. We can also use social media platforms to correct and limit the damage from 
misinformation being spread online.

114



3.2 Social media also allows us to communicate with – and respond to – members of our 
community on an immediate basis. Since messages can be communicated incredibly 
quickly, residents can be kept informed up-to-the-minute and benefit from more 
accurate information in a manner not possible before the advent of social media.

4.0 MAIN CHANGES TO THE POLICY 

4.1 It is important we carry out a regular review of our social media approach to ensure we 
are meeting legal requirements and reflect best practice. Our policy was previously 
reviewed in 2015, and it was found to be relevant and up-to-date, with the following 
main amends: 

 The inclusion of Instagram as a social media channel used by the 
Communications team.

 The recommendation that Members help to promote the Council’s messages to 
their social media followers by sharing content from our corporate accounts on 
their own pages.

 An explanation of why the Council does not currently interact on Facebook 
noticeboards.

5.0 CONSULTATION 

5.1 Overview and Scrutiny Committee – 23 November 2021.

6.0 RELEVANT COUNCIL POLICIES/STRATEGIES

6.1 Council Plan (2020-24).
Communications Strategy.

7.0 RELEVANT GOVERNMENT POLICIES 

7.1 Duty to involve.

8.0 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS (Human/Property)

8.1 Managed within current resources and budget.

9.0 SUSTAINABILITY IMPLICATIONS (Social/Community Safety/Cultural/ Economic/ 
Environment)

9.1 None.

10.0 IMPACT UPON (Value For Money/Equalities/E-Government/Human Rights/Health 
And Safety)

10.1 The policy helps to improve access to information and improves the involvement of 
some hard to reach groups.

115



11.0 RELATED DECISIONS AND ANY OTHER RELEVANT FACTS 

11.1 None.

Background Papers: None.

Contact Officer: Corporate Services Manager Tel: 01684 272291 
Email: Clare.Evans@Tewkesbury.gov.uk 

Appendices: 1 – Social media policy and guidelines.
2 – Councillors’ guidance to social media.

116

mailto:Clare.Evans@tewkesbury.gov.uk


Social Media Policy
and guidelines

Tewkesbury
Borough Council

November 2021

Second edition

117



What do we mean by social media? 

Social media is all about building online communities
of people who share interests and/or activities, or
who are interested in exploring the interests and
activities of others.

Most social media sites are web-based and provide a
variety of ways for users to interact, such as email
and instant messaging services.

Social networking has encouraged new ways to
communicate and share information, and these
websites are being used regularly by millions of
people.

The most popular social media sites used by local
councils are Facebook, Twitter, Instagram, LinkedIn
and YouTube.

These are updated on a daily basis to engage with a
variety of stakeholders including residents, local
businesses and visitors

Introduction

The growth of online audiences and use of social
media channels means councils are able to work
more effectively in three ways:

Communication – directly communicate important
and timely messages, news and information,
promote events and improve awareness of services

by providing direct digital access to them.

Engagement – seek opinions, share conversations
and better engage with residents. We can help to
improve residents’ knowledge and correct
misconceptions.

Collaboration – find more efficient ways of working
together and sharing information which can change
or enhance the residents' perception of the council
and of specific service areas or projects.

Our Communications Strategy highlights that
Tewkesbury Borough Council aims to provide
communications that are 

“as accessible, engaging, transparent and cost
effective to members of the public as possible.”

The emergence of free social media tools, such as
Facebook, Twitter, Instagram and others, is vital in
this.

Social media is currently at the forefront of modern
communications and its capabilities are used by the
Government and councils across the country as
another means of engaging in two-way conversations
with customers, stakeholders and partners.

We have benefited from taking a similar approach to
communicating with people, which has led to greater
involvement with customers and an improvement of
our reputation.

Indeed, rather than waiting for individuals or groups
to approach the council, social media offers the
opportunity to create specialised accounts to allow
us to connect with residents, the business
community and visitors to the borough, listen to
what people are saying and engage with them using
two-way communications rather than simply
delivering one-way messages

This social media policy puts in place controls to
protect the council’s reputation and ensure the
effective and safe use of social media. Importantly,
social media is not to replace current communication
tools, but to add to our methodologies and to
enhance access to information.

This policy will ensure social media is used
appropriately and effectively and it includes a specific
section on personal use of social media.

Social Media Policy

1 Tewkesbury Borough

118



In order to ensure they are used with greatest
impact, social media channels will only be created if
a business case can be made, and will only continue
if their effectiveness can be proven once in use.

Scope

This policy applies to the use of all social media by
any employees, temporary contractors, volunteers or
agency staff at Tewkesbury Borough Council.

Aim of this policy

The aims of this policy are to:

• Ensure communications through social media 
meet legal requirements.

• Increase community engagement and connect 
with residents.

• Engage a wider audience, particularly younger 
people.

• Offer responsive communication.
• Improve democratic engagement.
• Support emergency and crisis communications.
• Ensure that all social media channels adhere to 

the council’s brand guidelines.
• Ensure that social media usage is aligned to the 

corporate Communications Strategy.
• Ensure that the communications team has a 

record of all existing accounts and activity.
• Ensure appropriate, effective and consistent use 

of social media.

• Complement and support other related council 
policies.

Council-run channels

Creating a channel
New profiles or groups should only be created
following agreement by both the communications
team and relevant head of service, and must be
supported by a written business case.

If you wish to submit a business case, please make
sure you are aware of the following:

• The profile or group will be the responsibility of
the relevant service area in terms of content 
management and must be updated on a regular 
basis to ensure content is fresh and relevant.

• A single, named person in the service area 
requesting the site must be responsible for 
maintaining the profile or group. Other approved 
contributors may also be nominated to help 
them.

• All approved contributors should be made aware 
of this protocol.

Using social media on behalf of the
council

If you are using social media on behalf of the council,
you must be aware of the following:

• Know and follow Tewkesbury Borough Council’s 
Employee Code of Conduct and ICT Policy.

• When using third-party websites (such as Twitter 
and Facebook), know and follow their terms of 
use.

• Always be accurate, fair, thorough and 
transparent.

• Always be mindful that what you publish may be 
public for a long time.

• Respect copyright laws.
• Do not publish or report on conversations that 

are meant to be private or internal to Tewkesbury 
Borough Council without permission.

• Do not cite or reference any details about 
customers, partners or suppliers without their 
approval. When you do make a reference, link 
back to the source where possible.

Social Media Policy

Tewkesbury Borough2

119



• Respect your audience. Do not publish anything 
that would not be acceptable in the workplace. 
You should also show proper consideration for 
others’ privacy and for topics that may be 
considered objectionable or inflammatory, such as
politics and religion.

• Wherever required, disclose your position as a 
representative of your department, division or 
team.

• Remember that you are an ambassador for the 
council at all times.

• Do not correct contributors’ spelling or grammar.
• Instead of editing or removing significant factual 

errors, you should either make a public response 
or directly contact the person who made the 
original comment, or both.

• Networking sites should be monitored by the 
responsible service. Feedback that requires a 
response must be acknowledged quickly with 
guidance from the communications team leader. 
Where action is required, bear in mind that 
excessive delay will have a negative impact on the 
council’s reputation.

• Please ensure a disclaimer is present on all sites, 
which explains that comments made by the public
are not those of the council and we have no 
control over their content.

When responding to negative comments on the
council’s social media channels, please refer to the
social media response check flow chart on page 5.

Moderating social media channels

We are under no obligation to moderate posts or
comments by the public.

However, there are measures which must be taken
to ensure our duty of care and to protect our
reputation.

The council would not want to be seen to be
endorsing comments which are:

• Defamatory, false or misleading;
• Insulting, threatening or abusive;
• Obscene or of a sexual nature;
• Offensive, racist, sexist, homophobic, 

transphobic or discriminatory against any 
religions or other groups;

• Promoting illegal activity;
• Intended to deceive.

If a comment is suspected of falling into one of the
categories by an operator or user then please
contact the Communications team at
communications@tewkesbury.gov.uk immediately

Abuse and cyberbullying

We adopt a zero-tolerance policy in response to the
online abuse of our officers. 

Should officers be subject to any form of abusive

language posted in comments on our social media
accounts, no response will be given, the abusive
message will be hidden from public view
immediately, and the individual will be blocked from
engaging further on our accounts. Support will also
be provided to the officer/s affected. 

Any online abuse directed at officers should reported
to the Communications team at
communication@tewkesbury.gov.uk immediately.

Personal use of social media channels

Please remember that if you are a holder of a post
which is politically restricted you are prohibited from
engaging in public political activity, including social
media. Please ensure you are aware of the council’s
Politically Restricted Posts Policy.

If you already make reference to your employment
with the council on a personal internet site, or you
intend to create such a site, you should inform your
manager who will advise you of the appropriateness
of doing this in line with the advice below:

• Know and follow Tewkesbury Borough Council’s 
Employee Code of Conduct and IT Policy.

• Ensure that your online activities do not interfere
with your job, your colleagues or commitments 

to customers. If you are not using the site to 
support you directly in your employed position 
you should always access the site in your 
personal time.

• Be aware of your association with Tewkesbury 

Social Media Policy

Tewkesbury Borough3

120



Borough Council in online social networks. If you 
identify yourself as a council employee, ensure 
your profile and related content is consistent 
with how you wish to present yourself with 
colleagues and customers.

• If you publish content to any website not owned 
by the council, and it has something to do with 
work you do or services associated with the 
council, use this disclaimer: “The views expressed 
here are my own and do not necessarily 
represent the views of Tewkesbury Borough 
Council.”

Child protection

• If a profile or group is set up for a service directly
related to children under 16, it is essential that a

member of staff becomes a member of it and 
oversees the content and activity.

• The staff member should monitor conversations,
images and other activity of members of the 
group and challenge, educate or intervene as 
necessary.

• Events or parties at private addresses should be 
reserved for the private group’s members only.

• Staff must not publish images of people unless 
consent has been given in writing, using an 
official photograph consent form (available on 
the intranet).

Facebook noticeboards

Facebook noticeboards are set up by residents of
cities, towns and villages to allow members of their
respective communities to share and discuss local
news, events and developments. In Tewkesbury
Borough, established noticeboards include
Tewkesbury Noticeboard, Winchcombe Noticeboard
and Bishop’s Cleeve Noticeboard.

The Communications team does not use the council’s
corporate Facebook account to post updates - or
respond to updates and comments posted by other
people - on these noticeboards. Tewkesbury
Noticeboard, for example, has 32,000 members; any
activity posted there from the corporate account is
likely to provoke a very high number of follow-up
questions, which, with the current resource, would
be difficult to respond to effectively and in a timely
manner, and could result in reputational damage.

Assessing a target audience

The Communications team will be able to advise on
the best way to get started by helping with an
assessment of the target audience, value and goals
of your proposed social media profile.

In many cases, it may be clear and simple. In others,
it may be more difficult and the Communications
team may wish to trial and monitor the content via
the existing audience on the main Tewkesbury
Borough Council channels first.

Remember, it takes time, effort and resource to build
a following on any social network.

Five questions to ask yourself:

1. What is the main purpose of the proposed social 
media channel?

2. Can I reach my target audience with it?
3. Do I know which social media platform(s) which 

best suit my core objective?
4. Do I have sufficient resource to keep it updated 

and monitored for interactions?
5. Am I likely to be posting regularly enough to 

build a following?

Social Media Policy

Tewkesbury Borough4

121



on Twitter when fewer will do! And keep
Facebook posts as simple as possible too.

Accurate – Our social media channels
represent the council and its reputation. All
spelling and grammar should be accurate.
‘Text speak’ is acceptable with some
audiences, but should be avoided wherever
possible.

Corporate – Social media is an extension of
the website and brand.

Responsibilities

Corporate Leadership Team
The Corporate Leadership Team is
responsible for ensuring that employees are
aware of their work-related and personal
responsibilities.

Heads of service and operational
managers
All managers are responsible for ensuring
that their staff understand this policy and
abide by it, and for giving guidance where
employees are unsure of appropriate
content.

Communications team
The Communications team will review and
revise this policy as appropriate.

Is responding worthwhile?
consider the:
Impact on our reputation

Time to research and write 
response

Likely readership

Importance of the issue

Tone
is the post positive or 

balanced?

Respond
Discuss with relevant 
manager and obtain 
response approval

Consult response 
considerations

Respond

Do not respond

Correct the information

is the post a personal
bashing or 

degrading to others?

is the post a
rant/rage/joke/

satirical in nature?

Is there incorrect 
information in the

post?

Is the post a result of
a negative 
experience

Rectify
Discuss with manager 
and obtain response 
approval

Resolve concern

Notify communications 
team

no

yes

no

no

no

Response considerations
1 Be open and transparent
2 Use plain english
3 Use a professional but friendly tone

yes

yes

yes

yes

yes

no

Usage and content principles

As a general rule, social media users are
warned not to post any content or information
that they would not be prepared to say to the
general public in other council
communications. When posting to Tewkesbury
Borough Council’s social media channels,
consider the following:

Frequent – updates should be made at least
once a day.

Useful – where possible, posts will include at
least one link back the relevant section on the
main Tewkesbury Borough Council site to
maximise SEO (search engine optimisation).

Varied – a wide range of media (photos, video)
etc will be used to retain interest levels.

Newsworthy – SEO-friendly headlines using
keywords and phrases, along with the relevant
links, will help to help to improve the chances
of your content being found in Google etc.

Timely – posts will be relevant when posted
about upcoming events and opportunities.

Human – While SEO-friendly headlines should
be used where possible, other tweets and
replies should also be used to demonstrate
that there is a personality behind the account.

Short – Messages should be kept short and to
the point. Don’t use all the available characters

Social media response check flow chart

Social Media Policy

Tewkesbury Borough5

122



Councillors’ social media guidance

Tewkesbury Borough

Although the best use of social media is conversational in tone, publishing
opinions and material online is still publishing, which means what 

you’ve ‘said’ is written down and permanent.

While there’s no additional legal or ethical burden around using social media, the
usual legal rules (such as complying with the council’s code of conduct) still apply
and must be considered when using social media.

The key to whether your online activity is subject to the council’s code of conduct is
whether you are giving the impression that you are acting as a councillor.

Since the judgment of whether you are perceived to be acting as a councillor will be
taken by someone else, it’s safest to assume that any online activity can be linked to
your official role. This is particularly true if you hold a lead member role and you
are commenting on policy or decisions within your portfolio.

If the content of your online activity is objective, balanced, informative and
accurate, and you maintain and demonstrate an open mind on any matters on
which you may be called upon as a member to make a decision, you substantially
reduce the possibility of a successful legal challenge to the content being made.

To make sure you comply with the council’s code of conduct and to ensure your use
of online media is well received, we suggest the following advice:

Do

• Set appropriate privacy settings for your social media pages or blog –
especially if you have a private, non-political blog.

• Keep an eye out for defamatory or obscene posts from others on your pages
or blog and remove them as soon as possible.

• Be aware that the higher your profile as a councillor, the more likely it is you
will be seen as acting in your official capacity whenever you post online.

• Be aware that by publishing information that you could not have accessed
without your position as a councillor, you are likely to be seen as acting in
your official capacity.

• Make sure that any comments on policy or decisions within your portfolio
reflect your role as lead member.

• Use a disclaimer. Whenever you publish content online, make it clear that what
you are saying is representative of your views and opinions, and does not
necessarily reflect the views and opinions of Tewkesbury Borough Council.
However, remember that it is still very difficult for the audience to separate you
from your official role at Tewkesbury Borough Council, particularly if you are a
lead member. For example: “The views expressed here are my own and do not
necessarily represent the views of Tewkesbury Borough Council.”

• Treat others with respect – avoid personal attacks or offensive comments.
• Refrain from publishing anything you have received in confidence.
• Ensure you don’t bring the council or your councillor role into disrepute.
• Comply with equality laws.
• Help to promote the council’s messages to your social media followers by

sharing content from the council’s corporate accounts on your own pages.

Don’t

• Post in haste.
• Post comments that you would not be prepared to make in writing or in a

public meeting. Statements spreads faster online than through any other form
of communication.

• Publish an untrue statement about a person which is damaging to their
reputation as they may take libel action against you.

• Use council facilities for personal or political posts.
• Publish personal data of individuals unless you have their written permission.
• Copy and paste posts from the council’s corporate accounts to your own pages.

(Instead, please support our corporate accounts by sharing our posts.)
• Mislead your followers by implying collective council achievements are your

own individual achievements.

If you are ever unsure or would like further advice, please contact the
council’s communications team.

123



TEWKESBURY BOROUGH COUNCIL

Report to: Executive Committee

Date of Meeting: 5 January 2022

Subject: Review of Procurement Strategy

Report of: Asset Manager

Corporate Lead: Head of Finance and Asset Management 

Lead Member: Lead Member for Finance and Asset Management

Number of Appendices: One

Executive Summary:
The Corporate Procurement Strategy was last updated in October 2016 and is now due for 
review. The strategy has been updated to reflect the progress made and is supported by the 
Contract Procedure Rules, approved at Council in February 2019.

Recommendation:
Executive Committee is asked to APPROVE the updated Corporate Procurement Policy.

Reasons for Recommendation:
The Council is spending public money and has a duty to do this in an open and transparent way 
and obtain best value. The Procurement Strategy reflects this obligation and promotes effective 
procurement.

Resource Implications:
None directly arising from the report.

Legal Implications:
The Council was required to adopt Contract Procedure Rules in order to comply with Section 
135 Local Government Act 1972 which requires all local authorities to make standing orders 
with respect to the making of contracts by them or their behalf for the supply of goods or 
materials or for the execution of works. This Strategy supports the Contract Procedure Rules.  
Significant changes to procurement legislation as a result of the UK’s withdrawal from the 
European Union is expected to come into force in 2023. Consequently, the Contract Rules and 
possibly this Strategy, will need to be reviewed and amended.

Risk Management Implications:
The strategy is a ‘framework’ that enables the authority to meet its legal obligations and reduce 
the possibility of legal challenge and litigation claims. 

124

Agenda Item 10



Performance Management Follow-up:
The Procurement Officer meets with One Legal on a regular basis to review current best 
practice, legislation updates and to discuss future developments to improve the service. The 
contracts register of the Council is subject to transparency requirements and is published on a 
quarterly basis.

Environmental Implications:
The strategy has been updated to ensure climate change emergency activities are underpinned 
by the strategy by ensuring renewable energy strategies, waste management strategies and 
carbon enhancement initiatives are encouraged through service providers and the supply chain

1.0 INTRODUCTION/BACKGROUND

1.1 The Corporate Procurement Strategy (CPS) is aimed at promoting effective procurement 
across the whole organisation.

1.2 The current CPS was last fully approved by Members in October 2016.

1.3 Historically, the Council spends approximately £6million per year on procuring goods, 
services and works this figure includes outsourcing of services such as Ubico and the 
Leisure Centre. A clear focused Procurement Strategy will ensure best value is achieved 
whilst delivering on all areas of the Council objectives. 

1.4 This Strategy sets out how procurement will support the delivery of the Council’s 
Corporate Plan 2021–2025 and its corporate priorities, as well as meet the Council’s 
legislative obligations. 

1.5 In addition, the Strategy also takes into account recommendations of the Local 
Government Association in the National Procurement Strategy for Local Government in 
England 2018.

2.0 REVISED CORPORATE PROCUREMENT STRATEGY

2.1 The draft Corporate Procurement Strategy contains actions to ensure that procurement 
within the organisation is taken forward over the period of the Strategy.
Since 2016 a number of actions have been delivered, along with improvements to the 
service.

 E-tendering and E-contract software system has been introduced.

 Streamlining of the procurement process to ensure quick and efficient tendering 
processes for goods and services. 

 Procurement training completed by all key Officers.

 Updated toolkit.

 Compliance with requirements to publish all contracts on Government website 
‘Find a contract’.

2.2 The draft Corporate Procurement Strategy 2021 – 2025 is detailed at Appendix A.

125



2.3 The draft CPS for the next four years continues the aim of ensuring procurement is 
carried out effectively and delivers value for money for the Council. In this respect, much 
of the Strategy remains the same. The previous Strategy focused on the introduction of 
electronic processing from procurement through to purchasing and budget management. 
These systems will continue to be developed utilising additional software modules to 
proactively procure goods and services in a timely manner along with the management 
and monitoring of contracts.

2.4 If the revised CPS is approved by Executive Committee on 5 January 2022, it is intended 
that it will be replacing the existing CPS with immediate effect.

3.0 OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED

3.1 None.

4.0 CONSULTATION 

4.1 With the Procurement Officer and Section 151 Officer. 

5.0 RELEVANT COUNCIL POLICIES/STRATEGIES

5.1 Contract Procedure Rules last approved by Council in February 2019.
Financial Procedure Rules last approved by Council in February 2019.

6.0 RELEVANT GOVERNMENT POLICIES 

6.1 None.

7.0 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS (Human/Property)

7.1 None.

8.0 SUSTAINABILITY IMPLICATIONS (Social/Community Safety/Cultural/ Economic/ 
Environment)

8.1 The Corporate Procurement Strategy underpins the climate change emergency motion to 
achieve carbon neutrality by 2030.

9.0 IMPACT UPON (Value For Money/Equalities/E-Government/Human Rights/Health 
And Safety)

9.1 The Corporate Procurement Strategy helps the Council to demonstrate value for money 
in its procurement activities.

10.0 RELATED DECISIONS AND ANY OTHER RELEVANT FACTS 

10.1 Approval of Contract Procedure Rules at Council in February 2019.

Background Papers: None.

Contact Officer: Asset Manager Tel: 01684 272005
Email: andy.noble@tewkesbury.gov.uk

Appendices: A – Corporate Procurement Policy.

126

mailto:andy.noble@tewkesbury.gov.uk


Page 1 of 12

Appendix A

Corporate 
Procurement 

Strategy

2021 - 2025

Created: November 2021
Version: 02

127



Page 2 of 12

Contents

1. Introduction................................................................................................................3
1.1 Definition ...........................................................................................................................3
1.2 Purpose.............................................................................................................................3
1.3 Aims and objectives ..........................................................................................................3

2. Procurement at the council ......................................................................................4
2.1 Governance, structure and responsibilities .......................................................................4
2.2 Controls and standards .....................................................................................................4
2.3 Countering fraud................................................................................................................4
2.4 Management of risk...........................................................................................................4
2.5 Development plan .............................................................................................................5
2.6 Budget savings..................................................................................................................5
2.7 The procurement landscape...............................................................................................5

3. Corporate social responsibility................................................................................5
3.1 Sustainability .....................................................................................................................5
3.2 Environmental responsibility..............................................................................................6
3.3 Equalities...........................................................................................................................6
3.4 Health and safety ..............................................................................................................7
3.5 Ethics, code of conduct and human rights ........................................................................7
3.6 Community involvement, economic development and competition...................................7
3.7 Community Right to Challenge..........................................................................................8

4. Value for money.........................................................................................................8

5. Climate Change emergency………………………………………………………………8

6. Partnering and collaboration....................................................................................9
6.1 Working in partnership ......................................................................................................9
6.2 Collaboration .....................................................................................................................9

7. Electronic procurement ............................................................................................9
7.1 Electronic tendering...........................................................................................................9
7.2 Electronic purchasing......................................................................................................10
7.3 Technology........................................................................................................................11

8. Moving forward..........................................................................................................11
8.1 Training and development.................................................................................................11
8.2 Monitoring and performance .............................................................................................11

9. Relevant Tewkesbury Borough Council documents .............................................11

Appendix 1- development plan ................................................................................12

128



Page 3 of 12

1. Introduction

1.1 Definition
Procurement is the process of securing the works, goods and services that the council requires in 
order to carry out its duties; ranging from day-to-day consumables and equipment, letting of service 
contracts, the engagement of agencies and consultancies, to the provision of services.

In summary, procurement is “the whole process of acquisition of goods, services and works, from the 
initial assessment of business need through to the end of life of the asset or service”.

1.2 Purpose
It is vital that the council has a clear corporate procurement strategy to help ensure that:
 It obtains best value.
 Its procurement choices reflect corporate objectives.
 It continuously improves the quality and cost-effectiveness of service provision.
 Its approach to procurement is consistent.
 Resources are used effectively.
 Staff procurement skills are developed, shared and used effectively, and
 Procurement rules are complied with.

The council is constantly seeking innovative ways of working and as our corporate approach to 
procurement continues to develop, the strategy will capture the most appropriate elements of best 
practice, whilst remaining sufficiently flexible to respond to the rapidly changing procurement 
environment.

This strategy is aimed at promoting effective procurement across the whole organisation and should 
be read in conjunction with the council’s contract procedure rules and financial procedure rules.

1.3 Aims and objectives
The overarching aim of this strategy is to ensure our procurement activities are undertaken efficiently, 
legally and ethically whilst, where possible, contributing to or improving the economic, social and 
environmental well-being of the borough.

The council’s intention is to procure goods, services and works to deliver consistently high quality 
services that meet service needs and which are fit for purpose, have an optimum lifetime cost, use 
processes which are economic and efficient and which contribute to the council’s corporate objectives.

The procurement strategy is therefore aligned with the Council Plan, as well as other corporate 
strategies and plans, which encompass the core principles of:
 Finances and resources
 Economic Growth.
 Housing and communities
 Customer first
 Garden communities
 Sustainable environment

129



Page 4 of 12

2. Procurement at the council

2.1 Governance, structure and responsibilities
The officer with overall responsibility for procurement at the council is the Head of Finance and Asset 
Management; a member of the Executive Committee has portfolio responsibility for finance, which 
includes procurement.

It is expected that all Heads of Service and operational managers will promote the implementation 
of the procurement strategy within their own service areas.

Procurement at the council is undertaken by the budget holder concerned, in accordance with the 
council’s scheme of delegation, and advice is provided by the procurement advisor, One Legal and 
the Performance and Audit team.

The highest standards of conduct must be observed by members and officers engaged in 
procurement of any type on behalf of the council. In all their dealings they must preserve the highest 
standards of honesty, integrity, impartiality and objectivity and comply with the council’s relevant 
rules and procedures and applicable codes of conduct.

2.2 Controls and standards
The council continually reviews and updates its procurement toolkit and model contract 
documentation to ensure a corporate approach to procurement and compliance with the strategy is 
achieved. The council also maintains and publishes corporate and departmental contract registers 
to enable regular monitoring.

2.3 Countering fraud
The council is committed to countering fraud and corruption and officers who procure goods, works 
and services must be fully aware of the rules and procedures that support this aim. Counter fraud 
and corruption arrangements should be the consequence of effective business systems, practices 
and control arrangements, specifically the:
 Contract procedure rules.
 Financial procedure rules.
 Employee code of conduct, and
 The anti-fraud and corruption strategy.

2.4 Management of risk
All staff involved in procurement must attend regular training and development updates, assess the 
risk involved and plan, monitor and control the actions that will address these identified risks and 
potential problems. The risks when procuring, for example; failure to evaluate fairly, failure to receive 
value for money, viability of suppliers, failure of the supply chain and fraud and corruption, are key 
considerations and an integral part of the procurement process, supporting the strategy to achieve 
its stated objectives.

130



Page 5 of 12

3. Corporate social responsibility

2.5 Development plan
The development plan appended to this strategy details the programme of actions that will be 
undertaken to strengthen the council’s procurement activities.

2.6 Budget savings
An objective of the strategy is to deliver savings wherever possible through procurement. The 
council will work to deliver savings, using best practice while ensuring its procurement is 
sustainable and effective.

2.7 The Procurement Landscape

Public procurement operates in a highly regulated environment that is governed by legislation, 
policies and guidance set by the UK Government, through case law, and locally by the Council’s 
Constitution (specifically Contract Rules and Finance Rules). In addition to legislation, the Council 
is also required to fulfil other obligations placed upon it such as the Local Government Transparency 
Code 2015 and the Public Services (Social Value) Act 2012.  New procurement legislation is 
expected in 2023 as a result of the UK’s withdrawal from the European Union in 2020.

Through this procurement strategy and the procurement toolkit, the council must satisfy the 
aspirations of all stakeholders. These include customers, suppliers, employees, the local 
community, government bodies, partners and environment groups.

To satisfy this scrutiny, the council aims to demonstrate its corporate social responsibility through 
procurement. Under the Public Services (Social Value) Act 2012, public bodies in England and 
Wales are required to consider how the services they commission and procure might improve the 
economic, social and environmental well-being of the area.

It’s important to recognise that corporate social responsibility embraces a number of distinct areas 
and how this can be demonstrated will vary according to what it is that is being procured.

3.1 Sustainability
The National Procurement Strategy states that every council should build sustainability into its 
procurement strategy, processes and contracts. The council aims to integrate sustainability into all 
of its future contracts and to continuously improve the sustainability performance of its activities by:
 Ensuring that sustainability forms part of the decision making process in procurement.
 Wherever possible, procuring from sustainable sources.
 Aiming to achieve value for money on a whole life basis.
 Working in partnership with other public bodies to maximise sustainable procurement gains.

131



Page 6 of 12

3.2 Environmental responsibility
The council recognises the need to carry out procurement activities in an environmentally 
responsible manner and is committed to ensuring that services are delivered in a way that protects 
the quality of the environment and minimises any adverse impact on community well-being. To 
achieve this, the council will, where appropriate:
 Comply with all relevant environmental legislation.
 Ensure that suppliers’ environmental policies are considered during the tender evaluation 

process and that appropriate environmental criteria are used in the award of contracts, where 
relevant.

 Ensure that proper consideration is given to the viability of environmentally friendly alternatives.
 Reduce the purchase of new products by re-using, repairing or refurbishing existing products 

wherever possible.
 Assess the potential environmental risk when procuring.
 Consider the whole life cost of goods including operational, maintenance and disposal costs.
 Apply procedures for the proper management and disposal of assets.

Where appropriate, the council will require its suppliers and its subcontractors to comply with 
Environmental Protection legislation.

3.3 Equalities
The council has a duty to eliminate unlawful discrimination and is committed to promoting equality 
of opportunity. This duty applies to procurement and the council will ensure that when tendering 
contracts and services that either a business has its own equality and diversity policy which complies 
with legislation or that it commits to adhere to the council’s Equality and Diversity Policy

As required by legislation, the council will ensure its services are equally accessible and appropriate 
to the borough. It will not discriminate on the grounds of age, colour, disability, ethnic origin, gender, 
sexuality or any other unjustifiable grounds.

The council will ensure that all procurement activities undertaken are compliant with equalities 
legislation and, where appropriate, will:
 Undertake an equalities impact assessment at the earliest stages of the procurement lifecycle.
 Require that companies provide details of their equal opportunities policies as part of the 

procurement process.
 Ensure the procurement process is conducted in a manner which ensures equal treatment of all 

bidders/tenderers.
 Ensure that all organisations have equal access to procurement opportunities with the council, 

and
 Balance the cost to the environment and local businesses with issues of equality and 

competitiveness.

132



Page 7 of 12

3.4 Health and safety
The council has a statutory duty with regard to the health and safety of its employees and others 
who may be affected by its activities, regardless of whether the service is contracted out or not. The 
council will therefore clearly specify its requirements for health and safety and make health and 
safety a key condition in the selection of suppliers.

It is important to recognise that the amount of health and safety information required will vary 
according to what it is that is being procured.

3.5 Ethics, code of conduct and human rights
For intermediate and high value procurement, the council expects ethical standards from suppliers 
and, where possible, will use suppliers that can demonstrate fair-trade and ethical trading of their 
business.

The council aims to ensure that the highest standards of conduct are observed by members and 
officers engaged in procurement of any type on behalf of the council.

In all their dealings council employees must preserve the highest standards of honesty, integrity, 
impartiality and objectivity and comply with the council’s constitution, financial and contract 
procedure rules and applicable codes of conduct.

3.6 Community involvement, economic development and competition
The purpose of the Public Services (Social Value) Act 2012 is to assist authorities to improve the 
economic, social and well-being of its area through procurement. Although the act applies to service 
contracts (and those that have an element of goods and works), and not goods or works contracts, 
the council will endeavour to promote social values in council contracts.

As part of its endeavour to promote social values, the council will enable smaller organisations to 
compete for the supply of goods and services, the council aims to keep its procurement processes 
as simple as possible and will:
 Publish details of forthcoming bidding opportunities
 Publish details of all council contracts
 Invite local companies to register an expression of interest in supplying certain services to the 

council, and
 Support businesses by way of explaining requirements and opportunities.

In this regard, the council will comply with anti-competition legislation and no supplier will be given 
an unfair advantage.

It is vital that there is transparency in the process of obtaining quotes, inviting tenders and awarding 
contracts. The council will conduct all procurement activity in a manner that is open and fair.

133



Page 8 of 12

4. Value for money

5. Climate Change emergency

3.7 Community Right to Challenge
The Localism Act 2011 sets out the framework for Community Right to Challenge, which came into 
force on 27 June 2012. The right enables voluntary agencies, community groups, charities, Parish 
and Town Councils and groups of two or more employees to express an interest in delivering 
relevant services on behalf of relevant authorities, and requires the authority to undertake a 
procurement exercise for that service.

The council, as a relevant authority, must consider any expression of interest received and either 
accept, accept with modification or decline it, in accordance with statutory guidance. The council will 
therefore consider each challenge and a case by case basis inline with the statutory guidance.

Through new mechanisms such as the Community Right to Challenge, communities have more 
opportunities to take over activities and to influence how services are provided

The council is committed to achieving value for money and has a continuing obligation to 
demonstrate economy, efficiency, effectiveness of service delivery and that what it procures is the 
most economically advantageous option. Obtaining value for money does not mean that the council 
is obliged to accept the lowest price.

It is essential that the council not only adopts processes to secure best value, but can evidence the 
efficiencies obtained.

In order to achieve value for money the council aims to:
 Minimise administrative processes and unnecessary bureaucracy.
 Treat each procurement activity as an opportunity to achieve best value.
 Utilise collective buying power where appropriate.
 Use competition where appropriate.
 Balance quality, cost and benefit criteria.
 Consider all options in obtaining the most appropriate solution, and

Build continuous improvement and annual efficiency requirements into contracts.

The council has committed to the climate change emergency with a motion to achieve carbon neutrality by 
2030. The procurement strategy will underpin the Council’s climate emergency activities by working with 
partners, communities, external partners and supply chains ensuring the provision of carbon emission data, 
renewable energy, waste management strategies and climate enhancement initiatives via service 
providers.

134



Page 9 of 12

7. Electronic procurement

6. Partnering and collaboration

5.1 Working in partnership
Partnership working has developed over the period of the previous strategy with the council now 
benefiting from a range of shared services and partnering arrangements.

The council is committed to exploring all options in order to provide the quality services required now and in 
the future, and partnering will be considered when engaging in reviews of services as a potential alternative 
to established methods of service delivery.The council will continue to work in partnership, provided there is 
a business case, in order to:
 Share best practice
 Share scarce resources and skills
 Provide training to staff
 Promote collaborative procurement where this could lead to improved value for money, and
 Gather market intelligence.

5.2 Collaboration
Collaborative procurement is one of the benefits that can be derived from partnership working. The 
council supports the concept of public bodies coming together to combine their buying power, to 
procure or commission goods, works or services or to create shared services to produce economies 
of scale and accelerate learning.

The council will therefore actively participate with other authorities and organisations, where 
appropriate and feasible, to seek economies through joint procurement, framework agreements and 
shared services.

The council will seek opportunities for joint commissioning across local statutory bodies in order to 
secure a more efficient use of resources and achieve cross-cutting objectives, focussing on 
understanding what communities need.

6.1 Electronic tendering
In accordance with legislation and the council’s contract rules, electronic procurement is used for all 
tenders above £10,000. Through the use of e-tendering, a reduction in advertising, paper and 
overhead costs for suppliers and buyers is achieved. 

The E-tendering system automatically updates the government Find a Tender Service and E-
tendering is beneficial in unlocking public sector tendering opportunities for small and medium sized 
enterprises (SME), and provides a more secure environment than the traditional hard copy process. 
Wherever possible the council will work with SME to help them move to electronic purchasing. E-
tendering offers a faster more efficient tendering platform for SME.

135



Page 10 of 12

6.2 Electronic purchasing
The electronic marketplace industry has continued to grow over the period of the previous strategy  
and the council continue to increase ordering of goods and services online as well as introduce more 
online transactions. For example; postage and stationery supplies, which account for more individual 
orders than any other goods or services, are ordered and invoiced electronically. Moving forward, 
the council aims to increase electronic purchasing where there are opportunities to do so.

The council uses purchasing cards in relation to low value procurement, allowing the council to 
largely eliminate the use of petty cash. They also produce the added benefit of eliminating the 
processing of invoices. Purchasing cards also increase the level of control above that provided by 
order books.

136



Page 11 of 12

7. Moving forward

8. Relevant Tewkesbury Borough Council documents

6.3 Technology
The introduction of E-tendering portal has streamlined the tendering process allowing access to 
national and international suppliers and the contracts management system that meets the council’s 
transparency obligations. The council will continue to take advantage of the advancement in 
technology in order to eliminate unnecessary cost from the procurement process 

The council aims to develop an ethos of continuous improvement and modernisation throughout all 
areas of procurement within the council and recognises that in order to achieve its procurement 
objectives it will need to build capacity and skills within the council.

7.1 Training and development
Since the previous procurement strategy the council have held a series of training sessions to 
develop the skills of staff engaged in the procurement process in and has developed a procurement 
toolkit, as a guide to best practice, which will remain up to date and accessible.

7.2 Monitoring and performance
The procurement strategy will be reviewed on an annual basis to ensure that it remains up to 
date and relevant and the action plan is being delivered. The procurement officer meets with 
One Legal at regular intervals to review current best practice, legislation updates and to discuss 
future developments to improve the service.

The monitoring of delivery of contracts is a critical factor, and assurance will be provided through 
internal audit to ensure that services are being provided.

 Council Plan
 Contract Rules.
 Financial Procedure Rules.
 Employee Code of Conduct.
 Anti-fraud and Corruption Strategy.
 Risk Management Strategy.
 Equality and Diversity Policy.

137



Page 12 of 12

Appendix 1

 Development Plan 2021 - 2025 

Action Completion date
Achieve procurement savings to support the delivery of the Medium Term
Financial Strategy Ongoing
Consider joint procurement with other councils where possible in
compliance with the strategy Ongoing
Analyse and monitor council spend to proactively determine opportunities
for effective corporate procurement

  Ongoing

Develop opportunities with partners to share skills and resources to enable
effective procurement

Ongoing

React to any changes in procurement regulations Ongoing

Procurement training to be provided for new staff and refresher training for
current staff

Ongoing

Management of contracts training to be given to relevant staff Ongoing
Development and training to be delivered to relevant staff to ensure delivery 
of the procurement strategy

Ongoing

Maintain contract registers to ensure compliance with
transparency requirements

Ongoing

138



TEWKESBURY BOROUGH COUNCIL

Report to: Executive Committee

Date of Meeting: 5 January 2022

Subject: Review of the Council’s Sandbag Policy

Report of: Environmental Health Manager

Corporate Lead: Head of Community Services

Lead Members: Lead Member for Clean and Green Environment.

Number of Appendices: One

Executive Summary:
Tewkesbury Borough Council has a policy which sets out when and where it should issue 
sandbags during a flooding event.  The policy is reviewed periodically and this paper sets out 
that review and proposed changes to the policy.
Officers have reviewed the policy and find it substantially fit for purpose.  The Climate Change 
and Flood Risk Management Group has also considered the policy and agreed the minor 
changes to the policy.
The Council does not have a statutory duty to provide sandbags to the public and it has 
generally been the policy to only supply filled sandbags to vulnerable members of the 
community. Householders and business owners are responsible for protecting their own 
property, but experience has shown that the public expects the Council to help if flooding is 
imminent.

Recommendation:
1. That the Executive Committee APPROVE the policy.
2. That the Head of Community Services be authorised to make minor amendments 

to the policy e.g. adding or removing Parish Councils to the list in the appendix to 
the policy.

Reasons for Recommendation:
In certain circumstances the Council provides sandbags to members of the public during the 
course of flooding events.  The policy provides Officers with a framework which will be applied 
to the supply of sandbags during such events.  The policy also gives clarity to communities, 
businesses and individuals on what to expect from the Council in relation to the provision of 
sandbags.

139

Agenda Item 11



Resource Implications:
None.

Legal Implications:
There is no legal requirement for the Council to provide sandbags or any other specific form of 
assistance in time of an emergency. The Civil Contingencies Act 2004 places a duty on the 
Council to assess, plan and advise during emergencies.  A policy statement on provision of 
sandbags would form a part of the Councils emergency plans formulated in discharge of that 
duty.

Risk Management Implications:
None.

Performance Management Follow-up:
None.

Environmental Implications: 
None.

1.0 INTRODUCTION/BACKGROUND

1.1 The Council has a sandbag policy which is due for a periodic review.  The draft reviewed 
policy is attached to this report as Appendix 1. 

1.2 The Council does not have a statutory duty to provide sandbags to the public and it has 
generally been the policy to only supply filled sandbags to vulnerable members of the 
community. Householders and business owners are responsible for protecting their own 
property, but experience has shown that the public expects the Council to help if flooding 
is imminent.

1.3 Sandbags are often used as a first defence for flooding, but their effectiveness is 
questionable at best. Research by the Environment Agency suggests that at best 
sandbags offer only 40% success in keeping water out (The Pitt Review, 2007).

1.4 Sandbags have a number of disadvantages. Sandbags are very heavy and moving them 
can be an issue for most people, including Council / Ubico operatives.  Sandbags are time 
consuming and labour intensive to make up, deliver and place and there is often not 
enough time to deliver them before a flash flood.

1.5 Filled sandbags will generally only be supplied to vulnerable individuals who have no other 
alternative to protect their property.

1.6 Empty sandbags are more widely available for residents to fill and these will also be 
distributed through certain Parish Councils.

140



2.0 POLICY REVIEW

2.1 The Sandbag Policy has been reviewed and is found on the whole to be fit for purpose.

2.2 There are only two proposed changes to the policy. One is to reduce the number of filled 
sandbags distributed to protect a vulnerable persons property from twelve to six.  The 
reason for this is based on the experience of Officers over recent years and it is felt that six 
sandbags is the correct number to protect a property, although each case is assessed at 
the time of any incident.

2.3 The other change, which was suggested by the Climate Change and Flood Risk 
Management Group, is to add a paragraph on the disposal of sandbags.

3.0 CONSULTATION

3.1 The Climate Change and Flood Risk Management Group has also considered the policy 
and agreed the minor changes to the policy.

4.0 OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED

4.1 None.

5.0 RELEVANT COUNCIL POLICIES/STRATEGIES

5.1 None.

6.0 RELEVANT GOVERNMENT POLICIES 

6.1 None.

7.0 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS (Human/Property)

7.1 None.

8.0 SUSTAINABILITY IMPLICATIONS (Social/Community Safety/Cultural/ Economic/ 
Environment)

8.1 None.

9.0 IMPACT UPON (Value For Money/Equalities/E-Government/Human Rights/Health 
And Safety)

9.1 None.

10.0 RELATED DECISIONS AND ANY OTHER RELEVANT FACTS 

10.1 None.

Background Papers: None.
Contact Officer: Environmental Health Manager Tel: 01684 272175

Email: alastair.low@tewkesbury.gov.uk
Appendices: 1 – Draft Sandbag Policy.

                                               

141



1

Appendix 1
Tewkesbury Borough Council Sandbag Policy

Introduction
This document details the Policy of Tewkesbury Borough Council (TBC) with regards to the 
deployment of sandbags in response to a potential flood event. This policy has been created 
to set clear priorities for the use of sandbags.

The responsibility for protection of private property in the event of a flood lies with individual 
owners and not the Council or any other agency. The Council does however have 
permissive powers in relation to flood defence, and will use those powers where appropriate 
to support local communities in preparing for and dealing with floodwater.

Working with other Organisations
In the event of flooding in the Borough, TBC will work with Gloucestershire County Council 
(GCC) who are the lead local flood authority, the Environment Agency (EA), Town and 
Parish Councils and other agencies and will take a flexible approach to dealing with the 
emergency.

The decision to distribute sandbags in accordance with this policy will be made by TBC’s 
District Emergency Planning Liaison Officer (DEPLO) or deputy DEPLO in consultation with 
senior TBC officers and representatives of Gloucestershire Local Resilience Forum (LRF).  
This decision will consider the risk of internal flooding to properties, based on information 
from the EA, the Met Office and other members of Gloucestershire LRF. 

In deploying sandbags, TBC recognises the importance of working with local communities at 
an increased risk of being affected by flooding. This is because they are best placed to 
ensure that their area is resilient in times of flooding.  They have a wealth of local knowledge 
which means that they are likely to respond quicker in an emergency. To that extent, we will 
work with relevant Parish and Town Councils to encourage them to take responsibility for 
ensuring that there is adequate provision of sandbags within their areas and to ensure they 
understand how sandbags should be stored, filled and stacked.

Priorities for sandbag allocation
This policy recognises the fact that in a major flooding situation, TBC may not be able to 
meet every request for sandbags to support people to protect their property. The deployment 
of sandbags will therefore be decided with regards to the following priorities:

1. To prevent loss of life or serious injury
2. Maintaining access for emergency services
3. Protecting vital facilities within the community
4. Protection of residential property occupied by vulnerable people within the Borough
5. Enable property owners within the Borough to make arrangements to protect their 

own property.

Those distributing sandbags will be advised of the above and will be guided not to provide 
sandbags for other means e.g. protection of a garden or other non-habitable areas of a 
property.

Sandbag Distribution
When a flood event is predicted, free empty sandbags will be available for TBC resident 
householders from the locations shown in Appendix A. This will be at the discretion of TBC 
and in accordance with the priorities within this Policy. Each Parish and Town Council at 
Appendix A will make sure they have adequate supplies of empty sandbags in preparation 

142



2

for a flood event (but not so many that the bags are likely to start degrading).  TBC will 
supply any Town or Parish in a timely way but requests must give consideration to likely high 
demands before a predicted flood event.

As a guide, twelve six sandbags will be sufficient to protect an average household and 
distributors will be encouraged to keep to this number in most cases.

Small quantities of sand to fill the bags will be available to purchase at a reasonable cost 
from the locations shown in Appendix A, subject to availability.  Some of the suppliers may 
also help fill the bags. Otherwise householders will be advised to use other adequate filling 
materials (e.g. soil).

Other sandbag and sand locations (whether temporary or permanent) will be sanctioned by 
the DEPLO or deputy DEPLO dependent on the information from the agencies detailed 
above.  Those locations will be decided in consultation with the local Member / Parish 
Council / Flood Warden as appropriate and will be coordinated with identified local needs 
and response arrangements, and in accordance with priorities in this Policy.

After a sandbag has been used, the householder will be advised to dispose of the sand on 
their garden and dispose of the bag in their general waste bin.

Businesses
Businesses will not be supported with the provision of sandbags and are expected to make 
their own arrangements.

On request, TBC will help guide businesses to identify a potential need for sandbags (or 
other suitable flood defence measures) within Business Continuity Plans and will help them 
to identify potential suppliers of both bags and sand should such an occasion arise.

Very Vulnerable People
We will provide a filled sandbag delivery service on request, and within timescales as 
resources allow to very vulnerable people.  Very vulnerable people are defined as those who 
have made special arrangements with TBC due to difficulties putting out their bin for 
collection. 

Disposal of sandbags
It is the residents responsibility to dispose of sandbags once the flooding event is 
over.  This must be done bearing in mind that viral and bacterial infections may be 
present in flood water due to it mixing with foul sewage.

Communications
Information within this policy and in Appendix A will be communicated to the Parish and 
Town Councils, the EA, GCC and will be posted on the TBC website. It will form part of the 
Gloucestershire LRF Multi-Agency Flood Plan.

During normal office hours, enquiries relating to flooding will be directed to the 
Environmental Health service. Initial advice will be given regarding precautions to be taken 
and the nearest location of sand bags and sand supplies.

If those at risk of flooding are very vulnerable, the council’s contractor will be despatched to 
provide filled sandbags.  

Out of Hours, enquiries to TBC will be picked up by the emergency call centre.  Advice given 
will be as per this policy. However, if a caller requests sandbags and they are very 
vulnerable, they will be asked to establish how they consider themselves to be at immediate 

143



3

serious risk of internal flooding.  The on-duty out-of-hours officer will then judge the risk to 
the householder and make a decision on whether to ask the council’s contractor to make an 
immediate sandbag delivery and will tell the householder what will happen and what to do.

Sandbag collection locations (and other emergency information) will be communicated to 
Members as part of regular member updates during the flood event and through press 
releases, website updates and Twitter / Facebook updates as appropriate.

Residents living in areas at risk of flooding will be advised to visit www.environment-
agency.gov.uk to find out if their home is at risk of flooding and to register with the EA on 
0845 988 1188 for an early warning by telephone.  Other useful numbers are:
Incident Hotline: 0800 807060 (Free phone 24 hour)
Floodline: 0845 988 1188 (24 hour)

At the appropriate time, residents at risk of regular flooding will be advised to find better 
solutions to sandbags for preventing floodwater entering their property, for example 
individual property protection measures or gel-filled sacks for one-off use.

144

http://www.environment-agency.gov.uk/
http://www.environment-agency.gov.uk/


4

APPENDIX A

Information for Householders on Sand Bags and Sand Stores
Tewkesbury Borough Council does not store filled sandbags.  However, a limited number of 
empty sandbags can be obtained for free. In the event of an emergency, you may collect 
them from the following locations:

Parish / Town Collection details No of bags requested
Brockworth Via Brockworth Parish Council 01452 863123 200
Churchdown Gill Blackewell: 01452 859388 Alan Porter: 

07952 909162
None as have own stock

Winchcombe Winchcombe Town Council 01242 604087 50
Down Hatherley Martin Cole: Landline 01452 730295; Mobile 

07761 589102
200

Tewkesbury Town Council: 01684 294639 200
Chaceley Jonathan Hodges 07837 651269 200
Minsterworth Cathy Thomas/Paul Bell 07963 115870 100
Norton Sarah Clifford: 07883 911012 

nortoncouncil@gmail.com...awaiting number
100

Stoke Orchard Richard Chatham: 07802 781588/Community 
Centre 07437 533132

200

Woodmancote Nigel Adcock 07903 880448 200
Twyning Ian Ferguson 07896 714496/Dave Luckett 

07975 639854
100

In addition sandbags can be purchased from your local builders’ merchant or DIY store.

145

mailto:nortoncouncil@gmail.com...awaiting


TEWKESBURY BOROUGH COUNCIL

Report to: Executive Committee

Date of Meeting: 5 January 2022

Subject: Supporting Attendance Policy 

Report of: Head of Corporate Services

Corporate Lead: Chief Executive

Number of Appendices: Two

Executive Summary:
The Council’s Absence Management policy was last written in 2015 and updated in 2018. It is therefore 
due for review. This is the revised policy, renamed ‘Supporting Attendance’.
The policy has been significantly rewritten and split into ‘policy’, ‘guidance’, and ‘toolkit’. 

Recommendation:
1) To APPROVE the revised policy and associated documents.
2) To AGREE that the policy should be reviewed every three years.

Reasons for Recommendation:
The revised policy and associated documents provide a stronger basis for the compassionate but effective 
management of attendance and absence within the Council. 

Resource Implications:
There are no direct resource implications but the revised policy will allow attendance issues to be 
addressed more effectively and efficiently which will ultimately have a positive resource impact.

Legal Implications:
The relevant legal implications have been considered as part of the review of the policy. Having an up-to-
date policy provides the authority with a framework for dealing with attendance issues in a lawful, fair and 
transparent way.

Risk Management Implications:
There is a risk that mismanagement of attendance issues on an individual basis can result in dissatisfied 
and unsupported employees and consequently grievances and ultimately tribunal claims. This policy gives 
a clear framework for effective management of attendance issues, supported by the advice and expertise 
of the HR & OD Team. 
There is a risk that in not having clear and effective policies, supported by management training, that a 
culture of absence develops which then has a detrimental impact on productivity and ultimately the ability 
of the Council to achieve its goals.  

146

Agenda Item 12



Performance Management Follow-up:
1. Revised Supporting Attendance Policy and Guidance to be published by HR & OD Manager on the 

intranet.
2. Sickness absence rates will continue to be monitored daily by the HR & OD team, reporting to the 

relevant Lead Member, to Management Team and also to Overview and Scrutiny Committee on a 
quarterly basis.

Environmental Implications: 
There are none in this report.

1.0 INTRODUCTION/BACKGROUND

1.1 It is critical for the effective operation of any organisation that sickness absence is managed 
effectively. Failure to deal appropriately with sickness absence can result in a wide range of 
negative impacts, from individual grievances and tribunal claims, to wider issues including the 
development of a culture where frequent absence is accepted as the norm, reputational damage 
and reduced capacity impacting the Council’s ability to achieve its goals. On a personal level it 
can also mean that wellbeing issues are not picked up at an early stage and therefore escalate 
into more serious absence and can leave staff feeling unsupported and unvalued.  

1.2 The policy has been substantially revised with the aims of:

 Ensuring the document covers all of the necessary areas.

 Making what is necessarily a lengthy document as clear and user friendly as possible by 
splitting it into policy (broad statements and ‘must do’s), a guidance document (‘how to’ 
guidance) and a toolkit of template letters, flowcharts and reports.

 Softening the language throughout. Within our Council it is also very important that any 
policy reflects our values, in particular that we value our staff. The rewritten policy, 
guidance and toolkit aims to reposition the policy in terms of a culture-appropriate 
supportive approach, whilst also improving the efficacy and speed at which we can 
manage issues around attendance.

 Emphasising the support we give to employees and stressing the importance of the 
informal conversations and return to work conversations in addressing issues before they 
become more significant. 

 Matching the tone of the policy of the culture of the Council, particularly in relation to the 
short term sickness process.

 Streamlining processes and making them more efficient and effective.

 Limiting Member involvement to only cases involving Chief Officers, in line with the revised 
Disciplinary Policy.

Ultimately to provide the mechanism to bring sickness absence levels in the Council down.

2.0 POLICY KEY CHANGES

2.1 Some key elements of the previous policy have been retained: in particular the points at which a 
formal process would be initiated; our ‘attendance triggers’ have remained unchanged. 

147



2.2 As the policy has been rewritten and split, it is not possible to clearly show the changes as tracked 
changes, but the table below details the key changes:

Summary of Change Intended Impact

Split into policy (key principles and 
statements), guidance (more detailed 
information and meeting outlines etc.) and 
have built a toolkit to support consistency 
(letters and report templates).

The policy has been split into policy, guidance 
and toolkit. Supporting Attendance policies are 
usually quite big documents in order to cover 
the different ways in which long term and short 
term absence issues need to be managed, as 
well as the overarching issues and approach 
to key issues where legislation impacts such 
as disability, pregnancy, leave etc. The split 
helps to keep these important documents 
manageable.  
This is intended to streamline the policy 
document whilst also providing additional clear 
guidance and consistency/efficiency of 
process with template letters and reports.

Changed the document title to Supporting 
Attendance rather than Absence Management.

To place a more positive emphasis on 
attendance rather than managing absence.

Included more context about our supportive 
approach to employee wellbeing and softened 
a lot of the language. Words like ‘failure to 
achieve’ and ‘unacceptable’ put managers off 
using the process and don’t fit very well with 
our culture.

Underlines our overall culture as a Council. 
The language softening removes phrases like 
‘failure to achieve’ and ‘unacceptable’ whilst 
still following a process, which is clear for 
employees and managers, reflecting our 
Council culture better and hopefully making it 
feel more appropriate, encouraging managers 
to feel comfortable using it.

The short-term sickness absence formal 
process has reduced to a three-step process, 
from a four-step process.
At the first step there is no longer a formal 
caution. At the second step a ‘final formal 
advice’ (caution) would be given, at the third 
step termination of contract will be an option. 
The existing trigger points will remain.

To make the process timelier and more 
efficient where attendance is a persistent 
issue.
To make the short-term sickness process feel 
more appropriate so that managers are 
encouraged to use it, particularly in terms of 
getting the formal process going. 

Long term sickness absence - an option has 
been added for mutually agreed termination 
(where everyone accepts that an employee 
will not be coming back to work) in place of a 
Final Long Term Sickness Case Review. 

In these cases, someone still needs to legally 
terminate the contract, but this option allows 
the employee to be more actively part of the 
decision and to leave with more dignity and 
less formally than going through a Final Long 
Term Sickness Case Review – it also saves 
manager time as no report is necessary for 
this route.

Return to work after long term sickness 
absence – a new element has been added 
whereby if someone returns from long-term 
sickness and then hits absence triggers again 
within the next 12 months then we would 
manage this from the second step of the short-
term sickness process.

To allow a more effective approach in cases 
with people who have long-term and short-
term absence without ever hitting a formal 
stage.

148



The current policy is silent on issues such as 
IVF, sickness in pregnancy, gender 
reassignment and has more limited 
information on annual leave and sickness, 
which has been addressed in this review.

To ensure the Council’s position is as clear as 
possible on complex and potentially sensitive 
matters.

In the current policy members from the 
Employee Appointments and Disciplinary 
Committee [EADC] would hear appeals 
against all dismissals. 
The new policy provides for Officers managing 
the Supporting Attendance process, except in 
the case of Chief Officers where the EADC will 
needs to be involved.

This makes better use of Member time and 
involvement for only the most senior cases.

An appendix has been added to provide clarity 
around how and when we would agree an 
extension of half and full pay sick pay

Reducing the risks of dissatisfied employees 
who haven’t been granted additional half and 
full pay sick pay by setting clear process and 
criteria.

An appendix has been added to add clarity 
around how we would manage claims for 
injury allowance (a provision set in the Green 
Book which is separate to insurance claims 
and essentially replaces contractual sick pay 
with ‘injury allowance’ payments of the same 
amount where the injury resulting in the 
current absence is wholly as a result of the 
injured employee’s work for the Council)

Provides a framework for managing claims for 
injury allowance and may also deter insurance 
claims.  

3.0 OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED

3.1 It would have been possible to do a less comprehensive review of the existing policy, but this 
would have reduced the potential impact that this policy is able to make. 

4.0 CONSULTATION

4.1 This policy has been consulted on with Management Team, the HR & OD Team and the Council’s 
recognised Trade Unions: GMB and Unison. 

5.0 RELEVANT COUNCIL POLICIES/STRATEGIES

5.1 Equalities and Diversity Policy.
Health and Safety Policy.
Disciplinary Policy.

6.0 RELEVANT GOVERNMENT POLICIES 

6.1 Employee Relations Act.
General Data Protection Regulation.
Equalities Act.
Access to Medical Reports.
Statutory Sick Pay Regulations. 

149



7.0 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS (Human/Property)

7.1 Introduction of this policy should have a positive impact on resources in that it will enable the 
Council to manage attendance both more supportively but also more effectively and efficiently, 
ultimately improving attendance levels. 

8.0 SUSTAINABILITY IMPLICATIONS (Social/Community Safety/Cultural/ Economic/ 
Environment)

8.1 Introduction of this policy supports our social responsibility to be responsive and supportive 
employers to those living with health conditions.  

9.0 IMPACT UPON (Value For Money/Equalities/E-Government/Human Rights/Health And 
Safety)

9.1 Introduction of this policy will support clarity and consistency of approach when managing 
complex equalities issues, such as supporting attendance where a member of staff has a 
disability, or is pregnant. 
Increased efficacy and efficiency in managing unsustainable levels of absence also represents 
better value for money to taxpayers.  

10.0 RELATED DECISIONS AND ANY OTHER RELEVANT FACTS 

10.1 None.

Background Papers: Current Sickness Absence Policy. 
Contact Officer:    HR & OD Manager, Tel: 01684 272239  

Email: eleanor.hutchison@tewkesbury.gov.uk 
Appendices: 1. Draft Supporting Attendance Policy.

2 Draft Supporting Attendance Guidance.

150

../../../../tbcintranet/Site%20Documents/Forms/AllItems.aspx?id=%252Fsites%252Ftbcintranet%252FSite%2520Documents%252FCorporate%2520Services%252FHuman%2520Resources%252FPensions%2520and%2520retirement%252FPension%2520policy%2520statement%2520on%2520discretions%2520including%25202019%2520bandings%252Epdf&parent=%252Fsites%252Ftbcintranet%252FSite%2520Documents%252FCorporate%2520Services%252FHuman%2520Resources%252FPensions%2520and%2520retirement
mailto:eleanor.hutchison@tewkesbury.gov.uk


we put our customers first - we are positive about working with others - we value our employees

1

Appendix 1

Supporting Attendance 
Policy

January 2022

151



we put our customers first - we are positive about working with others - we value our employees

2

Table of Contents
Part 1 – Policy Statements ..........................................................................................................................................4

Policy Statement .....................................................................................................................................................4

Scope.......................................................................................................................................................................4

Policy Principles ......................................................................................................................................................4

Part 2 – General ..........................................................................................................................................................6

Supporting Wellbeing and Attendance...................................................................................................................6

Notifying Absence ...................................................................................................................................................6

Certification of Absence..........................................................................................................................................6

Return to Work Conversations ...............................................................................................................................6

Certification during phased return to work ............................................................................................................7

Maintaining Contact ...............................................................................................................................................7

Secondary roles (paid or unpaid) ............................................................................................................................7

Monitoring Sickness Absence Levels.......................................................................................................................8

Sickness and Pregnancy ..........................................................................................................................................8

Sickness and Disability ............................................................................................................................................8

Sickness and Annual Leave .....................................................................................................................................9

Occupational Health (OH) .......................................................................................................................................9

Payment for Sickness Absence..............................................................................................................................10

Part 3 – Short Term Sickness Absence ......................................................................................................................12

Trigger points ....................................................................................................................................................12

Formal Short Term Sickness Process.................................................................................................................12

Part 4 – Long Term Sickness Absence .......................................................................................................................14

Critical or Terminal Illness.....................................................................................................................................15

Enhanced Sickness Absence Pay ...........................................................................................................................16

Mutually Agreed Termination of Contract............................................................................................................16

Part 5 - Right of Appeal Against Final Formal Advice and Dismissal .........................................................................17

Part 6 – Appendices ..................................................................................................................................................18

Appendix 1 ............................................................................................................................................................18

Summary of Responsibilities.................................................................................................................................18

Managers are expected to: ...............................................................................................................................18

Employees are expected to:..............................................................................................................................18

Terminology used in this Policy ............................................................................................................................20

Enhancement of contractual half or full pay sick pay ...........................................................................................22

Work Related Injury Allowance Process ...............................................................................................................28

152



we put our customers first - we are positive about working with others - we value our employees

3153



we put our customers first - we are positive about working with others - we value our employees

4

Part 1 – Policy Statements 

Policy Statement 

At Tewkesbury Borough Council (‘the council’) we value our staff and are proud of the support we offer to staff 

to maintain and improve their health and wellbeing, and the range of options we offer to support and manage 

colleagues during periods of ill health. Our Wellbeing Zone on the staff intranet acts a point of access for much 

of this support. 

This policy sets out the framework for supporting attendance and managing absence caused by ill health in 

order that the council is able to balance using publicly funded resources responsibly and minimising the impact 

of working days lost, alongside managing those experiencing ill health with compassion and fairness.   

The management of absence will be achieved through:

 Promoting the health, safety and well-being of all employees, including supporting risk assessments to 

identify and manage hazards impacting on health in the workplace.

 Monitoring levels of sickness absence for individuals, sections, and the council.

 Implementing procedures to support and manage staff absence, whilst dealing with unexplained and/or 

high levels of sickness absence,

 Providing clear guidelines and standards to both Managers and staff which can be consistently applied.

Scope

This policy covers absence caused by ill health. The organisation has other policies in place to deal with time off 
work for issues such as medical appointments, maternity leave etc. 

This policy is formulated on the assumption that reported sickness absence is genuine. Only if there is a clear 
indication that the policy may be being abused will use of the Disciplinary Policy apply. 

This policy applies to employees only, (except for those on probation who will be managed through the Probation 
Policy), and does not apply to members, contractors, consultants, agency workers or any self-employed 
individuals working for the council. 

This policy and its associated guidance and toolkit are non-contractual. 

Policy Principles

The following principles apply to the council’s policy and procedures.  They consistently support attendance and 

the effective management of sickness absence:

154

https://tewkesburybc.sharepoint.com/sites/tbcintranet/SitePages/Occupational-health,-counselling-services-%26-first-aiders.aspx


we put our customers first - we are positive about working with others - we value our employees

5

 We accept that everyone experiences ill health from time to time. This policy supports management of 

the impact of health related absence and that absence’s impact on the employee’s ability to fulfil their 

contract with the council.  The focus of this policy is to support attendance in a positive and preventative 

way. 

 Sickness absence will be treated automatically as genuine ill health unless there is a clear indication to 

the contrary. Nevertheless, however genuine the reason for absence, if attendance levels fall below the 

levels set in this policy this will have an impact on the effective running of the service and therefore 

needs to be managed in line with this policy. 

 If there is a clear indication that this policy is being abused, the matter may be dealt with under the 

Disciplinary Policy following consultation with HR. 

 The council invests in the wellbeing of its staff and will operate safe systems in order to reduce as far as 

possible the risk of work being a contributory factor to absence, but if an employee considers that their 

absence may be wholly due to their work with us it can be considered under the processes set out in 

Appendix 4. 

 Sickness absence will be addressed consistently and with respect for confidentiality and in accordance 

with the council’s Equalities and Diversity Policy, Health and Safety Policy, Capability Procedure, 

Disciplinary Procedure and, more broadly, the General Data Protection Regulation and Access to Medical 

Reports Acts.  These policies are available on the intranet or from the Human Resources Section (“HR”) .

 Employees will be supported consistently and the sickness absence procedures will be fairly applied 

across the council

 Managers will be sensitive and supportive to those experiencing the effects of ill health

 Where the council is aware that an individual has an underlying medical condition or disability, as defined 

by the Equality Act 2010, this will be taken into account when applying this policy and its procedures. 

Every effort must be made to support staff in these circumstances and advice should therefore be sought 

from HR and/or Occupational Health 

 Any information relating to concerns about an employee’s health and action taken should be disclosed 

only to those who need to know in order to support the management of the case. Any breaches of 

confidentiality may be dealt with via the disciplinary procedure.

 Open communication between Managers and employees will be encouraged and promoted

 The Supporting Attendance policy and guidance will be monitored and reviewed to ensure that they 

continue to meet the council’s aims and comply with these principles. Staff and trade union 

representatives will be encouraged to be involved in this process

155



we put our customers first - we are positive about working with others - we value our employees

6

Part 2 – General 

Supporting Wellbeing and Attendance 
Tewkesbury Borough Council values our employees. We recognise the holistic nature of wellbeing and how we 

can support employee health and wellbeing. We are proud to offer a wide range of activities to support this 

agenda including: health-related training, publicising health campaigns, offering discounted gym membership 

and free counselling, free flu vaccinations and much more. We seek to support and train managers support 

employees to raise health related issues early to so that we can support their wellbeing and avoid periods of ill 

health where this is possible. However, we also recognise that there may be times where health related absence 

will occur and this policy and the associated guidance sets out how this will be managed by the council. 

Notifying Absence

Employees are required to telephone their manager as soon as they know that they are not fit to attend work on 
their first day of absence. They should keep their manager informed each day of their progress in the case of 
ongoing absence (unless other arrangements are agreed with the manager due to the nature of the illness). 

From the 8th consecutive day of absence (regardless if these have been working days) a GP fit note must be 
presented by the employee and arrangements for future contact between the employee and their manager 
should be established along with any additional supportive measures such as OH involvement. 

Employees are responsible for timely communication and presentation of fit notes. Managers are responsible for 
responding appropriately sensitively to colleagues reporting their sickness absence, and recording the absence 
promptly and following up under this policy. 

Further information regarding notification of absence is available within the Absence Guide Section 2.

Certification of Absence

Every absence has to be certified, either with a self-certification, or for absences over 7 days, with a fit note, to 
ensure prompt and correct payment of contractual statutory sick pay and to ensure that accurate records are 
maintained and that sick pay is not lost.  

It is the employee’s responsibility to submit certification promptly and the manager’s responsibility to record it, 
liaise with HR and contact the employee should any certification be missing. 

Where there is continuing sickness absence the employee must submit to the Manager continuous fit notes to 
cover the whole period of absence with no gaps.  

If an employee returns to work on an agreed phased return the whole period of the phased return, this also must 
be covered by a fit note or notes. 

Misleading or false statements may be dealt with under the council’s disciplinary procedure.

Return to Work Conversations 

156



we put our customers first - we are positive about working with others - we value our employees

7

Upon return to work following sickness absence the Manager should arrange to meet privately with the 
employee, ideally during the first day back of the employee’s return to work to carry out a return-to-work 
conversation, the Manager must record this and complete the Return to Work Conversation Form. If the absence 
has been less than seven consecutive days, no fit note is required and this completes the self-certification 
process.

Return to Work conversations are an important informal part of the management of absence. They should be 
open conversations which help managers and employees share information which if appropriately actioned in 
some cases may then help to avoid further absence. 

Further information about how to conduct Return to Work Conversations is available in the Absence 
Management Guidance document. 

Certification during phased return to work 

A phased return to work is a time limited option (no more than 4 – 6 weeks) to support colleagues returning to 
work after a period of long term sickness. 

If a phased return is agreed and supported by a GP fit note for its duration, any unworked hours during the 
phased return will be recorded as sick pay and paid as such, if any entitlement remains. If preferred by the 
employee some of the phased return hours could be redesignated as annual leave, but this should be balanced 
with the need for the employee to take a proper break for holiday. It is usual for advice to be sought from 
Occupational Health regarding a phased return and any other adjustments which might be required prior to a 
return to work. 

Employees are responsible for obtaining timely fit notes from their GP. The Manager must ensure that 
appropriate and timely fit notes are received from the employee and that certificates are forwarded promptly to 
HR to ensure the employee’s on-going absence is recorded and paid correctly. 

More detail about managing phased returns is available in the Supporting Attendance Guidance document.  

Maintaining Contact

When an employee is absent from work due to sickness it is important that contact is maintained between the 
manager and employee, so that the employee is not left to feel isolated, vulnerable or out of touch and so that 
the manager is aware of the current situation to enable them to make provision for the service. The frequency 
and method of contact should be agreed between the manager and employee. Should there be any issues with 
regular contact, HR should be consulted.

Employees are required to provide contact details so that appropriate and regular contact can be maintained and 
they must expect that such contact will be made during their absence. If acceptable to both parties contact may 
be made outside of the employee’s working hours, but it is expected that during the employee’s normal working 
hours they will be available to attend appointments at the council’s request (ie with their manager, or 
Occupational Health). 

For more detail about keeping in touch consult Section 3 of the Supporting Attendance Guide 

Secondary roles (paid or unpaid) 

157



we put our customers first - we are positive about working with others - we value our employees

8

Employees who have second jobs (including those which are unpaid, such as volunteering roles) may be 
permitted to continue in their second job with the agreement of their Manager and HR, providing that they are 
not undertaking work that is inconsistent with their stated reason for absence. This work should not prolong or 
worsen their absence or impede their recovery.   Employees are required to discuss their individual 
circumstances with their Manager and/or HR to agree the appropriateness of their secondary employment in the 
context of their sickness.  If an abuse of the sickness absence scheme is suspected the matter may be dealt with 
under the Disciplinary Policy. 

Monitoring Sickness Absence Levels

Managers must accurately record all sickness absences on the council’s HR System as soon as it is reported. 

The HR & OD team will provide corporate sickness absence level statistics in order to monitor the success of the 
Supporting Attendance Policy and identify causes for concern. These statistics will not disclose confidential 
information on individual cases.

Each Manager is required to report and manage sickness absence within their section and take further action as 
necessary when the trigger points defined in Section 6 are reached and/or where there are concerns about an 
employee’s absence levels. 

All absence reporting will be done in accordance with the relevant General Data Protection Regulation and the 
Council’s Data Protection policy and will protect individual anonymity.

Sickness and Pregnancy 

Pregnancy-related sickness is defined as any illness that occurs specifically as a result of a woman being pregnant, 
including postnatal depression. All pregnancy-related sickness absence will be recorded in the normal manner 
and a return to work interview should be carried out following any episode of pregnancy related sickness 
absence and support will be offered wherever possible, but will not be counted in relation to triggers. All other 
sickness absence during pregnancy will be dealt with under this policy. Where an employee is to commence 
maternity leave during any part of the formal process, the review period will be suspended. The employee will be 
given time to return to their role following maternity leave before the review period re-commences, this period 
should be up to 4 weeks. 

If an employee is absent from work due to a pregnancy related illness at any time from the beginning of the 4th 
week before the expected date of confinement, this will automatically start the Ordinary Maternity Leave period 
from the day following their first day of absence.

Where an employee is going through IVF fertility treatment, we recognise this can be a difficult and stressful 
time. An employee does not need to inform us that they are going through IVF treatment, but where they do so, 
then a sensitive approach will be taken and wherever possible requests for time off in order to participate in 
fertility procedures will be accommodated. This should be requested as annual leave, unpaid leave or 
accommodated within the flexitime scheme. It should not be recorded as sickness unless the employee is unwell. 
Should the employee become unwell, this should be recorded as sickness, supported by medical or self-
certifications as appropriate and managed under this policy. Once ova have been fertilised and implanted the 
employee will be deemed to be pregnant.  

Sickness and Disability 

The council recognises that many of our staff may live with a disability. We value all of our staff and we recognise 
our duty under the Equality Act to make reasonable adjustments for those with a disability. We will aim to 

158



we put our customers first - we are positive about working with others - we value our employees

9

support people at work so that absence does not become an issue, but if there is an attendance issue which may 
relate to a disability it will be managed via this policy and Occupational Health advice will always be sought. The 
council will consider adjustments and wherever reasonable, will put these in place.  

Sickness and Annual Leave

Employees who become ill during the course of annual leave are eligible to reclaim those days affected as long as 
they have followed the proper reporting procedures from the first day that they wish to reclaim, and provide a 
GP certificate (or documentation deemed equivalent by HR– eg letter from overseas hospital etc) to cover this 
absence from the first date which they would like to reclaim.  

Where an employee is absent owing to sickness on a bank holiday they will receive sick pay as normal, but no 
substitute leave days will be granted for that bank holiday so the hours that would normally have been worked 
will still need to be deducted from their leave total.  

Employees who are absent owing to sickness will continue to accrue annual leave entitlement during the current 
leave year accruing occupational paid leave at their normal rate. 

Employee are able to take annual leave during sickness absence. If an employee wishes to take annual leave 
during their period of sickness absence they should request this in the normal way from their manager. If 
approved, the employee will be recorded as taking annual leave for the period approved. The employee will not 
be required to be available to attend meetings with the council during the period of annual leave. 

If there is any question that a planned holiday may be detrimental to the recovery of the employee, the 
employee may need to provide confirmation from their GP or Occupational Health that taking this annual leave 
will not be detrimental to their recovery. If this is not confirmed, permission for the annual leave may be refused.  

If an employee is not able to take all of their annual leave entitlement because of a period of long-term sickness 
the employee will be entitled to carry over their remaining accrued annual leave in to the next leave year. If it is 
not possible to take any annual leave by the end of the leave year the outstanding statutory annual leave will be 
carried over to the next leave year. If it is deemed that there is sufficient time for the accrued leave to be taken in 
the current leave year it is expected that the leave should be taken before the end of the leave year and 
therefore the ability to carry over any remaining leave will not be an automatic right (excluding the 5 days carry 
over allowed to all staff).

If an employee is on long-term sickness absence and does not return to employment their accrued untaken 
annual leave will be paid in their final salary

Occupational Health (OH) 

The role of the Occupational Health service is to provide advice and guidance to the council and its employees on 
an employee’s ill health or their ability to undertake their duties and what measures can be put in place to 
support the employee, where appropriate. The following points should be noted:

It is a contractual requirement that employees co-operate fully with the council when a medical referral to 
Occupational Health is necessary.  Referrals will normally be recommended by the council, but if an employee 
has not been referred but believes a referral would be beneficial, they should contact their manager initially, and 
if that is not appropriate in the circumstances, they can contact HR directly. 

All referrals should be made via HR.

159



we put our customers first - we are positive about working with others - we value our employees

10

A referral can be made to Occupational Health at any time there is a health related concern, whether the 
employee is currently attending work or not, but will be expected when an employee has been, or is expected to 
be absent for 28 days.  If an employee is signed off with stress, depression or anxiety an immediate referral is 
expected from day one.

HR will complete the Referral Form in consultation with the employee and their manager.  The reason for a 
referral to Occupational Health could be to assess for example: 

 what, if any, steps we might be able to take to facilitate their return to work and/or to support them on 
their return, and 

• if there are any specific underlying health reasons for their frequent or long-term absences from work
• their current state of health in relation to their ability to perform their job
• the likelihood of them being able to resume working in the foreseeable future 
• what action(s) might now reasonably be open to the council regarding their ongoing employment with 
the organisation.

Employees have statutory rights under the Access to Medical Reports Act and this will be explained when a 
referral is made.  The council would not expect employees to waive their statutory rights around access to 
medical records.  Following an appointment, the Occupational Health Practitioner will issue a draft medical 
report to an employee before it is released to the council.  On receipt of the draft medical report the employee 
has 7 consecutive calendar days in which to agree or amend the report. 

Where the employee does not give their consent to the Occupational Health seeking a report from their doctor 
and/or the employee unreasonably refuses to meet with Occupational Health, the implications of this are that 
any decisions regarding the management of the employee’s future employment with the council can only be 
based on the information available. The importance of this therefore should be discussed with the employee and 
confirmed in writing.

In the event that an employee does not to attend an arranged appointment with the Occupational Health 
without prior cancellation and/or discussion with HR and without a good reason for non-attendance, the 
paragraph above will apply.  The council is liable for a cancellation fee for non-attendance, or may have procured 
cover, so the employee would need to be mindful of the costs incurred due to their unauthorised attendance.

Payment for Sickness Absence

Contractual sick pay will be made in the normal monthly salary and will be subject to tax, national insurance and 
other authorised deductions in the usual way.  Adjustments to salary will normally be made one month in 
arrears. 

Employees are entitled to receive sick pay for the following periods: 
During 1st year of service 1 month’s full pay and, after completing 4 months’ service, 2 months’ half pay 
During 2nd year of service 2 months’ full pay and 2 months’ half pay 
During 3rd year of service 4 months’ full pay and 4 months’ half pay 
During 4th and 5th year of service 5 months’ full pay and 5 months’ half pay 
After 5 years’ service 6 months’ full pay and 6 months’ half pay

The maximum payment receivable is normal full salary (subject to length of service/eligibility).  This will include 
any entitlement to Statutory Sick Pay (SSP) with the council element adjusted accordingly.

Payment for sickness absence is not an automatic entitlement and the council may withhold or reclaim 
contractual sick pay, and if the circumstances warrant it, also Statutory Sick Pay, where any of the reporting 
procedures outlined in the Supporting Attendance Policy have not been met, unreasonable refusal to engage in 

160



we put our customers first - we are positive about working with others - we value our employees

11

Occupational Health processes, or in cases of misconduct where the individual is found not to have genuinely 
been sick. Additionally, sick pay may not be paid if the absence is attributable to deliberate conduct prejudicial to 
recovery or the employee’s own misconduct. It may also be withheld or reclaimed if the absence is due to 
participation in professional sport or due to an injury whilst working in their own time for private gain. Appeal 
against suspension or reclamation of sick pay would be to the manager more senior than the manager who made 
the decision to suspend pay and should be in line with the process for appeals against dismissal. 

Where the absence is due to a third party (eg car accident) and a personal injury payout is made, the employee 
will be required to repay the contractual sick pay which had been paid to them in respect of this absence.

Where there is medical evidence that an employee is no longer well enough to fulfil the requirements of their job 
and all suitable alternative employment opportunities have been exhausted, the council reserves the right to 
terminate employment before the expiry of contractual sick pay (as described in paragraph 8.12), in accordance 
with the procedure for dealing with ill health.

An employee returning to work on a phased return will continue to receive occupational and/ statutory sick pay 
until they can work their full contractual hours.  If their entitlement to occupational sick pay ceases they will only 
receive payment for the hours worked and any entitlement to SSP.

Where an employee has several periods of sickness absence, the sick pay entitlement is calculated by deducting 
the total periods of paid absence in the 12 months immediately preceding the first day of the absence from the 
employee’s overall entitlement.

Contractual sick pay will not be paid for cosmetic surgery unless it is deemed necessary on medical grounds by 
Occupational Health or a doctor, or otherwise colleagues are permitted to request annual or unpaid leave. 
Sickness absence due to gender reassignment procedures are not considered to be cosmetic surgery and will 
attract normal contractual sick pay and will be managed under this policy.  

161



we put our customers first - we are positive about working with others - we value our employees

12

Part 3 – Short Term Sickness Absence 

It is accepted that everyone may experience sickness from time to time. This section of the policy sets out how 
short term sickness absence (ie any absence of less than 28 days) will be managed. The emphasis of the process 
will be on identifying issues early and supporting employees via return to work conversations, but where 
attendance issues do not resolve, this policy sets out how they will be managed.  

The council will support employees to return to work when they are well enough to do so and managers will hold 
return to work conversations with returnees to establish how they are feeling now and whether there is any 
need for further support and action.  

Consult Section 5 of the Absence Management Guide for information on return to work conversations. 

Should absence relate to stress, anxiety and/or depression, this will trigger an automatic referral to Occupational 
Health from Day 1 of the absence. Managers should get HR advice in order to progress this. 

Trigger points 

Where an individual’s absence level meets one of the following trigger points, the Manager will arrange an Initial 
Sickness Absence Meeting to review the absence and support with the employee:

 Three or more instances of sickness absence in any 12 month rolling period 
 Ten or more days’ sickness absence within any 12-month rolling period.
 Any other recurring recognisable patterns, such as frequent absenteeism on a particular day of the week 

e.g., Monday and Friday absences, absence preceding or following a Bank Holiday or on a day where a 
request for annual leave has not been authorised, or following a shift on secondary employment.

The trigger points support consistency but are for guidance only and a meeting should be organised wherever 
there are genuine concerns about an employee’s absence levels. If the Manager is unsure they should seek 
advice from HR prior to initiating the Initial Sickness Absence Meeting.

Formal Short Term Sickness Process 

The council will allow employees to be accompanied at meetings by a trade union representative, or a colleague 
throughout the formal Short Term Sickness Process. 

The Short Term Sickness Process will consist of an Initial Sickness Absence Meeting and will progress to a Second 
Sickness Absence Meeting and then a Short Term Sickness Case Review Meeting if needed. It may be that as part 
of the meeting, the manager decides to extend a review period and therefore it may be that there may be two or 
more meetings of the same type of meeting held at different times. The intention of the policy is consider the 
absence with all of the information available and to support the employee to improve attendance to the point 
where it is no longer an issue for the organisation; therefore an option at all three of these meetings will be that 
no further action is required if it is deemed that attendance has reached required levels.  

Each situation will differ and therefore this policy is not prescriptive on the time period. However, there should 
be a minimum period of one calendar month between each formal stage of the Absence Management 
procedures and in most cases of short-term absence it is likely that the target will be set for a three-month 
period, to enable the Manager to assess the situation fully. In all cases, HR will provide advice regarding the 
review period. If absence levels are significantly higher than agreed for targets after a month, it may be 

162



we put our customers first - we are positive about working with others - we value our employees

13

appropriate to progress to the next meeting before the review period has elapsed. This should always be 
discussed with HR. 

The employee will formally be invited in writing to each of the meetings to ensure that they are aware of the 
purpose of the meeting and the possible outcomes. Template letters are available in the Supporting Attendance 
Toolkit. 

The Initial and Second Sickness Absence Meetings can be chaired by the relevant Operational Manager (or 
equivalent), supported by HR. If the Operational Manager is not the manager who has been holding return to 
work conversations, then that manager may also attend the formal meetings in order to provide context and 
information openly regarding discussions and actions to date. 

At each meeting the agenda will include 
• discussing with the employee the absence record, 
• exploring the reasons for absence, 
• having regard for protected characteristics in the Equality Act,
• identifying areas for support, 
• reviewing/updating any risk assessments and any adjustments,
• setting targets for improvement (and at the Second Sickness Absence meeting, advise if a final  

formal advice will be given. 
• clarifying what further action may be taken if improvement targets are not met. 

At the Second Sickness Absence Meeting if absence levels have not met expected targets, a final formal advice in 
respect of absence will normally be given. Only at the Short Term Sickness Case Review Meeting will termination 
of the employee’s contract due to capability be formally considered. 

If, following the end of the review period there has been no absence, the manager may confirm the end of the 
process with the employee and send them a letter to confirm this. 

A template letter is available within the Supporting Attendance Toolkit. 

More detail on holding Short Term Sickness formal meetings is in the Supporting Attendance Guide. 

The Short Term Sickness Case Review Meeting should be chaired by a manager who is more senior than the 
manager who oversaw the Initial and Second Sickness Absence Meetings (usually a Head of Service or equivalent) 
supported by an alternative member of HR wherever possible. A short report regarding the absence to date 
should be put together by the employee’s Operational Manager (or equivalent) for all parties to consider and this 
should be distributed with the letter of invitation to the Short Term Sickness Case Review Meeting. A possible 
outcome of the Short Term Sickness Case Review Meeting is termination of the employee’s contract due to 
capability – ill health. 

Template letters and reports are available in the Absence Management Toolkit.

Meeting outlines and more detail on the procedure for managing short term sickness are in the Supporting 
Attendance Guide. 

163



we put our customers first - we are positive about working with others - we value our employees

14

Part 4 – Long Term Sickness Absence 

Absences over 28 days’ duration are considered long-term. The absence may be planned in cases of surgery or 
may be unexpected.  HR support should be gained from day 28 if an HR advisor is not already supporting the 
case.

The Manager should maintain contact with the employee either by telephone or by meeting with the employee 
on a regular basis at their home or neutral place to keep up to date with progress, identify areas for support and 
determine whether any other actions should be taken. A member of HR may also attend the meeting if 
appropriate. Although not a formal meeting the council will allow a colleague or trade union representative to 
attend these meetings if the employee wishes to provide additional support. 

If acceptable to both parties contact may be made outside of the employee’s working hours, but it is expected 
that during the employee’s normal working hours they will be available to attend appointments at the council’s 
request (ie with their manager, or Occupational Health).

If it is anticipated at the start of the absence that it may continue for more than the 28 day trigger point, HR 
should seek advice from Occupational Health, in accordance with the process for referral. This is a guide only and 
depending on the circumstances an Occupational Health referral may be earlier or later than this trigger. The 
purpose of gaining Occupational Health advice will be to support the organisation and the employee in 
understanding the likely duration of the absence, whether the illness is a disability protected by the Equality Act 
and whether any steps can be taken to help the employee to return to work. Occupational health advice may be 
sought at any time, but will usually be sought to support a return to work after a period of long term sickness. 

Depending upon the advice received from Occupational Health, one or more of the following actions may be 
taken:

 A review period should be set, with further advice obtained from Occupational Health.
 Reasonable adjustments such as changes to the workload, work practices or work pattern may be 

identified, implemented and reviewed.
 Whether it is likely the ill health retirement might be an appropriate option
 Redeployment options may be pursued
 Consideration may be given to a temporary or permanent change of contract if the individual needs can 

be accommodated.

Any actions being contemplated will be discussed and agreement sought with the employee and their 
representative, if applicable, before any formal decisions are made.

An employee returning to work on an agreed period of phased return will be paid normal pay for the hours that 
they actually work; and statutory and/or occupational sick pay will be payable for the remaining contracted 
hours.  The total amount paid cannot exceed normal pay. Arrangements for a phased return to work and 
payment during the phased return will be kept under regular review in consultation with the employee, their 
representative where agreed, HR and with advice from Occupational Health.

Each case of absence will be looked at individually, but as a general guide, a phased return should not normally 
exceed four to six weeks (depending on the nature of the illness and the role).  If it becomes apparent that more 
than this is required then the Manager should discuss the situation with HR, who will support the seeking of 
advice from Occupational Health; one option may be managing the absence through the capability procedure. 
The phased return is with a view to returning to full hours and duties and so should not be prolonged more than 
necessary as the purpose is to support the employee back to work.

164



we put our customers first - we are positive about working with others - we value our employees

15

An employee has the option of taking any accrued annual leave following the four-week phased return period if 
they should wish to continue working on reduced hours and/or changed working pattern.

If, having returned from a period of long term sickness, an employee’s absence hits a trigger in the 12 months 
following their return (including where the employee commences another period of long term absence), the 
Short Term Sickness Process will commence at the Second Sickness Absence Meeting rather than at the Initial 
stage. 

If after all alternative options have been considered and no solution found, then it may be necessary to consider 
the employee’s continuing employment. 

If all alternative options have been considered and no solution found, the employee will be invited to a formal 
Long Term Sickness Case Review Meeting. The timing of this meeting will depend upon the advice from 
Occupational Health about the likelihood of a return to work in the reasonably foreseeable future and the 
circumstances of the case itself, but the council would usually arrange a formal Long Term Sickness Review 
Meeting to align with nil pay, or where Occupational Health have advised that they are unlikely to be able to 
return to work in a reasonable timeframe. Where there is medical evidence that an employee is no longer well 
enough to fulfil the requirements of their job and all suitable alternative employment opportunities have been 
exhausted, the council reserves the right to terminate employment before the expiry of contractual sick pay at a 
formal Long Term Sickness Review Meeting. 

The chair at the Case Review Hearing will be an Operations Manager or more senior (whoever is more senior to 
the manager who has been managing the employee’s absence to date). They will be accompanied by a 
Representative from HR.

An employee may be represented by a trade union representative or accompanied by a colleague.

The employee will be given at least 7 consecutive calendar days written notice of the intention to hold a Case 
Review Hearing and they will also receive a report, written by their manager detailing the current situation and 
absence history for consideration at the formal Long Term Sickness Review Meeting. 

A letter confirming the outcome of the formal Long Term Sickness Review Meeting will be sent to the employee 
within 7 calendar days of the meeting (unless otherwise agreed between the parties). 

If a decision is made to terminate the employee’s contract on the grounds of capability – ill health at the formal 
Long Term Sickness Review Meeting then the right of appeal will also apply. Appeals must be submitted within 14 
calendar days of the date of the letter confirming the outcome of the Long Term Sickness Review Meeting. 

Template letters and reports are available in the Absence Management Toolkit. 

Meeting outlines and more detail on the procedure for managing long term sickness are in the Absence 
Management Guide. 

Critical or Terminal Illness

In sad circumstances where an employee is diagnosed with a critical or terminal illness a sensitive approach will 
be taken at all times and the long-term absence procedure will be applied. 

The council offers an independent counselling service should an employee feel that they need additional 
assistance during a critical or terminal illness. Information about counselling and how to access it is available on 
the Wellbeing Zone of the intranet. 

165

https://tewkesburybc.sharepoint.com/sites/tbcintranet/SitePages/Occupational-health,-counselling-services-%26-first-aiders.aspx


we put our customers first - we are positive about working with others - we value our employees

16

If an employee wishes and is able to carry on working during their treatment, then reasonable adjustments such 
as flexible working options should be explored and accommodate where it is practically possible.  

The employees pay and benefits will be maintained in line with the Supporting Attendance policy and 
entitlements under their contract of employment.  

Should an employee be unable to return to work a case review hearing may be held and consideration to 
allowing a family member to attend would be given.  Support from Occupational Health, HR, the employee’s 
doctor and/or Manager may indicate the option to consider ill health retirement.

Enhanced Sickness Absence Pay

In limited circumstances, where eligible employees are due to reduce to half or nil pay sick pay, the Corporate 
Leadership Team may authorise an extension to the contractual sick pay entitlements. Eligibility for applications 
for this enhancement is limited to situations set out in Appendix 3. Authorisation is at the Corporate Leadership 
Team’s discretion and is not a contractual entitlement. 

Mutually Agreed Termination of Contract 

On occasion it may be recognised by all parties that a return to employment will not be possible or the employee 
does not have the ability to sustain an acceptable level of attendance. In these circumstances it is possible to 
come to a mutual agreement whereby an employee’s employment with the council is ended without the need 
for the formal process. 

Where the employee shares the manager’s view that all alternative options have been explored, the line 
manager, a HR representative, the employee and their trade union representative/supporting colleague should 
meet to discuss cessation of employment. The decision to terminate employment will then be confirmed in 
writing to the employee. The employee will still automatically be given the right of appeal against the final 
decision. 

The employee will be given notice by the council that their employment is to be ended. Notice will be based on 
the contractual notice the council is required to give the employee. Any notice pay due will be paid in lieu.

Although a meeting to mutually agree a termination of contract may be held with a less senior manager, any 
decision to terminate employment through mutual agreement must be approved by the relevant senior manager 
(at least Operational Manager level or equivalent) prior to the decision being agreed by all parties. 

166



we put our customers first - we are positive about working with others - we value our employees

17

Part 5 - Right of Appeal Against Final Formal Advice and Dismissal

Where decisions are made to terminate employment on the grounds of ill health, or where a final formal advice 
is given, the employee has the right of appeal.

In order to exercise this right, the employee must write to the HR & OD Manager within 14 consecutive calendar 
days of receipt of the written notice of termination of employment or final formal advice. In their letter, the 
employee must state their grounds of appeal.

Appeals made by Chief Officers will be made in writing to the Monitoring Officer for the Appeal to be considered 
by the Employee Appeals Committee.

The council will arrange for the appeal to be held as soon as possible following receipt of the employee’s letter of 
appeal.

A trade union representative or other colleague may accompany the employee at the appeal hearing.

The Appeal Panel will not be made up with any manager involved in any previous investigation or decision.

A representative from HR will support and advise the Appeal Hearing and, where appropriate, will be a different 
HR representative than previously involved.  Where it is not practicable to have an alternative HR representative, 
they will advise on process and provide technical advice to the Chair.  

During the appeal hearing, both the council and the employee will have the opportunity to state their case and 
provide any documentary evidence.

The Chair of the Appeal Hearing will communicate their decision in writing, within 7 consecutive calendar days of 
holding the appeal.

The decision of the Chair (or Employee Appeals Committee in the case of a Chief Officer) is final.

167



we put our customers first - we are positive about working with others - we value our employees

18

Part 6 – Appendices

Appendix 1 

Summary of Responsibilities
Managers are expected to:

 Support their employee’s health, safety and well-being
 Have due regard for the Equality Act and provisions
 Apply a fair, consistent and supportive approach to all employees at all times
 Ensure that absence is promptly recorded on the HR System and reported in line with the Supporting 

Attendance Policy.
 Ensure that medical certificates are obtained where required.
 Ensure that where an employee believes that the reason for their absence is as a result of an accident or 

incident at work (including work related stress), an IR1 Accident/Incident Report form is completed and 
submitted to the Environmental Health team with copies to the appropriate officers as indicated on the 
form. Appendix 4 contains more information. 

 Ensure that absence records are maintained in a confidential manner.
 Ensure that information regarding an employee’s sickness is treated in line with the General Data 

Protection Regulation and the Council’s Data Protection policy. 
 Maintain regular contact with employee’s during periods of absence. This may be by letter, telephone or 

a personal home or face to face visit.
 Monitor sickness absence levels and take action as necessary, when trigger points are reached, or when 

absence levels raise concern, in line with this policy and in a consistent and fair manner.
 Conduct return to work interviews when the employee returns after each and every period of absence 

even if the reason is the same.  Complete return to work interview form and submit to HR.
 Set realistic improvement targets and regularly review progress of staff towards individual targets.
 Liaise with HR, the Health and Safety Adviser and their own line manager as appropriate for advice or 

guidance on specific issues.
 Accept, review and query where appropriate, advice from the Occupational Health service or other 

specialists and ensure that such advice is acted upon in a timely manner. 

Employees are expected to:
 Do everything possible to maintain their health and well-being to support their ability to work
 Attend work unless unfit to do so. 
 Raise concerns with their manager or HR if they believe that their job is making them ill or contributing to 

illness. 
 Report sickness absences promptly, in accordance with the sickness absence procedure.
 Ensure that the appropriate certifications are completed, in accordance with the procedure.
 Initiate and maintain contact with their manager during periods of sickness. 
 Communicate effectively with their manager about their sickness absence, or with their next level 

manager or member of HR, if they feel unable to discuss their sickness with their own manager.
 Co-operate fully with the Occupational Health service and any other organisations that provides support 

to the council and its employees. 
 Ensure that medical advice and treatment, where appropriate, is received and acted upon as quickly as 

possible to facilitate a return to work. 
 Not abuse the sickness absence procedures or sick pay scheme.

To support this policy, the following services are available to managers and employees:

168



we put our customers first - we are positive about working with others - we value our employees

19

 HR – to provide support and guidance to managers and employees in dealing with sickness absence and 
ill health and in the use of the council’s related policies and procedures. The section also acts as a referral 
to the other services. 

 Occupational Health services – to provide advice and guidance on the impact of ill health on work and 
any steps the council and/or employee should take. 

 Counselling service – to provide a confidential service for employees to discuss problems related to 
either work or personal circumstances, where they are affecting an employee’s performance at work.  
The details are on the intranet or from HR.

 Trade Unions – work with their members and the management of the council on sickness absence issues. 

169



we put our customers first - we are positive about working with others - we value our employees

20

Appendix 2
Terminology used in this Policy

Manager

Wherever the word “Manager” is used, this refers to the line manager. However, where managers are assigned a 

specific responsibility in this policy, this is to underline to the employee the concern of the council and the 

importance it places on reducing absence. 

Human Resources (HR)

Will support the safe and fair management of the absence process

Occupational Health (“OH”)

To provide professional medical advice to managers and employees and ensure the fairness of the Access to 

Medical records

Personal File

Where reference is made to the employee’s personal file, this is the personal file held within HR.

Fit Note

Medical Certificate to be submitted after 7 continuous days’ absence. 

At the end of a period of absence, the employees’ fit note may state that they are ‘fit to work’. The fit note is 

intended to encourage a supportive dialogue between the employer, employee and doctor.  The doctor is able to 

state that the person “may be fit for some work now”, with their reasons and advice of a general nature.  The 

doctor is able to advise that the employee may benefit from:

 phased return

 altered hours

 amended duties

 workplace adaptations

In such cases, consideration should be given as to what duties the employee is able to do. If there are no suitable 

alternative duties, the employee will continue to be considered unfit for work and there will be a requirement for 

a new fit note to be issued. The fit note defaults to a sick note. 

Protected Characteristic

170



we put our customers first - we are positive about working with others - we value our employees

21

In accordance with the Equality Act 2010, the protected characteristics are age, disability, gender reassignment, 

marriage/civil partnership, pregnancy/maternity, religion/belief, race, sex, sexual orientation

Colleague

When referring to a colleague who can attend formal meetings, this means an employee of the council

171



we put our customers first - we are positive about working with others - we value our employees

22

Appendix 3 

Enhancement of contractual half or full pay sick pay

The council sick pay scheme is generous and allows for up to 6 months full pay and 6 months half pay, dependent 
on service. This level of contractual sick pay supports council employees with periods of ill health whilst also 
being responsible with our financial resources. Clarity and transparency around contractual sick pay is important 
to ensure equity of entitlement, avoid disappointment and to ensure that everyone feels they are treated fairly. 
Clarity also allows employees who are absent from work to plan for the change in their finances and to be clear in 
their expectations when other aspects of their life may be uncertain. 

Nevertheless there may be extra - ordinary occasions where the council considers it appropriate to apply an 
exception to the contractual entitlements and enhance half or nil pay sick pay to full pay. Any enhancements 
must follow the following principles: 

 The option to apply for enhancement of sick pay is available to all employees of the council who are 
entitled to contractual sick pay and will be notified to everyone approaching either half or nil pay by HR.

 Applications for enhancement must be made by the member of staff off sick or their next of kin if the 
member of staff is incapacitated. 

 All eligible applications will be considered and responded to, regardless of the reason for absence. 

Eligibility to apply for an enhancement to sick pay

 The application must be made under one of the following categories
o Where investigation demonstrates that the only reason for continuing absence is that the council 

have not within a reasonable timeframe put in place reasonable adjustments recommended by 
Occupational Health which would allow a full return to work  

o Where the council has received medical advice that the employee’s illness is terminal and the 
employee (or their next of kin) have demonstrated that a drop in pay would cause financial 
hardship.

 The member of staff must be eligible for contractual sick pay
 The member of staff must be due to move to half pay or nil pay sick pay
 The member of staff must confirm that they are not eligible to receive moneys equivalent to, or greater 

than the salary reduction from sickness, life or other insurances in respect of their sickness/absence from 
work. 

Sick Pay Enhancement Process

1. All employees approaching a drop in contractual sick pay will receive a letter informing them of the 
reduction, and including information on this policy. 

2. All applications received will be reviewed by HR and any additional information will be requested from 
the employee and/or from other sources as necessary. 

3. The complete application and any supporting documents will be reviewed by the Corporate Leadership 
Team with the assistance of the HR & OD Manager, or a member of the HR & OD Team. 

4. The Corporate Leadership Team will make a final decision on whether the application is eligible and 
whether is agreed. If not they will confirm why the application is not eligible. 

5. There is no right of appeal against this decision. 
6. The HR & OD Team will relay the decision of CLT to the employee, and to payroll if necessary. 

172



we put our customers first - we are positive about working with others - we value our employees

23

Limits to enhancements

Payments may not exceed average pay in the 12 months previous to the start of sick leave.  

173



we put our customers first - we are positive about working with others - we value our employees

24

Application for enhancement of contractual sick pay

Before completing this application, please ensure you have read the accompanying policy to understand the 
eligible reasons for applying for enhanced sick pay. If you intend to make an application please do so in a 
timely way and recognize that the council may need to investigate further before enhancements could be 
applied to your pay and therefore it is advisable to give as much information and time to consider it as 
possible. 

Name

Start of absence 

Date due to move to half pay / nil pay (delete 
as appropriate): 

☐ Please cross this box to confirm that you are not eligible to receive moneys equivalent to, or 
greater than the salary reduction, from private health insurance, life insurance or other insurances in 
respect of this sickness/absence from work

Please indicate below which category you wish to make an application under

☐ Category 1: The only reason for continuing absence is that the council have not within a 
reasonable timeframe put in place reasonable adjustments recommended by Occupational 
Health which would allow a full return to work (please attach any supporting documentation)

☐ Category 2: I have received medical advice that my condition is terminal and I believe the 
reduction in contractual pay will result in financial hardship (please attach any supporting 
documentation) 

For how long are you requesting an enhancement to your contractual sick pay? 

174



we put our customers first - we are positive about working with others - we value our employees

25

Please return this document, along with any supporting documents to humanresources@tewkesbury.gov.uk 

HR notes

Yes No

1

Is the applicant eligible for contractual sick pay and due to move to half or nil pay? ☐ ☐

2 According to the information provided, the applicant will not be due to receive 
moneys equivalent to, or greater than the salary reduction, from private health 
insurance, life insurance or other insurances in respect of this sickness/absence 
from work

☐ ☐

If the response to either 1 or 2 is ‘No’ then the application cannot be recommended for approval and 
this will be communicated to the employee via HR and will not be submitted to CLT

Please provide supporting information here to explain the reason for the application and any points 
you believe will be important to the decision making. You should attach any  documents in support of 
your application (eg this might include medical letters, documents evidencing the circumstances you 
refer to, relevant letters from your manager etc). As part of the process you may be asked for further 
information to enable consistent decision making to take place. 

175

mailto:humanresources@tewkesbury.gov.uk


we put our customers first - we are positive about working with others - we value our employees

26

Is the application potentially eligible under Category 1 or 2 and has supporting 
information been appended (if not, then this needs to be fed back to the 
employee) 

☐ ☐

Is the HR recommendation that the application is eligible for consideration? ☐ ☐

 

Corporate Leadership Team – Supporting Decision Table

Application under Category 1 (the 
employee could not return to 
work because the council has not 
made adjustments) 

Yes No Application under Category 2 (the 
employee’s illness is terminal and 
reduction in pay would cause 
hardship) 

Yes No

Received OH report / fit note with 
date clearly stating the required 
adjustments 

☐ ☐ Received medical advice regarding a 
terminal diagnosis. 

☐ ☐

Received statement from the 
manager/HR regarding the 
adjustments and dates / reasons 
they have not been made.  

☐ ☐ Received sufficient assurance from 
the employee that the drop in pay 
would cause hardship

☐ ☐

Is it the view of the Corporate 
Leadership Team that reasonable 
adjustments were not put in place 
within a reasonable timeframe 
which may have enabled the 
employee to return to work?

☐ ☐ Is it the view of the Corporate 
Leadership Team that it would be 
reasonable in all of the circumstances 
for an extension to be paid?

☐ ☐

Date of consideration:  

Decision 

☐Enhance half pay to full pay until : 

☐Enhance nil pay to full pay until : 

☐Application not approved

176



we put our customers first - we are positive about working with others - we value our employees

27

Rationale for decision

177



we put our customers first - we are positive about working with others - we value our employees

28

Appendix 4

Work Related Injury Allowance Process

Tewkesbury Borough Council is committed to the wellbeing of all its employees and seeks to ensure so far as is 
reasonably practicable that the risks of being involved in an accident or sustaining an injury at work are 
minimised. 

Where the employee raises the possibility that their sickness absence is due to a work-related injury and requests 
injury allowance, this process must be followed. 

For the purposes of this policy, a work-related injury is where: An employee becomes incapacitated for work by 
reason of an accident, injury or industrial disease sustained in the course of their duties with Tewkesbury 
Borough Council (and not being wholly or mainly due or seriously aggravated by the employee’s own serious and 
culpable negligence or misconduct). 

Injury Allowances: Where it is determined that an employee has sustained an injury/illness on duty the Council 
shall pay the employee an injury allowance, which is the equivalent of full pay after any deductions allowable 
under the sickness scheme (i.e. for SSP/Incapacity Benefit). Entitlements are based on length of service and 
mirror the sick pay entitlements set out within this policy. Injury Allowance has the practical effect of protecting 
the employee’s contractual sick pay entitlement where they are absent from work following a work-related 
accident, injury or industrial disease.

Any deductions will cease if the employee becomes subject to a notice period. Payment of the allowance will not 
impact on normal Occupational Sick Pay entitlements and will not be affected if normal Occupational Sick Pay has 
been paid in the previous twelve months (ie injury allowance payments will be entirely separate from 
Occupational Sick Pay payments). 

Any acceptance by the Council that the injury is work related does not indicate an acceptance of liability.
The Head of Finance & Asset Management will carry out an independent assessment, based on an assessments 
of the facts, not covered by this appendix. 

Reporting of Injury / Accident / Industrial Disease 

Employees must notify their designated managers of all details of any accident, injury or industrial disease on 
duty at the earliest possible opportunity but at least within 72 hours. Where an employee is incapacitated and 
not able to report personally, someone on his or her behalf can notify the employee’s manager (e.g. next of kin, 
colleague, friend or relative). Whoever makes the report, should provide as much information as they possibly 
can to enable the manager to record all the details of the accident, injury or industrial disease. Delay in reporting 
the incident without reasonable cause may result in the claim for Injury Allowance to be disqualified. 

Where an accident, injury or industrial disease leads to sickness absence, employees must follow the Council’s 
Sickness Absence Reporting Procedures. Employees may be required to participate in any necessary medical 
examinations as required by the Council. 

The employee’s manager must ensure that employees complete reports of all accidents, injuries or industrial 
diseases on the IR1 Accident/Incident Report form. Where an employee is unable to complete the relevant form 
or requires some assistance, the manager should either complete the relevant form on the employee’s behalf, or 
assist the employee to complete it. 

178



we put our customers first - we are positive about working with others - we value our employees

29

The circumstances on the IR1 form will be investigated as set out in the Accident and Incident Reporting Policy 
and the IR2 Investigation Report form will be completed as set out in that policy. 

HR & OD will collate a pack of information to be assessed by the Head of Finance and Asset Management 
including 

 IR1 form (and any appendices)
 IR2 form (and any appendices including interviews with the employee and any relevant witnesses) 
 Occupational Health report (and any other relevant medical reports) 
 The employee’s job description / person specification
 Any relevant training records
 Any relevant risk assessments or evidence of discussions where risks have been previously raised
 Information about any other relevant IR1 forms raised for this issue
 Any other information relevant to the case

Decision Making

The Head of Finance & Asset Management will assess the pack and make a decision in consultation with the 
employing Head of Service, taking into account whether the employee’s injury claim is wholly work-related and 
an injury allowance is payable. 

The Head of Finance & Asset Management will be supported by the HR & OD team to send written confirmation 
of the decision to the employee within ten working days of the decision. Where the handling of a claim would be 
compromised by the need to comply with the timescale and in the event more time is needed, the timescale may 
be extended. In this case, the employee will be informed in writing and given the reasons for the extension. An 
employee will not be informed about whether they qualify for an industrial injury allowance until the 
investigation and assessment has been completed. 

Payment of sick pay under the Sickness Payment Scheme, if eligible, will be payable in the interim to ensure 
uninterrupted salary payments. 

Injury Allowance

If it is decided that Injury Allowance is payable, the HR & OD team will ensure that Payroll is informed.

In accordance with the National Joint Council for Local Government Services National Agreement on Pay and 
Conditions of Service (the Green Book) sickness absence though industrial disease, accident or assault arising out 
of or in the course of employment is entirely separate. The period of absence in respect of one shall not be offset 
against the other for the purpose of calculating entitlements under the sickness absence payment scheme. 

If it has been determined that the employee is unfit as a result of an injury/illness sustained in the course of 
his/her duties they will receive the equivalent of full pay after any deductions allowable under the sickness 
scheme (i.e. in the case of full pay periods sick pay will be an amount which when added to Statutory Sick Pay 
and Incapacity Benefit receivable will secure the equivalent of normal pay, Local Government Services, National 
Conditions of Service, the Green Book, part 2, paragraph 10.5). Any deductions will cease if the employee 
becomes subject to a notice period. 

The employing Head of Service keep the case under review, with the support of the HR & OD team and in 
particular should there be a change in circumstances. The injury allowance is no longer payable if an employee’s 
employment with Tewkesbury Borough Council ceases. 

179



we put our customers first - we are positive about working with others - we value our employees

30

Appeal 

If an employee is not satisfied with the decision on their entitlement to an injury allowance they may appeal in 
line with the appeals section of this policy and the appeal will be considered by the Chief Executive, or their 
nominee. There is no appeal against the amount of payment the employee may be entitled to. 

Relationship with Managing Sickness Absence

All periods of sickness absence including work related injuries should be managed in line with the Council’s 
Supporting Attendance Policy and Guidance for Managers. The aim of any sickness absence review discussion will 
vary to address the requirements of the specific case and should focus on the need to support the employee on 
achieving a return to work, where possible. 

Relationship with Disciplinary Policy

The Council will not tolerate any acts of dishonesty, fraudulent claims, serious/gross negligence, misconduct 
and/or a serious breach of health and safety rules. These acts will be regarded as acts of gross misconduct and 
will be considered under the Council's Disciplinary Policy, which may result in the employee's possible dismissal.

180



we put our customers first - we are positive about working with others - we value our employees

1

Appendix 2

Supporting Attendance

Guidance
January 2022

181



we put our customers first - we are positive about working with others - we value our employees

2

182



we put our customers first - we are positive about working with others - we value our employees

3

Supporting Attendance Guide

Contents
................................................................................................................................................................1

Supporting Attendance Guide ................................................................................................................2

1. Introduction ................................................................................................................................3

2. Reporting ....................................................................................................................................3

3. Paperwork and recording ...........................................................................................................3

4. Occupational Health ...................................................................................................................4

5. Short Term Sickness – How to Manage a Return to Work Conversation ...................................4

Short Term Sickness – Managing the Procedure Step by Step ...........................................................5

Step 1: Invitation to Initial Sickness Absence Meeting ...................................................................5

Step 2: The Initial Sickness Absence Meeting.................................................................................5

No further action ............................................................................................................................7

Review Periods ...............................................................................................................................7

Step 3: Invitation to Second Sickness Absence Meeting ....................................................................8

Step 4: Second Sickness Absence Meeting .........................................................................................8

Step 5: Invitation to Short Term Sickness Absence Case Review Meeting .........................................9

6. Long Term Absence ..................................................................................................................10

How to keep in touch ...................................................................................................................10

Long Term Sickness Review Meetings ..........................................................................................11

Long Term Sickness Case Review Meeting ...................................................................................12

183



we put our customers first - we are positive about working with others - we value our employees

4

1. Introduction

This Guide should be read in conjunction with the Supporting Attendance Policy. It seeks to provide 
more detail and guidance than necessary in a policy document, but which may be useful to 
managers in managing absence in their teams. 

2. Reporting

For service delivery to be maintained and to provide a duty of care, it is essential for Managers to 
know as soon as possible when an employee is unable to attend work due to illness. Non-attendance 
at work at an expected time without notification is likely to cause concern for the employee’s 
wellbeing and following consultation with HR, emergency contacts may be contacted to ensure the 
employee is safe.

Absence without contact may be treated as  “unauthorised absence” and addressed accordingly.

Employees are required to notify their manager as soon as they know that they are not fit to attend 
work on their first day of absence, and should keep their manager informed each day of their 
progress in the case of ongoing absence (unless other arrangements are agreed with the manager 
due to the nature of the illness). 

An employee must not contact their Manager by text, email or via a colleague, unless there are 
exceptional circumstances.  This could include if the employee is hospitalised and is unable to 
telephone in person; only then arrangements for someone else to telephone on their behalf. The 
employee must make direct contact with their Manager as soon as possible thereafter. 

Should the Manager be unavailable, the employee should report their absence to either their 
Manager’s nominated representative or another senior officer within their section.  It may be helpful 
to agree amongst teams in advance, who this would be. 

3. Paperwork and recording
The employee must provide the Manager with details of their illness or injury, their anticipated 
length of absence and any work commitments that need organising. In almost all circumstances the 
appropriate person to inform about illness will be the employee’s manager. However, there may be 
exceptional circumstances where this is not appropriate (eg due to the nature of the illness and 
cultural sensitivities) and if an employee feels this is the case, they should inform HR who will have a 
discussion with the employee and determine the best way forward with the employee, balancing the 
sensitivities and requirements for confidentiality around health issues, with the need for consistency 
and effective management. 

If the employee believes that their absence may have been caused by something that happened at 
work, they should inform the Manager of this immediately who will arrange for an IR1 
Accident/Incident Report Form to be completed (available on the intranet here), if they haven’t 

184



we put our customers first - we are positive about working with others - we value our employees

5

already done so. The Accident Report Form should be sent to the Environmental Health team as 
soon as possible, with copies to the appropriate officers as indicated on the form. 

The Manager receiving the call or contact, must record the absence details onto the HR System 
immediately.

4. Occupational Health 

The purpose of the assessment is to provide clear, impartial, professional, OH advice to the council 
and the employee. The assessment is conducted by telephone or a face-to-face consultation with 
Healthcare RM.

The benefit of attending the assessment is that it gives employees the opportunity to discuss their 
medical history, with an Occupational Health professional, and how it impacts on their work. The 
Occupational Health professional can review all the circumstances relating to the referral, thereby 
providing the council and the employee with fair and objective advice about their health and work, 
both in the short and longer term.

The report will deal with the functional work issues rather than the clinical (medical) issues. By 
functional it is meant what an employee can or cannot do at work and over what timescales. 
Employees can be reassured that the highly confidential clinical (medical) aspects can remain strictly 
between them and Occupational Health.

All reports from Occupational Health will be made to HR and will be treated in confidence. On 
receipt of the report, HR will provide a copy of the report to the Manager who has a direct 
involvement in dealing with the sickness absence emphasising the need for confidentiality.

5. Short Term Sickness – How to Manage a Return to Work Conversation

Upon return to work following sickness absence the Manager should arrange to have a private 
conversation with the employee, ideally during the first day back of the employee’s return to work. 

The purpose will be to 

• welcome the employee back to work, 

• ensure that there is an accurate record of the absence,

• discuss the reasons for the absence and current record of attendance, appropriate 
certification, and whether a referral to Occupational Health is appropriate. 

• explore if any adjustments or support may be needed 

• update the employee on work issues

• advise the employee that they will be invited to a Initial / Second / Case Review sickness 
absence meeting if this is appropriate (ie if a short term sickness trigger has been hit) 

185



we put our customers first - we are positive about working with others - we value our employees

6

If the absence is work related which has resulted in the employee being unable to perform their full 
range of their normal duties, the Manager should ensure that an Accident /Incident form has been 
submitted to the Health and Safety Adviser and copied to the appropriate officers as indicated on 
the form. 

An accurate, agreed record of the meeting should be entered onto the council’s Return to Work 
meeting form.  Managers should forward this record to HR, with a copy given to the employee.

In the case of an employee returning to work following a lengthy absence and/or on a phased return 
to work basis this return to work conversation process will be replaced by the ongoing conversations 
regarding the employee’s return to work under the long term sickness absence process and may also 
include a back to work induction if appropriate. The HR team will support managers with these 
planned returns. 

Short Term Sickness – Managing the Procedure Step by Step 

Step 1: Invitation to Initial Sickness Absence Meeting 
On the employee reaching a trigger point, the employee's line manager will invite them in writing to 
an Initial Sickness Absence Meeting. 

The written invitation to the Initial Sickness Absence Meeting should give the employee at least 7 
calendar days' notice of the meeting, enclose their sickness absence record and any relevant letters 
(eg from Occupational Health).  The letter should advise the employee who will be present and that 
the employee can be accompanied by a colleague or trade union official.

The letter should explain to the employee that the purpose of the meeting is to review their 
attendance level.

The letter should advise the employee that a possible outcome of the meeting is that a review 
period may be set. A template letter is available in the Supporting Attendance Toolkit. 

Step 2: The Initial Sickness Absence Meeting

A trade union representative or a colleague may accompany the employee and advice from HR can 
be sought.

Where an employee’s absence meets a trigger, a Sickness Absence Initial Meeting should be 
conducted to consider all of the circumstances surrounding the absence (including any which are 
protected characteristics under the Equality Act), look at any support which could be offered, set 
targets for improvement and give a final formal advice where appropriate. 

The meeting outline will usually follow the below structure: 

Welcome to the employee 

Introductions if necessary

186



we put our customers first - we are positive about working with others - we value our employees

7

Manager to outline the purpose of the meeting to consider all of the circumstances 
surrounding the absence (including any which are protected characteristics under the 
Equality Act), look at any support which could be offered and set targets for improvement. 
Stress that this process is about supporting attendance and that we accept that absence is 
genuine. 

Share the absence record and discuss these episodes and the reasons for absence with the 
employee, particularly considering whether the absence is due to a protected characteristic 
under the Equality Act (eg disability etc) 

Discuss whether there are any areas where the employee could make changes to positively 
impact on their health and attendance. Discuss whether there are any areas where the 
council could make changes to support the employee in positively impacting on their health 
and attendance. 

Discuss whether OH referral might be of benefit, or if advice has already been sought, 
discuss the report. Adjustments which might be recommended by OH include changes to the 
workload, work practices or work pattern or the possibility of redeployment. 

Explain that this is the Initial meeting, if absence levels do not meet targets then at a Second 
Short Term Sickness Absence meeting a final formal advice might be given and if the targets 
are still not met then a Short Term Sickness Case Review Meeting would be held where a 
possible outcome would be ending the contract due to capability – ill health. 

Agree what actions will be taken by the parties. 

It may be appropriate at this stage to adjourn the meeting for the manager to consider the 
options available with their HR support these include: 

Set targets for improvement including the time period over which improvement 
should be achieved (usually 3 months but this may vary dependent on the 
circumstances of each case but in any case should be no less than 1 month). The 
employee may also be required to submit a fit note from their doctor for every 
instance of absence from their first day of absence (associated costs incurred will be 
reimbursed by the council).

Decide to take no further action: this will only be appropriate where there are 
extenuating circumstances which are unlikely to recur (eg if a trigger was hit 
following a close bereavement) and should be discussed with HR. 

Decide to extend the review period without giving a final formal advice whilst 
further advice is sought from OH or other sources. 

Reconvene to inform the employee of the decisions made. 

Confirm when the case will be reviewed again. 

After the Initial Sickness Absence Meeting, the line manager will set out in writing what has been 
decided as a result of the Initial Sickness Absence Meeting, for example, the details of any formal 
review period, or if the decision is that no further action will be taken at this time. The letter, which 

187



we put our customers first - we are positive about working with others - we value our employees

8

should be provided to the employee within 7 calendar days of the meeting, should include details of 
any steps or targets that have been agreed for either party to take to help the employee to improve 
their attendance, and any support that the organisation is providing for the employee. Decisions 
should be explained within the letter. 

Generally speaking if an employee has hit a trigger then it will be appropriate and consistent to set a 
review period for improvement, however each case is unique and in limited circumstances, for 
example if there are extenuating reasons for the absences, the outcome of an Initial Sickness 
Absence Meeting (and later meetings in the process) could be that the manager decides that it is not 
appropriate to move the employee to set a formal review period. This should be discussed with HR. 

The Manager should agree regular, informal review meetings at agreed intervals with the employee 
to provide feedback on whether targets are being met, to review if the support measures and 
adjustments are working and to establish whether attendance is improving. 

A template outcome letter is available within the Supporting Attendance Toolkit. 

If, following the end of the review period there has been no absence, the manager may confirm the 
end of the process with the employee and send them a letter to confirm this. 

A template letter is available within the Supporting Attendance Toolkit. 

No further action

In limited circumstances, for example if there are extenuating reasons for the absences, the 
outcome of an Initial Sickness Absence Meeting could be that the manager decides that it is not 
appropriate to move the employee to a formal review period or to extend the review period. 

If the decision is that no further action will be taken, the letter should inform the employee of this 
and provide an explanation for the decision. 

Review Periods 
The Manager will determine and give reasons for an appropriate review period which they consider 
sufficient to enable a proper assessment of the situation to be made. Each situation will differ and 
therefore this policy is not prescriptive on the time period. However, there should be a minimum 
period of one calendar month between each formal stage of the Supporting Attendance Policy and 
in most cases of short-term absence it is likely that the target will be set for a three-month period, to 
enable the Manager to assess the situation fully. In all cases, HR will provide advice to all parties 
regarding the review period.

The Manager should agree regular, informal review meetings at agreed intervals with the employee 
to provide feedback on whether targets are being met, to review if the support measures and 
adjustments are working and to establish whether attendance is improving.

Step 3: Invitation to Second Sickness Absence Meeting 

188



we put our customers first - we are positive about working with others - we value our employees

9

The Second Sickness Absence Meeting, will be held by the Manager or their designated Manager at 
the agreed time and depending on the details of the case will conclude the formal process (if it is 
considered that absence has improved to target levels) or will progress to a final formal advice.  

This meeting will be to review progress following the Initial Sickness Absence Meeting. 

The written invitation to the Second Sickness Absence Meeting should give the employee at least 7 
calendar days' notice of the meeting, enclose their sickness absence record and any relevant letters 
(eg from Occupational Health, the Initial Sickness Absence Meeting letter and any reviews).  The 
letter should advise the employee who will be present and that the employee can be accompanied 
by a colleague or trade union official.

The letter should explain to the employee that the purpose of the meeting is to review their 
attendance level.

The letter should advise the employee that a possible outcome of the meeting is that they may be 
given a final formal advice relating to absence, with a review period. A template letter is available in 
the Supporting Attendance Toolkit which gives details about the purpose of the meeting and advises 
that a possible outcome is that a final formal advice relating to absence is given. 

Step 4: Second Sickness Absence Meeting

A Second Sickness Absence Meeting should be conducted to review progress following the Initial 
meeting. It will cover many of the same elements as the Initial meeting but with a focus on whether 
targets have been achieved. If not then a final formal advice will usually be given.  

The meeting outline will usually follow the below structure: 

Welcome to the employee 

Introductions if necessary

Manager to outline the purpose of the meeting to consider progress following the Initial 
Sickness Absence Meeting. 

If targets have been met inform the employee that no further action is required at this stage. 
If any further absences occur within 6 months then this would be referred to an Initial Short 
Term Sickness Meeting and confirm any ongoing support required.

If targets have not been met then consider all of the circumstances surrounding any absence 
(including any which are protected characteristics under the Equality Act), look at any 
support which could be offered and set targets for improvement. Stress that this process is 
about supporting attendance and that we accept that absence is genuine. 

Share the absence record and discuss these episodes and the reasons for absence with the 
employee, particularly considering whether the absence is due to a protected characteristic 
under the Equality Act (eg disability etc) 

Discuss whether there are any areas where the employee could make changes to positively 
impact on their health and attendance. Discuss whether there are any areas where the 

189



we put our customers first - we are positive about working with others - we value our employees

10

council could make changes to support the employee in positively impacting on their health 
and attendance. 

Discuss whether OH referral might be of benefit, or if advice has already been sought, 
discuss the report. Adjustments which might be recommended by OH include changes to the 
workload, work practices or work pattern or the possibility of redeployment. 

Explain that this is the Second Short Term Sickness Absence meeting, if absence levels do not 
meet targets then a Short Term Sickness Case Review Meeting would be held where a 
possible outcome would be ending the contract due to capability – ill health. 

Agree what actions will be taken by the parties. 

It may be appropriate at this stage to adjourn the meeting for the manager to consider the 
options available with their HR support these include: 

Set targets for improvement including the time period over which improvement 
should be achieved (usually 3 months but this may vary dependent on the 
circumstances of each case but in any case should be no less than 1 month). The 
employee may also be required to submit a fit note from their doctor for every 
instance of absence from their first day of absence (associated costs incurred will be 
reimbursed by the council).

Decide to give a final formal advice: this will be appropriate in most cases at this 
meeting (exceptions might be, for example, where on discussion it transpires that 
absences have be due to pregnancy etc) 

Decide to take no further action: this will only be appropriate where there are 
extenuating circumstances which are unlikely to recur (eg if a trigger was hit 
following a close bereavement) and should be discussed with HR. 

Decide to extend the review period without giving a final formal advice whilst 
further advice is sought from OH or other sources. 

Reconvene to inform the employee of the decisions made. 

Confirm when the case will be reviewed again. 

After the Second Sickness Absence Meeting, the line manager will set out in writing what has been 
decided as a result of the Second Sickness Absence Meeting, for example if a final formal advice is 
being issued and the employee has been placed on a formal review period, or if the decision is that 
no further action will be taken. The letter, which should be provided to the employee within 7 
calendar days of the meeting, should include details of any steps or targets that have been agreed to 
help the employee to improve their attendance, and any support that the organisation is providing 
for the employee.

A template letter is available in the Supporting Attendance Toolkit. 

Step 5: Invitation to Short Term Sickness Absence Case Review Meeting 

190



we put our customers first - we are positive about working with others - we value our employees

11

If previous stages have not resulted in maintained and consistent attendance, a case review meeting 
will be held by the appropriate Manager, more senior than the line manager. This review meeting 
will review a report complied by the employee’s manager (a template is available in the Supporting 
Attendance Toolkit), and will give the employee a chance to respond.

A letter inviting an employee to a Short Term Sickness Absence Case Review Meeting is available in 
the Supporting Attendance Toolkit and advises the employee that at this meeting, dismissal may be 
an option. 

Step 6: Short Term Sickness Absence Case Review Meeting

At the Short Term Sickness Absence Case Review Meeting, a manager more senior than the line 
manager (Operational Manager or more senior) will chair, supported by a member of HR.  

The Chair will ask the manager to present their report to the meeting, 

The Chair and HR support will ask any questions of the manager and HR advisor about the 
report

The employee will ask any questions of the manager and HR advisor about the report

The Chair will ask the employee to present their case 

The Chair and HR support will ask any questions of the employee about their case

The manager and HR advisor will ask any questions of the employee about their case

The Chair will ask if the manager and employee wish to sum up their key points

The Chair will adjourn the meeting

The meeting will reconvene for the Chair to deliver the panel decision and advise of the right 
to appeal if dismissal or a final formal advice is given OR to advise the employee of when 
they can expect the decision if a decision cannot be made on the same day. 

The Manager will write to the employee within 7 consecutive calendar days of this final review 
meeting, confirming the points discussed and actions agreed and if the decision is to dismiss. The 
employee will be given the right of appeal. A copy of this letter will be placed on the individual’s 
personal file for reference and a template letter is available in the Supporting Attendance Toolkit. 

191



we put our customers first - we are positive about working with others - we value our employees

12

6. Long Term Absence 

How to keep in touch 

In the case of long-term absence, managers and employees have a mutual responsibility to maintain 
regular contact. This has the benefit of keeping the manager informed as to the employee’s 
progress, but also supports the employee’s wellbeing in that it keeps them connected and informed 
about the workplace so that sickness does not become isolating. It is recommended that at the start 
of a period of sickness absence which seems likely to become long term, the manager and employee 
agree how contact will be maintained and agree a frequency for contact. 

Contact can be in person either in the offices or another mutually agreed location (due regard 
should be given to confidentiality) including the employee’s home, but may also be done online 
remotely, by telephone or updates may also be sent by email. Where agreed by Occupational Health 
it may be appropriate for contact to be only by email or letter, but as this can be quite isolating for 
the employee and may be unhelpful in facilitating an effective return, this route will only be agreed 
on Occupational Health recommendation.  

In the event an employee states they would prefer a contact other than their Line Manager, the 
council will consider the reasons, which may include seeking advice from Occupational Health, and 
work with HR to identify an alternative contact. 

In addition to an employee’s informal contact with their manager, the HR team will support 
managers in holding more structured long term sickness review meetings. 

Long Term Sickness Review Meetings

The HR team will support managers will managing long term sickness and the allocated HR 
representative will discuss when it would be appropriate to hold a long term sickness review 
meeting with the manager. 

Depending on issues including the nature of the illness, the length of the illness and Occupational 
Health advice an employee experiencing a period of long term ill health may have several long term 
sickness review meetings over the course of their absence. These will normally be summarized in 
writing to the employee by the manager following the meeting. 

A long term sickness absence review meeting will usually consist of the following elements: 

Welcome to the employee 

Introductions if necessary

192



we put our customers first - we are positive about working with others - we value our employees

13

Manager to outline the purpose of the meeting to keep in touch regarding the current 
absence, get an update from the employee and consider how we can support further, 
whether this is a return to work or other support. 

Employee to be invited to update on their current situation and health 

Discussion of this and any other information received from Occupational Health and sick pay 
situation

Depending on the nature of the absence it may be appropriate discuss: 

 plans for a return to work including any adjustments or support required
 the possibility of ill health retirement
 the possibility of termination of contract due to capability – ill health. 
 the possibility of redeployment on health grounds
 the date for the next long term sickness review meeting. 

Manager to update on any changes or information relevant to the employee’s service or 
team if appropriate.  

Confirm if a letter will be sent summarizing the discussions from this meeting. 

Long Term Sickness Case Review Meeting 

The council will try to support employees to return to work, accommodating reasonable 
adjustments, considering redeployment etc wherever possible. However sometimes a return to 
work will not be possible at all, will not be possible to the same role, or is not likely to be possible in 
the reasonably foreseeable future. 

In such circumstances it will be necessary to hold a Formal Long Term Sickness Case Review Meeting. 

The purpose of the Formal Long Term Sickness Case Review Meeting will be to consider all the 
information put forward by the employee and Manager and whether there are any further actions 
that the council could take to assist the employee in continuing their employment, if not then 
whether employment should be terminated due to the employee’s ill health. 

The chair at the Long Term Sickness Case Review Meeting will be an Operations Manager or more 
senior. They will be accompanied by a representative from HR.

An employee may be represented by a trade union representative or accompanied by a colleague.

The employee will be given at least 7 consecutive calendar days written notice of the intention to 
hold a Case Review Hearing and will be advised of their right to bring a colleague or union 
representative to the meeting. A template letter is available in this pack and will be accompanied by 
a report written by the manager with support from their HR representative, for which a template is 
also available in this pack. 

The employee and/or their representative will be given the opportunity to state their case.

193



we put our customers first - we are positive about working with others - we value our employees

14

Others involved in the employee’s case such as their immediate Manager or next level manager will 
also be asked to provide information on what actions and support measures have been taken.

When reaching a decision about whether or not there is no alternative to terminate employment, 
the chair will consider issues such as:

• Representations made by the employee and/or their representative.

• The impact of the employee’s absence and ill health on other employees and service 
delivery.

• The employee’s absence record.

• Financial and cost implications.

• What actions and support measures have been taken to attempt to enable the employee to 
continue in employment, including consideration about adjustments and redeployment. If a 
role which the employee may be able to do is available as an alternative to dismissal, it may 
be offered as a redeployment (subject to Occupational Health confirmation of its suitability 
and the relevant manager’s assessment of the employee’s ability to undertake the role). If 
the employee accepts this offer of alternative employment they accept it on the offered 
terms in relation to pay and hours (ie pay protection is not applicable). 

• Medical advice received including any information about whether ill health retirement may 
be a possibility. 

• Requirements of the Equality Act 2010

This list is not exhaustive and the weight attached to each will depend upon the circumstances of the 
case, whilst balancing the needs of the employee and of the council.

If all the information presented at the meeting satisfies the Chair that, despite all reasonable efforts 
to facilitate attendance at work, the employee remains incapable of achieving and sustaining 
satisfactory standards, the reason for dismissal will be by incapability by issue of the appropriate 
notice (i.e., contractual or statutory, whichever is the longer and applies; HR will advise).

The employee will be informed of the decision and this decision will be confirmed in writing within 7 
consecutive calendar days. Where a decision to dismiss has been made, the letter will also inform 
the employee of notice and date of termination of employment.

Where there is sufficient medical evidence that an employee is no longer capable to fulfil the 
requirements of their job, and all suitable alternative employment opportunities have been 
exhausted, the council reserves the right to terminate employment before the expiry of contractual 
sick pay on the grounds of capability. This process would be looked at on a case-by-case basis.

Where decisions are made regarding termination of employment; the employee will have the right 
of appeal against the decision. 

194



TEWKESBURY BOROUGH COUNCIL
Report to: Executive Committee

Date of Meeting: 5 January 2022

Subject: Shopfronts, Shutters and Signage: Design Guidance for 
Tewkesbury Borough. Supplementary Planning Document

Report of: Planning Policy Manager

Corporate Lead: Head of Development Services

Lead Member: Lead Member for Built Environment

Number of Appendices: Two 

Executive Summary:
The Shopfronts, Shutters and Signage: Design Guidance for Tewkesbury Borough 
Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) was put before Executive in September to be 
approved to go out to consultation. The purpose of the guide is to promote good shop front and 
signage design within the historic areas of the Borough and to offer guidance to designers and 
applicants in submitting planning proposals. The intention is to promote good design practice 
without stifling innovation yet respecting the historic character of buildings and the areas. 
The SPD was consulted on for six weeks from Friday 17 September 2021 until Friday 29 
October. Only minor comments were received. However, in accordance with regulation 12 of 
the Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012 (as amended), a 
consultation statement is required to be produced to show how the Council has responded to 
representations from the consultation. This is then required to be consulted on for a period of 
four weeks prior to adoption. 
This report therefore recommends that the amended SPD and consultation statement be 
consulted on for four weeks during January and February. Providing no substantive comments 
are received it is recommended to put forward the SPD for adoption to Council. 

Recommendation:
1. To APPROVE the Consultation Statement and amended SPD for consultation: 

Shopfronts, Shutters and Signage: Design Guidance for Tewkesbury Borough.
2. To RECOMEND the amended SPD to be put forward to Council at the end of the 

consultation period, subject to no substantive comments being made during the 
consultation.

3.  To DELEGATE authority to the Head of Development Services, to make any 
necessary minor amendments to the draft document as considered appropriate 
prior to adoption.

Reasons for Recommendation:
To consult on the draft Supplementary Planning Document and Consultation Statement in 
accordance with the The Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 
2012.

Resource Implications:

195

Agenda Item 13



Resource implication on officer time to conduct the consultation, review responses and make 
amendments as appropriate.

Legal Implications:
The preparation of an SPD is not a statutory requirement, but a decision for each local planning 
authority based upon demands for further information to assist in the delivery of sustainable 
development and to provide further guidance on policies within the Development Plan. An SPD 
cannot in itself establish planning policy; it must be consistent with national and local planning 
policies. Before a local planning authority can adopt an SPD it must carry out formal public 
consultation, followed by the provision of a Consultation Statement setting out who was 
consulted in the preparation of the SPD; a summary of the issues raised; and how those issues 
have been addressed. This must then be consulted on along with the amended SPD.  The SPD 
can then be put forward for adoption. Once adopted the SPD will be a material consideration in 
the determination of planning applications. 

Risk Management Implications:
There is no statutory requirement to prepare SPDs. However, it is considered to be important 
that Tewkesbury Borough has appropriate planning guidance for the design of shopfronts and 
signage to assist both the public and officers in regard to related planning applications.  
Furthermore, Tewkesbury Borough Council is embarking on a major project to improve 
shopfronts in Tewkesbury Town centre from June 2021 as part of the Tewkesbury High Street 
Heritage Action Zone (HSHAZ) scheme. This scheme will make funds available to building and 
business owners to improve the appearance of their buildings within the streetscene. It is 
therefore important to maximise the effectiveness of this scheme to enhance the character and 
street scene of Tewkesbury Town Centre and ensure the success of this particular project and 
funding.

Performance Management Follow-up:
Subject to the adoption of the SPD, the effectiveness of the SPD and the policies and guidance 
contained within will be monitored by the Conservation Officer.

Environmental Implications: 
The SPD contains further detail and advice in relation to the emerging Joint Core Strategy (JCS) 
and Tewkesbury Borough Plan policies on design and quality of the environment. The specific 
objective of the guidance is to improve the character and appearance of the historic 
environment within Tewkesbury Borough.

1.0 BACKGROUND 

1.1 Shops in most of our town centres and larger villages in England are facing substantial 
challenges due to changes in shopping habits, a factor that may have accelerated due to 
the COVID-19 pandemic. The population in Tewkesbury Borough is also set to rise 
significantly due to the Garden Town initiative and other surrounding housing 
developments. It is not possible for our town centres and larger villages to compete with 
the retail parks on the outskirts of Cheltenham and Gloucester but it is necessary for 
them to play on their strengths to attract and maintain customers and visitors.

196



1.2 There are examples of inappropriate and unauthorised shop signage and alterations to 
historic shopfronts within our historic retail areas that detract from their character and 
appearance. The purpose of this guide/SPD is to promote good shop front design and to 
offer guidance to designers and applicants in submitting planning proposals. The 
intention is to promote good design practice and not to dictate a particular style or stifle 
innovation. However the period and style of the property needs to be respected, and so 
there is a particular focus on traditional detailing. The guidance includes a historic 
context to shopfront development and design and provides a clear identification of 
elements of good design and inappropriate design.

1.3 A shopfront design guide is a common document amongst local planning authorities and 
is generally accepted as a valuable tool in regards to managing historic areas. There is 
also a specific policy within the emerging local plan regarding shopfronts (DES4), the 
guide will underpin this and the other related policies. 

1.4 The publication of this guidance is timely in that it will complement the launch of a grant 
scheme to fund restoration and repair of traditional shopfronts in Tewkesbury town as 
part of the Tewkesbury High Street Heritage Action Zone.

2.0 UPDATE 

2.1 As approved by Executive in September 2021, a period of formal public consultation was 
undertaken for a six week period from Friday 17 September 2021 until Friday 29 October 
2021 on the Shopfronts, Shutters and Signage: Design Guidance for Tewkesbury 
Borough Supplementary Planning Document SPD.  Over 165 organisations and 
individuals were written to to inform them of consultation and invite comments on the 
draft SPD. Contacts were taken from the existing Tewkesbury Borough Plan consultation 
database as those who have been involved in, or have an interest in, the plan making 
process in Tewkesbury. This includes all Parish Councils in the Borough, neighbouring 
local authorities, Gloucestershire County Council, as well as statutory consultees. In 
addition to this a notice of the consultation was placed in the local press through the 
Gloucestershire Echo as well as advertised on the Borough Council’s website news feed. 

2.2 A total of seven responses were received, however four of these were from statutory 
consultees confirming they had no comments. The responses were positive and 
welcomed the purpose of the document. Suggestions for further development of the 
document were noted. These were then considered and appropriate amendments were 
made to the SPD. 

2.3 A summary table of these issues, and the Council’s response, is provided in the 
Consultation Statement. The Consultation Statement is required under regulation 12 of 
the Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012. It is 
required to be consulted on for at least four weeks. The Consultation Statement sets out 
who was consulted, the main issues raised and how those issues have been responded 
to. 

2.4 This report therefore seeks Member approval to consult on the Consultation Statement, 
along with the amended SPD for a four week consultation period in early 2022.  It also 
seeks Member approval to put forward the SPD for adoption to Council following the 
consultation, providing there are no substantive comments arising out of this 
consultation.

197



3.0 RELEVANT COUNCIL POLICIES/STRATEGIES

3.1 Tewkesbury Borough Local Plan to 2011.
Joint Core Strategy.
Emerging Tewkesbury Borough Plan (2011-2031).

4.0 RELEVANT GOVERNMENT POLICIES 

4.1 National Planning Policy Framework.
National Planning Practice Guidance.

5.0 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS (Human/Property)

5.1 Resource implication on officer time to conduct the consultation, review responses and 
make any amendments as appropriate. 

6.0 SUSTAINABILITY IMPLICATIONS (Social/Community Safety/Cultural/ Economic/ 
Environment)

6.1 The preparation of the Shopfronts, Shutters and Signage: Design Guidance for 
Tewkesbury Borough SPD provides an opportunity to manage the character and 
appearance of Tewkesbury Town centre in a manner that promotes tourism and trade. It 
provides Officers, businesses and building owners with the guidance to create and 
maintain an attractive and characterful environment for the community which encourages 
stability and wellbeing in the population. 

7.0 IMPACT UPON (Value For Money/Equalities/E-Government/Human Rights/Health 
And Safety)

7.1 None.

8.0 RELATED DECISIONS AND ANY OTHER RELEVANT FACTS 

8.1 None.

Background Papers: None. 
Contact Officer: Conservation Officer Tel: 01684 272060

Email: julian.bagg@tewkesbury.gov.uk 
Appendices: 1 – Amended Shopfronts, Shutters and Signage: Design Guidance for 

Tewkesbury. Strategic Planning Document.
2 – Consultation Statement.

198

mailto:julian.bagg@tewkesbury.gov.uk


Shopfronts, Shutters and Signage
Design Guidance for Tewkesbury Borough

Tewkesbury
Borough Council

December 2021

Supplementary Planning Document

199



Design Guidance for Tewkesbury Borough

Tewkesbury Borough Council

Contents

Introduction 1

Architectural context of the borough 2

The history of shop fronts 3

Classical features 4

Entablature 4

Fasçia 4

Cornice 4

Pilasters and consoles 4

Mullions and glazing bars 4

Stallriser 5

Respecting the building 5

Symmetry 5

Street rhythm 5

Visual support 5

Modelling 5

Scale 5

Materials 5

Colour 5

Fascia signs 6

Hanging signs 6

Printed graphics 6

Widow posters 6

Lettering 6

Corporate identities 7

External illumination 7

Fasçia illumination 7

Blinds 7

Burglar alarms and services 7

Shutters, screens and grilles 7

Planning checklist 7

Conservation areas 7

Listed buildings 7

Signs and advertisements 8

Appendix

Examples of good and poor design 9-10

200



The purpose of this guide is to promote good
shop front design in the historic settlements of
Tewkesbury Borough and to offer guidance to
designers and applicants in submitting planning
proposals. The guidance is primarily for towns but
could equally be applied to historic villages. The
intention is to promote good design practice and
not to dictate a particular style or stifle
innovation. However the period and style of the
property needs to be respected, and so there is a
particular focus on traditional detailing. The
character of many historic towns and village
centres is heavily dependent on the quality and
condition of their shop fronts. An attractively
presented, tasteful shop front gives a favourable
impression of the business and reflects well on an
area.

As our historic towns and villages continue to
serve the needs of the local community, their
individual characters are under constant pressure
to adapt and change. New shop owners, new uses
or just periodic rebranding creates pressure for
new frontages and different signage, which can
unintentionally erode the character of an area.

Most town centres in England are facing
substantial challenges due to changes in shopping
habits, a factor that may have accelerated due to
the Covid 19 pandemic. The population served by
the towns in the borough is also set to rise
significantly such as the Garden Town initiative at
Tewkesbury and other housing developments. It is
not possible for the borough’s towns to compete
with the retail parks on the outskirts of
Cheltenham and Gloucester but it is necessary for
them to play on their strengths to attract and
maintain customers and serve the local
communities.

“The distinctiveness of our heritage makes places
special and fosters a place identity which in turn
attracts businesses and people to place”.
(Gustaffson, 2019).

“In my generation as retailers, we successfully
cloned every town in Britain so they all looked the
same, but clearly that doesn’t work. All towns
have a heritage and history and their reason for
uniqueness needs to be brought to the fore”. Bill
Grimsey, former head of Wickes, Iceland and
Focus DIY (BBC, 2018).

“Over the long term, places with strong, distinctive
identities are more likely to prosper than places
without them. Every place must identify its
strongest, most distinctive features and develop
them or run the risk of being all things to all
persons and nothing special to any”. (Nobel Prize
winning economist, Robert Merton Solow in
Licciardi et al. 2012). 

The historic environment provides a sense of
authenticity, beauty and distinctiveness. This
attracts people, businesses and investment, and
can provide places with their competitive
advantage. Managing the historic character of
town and village centres and their shopfronts and
signage is therefore an integral part of their
prosperity. Many of the business and building
owners in the Boroughs towns and villages
recognise this and it is reflected in the
presentation of their shopfronts. This guide will
assist in maintaining this and also provide
direction in situations where improvements can
be made.

Introduction

Tewkesbury Borough Council1

201



Architectural context of the borough

Tewkesbury Borough covers a wide area of
Gloucestershire with two distinct architectural
characters. Despite this, most historic shops have
shopfront designs from the 19th century and
these remain generally similar across the
borough. In architectural terms, the east of the
borough is characterised by the Cotswold
vernacular with a tradition of stone buildings. The
west of the borough is within the Severn Vale and
is characterised by red brick or earlier timber
framed buildings. The borough has two towns,
Winchcombe and Tewkesbury. 

Winchcombe is within the east of the borough
and was formed around its Abbey in the medieval
period and benefited from the wool trade.
Architecturally, Winchcombe is firmly in the
Cotswold stone vernacular tradition, albeit with
some early timber framed buildings. The town
generally contains a collection of small historic
shops predominantly with stone frontages and
19th century timber shopfronts. There are also a
high number of shops with curved bay windows,
some of which are thought to be historic.

Tewkesbury is the larger of the two towns and it
was also formed around its Abbey in the medieval
period. The town is served by two major rivers,
the Severn and the Avon. Both rivers are
navigable and provided access to goods and
markets from the principal surrounding cities and
beyond. This resulted in a mix of trade and
industry within the town from its early origins. 

The architecture of Tewkesbury town is varied
with a mixture of shop sizes. The town is noted
for a number of important timber framed
merchant’s houses from the 17th century and
earlier. A number of purpose built medieval shops
survive, some of which are still in use albeit with
later shopfronts. The remaining buildings
generally have red brick Georgian style frontages
many of which conceal a much earlier timber
framed building beneath. Some pockets of
modern development are also present. There are
a large number of traditional 19th century timber
shopfronts surviving within the town.

The largest historic village is Bishop’s Cleeve. This
has a historic core that remains legible but does
not contain any historic shops or shopfronts.
Despite retaining some historic buildings, the core
of the village has been much expanded in the post
war period with modern shops and two
supermarkets. 

The design guide would also be applicable in other
villages and settlements within the borough where
the assimilation of shop frontages with the
existing historic character of the area is considered
important.

Design Guidance for Tewkesbury Borough

Tewkesbury Borough Council

Winchcombe High Street Traditional shop front, Winchcombe

2

Tewkesbury High Street

202



It is useful to understand a little about the history
of shop fronts so that the appropriateness of
designs for specific buildings can be more fully
appreciated.

Medieval period
The idea of shopping as it is known today is a
relatively recent development. For centuries,
goods were spread out onto the street or
displayed on a drop-down shutter that served as
a counter during the day.

C18
With the universal spread of classicism in the C18,
the shop front became an integral part of the
design of the building. Display windows became
more prominent and often took the form of
square projecting bays or bow windows, although
they remained subdivided into small panes. 

Late C18 to mid C19
Classical design principles became more
pronounced. The shop window was framed by
pilasters, which provided visual support for the
top, or entablature. Projecting bay windows were
now outlawed in most places to avoid obstructing
the pavement.

Late C19
More emphasis was now given to the name of the
shop and the fasçia became more prominent at
the expense of the cornice. Sometimes the fasçia
was tilted to accommodate a blind box.
Decorative console brackets appeared at either
end of the fasçia. Decoration often became more
exuberant and a variety of new materials, such as
cast iron and terracotta, were introduced. The
invention of plate glass enabled display windows
to become much larger, frequently of full storey
height.

Early C20
Generally, the established principles of shop front
design stayed the same but adapted to changes
in architectural fashion, which moved away from
classicism. Increasing concerns about hygiene
encouraged the use of easily cleaned ceramics for
food shops such as butchers and fishmongers.

Later C20
The 1960s and 70s saw a fundamental break with
the principles of traditional design. Plate glass
windows, dominant fasçias, artificial materials and
a focus on the shop front in isolation from its host
building spoilt the character of many shopping
streets.

Design Guidance for Tewkesbury Borough

Tewkesbury Borough Council3

Restored C15 Medieval shop in Church Street, Tewkesbury Surviving C19 jewellers shopfront, 141 High Street, Tewkesbury

Traditional shop front, Winchcombe

The history of shop fronts

203



Early shop front design was based upon a set of
principles, derived from structural requirements,
which was noticeably successful in achieving a
satisfactory relationship between the shop front
and the building as a whole. The influence of
classical architecture during the early
development of shops established many principles
of shop front design which are still relevant today. 

Classical features 
Various architectural elements can be used to
frame the shop window and entrance. These
include the fasçia, pilasters, cornice and stallriser,
all of which has its own visual and practical
function. A shop front design based on
incorporating these traditional elements is always
likely to be the most appropriate in a historical
setting. However there is still scope for the
creative interpretation of traditions, which adds to
the variety and interest of the townscape,
provided that this basic vocabulary is followed.

Entablature 
Entablatures were derived from the lintels in
classical architecture and a horizontal feature
spanning across the width of the shop front
ultimately evolved into the fasçias. Georgian
entablatures are typically quite shallow and are
often surmounted by a projecting cornice, which
provides a positive ‘lid’ to the shop front. 

Fasçia 
The fasçia is usually the most prominent feature
on a shop front as it carries the name of the
business and so will be designed to attract
attention. The scale and design should be in
proportion to the design of the shop front and to
the rest of the building as a whole. However, a
common fault is to make the fasçia too deep in an

attempt to maximise signage space or conceal a
suspended ceiling level. The fasçia, which is
normally topped by a moulding or cornice, should
terminate below first floor window level and
ideally leave a margin to separate the shop front
visually from the upper floors. 

Cornice 
The cornice is a direct survival from classicism and
is both a decorative and functional feature of the
shop front. In terms of decoration it forms a
conclusive termination to the top of the fasçia and
thus the shop front as a whole. Functionally, it
projects forward of the elevation to direct water
clear of the fasçia. On late 19th–early 20th
century shop fronts it is common to find a blind
box incorporated within the cornice.

4 Tewkesbury Borough Council

Components of a traditional shopfront
C  Maureen Turland - Tewkesbury Civic Society

Fanlight

Entablature / Fascia

Stallriser

Door

Pilasters and consoles 
Pilasters and consoles are residual forms of
classical columns and scrolls and in general, their
roles are decorative rather than functional.
Nevertheless they make a critical visual
contribution to the shop front by supporting and
‘bookending’ either end of the fasçia, and
consoles in particular were often exaggerated for
decorative effect.

Mullions and glazing bars 
Windows historically were restricted by the size
and cost of glass and traditional shop fronts
invariably are subdivided to reflect this constraint.
The vertical mullions and horizontal transoms
necessary to support the panes were
incorporated into the wider composition of the
shop front and often provided further decorative
opportunities.  

Cornice

Console

Capital

Pilaster

Plinth

Design Guidance for Tewkesbury Borough

204



Stallriser 
The stallriser is a long established shop front
feature which originally houses boards or stalls,
which hinged out over the pavement and carried
goods for display. Stallrisers typically survive in
residual form as a plinth giving physical and visual
support to the shop window. Visually it completes
the frame enclosing the display space and also
protects the window from impacts at pavement
level.

Respecting the building 
A shop front should relate to the building it
belongs to so that it forms an integral part of the
elevation rather than an isolated element at
ground floor level. This can be achieved by taking
account of the scale and architectural style of the
building and by respecting the arrangement of
windows and walling on the upper floors in the
subdivision of the shop front. 

Symmetry 
Many C18 & C19 buildings in shopping areas are
symmetrical and to maintain harmony, this
symmetry should be extended to the shop front.
Sometimes internal planning makes it difficult to
achieve exact symmetry, but it is often possible to
use elements of the shop front such as
intermediate columns or window mullions to
contribute at least some visual balance.

Street rhythm 
A major consideration in the design of any shop
front is how the building fits into the street scene.
Most traditional shopping streets contain a great
deal of variety. The width and height of the
buildings help define the character of the street.
Plot widths were often quite narrow so the

buildings lining streets in historic towns tend to
have a vertical emphasis. This is known as the
rhythm of the street, and where a shop front
extends across two or more buildings, it can easily
disrupt this rhythm. There should be some break
in the shop front to coincide with each plot
boundary and if the buildings differ in size or
style, varied shop fronts are likely to be more
appropriate. 

Visual support 
Many C20 shop fronts have large expanses of
plate glass window, which make the building
above appear unsupported. This can look
particularly uncomfortable if the shop window
straddles two or more buildings. Windows should
be punctuated by columns, mullions or areas of
walling to give the building visual support.

Modelling 
Interest can be given to a shop front by recessing
or projecting some of the details and elements
that make up its design. Traditional shop fronts
had a projecting cornice that jutted out from the
face of the building. Console brackets, fluted
pilasters and deep glazing bars give ‘depth’ to the
façade. Similarly, recessed doorways provide a
visual break to a flat window. This ‘modelling’ of
the shop front allows a play of light and shadow
that enlivens the street. Modern shop fronts with
no projecting features tend to have a flat, two
dimensional appearance, which makes a poor
contrast with the richness of traditional buildings.

Scale 
In small-scale buildings, the shop front should
also be small. The size of the display windows, the
depth and height of the fasçia and the
proportions of the details should all be modest. 

In larger buildings the shop front can be larger
but should still be in proportion to the building.
Excessively large modern fasçias are the single
most common detrimental element on historic
buildings and they often obscure important
architectural details. 

Materials 
Timber was always the traditional shop front
material and it remains the most appropriate and
versatile. It can be worked to any shape, is
durable and can be painted in any colour
required. Generally speaking, modern sheet
materials such as vinyl, Perspex, or aluminium are
not compatible with historic buildings. However,
modern materials can be accepted where they are
used with care and it can be shown that they will
enhance the building. 

Colour 
Colour is one of the most important factors
affecting the character of historic shopping
streets; an otherwise perfectly preserved shop
front can be spoilt completely by an inappropriate
colour scheme. Non-traditional or vivid colours
draw undue attention to themselves and should
be avoided. Darker colours work well as they
leave the window display to provide the highlight,
and neutral whites and creams are also
traditional. The imposition of corporate colour
schemes regardless of the nature of the buildings
involved may erode the character of an area, but
tailoring the corporate identity to specific areas
such as the fasçia may be acceptable.

5 Tewkesbury Borough Council

Design Guidance for Tewkesbury Borough

205



Fasçia signs
Most shop fronts incorporate a fasçia to denote
the shop name. Excessive advertising on the
fasçia should be avoided, as should unnecessary
duplication of the shop name. The most effective
signage is generally limited in content, and does
not attempt to overload the fasçia with text or
graphics. It is noticeable that the better quality
the shop, the more discreet the signage. 

Oversized and garish modern fasçias are some of
the most unattractive features of shopping
streets. This can spoil the appearance of buildings
by obscuring stringcourses and first floor
windowsills as well as hiding features of original
shop fronts. The scale of the fasçia should be
appropriate to the character, height and period of
the building and in proportion with the design of
the shop front. As a guideline, fasçias should
generally be no deeper than 1/5 overall height of
the shop front.

Hanging signs 
Hanging signs are a traditional feature on shops
in historic towns and, when well designed, they
can add vibrancy and interest to the street.
Timber hand-painted signs are usually preferred
but metal pictograms have a long tradition and
offer particular scope for invention. Bracket
design and fixings methods are also important:
bolts should be drilled into joints, not into the
face of bricks or stone blocks, and the brackets
should be designed with slots to allow for
tolerances.

As a general rule, only one hanging sign per shop
will be allowed. The conventional position for
signs is at or just above fasçia level. The latter
position is normally appropriate for public houses
or restaurants where a pictorial sign is used, but

they should not be so high as to be above normal
sightlines. Care must always be taken to ensure
that architectural features are not obscured by
the signage. The over proliferation of signs
creates visual clutter which cancels out their
effectiveness so therefore a balance needs to be
struck between the commercial demand for
visibility and the architectural character of the
building involved. 

The size of the sign will need to relate to the size
and scale of the building façade and to the street
as a whole. Generally, the area of the sign should
be no more than 0.75m2 and for safety and
security purposes the bottom of the sign must
have at least 2.6m clearance above the pavement
and its outer edge at least 1.0m from the kerb.

Printed graphics
The widespread availability of printed vinyl decals
and photographic images has led to a
proliferation of ill-considered fasçias and window
displays which are garish and incongruous. The
use of such products and techniques are generally
incompatible with historic buildings or areas.

Window posters
There is often a temptation to use shop windows
as additional display space for posters, decals and
illuminated signs. This type of ephemeral
advertising can detract from the overall
appearance of the shop front and further
contributes to visual clutter in the street.
Businesses should keep this to a minimum and
should not regard window displays as a
supplement to permanent signage. 

Lettering
The effective use of text and graphics can create

6 Tewkesbury Borough Council

Examples of good, traditionally presented shop fronts

an attractive image which invites custom to the
shop. However care must be taken to select an
appropriate font, which not only complements the
age and character of the building but is also of a
proportionate size. In broad terms, lettering
height should be around 3/8 the depth of the
fasçia, with a maximum height of 300mm, subject
to the scale of the building.

Design Guidance for Tewkesbury Borough

206



Tewkesbury Borough Council

Corporate identities
National chains understandably wish to project an
easily recognisable corporate identity but the
blanket imposition of standardised colour
schemes and signage can have an anonymising
effect which erodes local distinctiveness. Multiples
should be prepared to relax their design
guidelines in the interests of conservation, but it
should still be possible to use recognisable fonts,
colours, logos etc if they are tailored to the
characteristics of individual buildings.

External illumination
Modest and subtle lighting can add sparkle and
vitality to the night-time scene. However over-
illumination can be garish and intrusive and there
are many businesses where illumination may not
be applicable at all.

Fasçia illumination
The illumination of fasçia signage and hanging
signs are not essential for all shops, especially for
those that do not trade at night. Internally-
illuminated fasçias and signs are often too bright
and are not generally acceptable on historic
buildings. Subtle and concealed lighting may be
acceptable however, depending upon location.
The light source should be unobtrusive and
carefully directed at the sign to avoid glare and
light leakage; modern LED ‘halo’ lighting can be
particularly controlled in this regard.

Blinds 
Retractable blinds are a traditional device to
protect display goods from sunlight and to
provide shelter for shoppers. They can add

interest to the street scene but they should be
appropriate to the character and period of the
building. Blinds made of canvas or similar non-
reflective materials are preferred. Fixed blinds and
plastic canopies, such as Dutch blinds, detract
from the appearance of historic streets and will
not be permitted. 

Burglar alarms and services 
Burglar alarms, junction boxes and other service
installations should not conflict with architectural
features or be located in over-conspicuous
positions. Wiring runs should be sited to be as
discreet as possible. 

Shutters, screens and grilles 
Some types of shop may need special security
measures. External window shutters require
planning permission, but they tend to give streets
a hostile, beleaguered atmosphere when closed
so they will not generally be approved in historic
areas. Solid roller shutters housed in boxes at
fasçia level are particularly unacceptable. There
are several preferred alternative security
measures. 

Security glass is preferred, perhaps coupled with a
security alarm. Reducing the size of window panes
can provide less of a temptation to vandals and
reduces the cost of replacing glass, but the
suitability of this will depend on the design of the
host building. Internally fitted see-through grilles
are another option especially as there are a
number of attractive designs available.
Alternatively, demountable external security
screens can be fixed to the window outside
normal trading hours, but it is important that

these are designed so that they cannot be left in
situ. 

Residential Conversion
In cases where a change of use is granted from
retail to residential use, the removal of historic
shopfronts would generally be resisted due to
their positive contribution to the street-scene. 

Planning and other permissions 
Planning permission is required for all new shop
fronts, or alterations to existing shop fronts, that
materially affect the external appearance of a
building. 

Conservation areas 
Both the market towns and many of the villages in
the borough are designated as conservation
areas, and special attention should be paid to
preserving and enhancing their character and
appearance. The quality and detailing of
development proposals must meet the
preservation and enhancement objectives. 

Listed buildings 
Any alterations to a listed building will require
Listed Building Consent if the works affect the
character and significance of the building. This
can include relatively small changes to features
such as signage, as well as internal works. Owners
are therefore strongly advised to consult planning
services before embarking on any alterations to a
listed building. 

7

Design Guidance for Tewkesbury Borough

207



Tewkesbury Borough Council

Signs and Advertisements 
Some signs need advertisement consent from the council so owners are strongly
advised to check with planning services before erecting any. Shops are normally
limited to one fasçia sign, and if required, one hanging sign. 

Consent is always required for:

l All posters. 
l Any Illuminated sign in a conservation area. 
l All signs above a first floor window. 
l All signs that have letters over 0.75m high. 
l All signs that have the highest part more than 4.6m above ground level. 
l All signs on listed buildings. 
l Repainting a shop front may require listed building consent. 
l Any signs, posters, banners on windows are likely to require listed building 

consent. 

8

Design Guidance Appendix

Examples of good and poor design 

Annotated images of good design and poor design, for comparison, can be
found in the appendix on pages 9 and 10.

Design Guidance for Tewkesbury Borough

208



APPENDIX - Design Guidance for Tewkesbury Borough

Tewkesbury Borough Council9

GOOD DESIGN

Simple fasçia signage incorporating
painted or applied lettering or

projected lettering.

Traditional hanging sign on an ornamental bracket.
Hanging signs can be metal or timber. It may also be
acceptable to hang a sign in the form of an object
relating to the nature of the shop and the goods sold.

Subtle window decals
may be appropriate.

Internal window
displays can provide

distinctiveness to the
shop and attract

customers. Traditional well-
proportioned timber
shopfront sympathetic
to the historic character
of the town.

209



APPENDIX - Design Guidance for Tewkesbury Borough

Tewkesbury Borough Council10

POOR DESIGN EXAMPLE

Oversized lettering / unsympathetic font: the size
and design of lettering can have a dramatically

negative visual impact on the historic environment
and requires careful consideration.

Oversized fasçias: oversized or poorly
proportioned fasçias detract from the

character of a historic shopfront or the
features of the building. 

Photographic decals: the
use of photographic

decals on shopfronts can
appear out of character

and are generally
inappropriate.

Window posters and
stickers: a proliferation of

stickers, notices and
posters can appear garish

and unsympathetic.

Inappropriate external lighting: subtle forms of
external illumination are acceptable in most cases,
however, prominent or unsympathetic lighting
designs are inappropriate.

internally illuminated
signage: whether a
projecting sign or part
of a fasçia, internally
illuminated signage
can appear out of
character and
inappropriate.

Projecting signs: also
known as ‘bus stop’
signs, this form of
signage generally
appears modern and
inappropriate.

Additional fixed
signboards that do
not respect the form
or proportions of the
historic shopfront:
signage should not
obscure or detract
from the character of
a historic shopfront or
the features of a
building.

Modern doors and
windows: modern styles

such as full height
windows and modern

materials such as
aluminium are generally

unsympathetic to the
character of a historic
shopfront or building.

210



Tewkesbury Borough Council
Appendix 2

Shopfronts, Shutters and Signage

Design Guidance for Tewkesbury Borough 
Supplementary Planning Document

Consultation Statement

December 2021

211



1. Purpose and Background

1.1. This statement sets out details of the consultation that has taken place which has informed the 
development and refinement of the Shopfronts, Shutters and Signage Design Guidance for 
Tewkesbury Borough Supplementary Planning Document (SPD). The statement has been 
produced in accordance with regulation 12 of the Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) 
(England) Regulations 2012. The regulation states that, before adoption of a supplementary 
planning document, the local planning authority must prepare a statement setting out:

 the persons the local planning authority consulted when preparing the supplementary 
planning document;

 a summary of the main issues raised by those persons; and
 how those issues have been addressed in the supplementary planning document.

1.2. The Council has prepared its own Statement of Community Involvement (SCI) (2013) to show how 
it will involve the community in its plan and policy making process. This can be viewed on the 
Council’s web site at https://www.tewkesbury.gov.uk/local-plan. 

1.3. The purpose of the SPD is to promote good shop front design in the historic settlements of 
Tewkesbury Borough and to offer guidance to designers and applicants in submitting planning 
proposals. The guidance is primarily for towns but could equally be applied to historic villages. 
The intention is to promote good design practice and not to dictate a particular style or stifle 
innovation. However, the period and style of the property needs to be respected, and so there is 
a particular focus on traditional detailing. The character of many historic towns and village 
centres is heavily dependent on the quality and condition of their shop fronts. An attractively 
presented, tasteful shop front gives a favourable impression of the business and reflects well on 
an area.

1.4. The SPD does not create new policy, but provides more guidance on how the heritage policies 
contained within the Development Plan Documents of the Local Plan should be applied. For 
Tewkesbury Borough, the principle policies are set out in the adopted Gloucester, Cheltenham 
and Tewkesbury Joint Core Strategy through Policy SD4: Design Requirements. 

2. Consultation Process

2.1. A period of formal public consultation was undertaken on a draft SPD for a 6 week period from 
Friday 17th September 2021 until Friday 29th October 2021. 

2.2. Over 165 organisations and individuals were written to inform them of consultation and invite 
comments on the draft SPD. Contacts were taken from the existing Tewkesbury Borough Plan 
consultation database as those who have been involved in, or have an interest in, the plan 
making process in Tewkesbury. This includes all Parish Councils in the Borough, neighbouring 
local authorities, Gloucestershire County Council, as well as the following statutory consultees:

 Environment Agency
 Lead Local Flood Authority
 Historic England

212

https://www.tewkesbury.gov.uk/local-plan


 Sport England
 Marine Management Organisation
 Thames Water
 Severn Trent
 Highways England
 Network Rail

2.3. In addition to this a notice of the consultation was placed in the local press through the 
Gloucestershire Echo as well as advertised on the Borough Council’s website news feed. 

2.4. In line with the Council’s SCI the SPD was made available for viewing in the following ways:

 Electronically on the Tewkesbury Borough Council website 
(https://www.tewkesbury.gov.uk/local-plan) 

 In hard copy at Tewkesbury Borough Council Offices, Gloucester Road, Tewkesbury
 In hard copy at Tewkesbury Borough libraries (Tewkesbury, Bishops Cleeve, 

Winchcombe, Churchdown, Brockworth)

3. Consultation Responses

3.1. A total of 7 responses were received, however 4 of these were from statutory consultees 
confirming they had no comments. Responses were generally positive and welcomed the 
purpose of the document. Suggestions for further development of the document were noted. 
These were then considered and appropriate amendments were made to the SPD. 

3.2. A summary table of these issues, and the Council’s response, is provided in the table below:

Summary of Response Response in SPD

Additional matters which the Council may wish 
to include;

 Advice on more modern shopfronts (e.g. 
Art Deco or Modernist)

 Advice on bi-fold doors
 Advice on inclusive and independent 

access
 Advice on shopfront retention and 

alteration and/or removal including for 
residential conversion

Advice on more modern shopfronts (e.g. Art 
Deco or Modernist) - Insufficient examples of 
this type were identified within Tewkesbury 
Borough to include this as a category in the SPD.

Advice on bi-fold doors - Requests for such 
alterations are infrequent and would be 
controlled through the planning system 
therefore it is not necessary to include reference 
to bi-fold doors in the SPD.

Advice on inclusive and independent access – 
Where possible businesses and shop owners 
would be encouraged to provide inclusive and 
independent access. This would be controlled 
through the planning system therefore, it is not 

213

https://www.tewkesbury.gov.uk/local-plan


necessary to include reference to inclusive 
access in the SPD.

Advice on shopfront retention and alteration 
and/or removal including for residential 
conversion – Additional information under the 
topic “Residential Conversion” has been added 
to page 7 stating the following: “In cases where 
a change of use is granted from retail to 
residential use, the removal of historic 
shopfronts would generally be resisted due to 
their positive contribution to the street-scene.”

Concur that and SEA is not necessary for the 
SPD.

Noted.

Suggest give consideration (though may not be 
relevant) to green infrastructure, biodiversity 
enhancement and landscape enhancement. 

Not applicable to this specific document.

New developments should be beautiful 
"sustainable" and welcome wildlife as well as 
people. Retaining and where practical 
expanding/creating "green spaces and arteries 
to access them" by using a combination of urban 
tree planting, SuDs, footpaths and cycle tracks 
will help achieve this objective and should 
contribute to the health/wellbeing* of old and 
new residents alike. We recommend that the 
bird & bat boxes are incorporated in the fabric 
of all new buildings and believe there's sufficient 
interest from the Construction Industry at large 
for this to become common practice in the 
foreseeable future.

Not applicable to this specific document.

214



TEWKESBURY BOROUGH COUNCIL

Report to: Executive Committee 

Date of Meeting: 5 January 2022 

Subject: Community Governance Review 2021/22 – Draft Proposals

Report of: Head of Democratic Services 

Corporate Lead: Borough Solicitor 

Lead Member: Lead Member for Corporate Governance 

Number of Appendices: One

Executive Summary:
At its meeting on 2 June 2021 the Executive Committee considered a report which sought 
approval for the commencement of a Borough-wide Community Governance Review. The 
Committee approved the review and the Terms of Reference of that review and established a 
Community Governance Review Working Group to undertake that work. 
The Community Governance Review Working Group has met on three occasions (including a 
bus tour of the areas under consideration) and has now put forward its draft proposals which 
the Executive is asked to consider and endorse to enable them to be circulated for consultation. 

Recommendation:
1. To ENDORSE the draft recommendations for the Borough-wide Community 

Governance Review for further consultation purposes. 
2. To DELEGATE authority to the Borough Solicitor in consultation with the Working 

Group to
i) consider the suggestion of forming a new Coopers Edge Parish Council 

covering the areas in the Borough that fall within the Parishes of 
Brockworth and Hucclecote and make a recommendation to be included in 
the draft proposals consultation report

ii) make any minor wording/accuracy changes prior to the draft proposals 
being released for consultation.

Reasons for Recommendation:
It is nearly 20 years since the last Parish Review was undertaken and changes as a result of 
the Tewkesbury (Electoral Changes) Order 2018, together with extensive development in the 
Borough, necessitate a review, to ensure that the arrangements meet the needs of the 
community. Initial consultation has taken place with Parishes and the public which has been 
considered by the Community Governance Review Working Group and helped form its draft 
recommendations which the Executive Committee is now asked to endorse. 

Resource Implications:
There may be some minimal costs associated with the consultation and mapping of proposals.

215

Agenda Item 14



Legal Implications:
The review follows a statutory process which includes consultation at each stage.

Risk Management Implications:
None anticipated.

Performance Management Follow-up:
A detailed programme is included in the Terms of Reference previously approved by the 
Committee.

Environmental Implications: 
None. 

1.0 INTRODUCTION/BACKGROUND

1.1 Following the Executive Committee’s decision to undertake a Borough-wide Community 
Governance Review each Parish and Town Council in the Borough was asked to submit 
representations/comments along with MPs, County and Borough Councillors; Political 
Parties; Gloucestershire County Council; Gloucestershire Association of Parish and 
Town Councils; two members of the public following their previous communications on 
the subject; the Council’s Community Development Officers; and members of the 
public/local residents through the website and social media. 

1.2 The initial consultation stage of the Community Governance Review took place between 
15 June and 15 September 2021 with a total of 44 responses received - 23 from Parish 
and Town Councils and Parish Meetings within Tewkesbury Borough; one from a Parish 
Council within Cheltenham Borough; one from another organisation and 19 from 
members of the public/local residents. 

2.0 THE REVIEW AND RECOMMENDATIONS OF THE COMMUNITY GOVERNANCE 
REVIEW WORKING GROUP

2.1 The Community Governance Review Working Group has met on three occasions to date 
– including undertaking a bus tour of the areas under consideration to understand the 
issues raised – and its draft recommendations are contained within the Parish Boundary 
Review Draft Recommendations report attached at Appendix 1. The report also contains 
a summary of the comments made in the initial consultation and an analysis of those 
factors and supporting evidence. 

2.2 The Working Group has not had the opportunity to consider a proposal to create a new 
Parish Council at Coopers Edge covering the areas within the Parishes of Brockworth 
and Hucclecote nor has it had an opportunity to consider the detailed wording of the draft 
proposals report and therefore, a delegation is sought to consider in detail the Coopers 
Edge proposal and include a recommendation in the draft report as well as making any 
minor wording/correcting inaccuracies in the report before it is released for public 
consultation.

216



2.3 The Executive Committee is asked to consider the Working Group’s report and endorse 
its recommendations for consultation and approve the request for delegated authority as 
detailed in the paragraph 2.2 above.

3.0 THE NEXT STAGE

3.1 The next stage in the process requires the Council to consult on its draft 
recommendations. The Parish Boundary Review Draft Recommendations report as 
attached at Appendix 1 will be circulated to the Parish and Town Councils, MPs, County 
and Borough Councillors; Political Parties; Gloucestershire County Council; and 
Gloucestershire Association of Parish and Town Councils as well as being made 
available to residents via the Council’s website. Copies will also be available from the 
Tewkesbury Borough Council Offices for those that wish to make a comment on the 
proposals and individuals who commented during the first stage of the process will 
automatically be sent copies. 

3.2 The consultation period will run from January 2022 to March 2022 with a summary of 
responses and proposed final recommendations to be made to the Executive Committee 
and Council.  The timetable as set out in the draft proposals report has been set to 
enable the final recommendations to be made to the Local Government Boundary 
Commission for England (LGBCE) in May to ensure they are in force for the Borough, 
Parish and Town Council elections scheduled in May 2023.

4.0 OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED

4.1 It is possible to undertake a partial review, but this is not recommended as it does not 
allow the whole picture to be taken into account.

5.0 CONSULTATION 

5.1 Full details of the consultation to be undertaken is included within the report. 

6.0 RELEVANT COUNCIL POLICIES/STRATEGIES

6.1 None. 

7.0 RELEVANT GOVERNMENT POLICIES 

7.1 None. 

8.0 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS (Human/Property)

8.1 None. 

9.0 SUSTAINABILITY IMPLICATIONS (Social/Community Safety/Cultural/ Economic/ 
Environment)

9.1 None. 

217



10.0 IMPACT UPON (Value For Money/Equalities/E-Government/Human Rights/Health 
And Safety)

10.1 None. 

11.0 RELATED DECISIONS AND ANY OTHER RELEVANT FACTS 

11.1 Executive Committee – 2 June 2021. 

Background Papers: The Local Government Boundary Commission for England – Guidance 
on Community Governance Reviews.

Contact Officer: Head of Democratic Services Tel: 01684 272021. 
Email: lin.obrien@tewkesbury.gov.uk 

Appendices: 1. Parish Boundary Review Draft Recommendations report.

218

mailto:lin.obrien@tewkesbury.gov.uk


Tewkesbury Borough Council
Parish Boundary Review

Draft Recommendations 
January 2022

Tewkesbury
Borough Council www.tewkesbury.gov.uk219



Parish Boundary Review – Draft Recommendations – January 2022 

1 
 

1.0 Introduction 
  
1.1 Background 
  
1.1.1 Tewkesbury Borough Council is carrying out a Boroughwide 

Community Governance Review in accordance with Part 4, Chapter 3 
of the Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007. 

  
1.1.2 In carrying out a Review, the Council is required to have regard to the 

Guidance on Community Governance Reviews issued by the Ministry 
of Housing, Communities and Local Government (now Secretary of 
State for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities) Guidance (the 
Guidance).  This Guidance states that it is good practice for a 
Principal Council to consider conducting a review every 10-15 years 
as well as in circumstances where there has been significant new 
housing development.  The last full review of Parish arrangements 
took place in 2002/2003 following the Borough of Tewkesbury 
(Electoral Changes) Order 2001 and during that period there has 
been significant development resulting in population changes and 
shifts in ‘natural settlements’ caused by new development. 

  
1.1.3 Before making any recommendations or publishing final proposals, a 

full consultation process is required, to take full account of the views 
of local people and other stakeholders. 

  
1.2 Scope 
  
1.2.1 The Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007 

(2007 Act) devolved the power to take decisions about matters such 
as the creation of Parishes and their electoral arrangements to local 
authorities.  

  
1.2.2 Councils have the responsibility to undertake Community Governance 

Reviews and are able to decide whether to give effect to 
recommendations made in those reviews save that any consequential 
recommendations for related alterations to the electoral areas of 
Principal Councils require approval of, and implementation by, the 
Local Government Boundary Commission for England (LGBCE).  In 
addition, any Parish electoral arrangements that had been included in 
an LGBCE review are protected and require the consent of the 
LGBCE before any Order implementing changes can be made.   

  
1.2.3 A review of Tewkesbury Borough Wards by the LGBCE saw several 

changes being introduced in May 2018 as set out in The Tewkesbury 
(Electoral Changes) Order 2018. Whilst the Commission did not carry 
out a review of the Parish or Town Councils in the Borough, they did 
agree some changes which amended the warding arrangements of 
the Parish/Town Councils of Bishop’s Cleeve, Brockworth, 
Churchdown and Tewkesbury.  As referred to in paragraph 1.2.2 
these four areas are protected under the 2007 Act and any proposed 
changes to Parish electoral arrangements are subject to consent of 
the LGBCE. 

  
  

220



Parish Boundary Review – Draft Recommendations – January 2022 

2 
 

1.2.4 In relation to any consequential changes to Borough Ward 
boundaries, the LGBCE would expect to see that specific consultation 
had been undertaken on Ward/Division boundaries as well as the 
Parish boundaries themselves.  The LGBCE can only accept or reject 
the requested related alterations.   

  
1.2.5 The whole of the Tewkesbury Borough area is included in the 

Community Governance Review. The carrying out of the review will 
not automatically mean there will be changes but will examine 
whether there is a case for change. The review can result in 
recommendations for changes to e.g., Parish boundaries (including 
the creation, alteration and abolition of a Parish), and consequential 
changes in electoral arrangements. 

  
1.2.6 When undertaking the Review, the Council is required to ensure that 

community governance within the area under review will be: 
(a)  reflective of the identities and interests of the community in 

that area; and  
(b)  effective and convenient. 

  
1.2.7 Guidance on considerations to be taken into account when 

undertaking a review include the impact on community cohesion of 
community governance arrangements, size, population and 
boundaries of a local community or Parish. 

  
1.3 Process 
  
1.3.1 A review entails the following stages: 

(i) All interested parties must be informed of the review, its 
subject matter and the timescale for making 
representations.  

(ii) All representations must be considered. 
(iii) Draft recommendations are produced and published with 

representations invited from interested parties. 
(iv) All representations considered. 
(v) Final recommendations produced for approval by Council 

and sent to interested parties and LGBCE (in relation to 
any recommendations affecting the four protected areas 
(see paragraph 1.2.3) and changes to Borough Wards as 
a consequence of the review (see paragraph 1.2.2)). 

(vi) LGBCE will accept or reject recommendations (see 
paragraph 1.2.4). 

(vii) Implementation of Community Governance Order, with any 
new community governance arrangements to come into 
force for the May 2023 local Council elections. 

  
1.3.2   At its meeting on 2 June 2021 the Executive Committee considered a 

report which sought approval for the commencement of a Borough-
wide Community Governance Review. The Committee approved the 
review, the Terms of Reference of that review and established a 
Community Governance Review Working Group to undertake that 
work.  

  
  

221



Parish Boundary Review – Draft Recommendations – January 2022 

3 
 

1.3.3 The Community Governance Review Working Group has been 
provided with maps for each parish in the Borough showing individual 
parish boundary lines, a map of the whole Borough with parish 
boundaries marked and maps for each submission/proposal received 
to the initial consultation of this Review.  In addition, the Working 
Group has met twice and undertaken a bus tour of the areas under 
consideration and, based on the general criteria set out in paragraphs 
1.2.6 and 1.2.7, has analysed the submissions and prepared draft 
recommendations as per Sections 4 5 and 6 of this report. 

  
2.0 Timetable 
  
2.1 Details Dates 

Commencement of CGR – Terms of 
Reference published 

15 June 2021 

Initial consultation stage 15 June 2021 – 15 September 2021 

Draft recommendations prepared October 2021 – November 2021 

Draft recommendations published January 2022 (amended from 
December 2021) 

Consultation on 
draft 
recommendations 

January 2022 – March 2022 
(amended from December 2021 – 
February 2022) 

Final recommendations prepared April 2022 – May 2022 (amended 
from March 2022 – April 2022) 

Final Recommendations considered 
and approved by Council 

May 2022 

Community Governance 
Order(s) made 

August 2022 

New community governance 
arrangements come into force 

May 2023 local council 
elections 

 

  
3.0 Initial Consultation  
  
3.1 Following the Executive Committee’s decision to undertake a 

Borough-wide Community Governance Review each Parish and Town 
Council in the Borough was asked to submit 
representations/comments along with MPs, County and Borough 
Councillors; Political Parties; Gloucestershire County Council; 
Gloucestershire Association of Parish and Town Councils; two 
members of the public following their previous communications on the 
subject; the Council’s Community Development Officers; and 
members of the public/local residents through the website and social 
media.  

  
3.2 The initial consultation stage of the Community Governance Review 

took place between 15 June and 15 September 2021 with a total of 44 
responses received - 23 from Parish and Town Councils and Parish 
Meetings within Tewkesbury Borough; one from a Parish Council 
within Cheltenham Borough; one from another organisation and 19 
from members of the public/local residents. 

  
  

222



Parish Boundary Review – Draft Recommendations – January 2022 

4 
 

3.3 Parish Councils/Meetings 
  
3.3.1 Representations were received from the Parish/Town Councils of 

Alderton, Ashchurch Rural, Badgeworth, Bishops Cleeve, Boddington, 
Brockworth, Buckland, Dumbleton, Elmstone Hardwicke, Hucclecote, 
Leigh, Longford, Maisemore, Northway, Stanton, Stanway, 
Teddington, Tewkesbury, Toddington, Uckington, Wheatpieces, 
Winchcombe and the Parish Meeting of Prescott. 

  
 Alderton  
  
3.3.2 The Parish Council is happy with the current arrangements and did 

not submit proposals. 
  
 Ashchurch Rural 
  
3.3.3 Ashchurch Rural Parish Council submitted a map and a full 

description of its proposals for altering the parish boundaries and to 
increase the number of Parish Councillors. 

• Proposal for an extension to the parish boundary to include 
the majority of the properties in the development known as 
‘The Meadows’, currently within the Wheatpieces Parish (save 
for the properties being built on land next to the school which 
the Parish Council propose should remain within Wheatpieces 
Parish as these can readily identify to Wheatpieces Parish).   

• The supporting factors given include: 
o Creation of clarity for residents where some homes are 

within Ashchurch Rural Parish and neighbouring ones 
are within Wheatpieces Parish. 

o The Meadows is considered different from the high-
density development at Wheatpieces and a location 
where residents identify to be in a more rural 
environment. 

• Changes are sought to the boundary, with consideration for 
further development along Rudge Lane. 

• Increase of Parish Councillors by two; (one for Barleyfields 
and one for The Meadows) increasing from seven to nine, 
reflecting the increase in parishioners into the parish. 

  
 Badgeworth 
  
3.3.4 Badgeworth Parish Council consulted residents via the parish 

noticeboards and website and had no response and, therefore, had 
no comments or suggestions to offer. 

  
  

223



Parish Boundary Review – Draft Recommendations – January 2022 

5 
 

 Bishops Cleeve 
  
3.3.5 Bishops Cleeve Parish Council submitted a map and full description 

of its proposals for altering the parish boundaries. 
• Proposal for an extension to the existing boundary to include 

areas of land currently within the Parish of Gotherington;  
o land to the north of the current parish boundary and 

adjacent and south of the former Farmers Arms (now 
Badhams Chemist Head Office) on Evesham Road, and 
upon which a proposed primary school is to be built, and 

o land to the north of the current Cleevelands development 
and opposite the proposed school site (the area the subject 
of planning application number 17/00399/OUT and known 
as Cleevelands North). 

• The supporting factors given include: 
o The proposal will ensure that the primary school site is 

included within the parish for the residents and families that 
the school will be built to serve. 

o New residents will travel and utilise facilities within Bishop’s 
Cleeve, which the Parish Council has a responsibility to 
provide and maintain, and should receive financial 
contributions towards as a consequence of development, 
should the land known as Cleevelands North be developed 
in the future.  

  
 Boddington 
  
3.3.6 Boddington Parish Council is happy with the existing arrangements. 
  
 Brockworth  
  
3.3.7 Brockworth Parish Council commented and proposed as follows:  

• Removal of all internal parish warding, as current warding 
is not clear and provides no practical benefit. 

• Increase of Parish Councillors by four; increasing from 
seventeen to twenty-one, reflecting the current electorate 
and increase in population from new housing development 
in the Parish. 

• The future creation of a separate Parish Council for the 
area known as ‘Coopers Edge’, which has its own facilities, 
identity and community, separate to the three parishes 
within which it currently falls: Brockworth, Hucclecote and 
Upton St Leonards (Stroud District). 

  
 Buckland 
  
3.3.8 Buckland Parish Council would like to remain ‘stand alone’ (with the 

current villages of Laverton and Buckland making up the Parish 
Council).  The Parish Council deems it unnecessary to merge with 
any other Parish. 

  
  

224



Parish Boundary Review – Draft Recommendations – January 2022 

6 
 

 Dumbleton 
  
3.3.9 Dumbleton Parish Council submitted that it has no comments to make 

other than it would like to see no changes as far as the Parish Council 
is concerned. 

  
 Elmstone Hardwicke 
  
3.3.10 Elmstone Hardwicke Parish Council submitted that it has no 

comments to make other than it would like to see no changes as far 
as the Parish Council is concerned. 

  
 Hucclecote 
  
3.3.11 Hucclecote Parish Council submitted their views and suggestions 

regarding the development known as ‘Coopers Edge’, in particular, 
the Parish Council is seeking that the review puts in place firm, clear 
and timebound steps to establish a Coopers Edge Parish Council to 
embrace the areas of the development currently covered by 
Hucclecote, Brockworth and Upton St Leonards (Stroud District) 
Parish Councils, to address deficiencies that exist and improve the 
community coherence of Coopers Edge.  

 
In the interim Hucclecote Parish Council would like to create a new 
Coopers Edge Parish Council from those parts of the development 
that are currently located within both Brockworth Parish and 
Hucclecote Parish, with the ultimate aim to include the remainder of 
the Coopers Edge development currently falling within Stroud District 
Council. 

  
 Leigh 
  
3.3.12 Leigh Parish Council submitted that there are no changes for the 

parish as the planned houses have not yet been built. 
  
 Longford 
  
3.3.13 Longford Parish Council submitted a map and full description of its 

proposal for altering the parish boundaries. 
• Amendment to the parish boundary between Longford Parish 

and Innsworth Parish to A40 and Horsbere Brook, increasing 
the size of Longford Parish by taking in the new development 
entirely. 

  
 Maisemore 
  
3.3.14 Maisemore Parish Council submitted a map and full description of its 

proposal for altering the parish boundaries. 
• A proposal to deal with boundary anomalies between the 

parishes of Maisemore Parish and Highnam Parish along the 
River Leadon. 

• A proposal to regularise boundary anomalies between land 
within Maisemore Parish and neighbouring Hartpury Parish 
(Forest of Dean District). 

225



Parish Boundary Review – Draft Recommendations – January 2022 

7 
 

  
 Northway 
  
3.3.15 Northway Parish Council submitted a map and full description of its 

proposal for altering the parish boundaries. 
• Seeking amendment to the boundary to include land to the 

east of the existing boundary to the highway; B4079 (retaining 
the M5 as the west boundary, the brook as the north boundary 
and the A46 as the south boundary).  The land currently 
contains very few electorate but the Parish Council submit that 
over time it is expected to be an area of significant 
development.   

The supporting factors given include: 
• A strong, clearly defined boundary which reflects local 

identities and facilitates effective and convenient local 
government. 

• Creation of cohesion between two proposed new 
developments either side of the railway, accessed via the new 
bridge. 

• Likelihood of residents of the proposed new developments to 
use existing facilities in Northway Parish. 

• Historical wartime links between the MOD army camp and 
Northway. 

• Existing industrial/business development, including low and 
high skilled employment, currently located within Northway. 

• Entrance to the train station being accessed from Northway 
Lane within Northway Parish. 

• Incorporating fields to the east of the railway line currently 
used for recreation by the residents of Northway and making 
St Nicholas Church more central to the whole housing area. 

  
 Prescott 
  
3.3.16 Prescott Parish Meeting submitted that as there has been no 

significant change within the Parish of Prescott, the current position 
does not require a review. 

  
 Stanton 
  
3.3.17 Stanton Parish Council advised that there is no submission to be 

made. 
  
 Stanway 
  
3.3.18 Stanway Parish Council submitted a map and full description of its 

proposal for altering the parish boundaries, in view of the submission 
made by Toddington Parish Council. 

• Seeking changes to the boundary to include houses 
Toddington side of the roundabout (the houses on the 
Broadway Road and opposite the shop). 

The supporting factor(s) given include: 
• To increase the size of the already small Stanway Parish. 

  
  

226



Parish Boundary Review – Draft Recommendations – January 2022 

8 
 

 Teddington 
  
3.3.19 Teddington and Alstone Parish Council made no comment other than 

it would like to see no changes as far as the Parish is concerned. 
  
 Tewkesbury 
  
3.3.20 Tewkesbury Town Council submitted that it would be content to see 

no change at all, however, a map and full description of a possible 
proposal to alter the town boundaries was provided. 

• Consideration of boundary change to include land and 
properties at the Hoo and former Tredington Hospital site 
within the Parishes of Deerhurst, Elmstone Hardwicke and 
Stoke Orchard. 

• Longer term boundary change consideration to absorb 
Wheatpieces Parish and Northway Parish within Tewkesbury 
Town and increase in Councillors to reflect electorate size. 

The supporting factors given include: 
• Helpful in the argument for funding the provision of services 

for the benefit of the residents at Odessa. 
• In the longer term, the close proximity in facilities of 

Wheatpieces parish and those owned by the Town Council 
would benefit all residents. 

• The longer term proposal, specifically in respect of the 
boundary change proposal to include Wheatpieces, would 
provide Wheatpieces residents with a sense of being part of 
the Tewkesbury community. 

  
 Toddington 
  
3.3.21 Toddington Parish Council submitted a map and full description of its 

proposal for altering the parish boundaries and to increase the 
number of Parish Councillors. 

• Seeking changes to the boundary to run along the railway line 
from Stanway viaduct at the north end, south to the road to 
Didbrook and out to the highway; B4632 just south of Beecroft 
(taking in the Station Cottages).   

• Increase of Parish Councillors by two; increasing from five to 
seven, reflecting the increase in parishioners into the parish 
over the last 40 years and to reduce pressure on too small a 
number of Councillors. 

The supporting factors given to the proposed boundary alteration 
include: 

• Belief that the residents living the Stow side of the Broadway 
roundabout consider themselves to live in Toddington and part 
of that community. 

• Infrastructure and services within Toddington Parish are used 
by local residents. 
 

  
 Uckington 
  
3.3.22 Uckington Parish Council made no comment other than it would like 

to see no changes as far as the Parish is concerned. 

227



Parish Boundary Review – Draft Recommendations – January 2022 

9 
 

  
 Wheatpieces  
  
3.3.23 Wheatpieces Parish Council propose an extension of the Parish 

boundary to include the new Bloor Homes development adjacent to 
the Wheatpieces estate. 

  
 Winchcombe 
  
3.3.24 Winchcombe Town Council agreed not to submit any proposals. 
  
3.4 Residents  
  
3.4.1 Representations were received from residents of the Parishes of 

Dumbleton, Longford, Teddington and Wheatpieces. 
  
 Dumbleton  
  
3.4.2 A submission was received on behalf of the residents of Wormington, 

highlighting the desire for Wormington to have governance of its own 
matters and control of the council tax revenue its residents pay. 
The supporting arguments include:  

• Preference to resolve ongoing issues with Dumbleton Parish 
Council (particularly surrounding the construction of a 
permanent community facility in Wormington), however, the 
submission seeks an alternative governance solution for the 
benefit of the Wormington residents. 

• Strong sense of community and a wide range of skills, 
knowledge and experience available within Wormington and 
the surrounding area.  

• The return of the site of the Village Hall to the residents of 
Wormington and enable Wormington to support its residents 
effectively. 

  
 Longford 
  
3.4.3 • Thirteen households put forward very similar views; to include 

the new build development, currently within the Innsworth 
Parish, in Longford Parish.   
The supporting arguments include: - 
o Removal of isolated pockets so residents can clearly 

recognise their parish boundary and so areas of no-mans 
land are recognised and cared for better than at present. 

o Properties currently have addresses as Longford. 
o School and local shop classed as Longford. 
o Innsworth less desirable and property valuation concerns. 
o Impact on school catchment area, emergency services 

response, delivery issues, effects on house/car insurance. 
o Local activity engagement falls within Longford. 
o No physical infrastructure to enter/exit Innsworth directly 

from estate. 
o Polling station in Longford is a short walk away.  Currently 

polling station in Innsworth is long walk or drive. 

228



Parish Boundary Review – Draft Recommendations – January 2022 

10 
 

• One household put forward a suggestion for the area known 
as ‘Walham’ to be embraced within Sandhurst Parish, as it is 
believed that those residents do not currently identify with 
Longford Parish. 

  
 Teddington 
  
3.4.4 One household provided general feedback on the Review and matters 

that should be considered. 
  
 Wheatpieces  
  
3.4.5 One household made a submission to support an extension to the 

boundary to Wheatpieces Parish to include the new housing 
development Tewkesbury Meadows. 
The supporting arguments include:  

• The residents of the new build properties, currently included in 
Ashchurch Rural Parish, would not consider themselves part 
of this community. 

• The amenities closest are all within Wheatpieces Parish, 
including the location of the polling station allocated to the 
residents of Wheatpieces Parish. 

  
3.5 Others 
  
 Badgeworth/Shurdington 
  
3.5.1 Up Hatherley Parish Council and two residents of this Parish 

submitted proposals to return to the boundary position pre-1991; 
transfer of parts of land currently within Badgeworth Parish and 
Shurdington Parish to Up Hatherley Parish Council (Cheltenham 
Borough).  Areas include the nature reserve in Chargrove Lane, the 
sports field in Cold Pool Lane, properties in Symphony Road. 

  
 Longford 
  
3.5.2 Feedback to the Review was provided by Longford Park Academy.  

Whilst the Academy had no particular comment on the boundaries, 
feedback included that the Academy should not be subject to any 
detriment on pupil recruitment based on changes to parish 
boundaries, that it will not change its name (should the boundary 
change) and the Academy should not be subject to any adverse 
publicity due to any boundary change by either locals, or Parish 
Councillors. 

  
 General observations/comments 
  
3.5.3 General comments received include:  

• No desire for increase in powers of Parish Councils. 
• Parish Councils have no checks and balances, are self-

regulating and unaccountable and have no proper complaints 
procedures. 

  
  

229



Parish Boundary Review – Draft Recommendations – January 2022 

11 
 

4.0 Analysis 
  
4.1 Parish Councils/Meetings 
  
 Alderton 
  
4.1.1 There are no reasons to believe that the current situation should not 

continue. 
  
 Ashchurch Rural and Wheatpieces 
  
4.1.2 The proposed boundary alteration suggested by Ashchurch Rural 

Parish Council would encompass the majority of the properties 
located within ‘The Meadows’, which currently form part of the Parish 
of Wheatpieces, increasing the electorate of Ashchurch Rural Parish 
by approximately 136 (based on current electorate).   

  
4.1.3 The proposal put forward by Ashchurch Rural Parish Council is 

contrary to the views received from Wheatpieces Parish Council and 
a household of The Meadows development (see paragraph 3.4.5).  
Electoral administrators are also aware that other residents at The 
Meadows have previously expressed this same view (although have 
not submitted representations during the initial consultation stage of 
this Review), particularly in terms of the distance to travel to their 
polling station which is currently at Ashchurch Village Hall.  Physically 
there is a disconnect and lack of community cohesion between the 
residents of The Meadows, who presently form part of Ashchurch 
Rural Parish and adjoin the established ‘urban’ Wheatpieces estate, 
and the existing ‘rural’ community of Ashchurch Parish.    

  
4.1.4 The proposal suggested by Wheatpieces Parish Council seeks to 

include The Meadows development within its boundaries, increasing 
the electorate of Wheatpieces Parish by approximately 260 (based on 
current electorate).  Presently the boundary between Wheatpieces 
Parish and Ashchurch Rural Parish follows field lines and for some 
properties cuts through the house/garden.  Any recommendation to 
extend the boundary could seek to define a boundary that would aim 
to future-proof any possible development where residents would 
identify with the existing Wheatpieces estate in the future. 

  
4.1.5 A transfer would impact on the Borough Warding as Wheatpieces falls 

within the Tewkesbury East Ward and Ashchurch Rural is within 
Isbourne Ward.  The number of Councillors serving Tewkesbury East 
Ward is two with a current total electorate of 4099.  There are no 
proposed increases in the Tewkesbury East Ward electorate in the 5 
year forecast (see table in Section 8), although should the 
Wheatpieces Parish proposal be recommended the electorate would 
increase to 4359.   
The number of Councillors serving Isbourne Ward is also two with a 
current total electorate of 3324 and a proposed increase to 4190 in 
the 5 year forecast (see table in Section 8) with a further addition of 
136 should the proposal by Ashchurch Rural Parish Council be 
recommended (totaling 4326).  
 

230



Parish Boundary Review – Draft Recommendations – January 2022 

12 
 

The calculations provided by LGBCE in the 2017/2018 review took 
account of the electorate to 2022 with the average number of electors 
per Councillor for Tewkesbury Borough being 1994 by 2022.  To 
achieve a ‘good electoral equality’ the number of electors per 
Councillor in a ward should be within 10% of this figure. 
 
Should either of the proposals put forward by Ashchurch Rural Parish 
Council or Wheatpieces Parish Council be recommended in this 
review, the average electorates for each of the Parish Council’s 
(taking into account 5 year forecasts and respective 
increases/decreases in electorates applicable to submitted proposals) 
would still fall within the 10% variance.  
 
It is possible for Parish and Borough elections to be run without 
boundaries being coterminous; however, this is difficult to administer 
and could create confusion for electors. As set out in paragraph 1.2.4 
any recommendation to existing parishes which impact on Borough 
Wards are subject to consent of the LGBCE. 

  
4.1.6 In terms of the request by Ashchurch Parish Council for an increase in 

the number of Councillors, based on the Council’s scale of 
representation (see paragraph 7.1) the current electorate of 1154 
supports the request for an increase in Parish Councillors from seven 
to nine but should it be the case that the Wheatpieces Parish Council 
proposed boundary change be recommended, the electorate would 
reduce to a level on the scale of representation that reflects the 
existing seven Parish Councillors, However, any recommendation 
could seek to keep this situation under review, particularly in view of 
the major development planned for the area.  

  
 Badgeworth and Shurdington 
  
4.1.7 The proposals to transfer particular parts of Badgeworth and 

Shurdington Parishes from Tewkesbury Borough to Cheltenham 
Borough are outside the remit of this Review and, whilst it is 
considered that there might be a case for the proposal, it cannot be 
dealt with at this time.  The process for how this proposal could be 
dealt with in the future is a question for the LGBCE.  

  
 Bishops Cleeve 
  
4.1.8 The proposals by Bishops Cleeve Parish Council have no effect on 

electorate levels at the present time, as both comprise land only, 
although the Parish Council has commented that the parcel of land 
opposite the proposed school site is the subject of planning 
application number 17/00399/OUT and may be the subject of future 
development. 

  
4.1.9 The suggested extension to the parish boundary would follow field 

lines between Bishops Cleeve Parish and neighbouring Gotherington 
Parish, however, the existing boundary line along Dean Brook is 
considered a strong boundary. 

  
  

231



Parish Boundary Review – Draft Recommendations – January 2022 

13 
 

4.1.10 In terms of the proposed primary school, although it is generally likely 
to support a greater number of families residing in Bishops Cleeve 
than those families in surrounding areas, schools serve areas not 
limited by parish boundaries, and are generally within the remit of the 
County Council with limited input from Parish Councils. 

  
4.1.11 As referred to in paragraph 1.2.3, Bishops Cleeve is a protected area 

under the 2007 Act and any recommendations to make changes to 
Parish electoral arrangements are subject to LGBCE consent. 

  
 Boddington 
  
4.1.12 There are no reasons to believe that the current situation should not 

continue. 
  
 Brockworth and Hucclecote 
  
4.1.13 It is considered that the proposal by Brockworth Parish Council to 

remove existing internal warding i.e., Brockworth East, Brockworth 
West, so all Councillors represent the whole of the Parish, is unlikely 
to receive the approval of the LGBCE, following the introduction of 
this warding by LGBCE in the 2018 Review. 

  
4.1.14 In terms of the request for an increase in the number of Councillors, 

based on the Council’s scale of representation (see paragraph 7.1), 
the current electorate of 6597 supports the request for an increase in 
Parish Councillors from seventeen to twenty-one. 

  
4.1.15 However, the suggestion that a Parish Council be created from the 

areas within the Borough needs consideration.  In respect of the 
inclusion of the area outside of the Borough, discussions will take 
place with the LGBCE. 

  
4.1.16 As referred to in paragraph 1.2.3, Brockworth is a protected area 

under the 2007 Act and any recommendations to make changes to 
Parish electoral arrangements are subject to LGBCE consent. 

  
 Buckland 
  
4.1.17 There are no reasons to believe that the current situation should not 

continue. 
  
 Dumbleton 
  
4.1.18 Conflicting submissions were received from Dumbleton Parish 

Council and on behalf of the residents of Wormington, highlighting an 
impact on community effectiveness and cohesion.  

  
4.1.19 The proposal on behalf of the residents of Wormington seeks 

governance of its own matters for the benefit of the residents of 
Wormington.  The submission did not include a description/map as to 
the extent of area considered to form ‘Wormington’, although based 
on postcode polygons for Wormington the current electorate total is 
90. 

  

232



Parish Boundary Review – Draft Recommendations – January 2022 

14 
 

4.1.20 Options for consideration include a recommendation to retain the 
status quo despite issues surrounding community cohesion, identity 
and effectiveness; continuation of Dumbleton Parish Council with a 
recommendation to change its electoral arrangements by the creation 
of new parish warding, so as to ensure residents of Wormington were 
always represented on Dumbleton Parish Council; or the creation of a 
Parish Meeting/Parish Council for a defined area of Wormington, thus 
providing self-determination for the residents of Wormington. 
The creation of a Parish Council (as opposed to a Parish Meeting) 
requires the electorate to total no less than 150 (see paragraph 88 of 
the Guidance). Dependent on the extent of the defined area for 
Wormington, it may only be possible for a recommendation to be 
made for the creation of a Parish Meeting. 

  
4.1.21 If the Wormington residents proposal went forward, dependent on the 

extent of the defined area for Wormington, the likely impact could 
amount to a reduction in electorate for Dumbleton Parish by 
approximately 101 and an inconsistency with the Council’s scale of 
representation; currently seven Parish Councillors (see paragraph 
7.1).  In this situation, it is possible for a recommendation to be made 
that seeks to retain the existing number of Parish Councillors for 
Dumbleton, equally, recommendations could seek to reduce the level 
of Parish Councillors for Dumbleton from seven to five in line with the 
scale of representation.  

  
 Elmstone Hardwicke 
  
4.1.22 There are no reasons to believe that the current situation should not 

continue. 
  
 Leigh 
  
4.1.23 There are no reasons to believe that the current situation should not 

continue. 
  
 Longford, Innsworth and Sandhurst 
  
4.1.24 The proposal put forward by Longford Parish Council is supported by 

a number of residents of the new development which abuts the 
existing boundary and community of Longford and is currently located 
within Innsworth Parish.   

  
4.1.25 The issue of community identity and cohesion is strongly in favour of 

the new development being part of Longford Parish rather than 
Innsworth Parish, due to the proximity of the new development to 
Longford and there being no physical link/access into Innsworth from 
Longford.  

  
4.1.26 The proposal for the Longford Parish boundary to extend along the 

Horsbere Brook is a clear identifiable boundary incorporating the 
households of the new development within the community of Longford 
Parish. 

  
  

233



Parish Boundary Review – Draft Recommendations – January 2022 

15 
 

4.1.27 It follows that transferring the area from Innsworth Parish to Longford 
Parish would impact on the electorate for each Parish, reducing 
Innsworth Parish by approximately 487 and increasing the electorate 
of Longford Parish to approximately 1862.  Based on the scale of 
representation (see paragraph 7.1) there would be no effect on the 
number of Councillors for either Parish if the transfer was 
recommended. 

  
4.1.28 The proposal for the area of Walham to be transferred from Longford 

Parish to Sandhurst Parish is feasible due to the physical disconnect 
between the communities of Walham and Longford and Walham 
being situated off Sandhurst Lane. Transferring the area of Walham 
from Longford Parish to Sandhurst Parish has little effect on the 
electoral arrangements in terms of electorate, as currently Walham is 
comprised of approximately 77 electors.  However, a transfer would 
impact on the Borough Warding as Sandhurst Parish falls within the 
Severn Vale South Ward and Longford Parish is within Innsworth 
Ward.  Should the proposal be recommended, it would be possible to 
meet the LGBCE’s criteria for good electoral equality as the electorate 
for the proposed transfer is low and there is minimal increase in 
electorate as detailed in the 5 year forecast (see table in Section 8). It 
is possible for parish and borough elections to be run without the 
boundaries being coterminous, however, this is difficult to administer 
and could create confusion for electors. As set out in paragraph 1.2.4, 
any recommendation to change existing parishes which impact on 
Borough Wards are subject to consent of the LGBCE. 

  
 Maisemore and Highnam 
  
4.1.29 The proposals by Maisemore Parish Council generally aim to tidy up 

boundary anomalies along the River Leadon between Maisemore 
Parish and Highnam Parish, although the submission also includes 
land falling within Forest of Dean District.  These are outside the remit 
of this Review and cannot be dealt with by the Review. 
The proposals that can be dealt with identify strong boundaries 
following the River Leadon and have no impact on the number of 
electorate for either Maisemore Parish or Highnam Parish. 

  
 Northway 
  
4.1.30 The proposal by Northway Parish Council seeks to extend the existing 

boundary to incorporate land currently forming part of Ashchurch 
Rural Parish and is positioned between the current Northway Parish 
boundary and the highway; B4079.  A reasonable proportion of the 
land currently forms Ashchurch MOD/Army Base and contains very 
few electorate; approximately 92.  It is possible, however, that over 
time this land could be an area of significant development and 
community cohesion between the existing Northway community and 
any new development could be considered unlikely.  It is more likely 
that any new development would have a greater affinity to the new 
development and facilities currently being developed or planned for 
development in the Parish of Ashchurch Rural. 
The railway line currently provides for a strong definable boundary 
between the Parishes of Northway and Ashchurch Rural. 

  

234



Parish Boundary Review – Draft Recommendations – January 2022 

16 
 

 Prescott 
  
4.1.31 There are no reasons to believe that the current situation should not 

continue. 
  
 Stanton 
  
4.1.32 There are no reasons to believe that the current situation should not 

continue. 
  
 Stanway and Toddington 
  
4.1.33 The proposal made by Stanway Parish Council was as a result of the 

submission made by Toddington Parish Council to extend its 
boundary into the existing Stanway Parish.   

  
4.1.34 It is proposed by Stanway Parish Council to transfer the houses on 

the Toddington side of the roundabout (the houses on the Broadway 
Road and opposite the shop) from Toddington Parish to Stanway 
Parish. The proposal would have the effect of increasing the 
electorate by approximately 31. Transference of these properties 
would not necessarily create a strong identifiable boundary or 
community identity to Stanway Parish. 

  
4.1.35 The Toddington Parish Council proposal seeks a transfer of the area 

between the existing Stanway Parish boundary (running along the 
Broadway Road; B4632) and the railway line (incorporating 
Toddington Station and Station House), increasing the electorate by 
approximately 46 at the current time.  New development is possible 
for parts of the area of land proposed for transfer, with community 
identity considered likely to be with Toddington rather than Stanway. 
The railway line is considered to be a strong defining boundary 
between both Parishes. 

  
4.1.36 In terms of the request by Toddington Parish Council for an increase 

in the number of Councillors, based on the Council’s scale of 
representation (see paragraph 7.1), the current electorate and 
possible increase based on the proposed boundary alterations would 
amount to approximately 450, which does not support the request for 
an increase in Parish Councillors from five to seven. 

  
4.1.37 It is possible to keep this request under review to be looked at 

separately in the future, particularly in circumstances where 
development takes place in the Parish increasing the electorate. 

  
 Teddington 
  
4.1.38 There are no reasons to believe that the current situation should not 

continue. 
  

  

235



Parish Boundary Review – Draft Recommendations – January 2022 

17 
 

 Tewkesbury 
  
4.1.39 The submission from Tewkesbury Town proposes a transfer of land in 

favour of the Town which currently forms part of three other Parishes; 
Deerhurst, Elmstone Hardwicke and Stoke Orchard.  The proposal is 
based on a view that this would assist the argument surrounding 
funding the provision of services for the benefit of the residents at the 
nearby Odessa mobile home development (currently within the 
boundary of Tewkesbury Town).   

  
4.1.40 The electorate impact of the proposal would be negligible for each 

Parish, although the question of community identity to Tewkesbury 
Town is not particularly strong. 

  
4.1.41 Should this proposal be recommended consent of LGBCE would be 

required as Tewkesbury is a protected area under the 2007 Act and in 
addition there would be an impact on Borough Wards requiring 
LGBCE consent, as Deerhurst, Elmstone Hardwicke and Stoke 
Orchard all fall within Severn Vale North. 

  
4.1.42 The longer-term proposals to absorb Wheatpieces Parish and 

Northway Parish were noted but not considered in any depth in this 
Review. 

  
 Uckington 
  
4.1.43 There are no reasons to believe that the current situation should not 

continue. 
  
 Winchcombe 
  
4.1.44 There are no reasons to believe that the current situation should not 

continue. 
  
4.2 Residents 
  
 Dumbleton 
  
4.2.1 An analysis of the comments/proposals put forward on behalf of the 

residents of Wormington is covered in paragraph 4.1.19. 
  
 Longford and Sandhurst 
  
4.2.2 An analysis of the comments/proposals put forward by a number of 

residents of Longford is covered in paragraph 4.1.28. 
  
 Teddington 
  
4.2.3 General comments received to the Review were noted. 
  
 Wheatpieces 
  
4.2.4 An analysis of the comments/proposals put forward by a household 

located within The Meadows is covered in paragraph 4.1.3. 
  

236



Parish Boundary Review – Draft Recommendations – January 2022 

18 
 

4.3 Other 
  
 Badgeworth/Shurdington 
  
4.3.1 An analysis of the comments/proposals put forward by Up Hatherley 

Parish Council (Cheltenham Borough) and two residents of that 
Parish is covered in paragraph 4.1.7. 

  
 Longford 
  
4.3.2 An analysis of the comments put forward by the Longford Park 

Academy is covered in paragraph 4.1.24. 
  
 General observations/comments 
  
4.3.3 General comments received to the Review were noted. 
  
5.0 Tewkesbury Borough Wards Review 2018 and Analysis 
  
5.1 As set out in paragraph 1.2.3 a review of Tewkesbury Borough Wards 

by the LGBCE, introduced a number of changes in May 2018, as set 
out in The Tewkesbury (Electoral Changes) Order 2018. The 
submission made to the LGBCE included Council approved maps for 
specific areas of land (see paragraphs 5.2 – 5.7), for the purposes of 
tidying up boundaries.  These areas of land did not involve any 
electorate, however no decision on these areas of land was made by 
the LGBCE. The 2018 Council approved maps have been re-
considered as part of this Review process. As set out in paragraph 
1.2.4, any recommendation to existing Parishes which impact on 
Borough Wards are subject to consent of the LGBCE. 

  
 Bishops Cleeve and Southam 
  
5.2 Suggestion for land currently included within Southam Parish, 

incorporating the business park/site of GE Aviation, to be transferred 
to Bishops Cleeve Parish.  The proposal does not involve electorate, 
has a strong definable boundary, and is considered logical in terms of 
its location to Bishops Cleeve. As set out in paragraph 1.2.4, any 
recommendation to existing Parishes which impact on Borough 
Wards are subject to consent of the LGBCE. 

  
 Badgeworth, Brockworth, Churchdown and Innsworth 
  
5.3 Suggestion for three separate parcels of land currently included within 

Innsworth Parish, Badgeworth Parish and Brockworth Parish to be 
transferred to Churchdown Parish.   

  
5.4 Proposal for the transfer of land from Innsworth Parish; the land 

includes government buildings at Elmbridge Court and Gloucester 
North Community Fire Station but does not currently involve any 
electorate.  The proposed boundary follows an existing stream/brook 
and is considered logical in terms of its location to Churchdown and 
particularly the new development taking place on neighbouring land. 

  

237



Parish Boundary Review – Draft Recommendations – January 2022 

19 
 

5.5 Proposal for the transfer of land from Badgeworth Parish; the land 
runs along the M5 abutting the existing Churchdown Parish boundary. 
The boundary line currently separating Badgeworth Parish and 
Churchdown Parish currently straddles the property, Home Farm.  
The proposal seeks to rectify this, so the full extent of the property is 
within Churchdown Parish, although there is no impact for the 
residents of Home Farm in terms of voting as registered electors are 
currently included within Churchdown Parish.  The M5 is considered 
to be a strong definable boundary and a logical proposal. 

  
5.6 Proposal for the transfer of land from Brockworth Parish; the land 

surrounds the junction/roundabout serving the A417 and M5 and does 
not involve any electorate.  It is considered that instead of the 
proposal to transfer the land to Churchdown Parish, it actually relates 
better to Hucclecote Parish, particularly as the Churchdown hill forms 
a barrier between Churchdown and the land concerned. 

  
 Wheatpieces and Tewkesbury 
  
5.7 Suggestion for land located between the by-pass and the 

Wheatpieces estate, forming the Nature Reserve, currently within 
Wheatpieces Parish to be transferred to Tewkesbury Town.   
It is considered that, although the by-pass would provide a strong 
definable boundary, the existing boundary running along the River 
Swilgate works well and does not necessarily require change. 
If recommended the proposal would impact on Borough Wards as 
Wheatpieces Parish falls within Tewkesbury East.   

  
6.0 Draft recommendations – Description 
  
6.1 The Community Governance Review Working Group has now put 

forward its draft recommendations, which are dealt with in groups of 
Parishes, which have a common association in the proposals. 

  
 Ashchurch and Wheatpieces 
  
6.2 It is considered that the residents of The Meadows, and any residents 

of future development in this area, would have a stronger identity to 
the community of Wheatpieces Parish rather than Ashchurch Rural 
Parish.   

  
6.3 In order to reflect the identities and interests of the residents of The 

Meadows and for effective and convenient local government for that 
community, it  is recommended that the boundary for Wheatpieces 
Parish is extended to take in land/properties forming part of The 
Meadows development, running along Rudgeway Lane, west along 
the existing boundary line of Ashchurch Rural Parish and north 
following the River Swilgate (again reflecting the existing Ashchurch 
Rural Parish boundary) increasing the electorate of Wheatpieces 
Parish by 264 (based on current electorate).   

  
6.4 It is considered that Rudgeway Lane and the River Swilgate provide 

clearly defined boundaries going forward. 
  

238



Parish Boundary Review – Draft Recommendations – January 2022 

20 
 

6.5 Part of this recommendation will specifically impact on the Borough 
Ward, consent for which is required from the LGBCE to ensure that 
Parish and Borough Ward boundaries are coterminous.  Views on this 
aspect are specifically sought.  

  
6.6 
 

At this time it is not recommended that the number of Parish 
Councillors for Ashchurch Rural Parish Council be increased from 
seven to nine as the recommendation at 6.3 reduces the electorate 
for Ashchurch Rural Parish to a level that reflects the existing number 
of Parish Councillors provided for in the current scale of 
representation (see paragraph 7.1).  However, it is recommended that 
any possible increase in Parish Councillors for Ashchurch Rural be 
kept under review as development takes place increasing electorate 
levels. 

  
 Badgeworth and Shurdington 
  
6.7 It is recommended that following this Review Tewkesbury Borough 

Council will correspond with the LGBCE to ascertain the process for 
any possible future transfer of land out of these Parishes within 
Tewkesbury Borough to Cheltenham Borough. 

  
 Bishops Cleeve and Gotherington 
  
6.8 It is considered that the existing Parish boundary is a strong definable 

line which provides effective and convenient governance within 
Gotherington Parish.  Should development take place in the area in 
the future, it is considered that community identity and the interests of 
those residents would not necessarily be greater to Bishops Cleeve 
Parish. In addition  although Gotherington Parish made no 
submissions to this Review, concern was raised that the proposal 
would open the floodgates to possible future development in this area 
and over time an eradication of Gotherington Parish.  It was also 
considered that the proposed construction of the new school would 
not be subject to Borough or Parish boundaries as it would cover a 
greater catchment area and therefore there was insufficient 
justification to extend the boundaries to Bishops Cleeve Parish. 

  
6.9 It is recommended that no changes are made to the existing 

boundaries between the Parishes of Bishops Cleeve and 
Gotherington. 

  
 Brockworth and Hucclecote 
  
6.10 In view of the complexities involved in creating a new Parish Council 

to serve Coopers Edge (currently over three parishes, one of which is 
outside of the Borough of Tewkesbury) it is recommended that 
following this Review Tewkesbury Borough Council will separately 
consider and consult with LGBCE to ascertain what options might be 
available to create a Parish Council to serve i) all of Coopers Edge 
falling within Brockworth Parish, Hucclecote Parish and Upton St 
Leonards (Stroud District) and ii) consider further the option of 
creating a Parish Council to serve the parts of Coopers Edge that 
currently straddle the parishes of Brockworth and Hucclecote (within 
Tewkesbury Borough) only (see covering report)  

239



Parish Boundary Review – Draft Recommendations – January 2022 

21 
 

  
6.11 It is recommended that no action is taken to remove all internal parish 

warding, particularly as the current warding was introduced in 2018 by 
the LGBCE Review and is coterminous with the Borough Wards and 
would now require LGBCE consent to alter. 

  
6.12 It is recommended that the number of Parish Councillors for 

Brockworth Parish Council be increased from seventeen to twenty-
one, as per the current scale of representation (see paragraph 7.1). 

  
 Dumbleton 
  
6.13 In an attempt to achieve community effectiveness, identity, and 

cohesion it is recommended to create a separate Parish Meeting to 
serve the residents of Wormington.  The recommendation is for land 
within Dumbleton Parish located to the west of the highway; B4078, 
and south along the field lines behind the properties Mill Cottage and 
Mill Farm, to be transferred to the new Parish, which incorporates 
land proposed for the disputed village hall, and offers the B4078 as a 
strong definable boundary for the recommendations. The current 
electorate for the land which is subject to the recommendation totals 
101, which in accordance with paragraph 88 of the Guidance 
necessitates the creation of a Parish Meeting rather than a Parish 
Council (for a recommendation for the creation of a Parish Council, an 
electorate of 150 is required) 

  
6.14 Notwithstanding the decrease in electorate levels for Dumbleton 

Parish arising from paragraph 6.13, it is recommended that the level 
of Parish Councillors to Dumbleton Parish Council remains at the 
current number. 

  
 Longford, Innsworth and Sandhurst 
  
6.15 It is recommended that the boundary for Longford Parish be extended 

to incorporate land which comprises the new development currently 
falling within Innsworth Parish.  Submissions received from residents 
overwhelmingly support community identity, interest and cohesion in 
common with the community of Longford.  Effective and convenient 
community governance would be better provided by Longford Parish 
Council, as the development adjoins the existing community of 
Longford and is disparate from the community of Innsworth.  The 
recommendation would see an extension to the Longford Parish 
boundary to run along clearly definable boundaries; A40 and 
Horsbere Brook. 

  
6.16 In order to achieve greater community identity, it is recommended that 

the land between the A40 and the existing Longford Parish boundary 
comprising the community of Walham, be transferred to the Parish of 
Sandhurst.  The A40 providing for a strong definable boundary. 

  
6.17 Part of this recommendation will specifically impact on the Borough 

Ward, consent for which is required from the LGBCE to ensure that 
Parish and Borough Ward boundaries are coterminous.  Views on this 
aspect are specifically sought.  
 

240



Parish Boundary Review – Draft Recommendations – January 2022 

22 
 

  
 Maisemore 
  
6.18 It is recommended that the proposals made by Maisemore Parish to 

tidy up the boundaries along the River Leadon between Maisemore 
Parish and Highnam Parish, be approved and altered accordingly. 

  
 Northway and Ashchurch 
  
6.19 It is considered that the railway line which currently forms the 

boundary between Northway Parish and Ashchurch Rural Parish is a 
strong definable boundary separating the existing Northway 
community and the land to the east of Northway Parish which may be 
the subject of major development in the future.  Despite the possibility 
of the future construction of the ‘Ashchurch Bridge’, it is considered 
that the physical barrier of the railway line would impact on community 
cohesion in the future, particularly as new housing development will 
grow communities and facilities within Ashchurch Rural Parish, with 
the likelihood of those communities looking to those new facilities 
rather than existing facilities within Northway. At the furthest point 
where future development could take place on land which forms the 
proposal by Northway Parish Council, it is considered less likely that 
community cohesion would be with the existing community of 
Northway due to the physical distance between the two areas and 
instead community identity would be to Ashchurch Rural Parish.  It 
would follow that Ashchurch Rural Parish is considered well placed to 
reflect the identities and interests and provide effective and 
convenient local government for the growth of future communities.  

  
6.20 It is recommended that no changes are made to the existing 

boundaries for the Parish of Northway. 
  
 Stanway and Toddington 
  
6.21 The proposals and arguments by Stanway and Toddington Parishes 

were considered in the round, and to best reflect the identity and 
interests of existing and future residents it is recommended that land 
located between the existing Stanway Parish boundary (running along 
the Broadway Road; B4632) and the railway line (incorporating 
Toddington Station and Station House), be transferred to Toddington 
Parish, which means  that Toddington Railway Station be 
incorporated within Toddington Parish.  It is recommended that the 
clearly definable boundary is the railway line extending west to meet 
the existing Toddington Parish boundaries along the track/driveway to 
CTI Communications to the north and roadway leading to Didbrook to 
the south. 

  
6.22 As the proposal to increase the number of Parish Councillors for 

Toddington Parish does not meet the existing scale of representation 
(see paragraph 7.1), it is recommended that any possible increase in 
Parish Councillors for Toddington Parish Council be kept under 
review should further development take place increasing electorate 
levels. 

  
  

241



Parish Boundary Review – Draft Recommendations – January 2022 

23 
 

 Tewkesbury Town 
  
6.23 It is considered that the existing Town boundary is a strong definable 

line and that to recommend the transfer of land currently within the 
Parishes of Deerhurst, Elmstone Hardwicke and Stoke Orchard 
Parishes to Tewkesbury Town would not provide a greater benefit to 
the residents of the three Parishes in terms of community cohesion. 

  
6.24 It is recommended that no changes are made to the existing 

boundaries for the town of Tewkesbury. 
  
 Bishops Cleeve and Southam 
  
6.25 It is recommended that land included within Southam Parish 

incorporating the business site/park comprising GE Aviation, is 
transferred to Bishops Cleeve Parish and integrated within Cleeve 
Grange Parish Ward, with the highway A435 offering a strong 
definable boundary. 

  
6.26 As set out in paragraphs 1.2.3 and 1.2.4, as the recommendation 

impacts on Bishops Cleeve Parish and on the Borough Wards of 
Cleeve Hill and Cleeve Grange, approval would be subject to consent 
of the LGBCE to ensure that Parish and Borough Ward boundaries 
are coterminous.  The recommended transfer of land does not include 
any electorate thus having no impact on Borough Ward electorates. 

  
 Badgeworth, Brockworth, Churchdown and Innsworth 
  
6.27 It is recommended that the land incorporating government buildings at 

Elmbridge Court and Gloucester North Community Fire Station is 
transferred from Innsworth Parish to Churchdown Parish. 

  
6.28 It is recommended that land running along the M5 abutting the 

existing Churchdown Parish boundary incorporating the property; 
Home Farm is transferred from Badgeworth Parish to Churchdown 
Parish.   

  
6.29 As set out in paragraphs 1.2.3 and 1.2.4, as these recommendations 

impact on Churchdown Parish and on the Borough Wards of 
Badgeworth and Churchdown Brookfield with Hucclecote, approval 
would be subject to consent of the LGBCE to ensure that Parish and 
Borough Ward boundaries are coterminous. The recommendations do 
not include any electorate thus having no impact on Borough Ward 
electorates. 

  
6.30 It is recommended that land surrounding the junction/roundabout 

serving the A417 and M5 is transferred from Brockworth Parish to 
Hucclecote Parish. 

  
6.31 As set out in paragraphs 1.2.3 and 1.2.4, as the recommendation 

impacts on the existing boundaries of Churchdown Parish approval to 
transfer to Hucclecote Parish would be subject to consent of the 
LGBCE. 
 

  

242



Parish Boundary Review – Draft Recommendations – January 2022 

24 
 

 Wheatpieces and Tewkesbury 
  
6.32 It is recommended that no action is taken to transfer land located 

between the by-pass and the Wheatpieces estate, forming the Nature 
Reserve, and that this land should be retained within Wheatpieces 
Parish.   

  
 All other parishes 
  
6.32 The recommendation for all other Parishes is for their boundaries to 

remain unchanged. 
  
7.0 Scale of representation 
  
7.1 The number of Councillors that represent the parish electorate are 

based on the Council’s adopted scale of representation, as set out 
below: 

  
 Parish 

Electorate 
Parish 
Councillors 

300-500 5 

501-1000 7 

1001-2000 9 

2001-3000 11 

3001-4000 13 

4001-6000 15 

6001+ 21 
 

  
8. Parish electorate and forecast  
  
8.1 The table at Annex A sets out information, current electorate and 5 

year electorate forecasts for Parish and Town Councils.  
  
9.0 Draft Recommendation – Maps 
  
 
9.1 

To illustrate the draft recommendations of the Parish Boundary 
Review 2022, all the following maps have been reproduced from the 
Ordnance Survey and contain OS data © Crown copyright and 
database right 2021, Tewkesbury Borough Council Licence Number 
100025298. Contains information licensed under the Open 
Government Licence v3.0 

  
  

243



Parish Boundary Review – Draft Recommendations – January 2022 

25 
 

 Ashchurch and Wheatpieces 
  
9.1.1 (see recommendation 6.3) 

 
Land edged in blue – existing Wheatpieces Parish 
Land hatched in red – land subject to the draft recommendation in 
paragraph 6.3 

  

  

244



Parish Boundary Review – Draft Recommendations – January 2022 

26 
 

 Dumbleton 
  
9.1.2 (see recommendation 6.13)   

 
Land edged in blue – existing Dumbleton Parish (part) 
Land hatched in red – land subject to the draft recommendation in 
paragraph 6.13 
 

 
  
  

  

245



Parish Boundary Review – Draft Recommendations – January 2022 

27 
 

 Longford, Innsworth and Sandhurst 
  
9.1.3 (see recommendations 6.15 and 6.16) 

 
Land edged in blue – existing Longford Parish  
Land hatched in red – land subject to the draft recommendation in 
paragraph 6.15 
Land hatched in black – land subject to the draft recommendation in 
paragraph 6.16 

 
  
  
  
  

  

246



Parish Boundary Review – Draft Recommendations – January 2022 

28 
 

 Maisemore 
  
9.1.4 (see recommendation 6.18) 

 
Land hatched in red – land subject to the recommendation to transfer 
from Maisemore Parish to Highnam Parish 
Land hatched in black – land subject to the recommendation to 
transfer from Highnam Parish to Maisemore Parish  
 

 
 
 

  

247



Parish Boundary Review – Draft Recommendations – January 2022 

29 
 

 Maisemore Continued  
  
 

 
  

 
  

  

248



Parish Boundary Review – Draft Recommendations – January 2022 

30 
 

 Stanway and Toddington 
  
9.1.5 (see recommendation 6.21) 

 
Land edged in blue – existing Toddington Parish (part) 
Land hatched in red – land subject to the draft recommendation in 
paragraph 6.21 
 
 

 
  

  

249



Parish Boundary Review – Draft Recommendations – January 2022 

31 
 

 Bishops Cleeve and Southam 
  
9.1.6 (see recommendation 6.25)  

 
Land edged in blue – existing Bishops Cleeve Parish (part) 
Land hatched in red – land subject to the draft recommendation in 
paragraph 6.25 
Land edged in green – existing Bishops Cleeve Wards 
 

 
  

  

250



Parish Boundary Review – Draft Recommendations – January 2022 

32 
 

 Badgeworth, Brockworth, Churchdown and Innsworth 
  
9.1.7 (see recommendations 6.27 and 6.28)  

 
Land edged in blue – existing Churchdown Parish (part) 
Land hatched in red – land subject to the draft recommendations in 
paragraph 6.27 and 6.28 
 

 
  

251



Parish Boundary Review – Draft Recommendations – January 2022 

33 
 

 Badgeworth, Brockworth, Churchdown and Innsworth continued  
 

9.1.8 (see recommendation 6.30) 
 
Land edged in blue – existing Hucclecote Parish  
Land hatched in red – land subject to the draft recommendation in 
paragraph 6.30 
 

 
  

 

  

252



Parish Boundary Review – Draft Recommendations – January 2022 

34 
 

Annex A 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Parish electorate and forecast 

253



Parish Boundary Review – Draft Recommendations – January 2022 

35 
 

 

254



Parish Boundary Review – Draft Recommendations – January 2022 

36 
 

 

255



Parish Boundary Review – Draft Recommendations – January 2022 

37 
 

 

 

256


	Agenda
	4 Minutes
	6 Executive Committee Forward Plan
	7 Interim Housing Strategy 2021/22 Monitoring Report
	Appendix 1 Interim Housing Strategy 2021-2022
	Appendix 2 Interim Housing Strategy Action Plan Progress 2021-2022
	Appendix 3 Bid Pro forma for TBC funds

	8 Treasury and Capital Management
	Appendix A - Capital Strategy 2022-23
	Appendix B - Investment Strategy 22-23
	Appendix C - Tewkesbury BC MRP report 22-23
	Appendix D - Treasury-Management-Strategy-22-23

	9 Social Media Policy - Review
	Social Media Policy 2021 NEW - Appendix 1
	Councillors guidelines 2021 Appendix 2

	10 Review of Procurement Strategy
	Corporate procurement strategy 2021-25 Appendix A

	11 Review of the Council's Sandbag Policy
	Appendix 1 - Sandbag Policy Parish Contact Update Nov 21

	12 Supporting Attendance Policy
	Draft Supporting Attendance Policy Appendix 1
	Draft Supporting Attendance Guidance Appendix 2

	13 Shopfronts, Shutters and Signage: Design Guidance for Tewkesbury Borough Supplementary Planning Document
	Appendix 1 Shop Front Design Guidance Dec 2021 revision
	Appendix 2 Shopfront SPD Consultation Statement (002)

	14 Community Governance Review Draft Proposals
	Draft Recommendations - Appendix 1




